
Pension Fund Committee
Date: Thursday, 12 September 2019
Time: 10.00 am
Venue: Committee Room 2, County Hall, Dorchester, 

DT1 1XJ
Membership: (Quorum 3) 
John Beesley, David Brown, Ray Bryan, Andy Canning, Howard Legg, Felicity Rice, 
Mark Roberts, Peter Wharf and Adrian Felgate

Chief Executive: Matt Prosser, South Walks House, South Walks Road, 
Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1UZ (Sat Nav DT1 1EE)

For more information about this agenda please telephone Democratic Services on 
01305 or Liz Eaton  01305 225113 - liz.eaton@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

For easy access to the Council agendas and minutes download the free 
public app Mod.gov for use on your iPad, Android and Windows tablet. Once 
downloaded select Dorset Council.

 
Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting with the exception of any items 
listed in the exempt part of this agenda. Please note that if you attend a committee 
meeting and are invited to make oral representations your name, together with a summary 
of your comments will be recorded in the minutes of the meeting.  Please refer to the 
guide to public participation at committee meetings for more information about speaking at 
meetings. 

There is a Hearing Loop Induction System available for public use on request.  Please 
speak to a Democratic Services Officer for assistance in using this facility.

Recording, photographing and using social media at meetings

Dorset Council is committed to being open and transparent in the way it carries out its 
business whenever possible.  Anyone can film, audio-record, take photographs, and use 
social media such as tweeting and blogging to report the meeting when it is open to the 
public, so long as they conform to the Protocol for filming and audio recording of public 
council meetings.

Public Document Pack



A G E N D A

Page No.

1  ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN

To elect a Chairman of the Committee for the remainder of the year 
2019/20.

2  APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIRMAN

To appoint a Vice-Chairman of the Committee for the remainder of the 
year 2019/20.

3  APOLOGIES

To receive any apologies for absence.

4  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To receive any declarations of interest. 

5  TERMS OF REFERENCE

The Pension Fund Committee is primarily responsible for exercising all 
functions of Dorset Council as the administering authority of the Dorset 
County Pension Fund. These functions will include:

 determining overall investment strategy and strategic asset 
allocation of the pension fund, taking the appropriate 
professional advice;

 approval and review of the pension fund’s key investment, 
administration and governance documents including the 
Funding Strategy Statement, the Investment Strategy 
Statement, the Pension Administration Strategy Statement, the 
Communication Policy Statement, and the governance 
Compliance Statement;

 appointing, monitoring and reviewing the performance of all 
internal and external investment managers, including the 
investment pooling manager;

 reviewing all aspects of performance relating to the 
administration of the Pension Fund;

 approval of all pension policies that are at the discretion of the 
administering authority;



 approval of requests for admission to he Pension Fund from 
qualifying organisations; and

 approval of all appointments to the Local Pension Board.

The Pension Fund Committee will consist of 9 Members comprising 5 
Members appointed by Full Council (not more than 2 being also 
appointed to Cabinet); 3 persons nominated by the Bournemouth, 
Christchurch and Poole Council and 1 person nominated by the unions 
who have membership that includes officers.

6  MINUTES 5 - 10

To confirm and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 20 June 2019.

7  PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

To receive questions or statements on the business of the committee 
from town and parish councils and members of the public. 

8  PRESENTATION FROM BRUNEL PENSION PARTNERSHIP

To receive a presentation from Brunel Pension Partnership, the 
Pension Fund’s Investment Pooling Manager.

9  INDEPENDENT ADVISER'S REPORT 11 - 14

To consider the report of the Independent Adviser on the investment 
outlook.

10  FUND ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT 15 - 72

To consider the report of the Fund Administrator.  This includes an 
update on the funding position, the value and performance of 
investments, the cash position and other topical issues.

11  INVESTMENT POOLING PROGRESS REPORT 73 - 116

To consider a report by the Fund Administrator on progress to date on 
the investment pooling project.  

12  PENSIONS ADMINISTRATION 117 - 218

To consider the report of the Pension Fund Administrator on pension 
fund administration.



13  PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS 2018-19 219 - 242

To receive the final audited Pension Fund Accounts.

14  PENSION FUND ANNUAL REPORT 2018-19 243 - 406

To receive the Pension Fund Annual Report 2018-19

15  DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS

To confirm future dates of the meetings of the Committee:

27 November 2019 London (venue to be confirmed)
12 March 2020 County Hall, Dorchester. 

16  URGENT ITEMS

To consider any items of business which the Chairman has had prior 
notification and considers to be urgent pursuant to section 100B (4) b) 
of the Local Government Act 1972. The reason for the urgency shall 
be recorded in the minutes.



DORSET COUNCIL - PENSION FUND COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON THURSDAY 20 JUNE 2019

Present: Cllrs Ray Bryan, Andy Canning, Howard Legg, Mark Roberts, 
Peter Wharf and Andrew Turner

Also present: Cllrs John Beesley, David Brown, Felicity Rice (BCP), 
Alan Saunders, Independent Adviser and Matthew Trebilcock, Brunel Pension 
Partnership

Officers present (for all or part of the meeting):
Aidan Dunn (Executive Director - Corporate Development S151), Karen Gibson 
(Pensions Administration Manager) and David Wilkes (Senior Finance Manager - 
Treasury and Investments)

1.  Introduction by the Fund Administrator

The Fund Administrator welcomed everyone to the first meeting of the new 
Pension Fund Committee established after the changes to local government 
in Dorset.  As this was the first meeting of a new committee, there were no 
minutes to approve from a previous meeting.  BCP nominees could participate 
fully in discussions but they could not vote on any resolutions as they had not 
yet been confirmed as members of the Committee.

2.  Election of Chairman for the meeting

Peter Wharf was elected as Chairman for the meeting.

3.  Statement by the Chairman

The Chairman explained that at the next meeting of the Committee in 
September, a chair and vice-chair would be elected for the remainder of the 
2019-20 financial year.

He apologised for any inconvenience caused by the late decision to cancel 
the proposed training sessions in London on 19 June 2019.  This was due to 
concerns about disruption to rail services as a result of industrial action.  It 
was agreed that training would be provided on the same day as the 
Committee meeting in September at County Hall, Dorchester.

The Chairman informed members that Richard Bates, the former fund 
administrator, had left Dorset Council.  He had served the Committee with 
great skill for many years, and it was agreed that a letter of thanks would be 
written to him.

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



2

The Chairman also told members of the death of Johnny Stephens, who had 
been the Scheme Member Representative on the Committee for many years 
before stepping down in November 2017.  It was agreed that a letter of 
condolence be sent to his family.

At the Chairman’s request, all members and nominees introduced 
themselves, and gave their reasons for wanting to sit on the Committee.

Resolved
1.  That training sessions be provided at the next meeting of the Committee 
on 12 September 2019.
2.  That a letter of thanks be written to Richard Bates.
3.  That a letter of condolence be written to the family of Johnny Stephens.

4.  Declarations of Interest

Cllr David Brown declared that he was a deferred member of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS).  Officers did not believe this was a 
disclosable pecuniary interest under the Code of Conduct, but this would be 
checked and confirmed.  There were no other declarations of interests made 
at the meeting.

Resolved
That officers check and confirm that membership of the LGPS was not a 
disclosable pecuniary interest under the Code of Conduct.  

5.  Terms of Reference

The Terms of Reference state that the Committee was primarily responsible 
for exercising all functions of Dorset Council as the administering authority of 
the Dorset County Pension Fund.  It was agreed that officers would provide 
further explanation to define what those responsibilities were.

Resolved
That officers review and expand on the Terms of Reference for circulation 
prior to the next meeting of the Committee on 12 September 2019.

6.  Public Participation

There were no public questions or statements received at the meeting.

7.  Pensions Administration

The Committee considered a report from officers on all operation and 
administration matters relating to the Fund.

HM Treasury (HMT) had launched a consultation on the implementation of a 
cap of £95,000 on exit payments to public sector employees.  The cap would 
cover all costs of exit, including redundancy payments and pension strain 
costs.  The proposals should be cost neutral to the Fund.

Page 6



3

The cap was not indexed and had not changed since first proposed in 2015.  
Also, a salary ‘floor’ included in previous iterations of the proposals was not 
included in the consultation.  The impact would be that lower paid employees 
with long service would now be more likely to exceed the cap.

Members felt that the lack of indexation and the removal of the ‘floor’ were not 
consistent with the assumed intention of the proposals to target higher paid 
employees.  It was agreed that these elements of the proposals should be 
challenged.  The Chairman asked members to feed any further comments on 
the consultation back to him.  Officers would also seek the views of the Local 
Pension Board.  The Local Government Association (LGA) had also submitted 
a very detailed and technical response to the consultation.

The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) had 
consulted on proposals to strengthen pensions protections for those scheme 
members outsourced from an existing LGPS employer to a different employer.  
The proposals introduced the concept of a ‘deemed employer’ where the 
original outsourcing employer remained the scheme member’s employer for 
pension purposes.  Concerns about the practicalities of such arrangements 
had been raised.

MHCLG had also launched a consultation on proposals to change the 
actuarial valuation cycle from three to four years, changes to exit 
payments/credits, and allowing employers in the higher and further education 
sectors to decide whether to admit non-teaching staff into the LGPS in future.  
It was confirmed that the last of these proposals would not apply to 
academies.

Resolved
That members of the Committee feed any further comments on the 
consultation back to the Chairman.

8.  Independent Adviser's Report

The Committee considered a report by the Independent Adviser that gave his 
views on the economic background to the Fund’s investments, and the 
outlook for different asset classes.  He highlighted the key risks for markets 
and concluded that a cautious approach to investment decisions continued to 
be advisable.

Globally, economies had slowed down and the response of central banks to 
this was critical.   Growth in Europe had been disappointing, reasonable in the 
US, with Japan ‘coasting’.  There had been a slowdown in emerging markets, 
particularly in China.

In the US, the Federal Reserve had paused monetary tightening as the threat 
of inflation had receded, with further interest rate reductions now believed to 
be more likely than interest rate rises.  In Europe, the European Central Bank 
(ECB) was considering more Quantitative Easing (QE).

Page 7



4

Equity valuations were high and the 10 year bull market was expected to end.  
Concerns about the US/China trade dispute continued as did other geo-
political risks.  The Independent Adviser recommended a cautious approach, 
although he did not foresee a market crash.

A member asked if US/Iran war could be a shock event that could cause a 
crash.  The Independent Adviser noted that the price of oil had spiked up then 
quickly receded after recent events.  If tensions escalated and the oil price 
stayed above US $100 a barrel, this could lead to a global recession.  A 
member expressed his surprise about how unconcerned the investment 
community seemed to be about geo-political risks.

The Chairman asked the Independent Adviser to comment on the level of the 
Fund’s exposure to investments outside Europe, as this would mitigate 
against the risks of Brexit.  The Independent Adviser confirmed that the Fund 
had a high level of exposure to investments outside Europe.  Officers also 
highlighted the large proportion of income earned overseas by the UK’s 
largest companies.

A member asked about the Fund’s response to the climate change crisis.  The 
Independent Adviser replied that there was now an increased focus on 
sustainability considerations and the risks posed to long term investment 
performance.  He noted that the Brunel Pension Partnership would shortly be 
developing a sustainable global equities portfolio that could be considered by 
the Fund for investment.

In response to questions from members, it was confirmed that the Fund had a 
target allocation of 12% to property investments, and that the Fund had no 
exposure to the Woodford Equity Income Fund that had recently been closed 
to withdrawals.

Noted

9.  Presentation from Brunel Pension Partnership

The Committee received a presentation from Matthew Trebilcock, Brunel 
Pension Partnership, the Funds investment pooling manager.  The 
presentation gave a reminder of the reasons for pooling, an update on the 
review of governance arrangements, an update on portfolio development, and 
a summary of Brunel’s approach to responsible investment.

Noted 

10.  Fund Administrator's Report

The Committee considered a report by the Fund Administrator on the funding 
position, the valuation, performance and asset allocation as at 31 March 
2019.

The funding level was estimated to have improved from 83% at the last 
triennial valuation, as at 31 March 2016, to just over 90% at the last indicative 

Page 8



5

update, as at 31 December 2018.  The estimated improvement was primarily 
the result of the large increase in asset values in 2016-17.

It was stressed that this was very much an indicative draft position.  The 
Fund’s actuary was working on a full assessment of liabilities and expected 
future returns on assets, with initial results expected in September 2019.  The 
actuary would be invited to give an update at the meeting of the Committee in 
September and/or November 2019.

The value of the fund’s investments at 31 March 2019 was just over £3 billion.  
This was a pleasing milestone to reach after a volatile year, with strong 
growth in the first two quarters, followed by a poor third quarter and ending 
with a very strong final quarter.

The return on investments for the year was 6%, which was above the discount 
rate of 5.4% used by the actuary in the last valuation, but below the combined 
benchmark return of 7.4%.  In addition to underperformance by some 
managers, there were a number of other contributing factors for this.

The Fund had built up significant cash balances as a result of its recent more 
cautious approach.  Returns on these balances were less than 1% so had 
been a drag on overall performance when investment markets had made 
significantly higher returns.

Performance in the year was also hit by the costs of transferring investments 
to the new Brunel portfolios, and the implementation of the new more 
challenging benchmark for Insight, the Fund’s Liability Driven Investment 
(LDI) manager.  Over the longer term, these changes were expected to 
deliver significant benefits from reduced fees and improved performance.

The performance of some managers was compared to ‘cash plus’ or ‘absolute 
return’ benchmarks.  These benchmarks were not directly linked to market 
returns, so relative performance could be volatile over the shorter term.

Managers whose performance continued to raise concerns would be invited to 
future meetings of the Committee.  However, actions to address ongoing 
performance issues with individual managers needed to be mindful of the 
timescales for transition to Brunel portfolios.

Noted

11.  Investment Pooling Progress Report

The Committee considered a report by the Fund Administrator on the 
progress to date in the implementation of the Full Business Case (FBC) for 
the Brunel Pension Partnership, as approved by the Committee on 9 January 
2017.

As at 31 March 2019, investments valued at approximately £84m had 
transferred to portfolios under Brunel’s management.  This represented nearly 
30% of the Fund’ total assets valued at £3.0bn.

Page 9



6

South West Audit Partnership (SWAP) had been asked to review whether the 
project was progressing as planned.  SWAP concluded that the project was 
on track to deliver the planned benefits, and that asset transitions had been 
well monitored and scrutinised.

Noted

12.  Dates of Future Meetings

Resolved

That meetings be held on the following dates:

12 September 2019 County Hall, Dorchester
26/27 November 2019 London (venue to be confirmed)
12 March 2020 County Hall, Dorchester.

Duration of meeting: 10.00 am - 12.45 pm

Chairman

Page 10



 

 

  

REPORT PREPARED FOR  

Dorset County Pension Fund - Pension Fund 
Committee  

 

 September 2019 

  

  
  
  
  
    

Page 11

Agenda Item 9



 

2  
  

Alan Saunders, MJ Hudson Allenbridge  

alan.saunders@mjhudson.com  
www.mjhudson.com  

  
  
  

THIS DOCUMENT IS DIRECTED ONLY AT THE PERSON(S) IDENTIFIED ABOV 

ON THE BASIS THAT THEY ARE A PROFESSIONAL INVESTOR OR  
PROFESSIONAL CUSTOMER. IT IS ISSUED BY ALLENBRIDGE. ALLENBRIDGE IS  
A TRADING NAME OF ALLENBRIDGEEPIC INVESTMENT ADVISERS LIMITED  
AND ALLENBRIDGE LIMITED WHICH ARE ALL APPOINTED REPRESENTATIVE OF 
ALLENBRIDGE CAPITAL LIMITED WHICH IS AUTHORISED AND REGULATED BY THE 
FINANCIAL CONDUCT AUTHORITY (FCA).  

   

INVESTMENT OUTLOOK  

The strong recovery in markets in the first quarter continued into the second and extended into July.  
August has seen something of a correction, similar to that experienced in May as concerns over trade 
conflict and a hard Brexit get resurrected. As of end July, global equities were up some 21% in sterling 
terms, helped by sterling weakness of course so the recovery from last year’s market setback has been 
significant. 

As we reported last time, the main catalyst for this had been the move by the US Federal Reserve to 
start cutting interest rates again after last year’s policy tightening. To some extent, this has been forced 
on the Fed by President Trump ratcheting up the trade war with China, which is weakening the 
economy through lower exports. 

The global economic scene has a more sombre feel to it now than a few months ago with pronounced 
weakening in Europe and the UK in particular. This is reflected in the extraordinary global fall in 
government bond yields, which normally suggests heightened risk awareness. In the UK, for example, 
10 year gilt yields have fallen to 0.45%, from 1.1% in the last report. This is not just Brexit-related but 
reflects rising talk of deflation or secular stagnation, a combination of low growth and low inflation.. 

ECONOMY  

There is no doubt that the global economy is slowing and in Germany the slowdown is alarming with 
the economy close to reporting two consecutive quarters of negative growth, ie recession. The UK 
reported a bad Q2 [ a fall of 0.2%] after the first quarter bounce and the outlook is for weaker growth 
while the US is slowing from 3% to 2%, at a quarterly rate. At the same time, inflation is levelling off 
at or below the 2% policy target of most central banks, despite the cyclical recovery of recent years. 
There is growing concern that central banks, with the exception of the Fed, may have run out of 
weapons to stimulate economies should they move into recession with interest rates so low and QE 
perhaps exhausted as a policy option.  

 

 

Page 12



 

3  
  

 

  

This sober assessment leads to the prolonged deflation fear or Japanification as it is sometimes called, 
to reflect the last twenty years of disinflationary low growth in Japan. That is why perhaps German 10 
year bond yields are at -0.7% .Mr Draghi of the ECB has promised a major stimulus again in 
September but there is wide scepticism towards cutting interest rates any further into negative territory. 
What Germany really needs is a fiscal stimulus. It is the only major economy to run a budget surplus 
and could easily afford a 2/3% fiscal boost. 

President Trump is lashing out at everybody now and central bankers are in his aim. He regards Mr 
Draghi as a currency manipulator like China because the policy of cutting rates had weakened the euro 
against the dollar. Mr Powell of the Fed is also regarded as an enemy because he is not cutting interest 
rates quickly enough. So far this year, the Fed has cut by 0.25% but two more cuts are expected by the 
markets .This greater flexibility means that the US should avoid recession though much will depend on 
how much further the trade war escalates. 

Finally, the UK, still faced with great uncertainty over Brexit. Renewed concern over a no deal 
outcome has led to a fall in recent weeks of some 3% in the pound, now down to 1.21 against the dollar 
from 1.30 a year ago and 1.10 against the euro, The new cabinet has a new programme which will be 
expansionary through public spending increases and reverse the fiscal tightening of recent years. As 
this has taken the budget deficit down to 1% GNP, a stimulus of some 2% is feasible, though whether 
more will be necessary to offset the effects of a hard landing is uncertain. Should a no deal be the end 
game, much of the downside will come from dislocation on the supply side so a demand stimulus may 
not help so much. That would also apply to any monetary stimulus from the BoE  An agreement with 
the EU with its transition arrangements would of course be far preferable.. Either way, the economic 
outlook is not good for the next twelve months at least. 

 

MARKETS  

While markets are once again preoccupied with economic and political risk, they shrugged these 
concerns aside in Q2 with a rise of some 3% in UK equities and 6% in global equities, on a sterling 
basis , led by Europe and the US with emerging markets trailing, notably China as concern continues 
about the strength of the economy. Fixed interest produced more modest returns though corporate bond 
spreads narrowed again. In August, government bonds are likely to have outperformed equities as bond 
yields fell. 

Have markets peaked? Last quarter, we spoke of a relief rally as the Fed rode to the rescue yet again 
but cautioned that the bull market was some ten years old. Moreover, the business cycle, at least in the 
US, was very extended and corporate earnings growth has slowed right down. Market valuations are 
full if not excessive but do assume earnings growth will continue. It is true that consensus forecasts 
point to recovery in profits next year but that is based on a very shallow slowdown in economic 
growth. Given the concerns listed above, this may prove too optimistic an assumption and earnings 
could disappoint. Already, companies are cutting dividends while new issues on stock markets are not 
proving very successful. Against that, companies have plenty of cash and renewed takeover activity 
could take markets higher. 

 

Page 13



 

4  
  

 

 

 

The UK has been the laggard throughout the Brexit saga, even though the big FTSE 100 stocks with 
their high overseas earnings benefit from sterling weakness. If a deal is agreed with the EU, there will 
be a rally in the market, led by domestic stocks and gilts will probably sell off. It is worth noting in 
passing that UK companies with DB pension schemes are yet again facing a rise in pension fund deficit 
as a result of lower gilt yields. At present, though, a no deal outcome seems the more likely. UK 
property may benefit from overseas buying but seems fully priced on any normal valuation basis. 

Equities could drift along at these levels for some time while these issues move towards resolution. 
Resumption of talks between US and China would be seen as positive as would another rate cut by the 
Fed or a resumption of support by the ECB. The longer term issues of high debt levels, which are no 
longer inflated away or the possibility of protracted deflation are not yet concerns for equities though 
perhaps are reflected in bond yields. Given the balance of risks, a cautious approach still seems 
appropriate.      

ASSET ALLOCATION  

The portfolio is broadly in line with the strategic benchmark set by the committee after the 2016 
valuation. In particular, equities have been reduced and a greater weighting has been allocated to 
overseas equities, where roughly half the currency exposure has been hedged back to sterling. This 
currency hedge has had an opportunity cost because of sterling weakness over the period .The cash 
weighting of 2-3% also impacts performance when markets are rising while the inflation hedge can 
also cost when inflation is falling. Every insurance policy however comes with a price and these 
positions are designed to reduce risk and volatility in the portfolio. 

As stated in the last report, the actuarial valuation will produce a new discount rate which in turn will 
determine the size of the pension fund deficit.  The employer contributions and the length of the 
recovery period agreed on will in turn determine the rate of return required from the portfolio. That 
may lead to a debate about the investment strategy and whether more or less risk needs to be taken to 
meet the target. 

 

RFOR FURTHER INFORMATION  

For further information, please contact Alan Saunders on 020 7079 1000 or at 
alan.saunders@mjhudson.com.  

  

Page 14



 
Date of Meeting: 12 September 2019 
 
Director:   Aidan Dunn, Executive Director Corporate Development

Executive Summary: 
 
The purpose of this report is to update the Committee on the Pension Fund’s funding 
position, and the valuation and overall performance of the Fund’s investments as at 30 
June 2019.  The report provides a summary of the performance of all external investment 
managers, and addresses other topical issues for the Fund that do not require a separate 
report. 
 
The funding level is estimated to have improved from 83.2% at the last triennial valuation, 
as at 31 March 2016, to approximately 91% as at 31 December 2018.  This estimated 
improvement is largely the result of the substantial appreciation in the value of the Fund’s 
assets in 2016-17.   
 
The actuary is working on the full assessment of the funding position for the triennial 
valuation as at 31 March 2019. Initial results for the overall position of the Fund and the 
main scheme employers are expected before the end of September 2019. 
 
The estimated value of the Fund’s assets at 30 June 2019 was £3,085m compared to 
£3,023m at the start of the financial year.  The quarter saw rises in all listed equities 
markets, which drove a rise in the value of the Fund’s assets.  
 
The total return from the Fund’s investments over the financial year to 30 June 2019 was 
3.2%, compared to the combined benchmark return of 2.9%.   
 
Over the last 12 months the Fund’s investments have returned 5.7%, below the Fund’s 
combined benchmark return of 6.3% but above the annual discount rate (or target rate of 
return) of 5.4% assumed by the actuary at the last valuation.   
 
As at 30 June 2019, 41% of the Fund’s liabilities were hedged against inflation sensitivity. 
 

Equalities Impact Assessment:   
 
This report does not deal with any new strategies or polices that would trigger an impact 
assessment. 
 

Budget:  
 
Not applicable. 

Risk Assessment:  
 

 

Pension Fund Committee 

Fund Administrator’s Report 

Page 15

Agenda Item 10



Page 2  

The Fund assesses the risks of its investments in detail, and considers them as part of the 
strategic allocation.  In addition, risk analysis is provided alongside the quarterly 
performance monitoring when assessing and reviewing fund manager performance. 
 

Climate Implications: 
 
The Fund’s Investment Strategy Statement requires all external investment managers to 
consider and manage all financially material risks arising from environmental issues, 
including those associated with climate change. 

Other Implications:   
 
None. 

Recommendation: 
 
That the Committee: 

1) Review and comment upon the activity and overall performance of the Fund. 
2) Note the progress in implementing the new strategic asset allocation. 

Reason for Recommendation: 
 
To ensure that the Fund has the appropriate management arrangements in place and are 
being monitored, and to keep the asset allocation in line with the strategic target. 

Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1: Listed Equities Report 
Appendix 2: Corporate Bonds Report (RLAM) 
Appendix 3: Multi Asset Credit (CQS) 
Appendix 4: Property Report (CBRE) 
Appendix 5: Liability Driven Investment (Insight)  

Background Papers: 
 
Funding Strategy Statement June 2017 
Investment Strategy Statement March 2018 

Officer Contact:  
 
Name: David Wilkes, Service Manager for Operational Finance 
Tel: 01305 224119 
Email: investments@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 

  

Page 16



Page 3  

1. Funding Update  

1.1 The Fund’s actuary, Barnett Waddingham, undertakes a full assessment of the 
funding position every three years.  This was last completed as at 31 March 2016 
and is now being undertaken as at 31 March 2019. 

 
1.2 As at 31 March 2016, the Fund had a funding level of 83.2% i.e. the assets were 

estimated to be 83.2% of the value that they would have needed to be to pay for the 
benefits accrued to that date, based on the assumptions used. 

 
1.3 In addition to the full triennial assessment, officers have asked Barnett Waddingham 

to carry out indicative updates on the funding position on a quarterly basis.  It is 
intended that this will provide a better understanding of movements in the Fund’s 
overall funding position between triennial valuations.   

 
1.4 As the actuary is now working on the full assessment of the funding position as at 31 

March 2019, their latest indicative assessment is based on the position as at 31 
December 2018.  The assessment as at 31 December 2018 was based on: 

 the results of the last triennial actuarial valuation as at 31 March 2016  
 estimated whole Fund income and expenditure items for the period to 31 

December 2018; and  
 estimated Fund returns based on Fund asset statements provided to 31 

December 2018.  
 
1.5 The results of this assessment indicated that the projection of the funding level as at 

31 December 2018 was approximately 91%. However, the final position at 31 March 
2019 will depend on the assumptions adopted as part of the 2019 valuation process.  

 
1.6 Officers will be meeting with the actuary in September 2019 to discuss the initial 

results for the Fund as a whole and the main employers.  Initial results for all other 
employers are expected in October and November 2019.  The final certificate of the 
contribution rates applicable for all employers for 2020-21, 2021-22 and 2022-23 
must be issued by the actuary before 31 March 2020 at the latest. 

 
2. Asset Valuation Summary 

2.1 The table below shows the Fund’s asset valuation by asset class at the beginning of 
the financial year and as at 30 June 2019, together with the target allocation as 
agreed at the meeting of the Committee on 13 September 2017.  

Page 17



Page 4  

 

3. Investment Performance Summary 

3.1 The overall performance of the Fund’s investments to 30 June 2019 is summarised 
below. 
 

 

3.2 The Fund returned 3.2% for the three months to 30 June 2019, outperforming the 
combined benchmark by 0.3%.  Over the longer term, the Fund underperformed its 
benchmark over 1 year, returning an annualised 5.7% against the benchmark return 
of 6.3% and underperformed its benchmark over 3 years returning an annualised 
9.9% against the benchmark return of 10.1%. The Fund matched its combined 
benchmark over 5 years, returning an annualised 8.9%.  

Asset Class £M % £M % £M %
UK Equities 643.0     21.3% 634.5     20.6% 617.1     20.0%
Overseas Equities 703.0     23.3% 745.2     24.2% 678.8     22.0%
Emerging Markets Equities 98.2       3.2% 102.3     3.3% 92.6       3.0%
Total Listed Equities 1,444.2 47.8% 1,482.0 48.0% 1,388.4  45.0%
Corporate Bonds 214.4     7.1% 220.3     7.1% 185.1     6.0%
Multi Asset Credit 139.7     4.6% 141.9     4.6% 154.3     5.0%
Diversified Growth 176.1     5.8% 180.6     5.9% 246.8     8.0%
Infrastructure 138.7     4.6% 163.0     5.3% 154.3     5.0%
Private Equity 80.3       2.7% 89.8       2.9% 154.3     5.0%
Property 323.3     10.7% 322.3     10.4% 370.2     12.0%
Cash 105.1     3.5% 80.2       2.6% -        0.0%
F/X Hedging 0.7        0.0% 0.2        0.0% -        0.0%
Total Return Seeking Assets 2,622.5  86.7% 2,680.3  86.9% 2,653.4  86.0%
Liability Matching Assets 401.1     13.3% 405.0     13.1% 431.9     14.0%
Total Asset Valuation 3,023.6  100.0% 3,085.3  100.0% 3,085.3  100.0%

31-Mar-19 30-Jun-19 Target Allocation

3.2%

5.7%

9.9%

8.9%

2.9%

6.3%

10.1%

8.9%

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

Quarter 1 Year 3 Years 5 Years

Fund Return  Benchmark Return

Page 18



Page 5  

3.3 The Fund’s relative underperformance is partly a result of the high cash balances 
which we have allowed to develop as part of cautious approach to current market 
outlook.  It is also driven by the performance of managers who have ‘cash plus’ or 
‘absolute return’ benchmarks which are not directly linked to market returns, 
particularly over the shorter term.  The Fund’s currency hedging strategy also acts as 
a ‘drag’ on performance, at times when sterling depreciates against other major 
currencies, particularly the US dollar. 

4.  Implementation of changes to Strategic Asset Allocation 
 
4.1 At its meeting on 13 September 2017, the Committee agreed a number of changes 

to the strategic asset allocation of the Fund.  The following paragraphs summarise 
progress in implementing these changes. 

 
4.2 The new 5% allocation to Multi Asset Credit manager CQS was achieved in full with 

an investment of £135M on 1 December 2017. It was funded from a partial 
disinvestment from the corporate bonds mandate with RLAM (£120M) and existing 
cash balances (£15M).  This leaves the current allocation to Corporate Bonds as 
7.1% against the revised target of 6%. 

4.3 The increased allocation to Diversified Growth Funds (DGF) was met in part by 
investing a further £50M in the Baring Dynamic Asset Allocation Fund in February 
2018 funded by partial disinvestment from the then internally managed UK equities 
portfolio. This leaves the current allocation to DGF as 5.8% against the revised target 
of 8%. 

4.4 The total allocation to Listed Equities has reduced from 53% when the strategic 
allocation was agreed to 48% as at 30 June 2019, compared to the target of 45%.  In 
July 2018, the internally managed passive UK equity portfolio, and the global equity 
investments managed by Allianz transitioned to Brunel portfolios managed by Legal 
and General Investment Management (LGIM) in July 2018.  In November 2018, 
assets under management of external UK Equities manager AXA Framlington were 
transferred to the Brunel UK Equities Active portfolio.   

4.5 As part of these transitions there were disinvestments of £37M from the self-
managed UK Equities portfolio, £34M from the Allianz portfolio, and £10M from the 
AXA Framlington pooled fund, followed by a further £15M disinvestment from the 
LGIM passive equities fund.  This financial year there have been further 
disinvestments from listed equities portfolios of £50M- £25M from Brunel’s UK active 
portfolio, £5M from Brunel’s LGIM smart beta global equities portfolio, £10M from 
Investec and £10M from Wellington.   

4.6 The increased allocations to infrastructure, private equity and property will be 
achieved if, and when, suitable opportunities arise with existing managers or through 
allocation to the appropriate Brunel portfolio as and when these become available. A 
commitment of 2.0% has been made to the Brunel Private Equity portfolio with £2.4M 
invested as at 30 June 2019, with a further 2.0% commitment to the Brunel Secured 
Income portfolio of which £2.9M had been invested by the end of June 2019. 

Page 19



Page 6  

Drawdowns against commitments will be funded from cash balances and/or further 
disinvestment from equities and corporate bonds. 

 
4.7 For all other asset classes, where the current allocation is different to the new target, 

it is expected that the target will be achieved through allocation to the appropriate 
Brunel portfolio as and when these become available.  When the results of the 
triennial valuation are known, there will be a review of the strategic asset allocation.  

 
5. Performance by Asset Class and Investment Manager 

 UK Equities 

5.1 In July 2018, the internally managed UK equity portfolio transferred to the Brunel UK 
Passive Equities portfolio managed by Legal & General Investment Management 
(LGIM).  In November 2018, assets under the management of AXA Framlington 
transferred to the Brunel UK Equities Active portfolio. The performance of the Fund’s 
external mangers is detailed in Appendix 1 and summarised in the tables below.   

  

  

Global Developed Markets Equities 

5.2  In July 2018, the holdings under the management of Allianz transferred to the Brunel 
Smart Beta portfolio managed by LGIM.  The performance of the Fund’s external 
global equities managers is detailed in Appendix 1 and summarised in the tables 
below. 

  

Brunel/LGIM Passive - £386.2m assets under management (AUM)

Performance Benchmark Relative
Quarter 3.2% 3.3% -0.1%
Since inception -0.1% -0.1% 0.0%

Schroders - £54.5m AUM

Performance Benchmark Relative
Quarter 4.7% 0.9% 3.8%
12 months -6.2% -8.6% 2.4%
3 years p.a. 15.7% 7.7% 8.0%
5 years p.a. 10.9% 5.4% 5.5%
Since inception p.a. 10.1% 6.2% 3.9%

Investec - £232.4m AUM

Performance Benchmark Relative
Quarter 5.7% 6.5% -0.8%
12 months 9.4% 10.3% -0.9%
3 Years p.a. 13.4% 13.6% -0.2%
Since inception p.a. 14.2% 14.7% -0.5%

Page 20



Page 7  

   

  

 

5.3 Relative performance in the quarter was above the benchmark for Wellington but 
Investec were below the benchmark. Over twelve months Investec underperformed 
their benchmark by 0.9%, whilst Wellington outperformed by 1.4%. Since inception in 
December 2015 Wellington are above their benchmark whilst Investec are 
underperforming their benchmark.   

5.4 Please note that the Fund’s Global Equities managers have some exposure to UK 
equities (approximately 6-7% of assets under management).  

 Emerging Markets Equities - £102.3m AUM 

5.5 The performance of JP Morgan, the Fund’s emerging markets equities manager is 
detailed in Appendix 1 and summarised below. 

  

5.6 The quarter to 30 June 2019 saw emerging markets outperform its benchmark as 
both stock selection and country allocation contributed to relative returns.  Stock 
selection in China was one of the leading contributors to relative returns during the 
period. 

 Corporate Bonds - £220.3m AUM  

5.7 The performance of the Fund’s external Corporate Bonds manager, RLAM, is 
detailed in Appendix 2, and summarised below. 

Wellington - £256.6m AUM

Performance Benchmark Relative
Quarter 7.7% 6.5% 1.2%
12 months 11.7% 10.3% 1.4%
3 years p.a. 14.9% 13.6% 1.3%
Since inception p.a. 15.9% 14.7% 1.2%

Brunel/LGIM Smart Beta - £153.4m AUM

Performance Benchmark Relative
Quarter 6.3% 6.2% 0.1%
12 months 8.9% 9.1% -0.2%
Since inception 8.9% 9.1% -0.2%

Brunel/LGIM Smart Beta (Hedged) - £135.7m AUM

Performance Benchmark Relative
Quarter 3.0% 3.0% 0.0%
12 months 5.0% 5.7% -0.7%
Since inception 5.0% 5.7% -0.7%

Performance Benchmark Relative
Quarter 4.2% 3.0% 1.2%
12 months 4.1% 5.0% -0.9%
3 years p.a. 13.8% 12.5% 1.3%
5 years p.a. 9.1% 8.7% 0.4%
Since inception p.a. 6.0% 6.0% 0.0%

Page 21



Page 8  

  

5.8 The manager was above the benchmark for the quarter and over one year and all 
longer periods.  

 Multi Asset Credit (MAC) - £141.9m AUM 

5.9 The performance of the Fund’s external MAC manager, CQS, is detailed in Appendix 
3 and summarised below. 

  

5.10 The target for the CQS fund is cash (1 month LIBOR) plus 4% over the longer term, 
and this is used as the benchmark for the investment.  

 Property - £319.3m AUM  

5.11 The performance of the Fund’s external property manager, CBRE, is detailed in 
Appendix 4, and summarised below. 

  

Diversified Growth Funds (DGF) - £180.6m AUM 

5.12 Diversified Growth Funds give fund managers total discretion over how and where 
they invest which means that the portfolio holds a wide range of investments against 
a diverse range of asset classes.  The objective of the Barings fund is to deliver 
‘equity like’ returns (over the long term) but with about 70% of the equity risk. The 
manager seeks to achieve out performance against a cash benchmark by focusing 
on asset allocation decisions.   

5.13 The performance for Barings is summarised below. 

Performance Benchmark Relative
Quarter 2.8% 2.5% 0.3%
12 months 7.9% 7.6% 0.3%
3 years p.a. 6.3% 4.8% 1.5%
5 years p.a. 7.4% 6.7% 0.7%
Since inception p.a. 8.7% 8.6% 0.1%

Performance Benchmark Relative
Quarter 1.6% 1.2% 0.4%
12 months 3.9% 4.8% -0.9%
Since inception (Dec-17) 3.2% 4.7% -1.5%

Performance Benchmark Relative
Quarter 0.3% 0.5% -0.2%
12 months 3.9% 3.3% 0.6%
3 years p.a. 6.5% 6.0% 0.5%
5 years p.a. 9.2% 8.5% 0.7%
Since inception p.a. 7.8% 7.7% 0.1%

Page 22



Page 9  

  

5.14 The target for the Barings fund is cash (3 month LIBOR) plus 4% over the longer 
term and this is used as the benchmark for the investment. 

Private Equity 

5.15 Private Equity is an asset class that takes several years for commitments to be fully 
invested.  The table below summarises the commitment the Fund has made in total 
to each manager, the drawdowns that have taken place to date and the percentage 
of the total drawdown against the Fund’s commitment.  It also shows the distributions 
that have been returned to the Fund, the valuation as at 30 June 2019 and the total 
gains or losses on investments.  

  

5.16 In order to meet the target allocation, there is a requirement to keep committing to 
Private Equity funds.  Officers are in regular discussions with HarbourVest, Aberdeen 
Standard and the Brunel private markets team to identify further opportunities for 
investment. 

5.17 The Fund has committed to investing with HarbourVest and Aberdeen Standard in 
their Private Equity ‘fund of funds’.  Private Equity is a long-term investment and as 
such the performance should be considered over the longer term.  Additionally, as 
the benchmark used for these investments is the FTSE All Share index and the 
investments are held in US dollars and Euros, currency movements can contribute to 
volatility in relative performance. 

5.18 The tables below summarise performance to date for both managers.  

Performance Benchmark Relative
Quarter 2.6% 1.2% 1.4%
12 months 2.8% 4.9% -2.1%
3 years p.a. 5.2% 4.6% 0.6%
5 years p.a. 4.3% 4.6% -0.3%
Since inception p.a. 4.5% 4.6% -0.1%

Private Equity Commitments, Drawdowns and Valuations

Manager Commitment Distribution Valuation Gain

£m £m % £m £m £m
HarbourVest 110.1 77.4 70% 72.0 52.2 46.8
Aberdeen Standard 78.9 57.7 73% 60.2 35.1 37.5
Brunel 60.0 2.4 4% 0.0 2.6 0.2
Total 249.0 137.5 55% 132.2 89.8 84.5

Drawndown  

Page 23



Page 10  

  

  

Infrastructure 
 
5.19 As with Private Equity, Infrastructure is a long-term investment that takes several 

years for commitments to be fully invested.  The Fund has two external infrastructure 
managers, Hermes and IFM.  The target for each manager is a 10% absolute annual 
return and this is used at the benchmark for these investments.  Performance is 
summarised in the tables below: 

 

  
 
5.20 Valuations of regulated utilities have decreased, reflecting the impact of recent policy 

announcements by UK regulators in relation to price controls in the water and energy 
sectors. 
 

  

5.21 The investments with IFM are denominated in US dollars but performance is 
measured in sterling, therefore currency movements can contribute to volatility in 
performance. 

HarbourVest - £52.2m AUM

Performance Benchmark Relative
Quarter 12.8% 3.3% 9.5%
12 months 21.7% 0.6% 21.1%
3 years p.a. 17.6% 9.0% 8.6%
5 years p.a. 21.0% 6.3% 14.7%
Since inception p.a. 11.6% 5.9% 5.7%

Aberdeen Standard - £35.1m AUM

Performance Benchmark Relative
Quarter 8.5% 3.3% 5.2%
12 months 18.3% 0.6% 17.7%
3 years p.a. 12.4% 9.0% 3.4%
5 years p.a. 12.9% 6.3% 6.6%
Since inception p.a. 3.7% 6.3% -2.6%

Hermes - £68.2m AUM

Performance Benchmark Relative
Quarter 2.9% 2.3% 0.6%
12 months 1.0% 10.0% -9.0%
3 years p.a. 7.0% 10.0% -3.0%
Since inception p.a. 8.1% 10.0% -1.9%

IFM - £94.9m AUM

Performance Benchmark Relative
Quarter 6.1% 2.3% 3.8%
12 months 19.3% 10.0% 9.3%
3 years p.a. 16.0% 10.0% 6.0%
Since inception p.a. 17.4% 10.0% 7.4%

Page 24



Page 11  

 
  Liability Driven Investment (LDI) - £405.0m AUM [check vs manager] 

5.22 The Fund holds a proportion of its assets in an inflation hedging strategy, managed 
by Insight Investments which are not held to add growth, but to match the 
movements in the Fund’s liabilities. 

5.23 LDI strategies allow pension schemes to continue investing in return-seeking assets 
while hedging out their liability risks through the use of leverage.  As at 30 June 
2019, 13.3% of the Fund’s assets were invested in the mandate but 41.4% of the 
Fund’s liabilities were hedged against inflation sensitivity i.e. if the value of the 
Fund’s liabilities increased by £100M (purely as a result of changes to inflation 
expectations), the value of the assets under management would be expected to 
increase by approximately £41M. 

 
5.24 The liability matching strategy is intended to hedge against the impact of increasing 

pensions liabilities which are linked to the Consumer Prices Index (CPI).  CPI cannot 
currently be hedged as there is not a sufficiently developed futures market, so the 
Fund’s strategy targets the Retail Prices Index (RPI) swaps market to act as a proxy 
for CPI which tends to be lower than RPI.   

 
5.25 The performance of the manager is detailed in Appendix 5 and summarised below. 
 

  
 

6. Cash and Treasury Management 

6.1 The Fund generates cash flows throughout the year which need to be managed.  The 
Fund therefore holds a proportion of cash that is invested in call accounts, money 
market funds and fixed term deposits.  A breakdown of the balances held internally 
as at 30 June 2019 is shown in the table below, including balances held in the 
custodian bank accounts and in a property rent collection account where a float is 
required for working capital purposes. 

Performance Benchmark Relative
Quarter 0.7% 0.9% -0.2%
12 months 14.3% 14.6% -0.3%
3 years p.a. 18.3% 14.5% 3.8%
5 years p.a. 10.0% 9.2% 0.8%
Since inception p.a. 12.3% 11.0% 1.3%

Page 25



Page 12  

  

6.2 The Fund is currently ‘cashflow positive’ as it receives more money in contributions 
and investment income than it pays out as pensions and retirement grants.  It was 
estimated that there would be a surplus of income over expenditure from these cash 
flows of approximately £10M to £20M in the 2019/20 financial year.  The table below 
summarises the main Fund’s main cash flows for the financial year to date. 

  

 

Amount Rate
£000s %

Fixed Term Deposits
Lloyds Banking Group 5,000          0.90%
Lloyds Banking Group 5,000          1.00%
Standard Chartered 10,000        1.00%
Nationwide Building Society 10,000        0.90%
Total Fixed Term Deposits 30,000        0.95%

Call Accounts
National Westminster Bank 455 0.20%
Total Call Accounts 455 0.20%

Money Market Funds
Aberdeen Standard 8,200          0.75%
Deutsche 8,800          0.75%
Total Money Market Funds 17,000        0.75%

Holding Accounts
State Street Custody Accounts 32,287        0.70%
Property Client Account 500             0.00%
Total Holding Accounts 32,787        0.69%

Total Cash / Average Return 80,242        0.80%

Summary Cashflow for the Financial Year to 30 June 2019

£M £M
Cash at 1 April 2019 105.1

Less:
Property Transactions (net) -1.0
Infrastructure Drawdowns (net) -19.0
Private Equity Drawdowns (net) -5.0
Currency Hedge (net) -6.0
Net Transfers to other pension funds -25.0

-56.0
Plus:

LGIM Smart Beta (disinvestment) 5.0
Brunel UK Equities Active (disinvestment) 25.0
Net Income 1.1

31.1

Cash at 30 June 2019 80.2

Page 26



Page 1– Listed Equities Managers Report 

Dorset Council:  Pension Fund Committee 12 September 2019 
 

Listed Market Equities – Performance Summary 
 
1. Equity Markets Performance 
 
1.1 Shares in developed markets gained in the quarter ending 30 June 2019, despite a 

steep fall in May due to concerns over the US-China trade war. Stock markets were 
supported by increasingly accommodative central banks and hopes of progress in 
trade tensions by the end of June 2019. 
 

1.2 US shares gained in the quarter ending 30 June 2019 and the S&P 500 set a new 
record high of 2,954.2 on 20 June 2019. The Federal Reserve did not cut interest rates 
at its June meeting, but indicated that there may be rate cuts ahead. 

 
1.3 Eurozone equities advanced in the quarter ending 30 June 2019 with a sharp drop in 

May between gains in April and June. Top performing sectors included information 
technology, consumer discretionary and industrials. 
 

1.4 UK shares also performed well. Areas of the market perceived to offer superior and 
defensible earnings growth extended the run of outperformance they have 
experienced since the beginning of 2019. For example, the technology sector enjoyed 
another quarter of strong relative performance, as did a number of large consumer 
goods companies, which are perceived to have dependable growth prospects. 
Conversely, many of the market’s domestically-focused sectors underperformed amid 
renewed Brexit and political uncertainty. 
 

1.5 The FTSE100 rose 2.0% between 1 April 2019 to 30 June 2019 despite Brexit 
uncertainty and the trade war between the US and China worried investors but they 
were in line with global equities. 

  
1.6 In the US, the S&P 500 rose 3.8% over the three-month period to 30 June 2019. 

  
1.7 The tables below show the performance of UK and World indices over three and 

twelve months to 30 June 2019. 
                                            

 

Three months to 30 June 2019

Country Index 31/03/2019 30/06/2019 % Change
UK FTSE100 7,279.2 7,425.6 2.0
UK FTSE250 19,117.5 19,462.1 1.8
UK FTSE350 4,033.1 4,112.9 2.0
UK Small Cap 5,466.4 5,570.1 1.9
UK Small Cap ex Investment Trusts 7,127.7 7,194.2 0.9
UK All Share 3,978.3 4,056.9 2.0
Japan Nikkei225 21,205.8 21,275.9 0.3
US S & P 500 2,834.4 2,941.8 3.8
Hong Kong Hang Seng 29,051.4 28,542.6 -1.8
France Cac 40 5,350.5 5,539.0 3.5
Germany Dax 11,526.0 12,398.8 7.6
China Shanghai Composite 3,090.8 2,978.9 -3.6

Page 27



Page 2– Listed Equities Managers Report 

 
 

 
1.8 There was positive performance from all the UK markets in the three months to 30 

June 2019. The FTSE100 was the best performer rising 2.0% (146 points). The Small 
Cap excluding Investment Trusts was the worst performing UK index despite rising 
0.9% (67 points). In comparison, performance from world indices were mainly positive. 
The Dax was the best performer rising 7.6% (873 points). The Shanghai Composite 
was the worst performer falling 3.6% (112 points). The S&P 500 rose 3.8% (107 
points) over the same period. 

 
1.9 Over the twelve-month period to 30 June 2019, all major UK indices fell. The FTSE100 

was the best performer despite falling 2.8% (211 points). The Small Cap excluding 
Investment Trusts was the worst performing UK index falling 8.6% (679 points). In 
comparison, performance from world indices were mixed. The S&P 500 was the best 
performing index rising 8.2% (223 points). The Nikkei225 was the worst performer 
falling 4.6% (1,029 points) over the same period. 

  
2. Market Review 
 
2.1 Global equities rose for the second straight quarter. Sluggish global growth and 

geopolitical events dominated headlines. Trade tensions between China and the US 
escalated in May but eased at the end of the quarter after the two countries agreed 
at the G20 summit to resume trade negotiations. US President Donald Trump 
announced that existing tariffs would remain in place but suspended tariffs on an 
additional US$300 billion of Chinese goods. Mexico avoided a 5% tariff on all exports 
to the US after it agreed to increase enforcement to stem the flow of illegal 
immigrants into the US. 
 

2.2 In Europe, Brexit was a major concern, with the UK avoiding an abrupt no-deal 
departure from the European Union (EU) on April 12 after EU leaders granted the UK 
a flexible extension until October 31. UK Prime Minister Theresa May announced that 
she would resign as leader of Britain’s Conservative Party on June 7 after failing to 
secure a Brexit deal. On the monetary front, dovish central bank rhetoric and policy 
bolstered global markets 
 

2.3  The US Federal Reserve signalled it was open to rate cuts amid concerns about the 
downside risks associated with slowing global growth and trade disputes. The 
European Central Bank hinted that it may lower rates if the outlook for growth and 
inflation fails to improve. 

 

Twelve months to 30 June 2019

Country Index 30/06/2018 30/06/2019 % Change
UK FTSE100 7,636.9 7,425.6 -2.8
UK FTSE250 20,831.0 19,462.1 -6.6
UK FTSE350 4,257.4 4,112.9 -3.4
UK Small Cap 5,876.8 5,570.1 -5.2
UK Small Cap ex Investment Trusts 7,873.2 7,194.2 -8.6
UK All Share 4,202.3 4,056.9 -3.5
Japan Nikkei225 22,304.5 21,275.9 -4.6
US S & P 500 2,718.4 2,941.8 8.2
Hong Kong Hang Seng 28,955.1 28,542.6 -1.4
France Cac 40 5,323.5 5,539.0 4.0
Germany Dax 12,306.0 12,398.8 0.8
China Shanghai Composite 2,847.4 2,978.9 4.6

Page 28



Page 3– Listed Equities Managers Report 

2.4 The MSCI World returned 6.7% over the period. Within the index, all of the 
sectors rose for the period. Financials and information technology were the 
top performing sectors, while energy and real estate were the bottom 
performing sectors for the quarter. 

 
UK Equity performance for the period ending 30 June 2019 
 
3. Background 
 
3.1 On 11 July 2018, the internally managed passive UK equity portfolio transferred to 

the Brunel UK Passive Equities portfolio managed by Legal & General Investment 
Management (LGIM).  On 21 November 2018, one of the two UK Equity managers, 
AXA Framlington was transferred in full (sale proceeds £177M) to the UK Equities 
Active Brunel portfolio. The Fund still has one UK equity active manager, Schroders.  

 
3.2 This combination of managers and styles is designed to give the opportunity of 

outperformance against the FTSE All Share index and has a two thirds passive and 
one third active mix.  Details of the combined portfolio (£608.9M) at 30 June 2019) 
are shown in the table at paragraph 4.1. 

 
3.3 Investment in the smallest companies which make up 3.5% of the index is achieved 

by a holding in the Schroders Institutional UK Smaller Companies Fund which is 
managed on an active basis. 

 
4. Valuation 
 
4.1 The table below summarises the valuations for the three managers as at 1 April 2019 

and 30 June 2019. 
 

  
 
5. Performance 
 
5.1 The table below summarises the performance for each manager in absolute terms 

and compared to their respective benchmarks for the quarter, the financial year and 
since inception to 30 June 2019. 

 
  
 

Schroders LGIM Brunel Total
£000s £000s £000s £000s

Valuation 01-Apr-19 52,033 374,014 187,596 613,643
Investment 0 0 0 0
Disinvestment 0 0 0 0
Change in Valuation 2,434 12,136 -19,313 -4,743 
Valuation 30-Jun-19 54,467 386,150 168,283 608,900

Page 29



Page 4– Listed Equities Managers Report 

  
 
Global Equities performance for the period ending 30 June 2019 
 
6. Background 
 
6.1 With effect from mid December 2015, the Fund replaced its then two global equities 

managers, Pictet Asset Management and Janus Intech, with three new managers, 
Allianz Global Investors, Investec Asset Management and Wellington Management. 
On 18 July 2018 Dorset’s global equities under the management of Allianz were 
successfully transitioned to the Brunel Smart Beta portfolio, managed by Legal & 
General Investment Management (LGIM).  In addition, JP Morgan has been the 
Fund’s emerging markets equities manager since April 2012. 

 
7. Valuation 
 
7.1 The table below summarises the movement in valuations for all managers for the 

financial year to 30 June 2019. 
 

  
  
 
 

Schroders
LGIM 

Passive
Brunel UK 

Active

Inception Apr-06 Jul-18 Nov-18
Quarter to Date

Performance 4.7% 3.2% 3.1%
Benchmark 0.9% 3.3% 3.3%
Relative Return 3.8% -0.1% -0.2%

Twelve Months to Date
Performance -6.2% -0.1% -
Benchmark -8.6% -0.1% -
Relative Return 2.4% 0.0% -

Three Years p.a.
Performance 15.7% - -
Benchmark 7.7% - -
Relative Return 8.0% - -

Five Years p.a.
Performance 10.9% - -
Benchmark 5.4% - -
Relative Return 5.5% - -

Since Inception p.a.
Performance 10.1% -0.1% 9.3%
Benchmark 6.2% -0.1% 9.4%
Relative Return 3.9% 0.0% -0.1%

Investec Wellington LGIM JP Morgan Total
£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Valuation 01-Apr-19 219,766 238,172 281,051 98,177 837,166
Investment 0 0 0 0 0
Distribution 0 0 0 0 0
Increase in Valuation 12,633 18,433 8,078 4,092 43,236
Valuation 30-Jun-19 232,399 256,605 289,129 102,269 880,402

Page 30



Page 5– Listed Equities Managers Report 

 
8. Performance 
 
8.1 The table below summarises the performance for each manager in absolute terms 

and compared to their respective benchmarks for the quarter, the financial year and 
since inception to 30 June 2019. 

 

 
  
8.2 Investec underperformed its benchmark over three months by 0.8% and by 0.9% 

over the twelve months to the 30 June 2019. Wellington outperformed their 
benchmark by 1.2% over three months and by 1.4% over twelve months. Since 
inception, Wellington has outperformed their benchmark by 1.2%, whilst Investec has 
underperformed by 0.5%.  

 
8.3 JP Morgan have outperformed their benchmark for the quarter by 1.2% but 

underperformed by 0.9% over twelve months. JP Morgan outperformed the 
benchmark by 1.3% over 3 years and by 0.4% over 5 years. Since inception JP 
Morgan’s performance has matched the benchmark of 6.0%. 

 
9. Manager Commentaries (Active Mandates) 
 
9.1 Schroders (UK Smaller Companies) 
 

The fund outperformed its FTSE Small Cap (ex-investment companies) benchmark 
over the period of three and twelve months as well as over three and five years. 
Miniatures manufacturer and table top gaming Games Workshop performed well on 
the back of further earnings upgrades. Mining royalty company Anglo Pacific, a 
sizeable off-benchmark position, also generated double-digit share price returns as a 

Investec Wellington

LGIM 
Smart 
Beta

LGIM 
Smart 
Beta JP Morgan

(Hedged)

Inception Dec-15 Dec-15 Jul-18 Jul-18 Apr-12
Quarter to Date

Performance 5.7% 7.7% 6.3% 3.0% 4.2%
Benchmark 6.5% 6.5% 6.2% 3.0% 3.0%
Relative Return -0.8% 1.2% 0.1% 0.0% 1.2%

Twelve Months to Date
Performance 9.4% 11.7% 8.9% 5.0% 4.1%
Benchmark 10.3% 10.3% 9.1% 5.7% 5.0%
Relative Return -0.9% 1.4% -0.2% -0.7% -0.9%

Three Years to Date
Performance 13.4% 14.9%  -  - 13.8%
Benchmark 13.6% 13.6%  -  - 12.5%
Relative Return -0.2% 1.3%  -  - 1.3%

Five Years to Date
Performance  -  -  -  - 9.1%
Benchmark  -  -  -  - 8.7%
Relative Return  -  -  -  - 0.4%

Since Inception
Performance 14.2% 15.9% 8.9% 5.0% 6.0%
Benchmark 14.7% 14.7% 9.1% 5.7% 6.0%
Relative Return -0.5% 1.2% -0.2% -0.7% 0.0%

Page 31



Page 6– Listed Equities Managers Report 

robust set of quarter 1 results further underlined the company’s ability to deliver 
sustainable growth from an increasingly well diversified portfolio of royalty assets. 
These assets give Anglo Pacific exposure to both old and new economies, serving 
end markets from steel production (thermal coal, iron ore mines) to the emerging 
battery chemistry sector. The company, which focusses on less volatile royalties 
associated with a miner’s revenue line, enjoyed strong growth in royalties in quarter 
1, which hit a new quarterly record. This was driven by royalties from the Kestrel 
thermal coal mine in Australia, where output is growing rapidly, and strong royalty 
growth from Anglo Pacific’s Canadian iron ore asset, due to robust iron ore prices. 
 
Performance benefited from not owning high leveraged UK roadside assistance 
group AA, professional services firm RPS (profit warning related to its Australian 
operations) and UK tour operator Thomas Cook amid balance sheet concerns. 
Avoiding Costain was also beneficial after the UK infrastructure specialist warned on 
profits due to contract delays, as was a zero weighting in Lookers, which confirmed 
that the Financial Conduct Authority is investigating historic finance-backed sales by 
the UK car dealer. 
 
On the negative side, mobile advertising platform provider Tremor International 
(formerly Taptica International) performed poorly. Sentiment towards the shares was 
negatively impacted by news that Uber Technologies had filed a lawsuit against the 
company. More widely, investors remain sceptical of Tremor’s recent acquisition of 
AIM-quoted peer RhythmOne. In our opinion, the deal considerably strengthens 
Tremor’s competitive positioning in the rapidly growing video advertising market. 
 
Not owning telecoms company KCOM and business-to-business media group Tarsus 
detracted from performance (recommended bid offers for both companies) so did a 
zero weighting in countermeasures specialist Chemring, which experienced a relief 
rally as interim results were in line with expectations. 
 
Globally diversified multi-channel fashion retailer Ted Baker was another negative in 
the wake of a profit warning. The warning resulted from a combination of challenging 
trading conditions and company-specific issues after the departure of its founder and 
CEO. 
 
The holding in the very successful AB Dynamics, a supplier of automotive “testbeds” 
to car makers was sold. Jersey Oil & Gas was sold after disappointing appraisal 
drilling of the explorer’s Verbier discovery in the North Sea. A new holding in 
specialist annuity provider Just Group was established following its demotion from 
the FTSE 250 index. The shares trade at a significant discount to the company’s 
embedded value. A new holding was initiated in Attraqt, which specialises in search 
and merchandising solutions to online retailers in the UK and the US. Targeting the 
same market as larger quoted peer 4imprint (which is owned in the mid-cap portfolio) 
Attraqt is at a much earlier stage in its strategic development and gives exposure to a 
structurally growing but highly fragmented market. 

  
9.2 Brunel (UK Equities) 
 

The FTSE All Share index underperformed global markets during the quarter. 
Sectors which display a domestic bias, such as utilities, provided a negative return 
amidst further political and Brexit uncertainty, with Theresa May resigning as PM and 
a further extension of the Brexit deadline to 31 October 2019.  
 
The UK economy shrank by 0.4% in April, reflected in the GBP/USD decline by -
2.3% over the quarter. However, with US interest rate cuts expected we may see a 
potential weakening of the USD in future. 

Page 32



Page 7– Listed Equities Managers Report 

Over the quarter, the portfolio has marginally underperformed the FTSE All Share by 
-0.12%, returning 3.13% versus the FTSE All Share return of 3.26%. Manager 
relative performance was mixed over the quarter. 
 
Since inception on 21 November 2018, the portfolio has returned 9.28%, an under 
performance of -0.15% versus the FTSE All Share over the same period. Again, 
relative performance by managers was mixed over the period. 

 
9.3  Investec (Global Equities) 
 
 The portfolio underperformed the index over three months. In aggregate, the 4Factor 

model performance was marginally negative for the quarter, impacted primarily by 
the Value factor which provided a significant headwind. 

 
 In terms of detractors to performance over the period, exposure to the energy sector 

proved challenging, mainly driven by oil and gas company Range Resources. 
Continued weaker gas and liquefied natural gas prices and the absence of 
announcements on further asset sales to reduce debt levels continue to challenge 
the firm. 

 
 Google parent company Alphabet was a significant stock-level detractor, as it sold off 

as the US Justice Department may investigate Google for hampering competition. 
Hong Kong real estate developer CK Asset Holdings was among the portfolio’s most 
significant stock-level detractors; its latest yearly results were held back by a few 
projects being pushed back into the 2019 fiscal year. 

 
The consumer discretionary sector also weighed on performance, as several 
holdings were caught out by rising trade tensions between the US and China. This 
weighed most heavily on clothing conglomerate PVH, as well as retailers Foot Locker 
and Tiffany’s. The overweight position in tobacco company Imperial Brands detracted 
from performance in a challenging industry environment alongside weak first-half 
results in the new generation products, resulting in sales downgrades. 
 
More positively, stock selection in industrials contributed to sector-level performance. 
The position in US power generation system specialist Generac was among the 
leaders as recent power outages in California drove increased demand for Generac’s 
home standby generators. 
 
At a sector level, one of the strongest performers was Utilities, with the position in 
Spanish company Iberdrola contributing the most to this. The company has 
repositioned its business toward more regulated and faster-growing renewables 
assets over the last few years, which should lead to more predicable earnings and 
further diversification internationally. Its Brazilian unit Neoenergia, the energy 
distributor, went public in a significant listing in that country’s stock market this year. 
The largest stock contributor to portfolio performance was precious metal miner 
Newcrest Mining, which was lifted on a rallying gold price. Microsoft was another top 
performer, buoyed by investor optimism about its cloud services business, Azure. In 
its third quarter results, it exceeded expectations with strong growth across its 
divisions, particularly cloud, while increases in its earnings per-share are driven by 
both higher revenue growth and margin expansion. 
 
US pharmaceutical company IQVIA Holdings also contributed positively to 
performance, as the company upgraded its forecasts for how quickly it would grow 
over the medium term. Positive earnings also strengthened returns of US firm 
Ingersoll-Rand as well as news of the merger between its spun-off industrial unit and 
competitor, Gardner Denver, creating a dominant company in the heating, ventilation 
and air conditioning market. 

Page 33



Page 8– Listed Equities Managers Report 

 
9.4 Wellington (Global Equities) 
 

 The portfolio outperformed the index over the quarter.  Strong selection in industrials 
was modestly offset by selection in healthcare. On a regional basis, strong selection 
in North America was modestly offset by selection in Japan. 

 
 Within industrials and consumer staples, the top relative contributors were being 

overweight to Lockheed Martin and Nestle, respectively. Within healthcare and 
energy, the top relative detractors were being overweight to Teva Pharmaceutical 
Industries and EnCana, respectively. 

 
  Shares of Lockheed Martin rose after the company raised its profit and sales forecast 

for 2019, benefiting from higher production of the F-35 fighter jet and an increase in 
arms sales that have bolstered the company’s order backlog. Teva Pharmaceuticals 
was sold off during the period in response to the expansion of a 2016 lawsuit alleging 
industry price-fixing. The stock also experienced weakness after announcing an 
unexpected cash settlement over its role in the production and manufacturing of 
opioids. 

 
9.5  JP Morgan (Emerging Market Equities) 
 

Quarterly review:  The portfolio outperformed its benchmark over the three month 
period as both stock selection and country allocation contributed to relative returns. 
Stock selection in China was one of the leading contributors to relative returns during 
the period, specifically driven by the portfolio’s lack of exposure to Baidu, a 
multinational technology company specialising in Internet-related services and 
products and artificial intelligence. During the period, the company reported worse 
than expected Quarter 2 2019 numbers, on the back of both cyclical and structural 
headwinds. Specifically, weaker advertising demand, tighter regulations, and larger 
supply of advertising inventory has weighed on the stock. 
 
Stock selection in Brazil, also aided relative returns, specifically the portfolio’s 
exposure to MRV Engenharia e Participacoes, the largest homebuilder and real 
estate company in Brazil. The stock rose 45% (in USD terms), on the back of better 
than expected Quarter 1 2019 results. Net revenue increased during the period, 
mainly due to faster construction cycle and sales growth. The management team 
also had a positive tone regarding 2019 outlook, expecting an acceleration in 
launches. 
 
On the downside, underweight exposure to South Africa proved to be a drag on 
relative returns. While being currently underweight this market for valuation 
purposes, strengthening gold prices, boosted the market during the period. The 
portfolio’s exposure to OTP bank, in Hungary, also weighed on relative performance 
as the stock came under pressure from falling Euro rates. 

 
 12 month review:  The portfolio underperformed its benchmark over the twelve- 

month period as stock selection detracted from relative returns while country 
allocation boosted relative returns. Stock selection in Taiwan proved to be a drag on 
relative returns, specifically led by stocks that have exposure to the Apple supply 
chain. The portfolios exposure to Global Wafers, a global leader in semiconductor 
technology, weighed on relative performance during the period as the stock fell over 
38.1% (in USD terms) on the back of slower-than-expected demand as a result of 
softer global growth. 

 

Page 34



Page 9– Listed Equities Managers Report 

 The portfolio’s overweight in Turkey also weighed on relative returns as the market 
fell 17.8% (in USD terms). The heightened geopolitical risk, inflation pressures, and a 
weak Lira have weighed on the market during the period. 

 
 Stock selection in Brazil boosted relative returns during the period as the election of 

Jair Bolsonaro drove Brazilian equities higher in the last quarter of 2018, and the 
beginning of 2019 on the back of elevated hopes for market-oriented reforms. 
Exposure to Banco do Brasil and Itau were some of the leading contributors to 
relative returns over the 12 month period. 
 
 
 

 
David Wilkes 
Service Manager for Operational Finance 
August 2019 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



 

ASSET MANAGEMENT 

 

DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND 

  

Quarterly Report 30 June 2019 

 
 

 

For further information, please contact: 

Robert Nicholson 
Client Relationship Director 

Royal London Asset Management Limited  
55 Gracechurch Street  
London EC3V 0RL  

T: 020 3272 5281 
E: robert.nicholson@rlam.co.uk 

Page 37



 

CONTENTS 
 

QUARTERLY REPORT 30 JUNE 2019 2 │ PAGE 
 

Contents  

PORTFOLIO REVIEW 3 

FUND PERFORMANCE 5 

RLPPC OVER 5 YEAR CORPORATE BOND FUND 6 

FURTHER INFORMATION 10 

RLAM TEAM 11 
 

FINANACIAL STATEMENTS  13 
 

 

Page 38



 

PORTFOLIO REVIEW 
 

QUARTERLY REPORT 30 JUNE 2019 3 │ PAGE 
 

Portfoli o R eview 

Fund performance objective  

The fund objective is to outperform the benchmark by 0.5% per annum net of the standard management fees. 

Fund asset allocation 

Fund & benchmark index Fund allocation (%) 

RLPPC Over Five Year Corporate Bond Fund 

Benchmark: iBoxx Sterling Non-Gilt Over 5 Year Index. 
100.0 

Portfolio value 

 Portfolio total (£m) 

30 June 2019 220.28 

31 March 2019 214.35 

Change over the quarter 5.93 

Net cash inflow (outflow) 0.00 

Executive summary 

Performance 

 The Fund gave a gross return of 2.77% over the quarter, bringing the 12 month return to 7.95%. 

 Sterling investment grade credit outperformed UK government debt in the second quarter; respective all-maturities returns 
were 1.98% and 1.31%. The average sterling investment grade credit spread narrowed by 7bps to 1.25% by the end of the 
period. Total returns were positive across all sectors. Within financials (banks and insurance), subordinated insurance 
outperformed as senior insurance and banks underperformed. Within secured and structured sectors, both real estate and 
asset backed securities outperformed the broad market. The weakest sectors over the quarter were supranationals and 
covered bonds. Telecoms and healthcare were the strongest performers. 

 The fund outperformed the sterling credit market, with positive effects from our underweight in supranationals and 
overweight in subordinated financials and structured bonds. 

The economy and bond markets 

 Global economic data continued to point towards a slowdown in the second quarter, as indicated by Purchasing Managers’ 
Indices (PMIs) and falling levels of business confidence and optimism in a number of countries. The imposition of tariffs 
between the US and China, as well as the temporary escalation of tensions between the US and Mexico, added to the key 
risks to the global outlook. On the other hand, indicators in several major economies showed signs of stabilisation, labour 
market data remained strong and central banks surprised markets with more dovish than expected policy stances. 

 Surveys and hard data indicate that the UK economy struggled in the second quarter, with the latest surveys consistent with 
the UK economy ending the quarter in modestly contractionary territory. Business investment remains weak and there was 
evidence of stockpiling, with subsequent unwinding, around the original Brexit date. The labour market looks resilient, with 
low unemployment and higher real wages, though employment growth shows signs of cooling. In turn, this has fed into 
resilient consumer confidence and spending. On the other hand, savings rates are still at very low levels, consumer credit 
conditions have tightened and pension contributions under auto-enrolment have risen; all of which put pressure on 
household incomes. 

 Government bonds continued their positive run in a turbulent second quarter, as markets reacted to global economic data, 
central banks and headlines on US-China trade talks. Poor economic news from the US and EU, coupled with an escalation 
of global trade tensions, caused central banks to adopt more dovish than expected policy stances. At the end of June traders 
were pricing in close to three interest rate cuts from the Federal Reserve by the end of 2019, having expected only one at the 
start of the quarter. 

 Sterling investment grade credit outperformed UK government debt in the second quarter; respective all-maturities returns 
were 1.98% and 1.31%. The average sterling investment grade credit spread narrowed by 7bps to 1.25% by the end of the 
period. Sterling investment grade credit issuance continued its recovery from the previous quarter, rising to levels markedly 
above those in the same period a year prior. 

  

Page 39



 

PORTFOLIO REVIEW 
 

QUARTERLY REPORT 30 JUNE 2019 4 │ PAGE 
 

Investment outlook  

 The outlook for global GDP growth has deteriorated following the escalation of global trade tensions. However, the 
increased likelihood of central bank easing, prospects of Chinese stimulus and the reasonable labour market conditions 
suggest that a global recession in 2019/20 should be avoided. The combination of tariffs and rising wages should also be 
supportive for inflation, though we expect it to rise only modestly over the next 18 months. 

 We have further reduced our growth forecasts, expecting 2019 global GDP growth to be 3.2%, compared to 3.3% previously. 
Our forecasts for 2020 have also been lowered, with global GDP growth expected to be 3.3%, down from 3.5%. 

 We expect the Fed to cut rates 25bps in the second half of 2019 and signal that more cuts may follow. We anticipate a BoE 
rate hike in the second half of 2020, but that assumes greater certainty around Brexit and the avoidance of ‘no deal’, with 
subsequent gradual rate increases once every three to four quarters. We do not expect any rate rises from the ECB within 
the forecast horizon. We think that the ECB will further ease its policy stance by again altering forward guidance, with a 
significant probability of further measures (rate cut and/or restart of quantitative easing). 

Page 40



 

FUND PERFORMANCE 
 

QUARTERLY REPORT 30 JUNE 2019 5 │ PAGE 
 

fund performance 

Performance 

 Fund (%) Benchmark¹ (%) Relative (%)  

Q2 2019 2.77 2.53 0.24 

Year-to-date 8.23 8.02 0.21 

Rolling 12 months 7.95 7.58 0.37 

3 years p.a. 6.18 4.82 1.36 

5 years p.a. 7.37 6.72 0.65 

Since inception p.a. 02.07.2007² 8.58 8.50 0.08 

Past performance is not necessarily a reliable indicator of future performance. The value of investments and the income from them is 
not guaranteed and may go down as well as up and investors may not get back the amount originally invested. 

All performance figures stated gross of fees and tax unless otherwise stated. 

Source: RLAM, ¹Benchmark: iBoxx Sterling Non-Gilt Over 5 Year Index. 

² The fund launched 02.07.2007 but its benchmark and objective changed on 30.06.2012.Performance prior to 30.06.2012 has therefore been 
omitted. If you require performance prior to this change, please contact your client account manager. 

The fund objective is to outperform the benchmark by 0.80% per annum gross of the standard management fees. 

 

 

Source: RLAM, gross of standard management fees. 

*Benchmark: iBoxx Sterling Non-Gilt Over 5 Year Index. 

0.00%

0.50%

1.00%

1.50%

2.00%

2.50%

3.00%

Total Fund

Dorset 2.77%

Benchmark 2.53%

Page 41



 

RLPPC OVER 5 YEAR CORPORATE BOND FUND 
 

QUARTERLY REPORT 30 JUNE 2019 6 │ PAGE 
 

RLPPC Over 5 Year C orporate Bond Fund 

Performance attribution for quarter 1 2019 

 

Source: RLAM and UBS Delta. The above performance attribution is an estimate. Please note that the attribution chart does not include residual 
effect returns. 

  

Asset split 

 Fund 
(%) 

Benchmark¹ 
(%) 

Conventional credit bonds² 99.7 99.0 

Index linked credit bonds 0.0 0.0 

Sterling conventional gilts 0.0 0.0 

Sterling index linked gilts 0.0 0.0 

Foreign conventional sovereign 0.3 1.0 

Foreign index linked sovereign 0.0 0.0 

Derivatives 0.0 0.0 

Other 0.0 0.0 
 

Fund data 

 Fund Benchmark¹ 

Duration 10.0 years 10.4 years 

Gross redemption yield³ 3.27% 2.49% 

No. of stocks 197 693 

Fund size  £215.7m  - 

Source: RLAM, Launch date: 20.07.2007. 

¹Benchmark:  iBoxx Sterling Non-Gilt Over 5 Year Index. 

²Conventional credit bond allocation includes exposure to non-sterling 
credit bonds and CDs, where applicable. 

³The gross redemption yield is calculated on a weighted average basis 

Page 42



 

RLPPC OVER 5 YEAR CORPORATE BOND FUND 
 

QUARTERLY REPORT 30 JUNE 2019 7 │ PAGE 
 

Sector breakdown 

 

Source: RLAM. Figures in relation to your portfolio exclude the impact of cash held, although they do include the impact of CDs if held within 

your portfolio 

Maturity profile 

 

Credit breakdown 

 

Ten Largest Holdings 

 Weighting (%) 

HSBC Bank 5.375% 2033 2.1 

Finance for Residential Social Housing 8.368% 2058 1.5 

Prudential Plc 5.7% VRN 2063 1.4 

Innogy Finance 6.125% 2039 1.3 

Électricité De France 6% 2114 1.3 

Exchequer Partnership 5.396% 2036 1.3 

Equity Release 5.7% 2031 1.2 

Thames Water Utilities 2 7.738% 2058 1.2 

Annes Gate Property 5.661% 2031 1.2 

Barclays Plc 3.25% 2033 1.1 

Total 13.5 

Source: RLAM. Figures in the table above exclude derivatives where held, subject to rounding. 

Page 43



 

RLPPC OVER 5 YEAR CORPORATE BOND FUND 
 

QUARTERLY REPORT 30 JUNE 2019 8 │ PAGE 
 

Portfolio review 

 
What we thought What we did What happened Effect on portfolio 

S
e

c
to

r
 We expected corporate 

bonds to outperform 
supranational debt. 

We kept the significant 
underweight position in 
supranationals versus 
corporate issues. 

Supranational debt, which 
outperformed for 2018 as 
a whole, underperformed 
as investors adopted a 
more ‘risk on’ approach.  

The fund’s substantial 
underweight position in 
supranationals was a key 
driver of relative 
performance this quarter. 

S
e

c
to

r
 

We continued to see value 
in financials (banks and 
insurers), and to favour 
subordinated debt over 
senior bonds. 

The overweight exposure 
to subordinated financial 
debt and the below 
benchmark holding of 
senior issues were broadly 
maintained.  

Financials outperformed 
the broader market. 
Subordinated bonds 
broadly outperformed as 
senior issues lagged 
behind. This reflected 
increased investor risk 
appetite.  

The above benchmark 
position in subordinated 
financial debt and 
underweight holding of 
senior issues contributed 
positively to performance.  

S
e

c
to

r
 

We thought that high-
profile, consumer-
orientated and industrial 
bonds were unattractively 
priced, relative to other 
sectors. 

We maintained the 
underweight allocation to 
consumer and industrial 
debt. 

Consumer sectors gave 
mixed returns. Media and 
telecoms outperformed, 
consumer goods was 
among the weakest 
sectors. Industrial issues 
broadly outperformed and 
capital goods was the best-
performing subsector.  

The low weightings in 
consumer and industrial 
sectors did not have a 
material impact upon 
relative performance. 

S
e

c
to

r
 

We continued to believe 
that secured bonds were 
undervalued relative to 
unsecured debt. 

We kept the significant 
overweight positions in 
sectors that benefit from 
enhanced security, e.g. 
asset backed securities 
(ABS), social housing and 
investment trusts. 

Within secured and 
structured sectors, which 
typically comprise longer 
dated bonds and span a 
wide range of industries, 
ABS underperformed the 
market.  

Above benchmark 
exposure to structured 
debt was negative. 

R
a

ti
n

g
s
 We believed lower rated 

credit bonds offered better 
value than AAA and AA 
rated securities. 

The bias towards lower 
rated debt was maintained 
over the quarter.  

Lower rated debt 
outperformed AAA and AA 
rated bonds, as investors 
embraced higher risk. 

The preference for lower 
rated debt contributed 
strongly to relative 
performance. 

R
a

ti
n

g
s
 

Credit ratings, while 
useful, are not a complete 
assessment of value and 
creditworthiness. 

We maintained exposure 
to bonds rated below 
investment grade where 
we believed they were 
consistent with the overall 
objective of the fund. 

Exposure to unrated 
issues, which 
predominantly have 
investment grade risk 
characteristics and are in 
many instances secured, 
was broadly unchanged. 

High yield debt marginally 
outperformed investment 
grade credit for the quarter 
as a whole. 

Unrated bonds in the fund, 
which consist mainly of 
secured and structured 
issues, marginally 
outperformed. 

The allocation to sub-
investment grade debt was 
positive for returns. 

Exposure to unrated bonds 
had a small positive 
impact on relative 
performance over the 
quarter.  

D
u

r
a

ti
o

n
 We expected a gradual 

increase in UK 
government bond yields. 

The fund broadly 
maintained its moderate 
short duration stance 
versus the benchmark over 
the quarter. 

Yields on benchmark 10-
year gilts fell by 27 basis 
points, continuing last 
quarter’s fall. 

The duration position had 
a negative impact on 
relative performance. 

Page 44



 

RLPPC OVER 5 YEAR CORPORATE BOND FUND 
 

QUARTERLY REPORT 30 JUNE 2019 9 │ PAGE 
 

Fund activity 

 Following very subdued levels in the fourth quarter of 2018, sterling investment grade credit issuance picked up in the first 

quarter of 2019 to a level moderately above that of the first quarter of 2018. 

 By sector, the fund reduced its position in structured debt and increased the holding of utilities, social housing, consumer 

goods and general industrials. This increased the overweight in social housing, and reduced the overweight in structured 

and the underweights in utilities, consumer goods and general industrials. 

 In new issue activity, the fund continued to implement its strategic view of adding to social housing, with purchases of long-

dated debt of MORhomes, Hastoe Capital, Futures Housing Group, Clarion Housing Group and 

Incommunities. In the financial sector, purchases included Clydesdale Bank, BNP Paribas and HSBC. Other notable 

purchases included a 12-year bond of Australian natural gas provider APT Pipelines. We also bought new issues from 

utility company Severn Trent, pub and hotel company and brewer Greene King, Anglo-Swiss mining and commodity 

trading company Glencore, and electricity generator/transmitter London Power Networks. 

 Away from new issues, the fund bought bonds of BNP Paribas and British American Tobacco, and added to its 

holdings in Legal & General, HSBC and US property company Digital Stout. It switched holdings in RBS to pick up 

yield and from Credit Suisse to more attractive bonds in BNP Paribas. Sales included Bank of Scotland, Co-

operative Bank and Vattenfall, the Swedish state-owned power company. 

Key views within the portfolio 

 A significant underweight in supranational bonds, as we expect corporate bonds to outperform over the medium term. 

 Duration below that of the benchmark, as we expect underlying gilt yields to gradually trend higher over 2019, particularly if 

Brexit-related uncertainty is ended with a deal between the UK and EU. 

 A bias towards asset-backed securities, an area that we believe still offers the best risk/return characteristics.  

 An overweight position in subordinated financial debt, where we believe yields are attractive. 

Page 45



 

FURTHER INFORMATION 
 

QUARTERLY REPORT 30 JUNE 2019 10 │ PAGE 
 

Further Infor mation 

Market commentaries & investment outlook 

Please click on link for further information. 

 

Stewardship and Responsible Investment at RLAM 

Please click on link for further information. 

 

Royal London Fixed Income ESG Analysis 

Please click on link for further information. 

 

Royal London Equities Voting and Engagement 

Please click on link for further information. 

 

Glossary 

Please click on link for a glossary on terms. 

Page 46

http://rlamcmsedit2014.rlam.co.uk:8888/Documents-RLAM/CAM%20reports/RLAM%20Market%20Overview%20and%20Outlook.pdf
https://www.rlam.co.uk/Documents-RLAM/Responsible%20Investing/STEWARDSHIP%20and%20RESPONSIBLE%20INVESTMENT%20AT%20RLAM.pdf
http://rlamcmsedit2014.rlam.co.uk:8888/Documents-RLAM/CAM%20reports/Royal%20London%20Fixed%20Income%20ESG%20Analysis%20-%20final.pdf
http://rlamcmsedit2014.rlam.co.uk:8888/Documents-RLAM/CAM%20reports/Royal%20London%20Equities%20Voting%20and%20Engagement%20Q1%202019.pdf
http://www.rlam.co.uk/Documents-RLAM/CAM%20reports/Glossary.pdf


 

RLAM TEAM 
 

QUARTERLY REPORT 30 JUNE 2019 11 │ PAGE 
 

RLAM team 

Your fund managers 

 

Jonathan Platt 
Head of Fixed Income  

Shalin Shah 
Senior Fund Manager  

Paola Binns 
Senior Fund Manager 

 

Your dedicated contact 

 

Rob Nicholson 

Client Relationship Director 

 

T: 020 3272 5281 

F: 020 7506 6784 

E: robert.nicholson@rlam.co.uk 

 

In Rob’s absence, please feel free to contact any of the Client Relationship team members listed below or  

email: ClientRelationships@rlam.co.uk. 

 
Emily Benson T: 020 3272 5513 E: emily.benson@rlam.co.uk 
Fraser Chisholm T: 020 3272 5278 E: fraser.chisholm@rlam.co.uk 
Mark Elbourne T: 020 3272 5282 E: mark.elbourne@rlam.co.uk 
Daniel Norsa Scott T: 020 3272 5280 E: daniel.norsascott@rlam.co.uk 
Andrew Cunningham T: 020 3272 5468 E: andrew.cunningham@rlam.co.uk 
John Matthews T: 020 3272 5423 E: john.matthews@rlam.co.uk 

MiFID (Markets in Financial Instruments Directive) 

Pursuant to the FCA rules and based on information that we hold about you, we have classified you a ‘Professional Client’. 

 
  

Page 47

mailto:emily.benson@rlam.co.uk
mailto:john.matthews@rlam.co.uk


 

 
 

QUARTERLY REPORT 30 JUNE 2019 12 │ PAGE 
 

  

. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

IMPORTANT INFORMATION 

For professional clients only, not suitable for retail investors. The views expressed are the author’s own and do not constitute investment advice. 

This document is a financial promotion. It does not provide, and should not be relied on for, accounting, legal or tax advice, or investment 
recommendations. For more information concerning the risks of investing, please refer to the Prospectus or Key Investor Information Document 
(KIID), available via the Fund Price pages on www.rlam.co.uk. 

Past performance is not a reliable indicator of future results. The value of investments and the income from them is not guaranteed and may go 
down as well as up and investors may not get back the amount originally invested.  

Portfolio characteristics and holdings are subject to change without notice. This does not constitute an investment recommendation. For 
information purposes only, methodology available on request. Information derived from sources other than Royal London Asset Management is 
believed to be reliable; however, we do not independently verify or guarantee its accuracy or validity. 

All rights in the FTSE All Stocks Gilt Index, FTSE Over 15 Year Gilts Index, FTSE A Index Linked Over 5 Years Gilt Index and FTSE A 
Maturities Gilt Index (the “Index”) vest in FTSE International Limited (“FTSE”). All rights in the FTSE 350, FTSE All Share, FTSE 100, FTSE 250, 
FTSE 350 Higher Yield and FTSE Small Cap (the “Index”) vest in FTSE International Limited (“FTSE”).  “FTSE®” is a trade mark of the London 
Stock Exchange Group companies and is used by FTSE under licence. The Royal London Funds (the "funds") have been developed solely by 
Royal London Asset Management. The Index is calculated by FTSE or its agent. FTSE and its licensors are not connected to and do not 
sponsor, advise, recommend, endorse or promote the fund and do not accept any liability whatsoever to any person arising out of (a) the use of, 
reliance on or any error in the Index or (b) investment in or operation of the fund. FTSE makes no claim, prediction, warranty or representation 
either as to the results to be obtained from the Funds or the suitability of the Index for the purpose to which it is being put by Royal London 
Asset Management. 

All confidential information relating to any Royal London Group company must be treated by you in the strictest confidence. It may only be used 
for the purposes of assessing the proposal to engage Royal London Asset Management Limited (RLAM). Confidential information should not be 
disclosed to any third party and should only be disclosed to those of your employees and professional advisers who are required to see such 
information for the purpose set out above. You should ensure that these persons are made aware of the confidential nature of such information 
and treat it accordingly. You agree to return and/ or destroy all confidential information on receipt of our written request to do so. 

Issued by Royal London Asset Management Limited, Firm Registration Number: 141665, registered in England and Wales number 2244297; 
Royal London Unit Trust Managers Limited, Firm Registration Number: 144037, registered in England and Wales number 2372439; RLUM 
Limited, Firm Registration Number: 144032, registered in England and Wales number 2369965. All of these companies are authorised and 
regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. Royal London Asset Management Bond Funds Plc, an umbrella company with segregated liability 
between sub-funds, authorised and regulated by the Central Bank of Ireland, registered in Ireland number 364259. Registered office: 70 Sir 
John Rogerson’s Quay, Dublin 2, Ireland. 

All of these companies are subsidiaries of The Royal London Mutual Insurance Society Limited, registered in England and Wales number 99064. 
Registered Office: 55 Gracechurch Street, London, EC3V 0RL. The Royal London Mutual Insurance Society Limited is authorised by the 
Prudential Regulation Authority and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority and the Prudential Regulation Authority. The Royal London 
Mutual Insurance Society Limited is on the Financial Services Register, registration number 117672. Registered in England and Wales number 
99064. 

 Page 48



Portfolio Valuation

Trading Statement

Financial Statements

P
age 49



Holding Identifier Asset Description Market Price 
(Bid £)

Book Cost 
Capital (£)

Market Cap. 
Value (£)

Accrued Inc. 
Value (£)

Market Value 
(£)

Days 
Accrued

Market 
Value %

Funds Held

85,291,793 GB00B1ZB3X88 RLPPC Over 5 Year Corp Bond Pen Fd 2.58263 108,059,269.12 220,277,144.14 0.00 220,277,144.14 0 100.0

Funds Held total  108,059,269.12 220,277,144.14 0.00 220,277,144.14 100.0

Grand total  108,059,269.12 220,277,144.14 0.00 220,277,144.14 100.0

Portfolio Valuation for Dorset County Pension FundPage 1 of 1

Portfolio Valuation
As at 30 June 2019

Dorset County Pension Fund

P
age 50



Trade Date Transaction Type Nominal Security Price (£) Book Cost (£)

Acquisitions
Funds Held

05 Apr 2019 Acquisition Rebate 61,331.41 RLPPC Over 5 Year Corp Bond Pen Fd 2.53 155,134.73

Funds Held total  155,134.73

Acquisitions total  155,134.73

Trading Statement for Dorset County Pension FundPage 1 of 1

Trading Statement
For period 01 April 2019 to 30 June 2019

Dorset County Pension Fund

P
age 51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CQS Credit Multi Asset Fund

Q2 2019 update

Review for Dorset Council Pension Fund

All Investors should ensure that they have received and read the latest Offering Documentation and Prior-Investment Disclosure document which is available from CQS at clientservice@cqsm.com

P
age 53



Summary

2

Portfolio Summary

• CMA’s objective is to achieve a target return of Libor+4–5% p.a. with 
single digit volatility1

• CMA is a long-only, actively managed global credit portfolio

• Invests predominantly across Loans, High Yield and Financials, Asset 

Backed Securities and Convertible Bonds

• Maintains low interest rate duration (capped at two years) and does not 
use financial leverage2

Q2 2019 Performance

Performance Update3

Annualised Return 

Since Inception 

(% p.a.)

Annualised 

Volatility  Since 

Inception (%)

Sharpe 

Since 

Inception

Q2 2019 

Return

(%)

4.83% 2.19% 1.93 1.71%

Source: CQS as at 28 June 2019. 1Target returns are estimate and net of anticipated fees, expenses and income reinvested. They are based on long-term performance projections of the investment strategy and market conditions at the 

time of modelling and are therefore subject to change. There is no guarantee that any target return can be achieved. Investors should not place any reliance on such target return in deciding whether to invest in the Fund. Target returns 

are for illustrative purposes only. 2Except when required for currency hedging purposes.3Returns represent the Performance Index GBP. Please refer to the end of the presentation for further details as to how this index is constituted. 

This presentation includes historic returns and past performance is not a reliable indicator of future results. The value of investments can go down as well as up. 

Please note, returns reference the Performance Index GBP, a theoretical, non-investable share class which is made up of a series of share classes in order 
to demonstrate the longest consistently available track record for the Fund. A breakdown of the index formulation is included at the end of the presentation.

• From a top-down perspective, our decision to increase exposure to high yield, 

particularly in the US, added value over the quarter following the strong performance 

of the asset class. 

• Indeed, after adding to convertibles in June, the Fund’s allocation to traditionally 

more volatile asset classes (i.e. convertibles and high yield bonds) is now close to a 3-

year high. This circa 8.5% tactical reallocation from an all-time low in September 

reflects our desire to capture both idiosyncratic investment opportunities and some 

positive market sentiment. We are monitoring the portfolio positioning closely, while 

retaining circa 75% of the portfolio in traditionally less volatile asset classes. 

• All asset classes contributed positively to returns, with mark-to-market gains 

supported by income. Loans led the way, contributing 0.71% to returns, with strong 

performances from both the US and European books. ABS contributed 0.47%, with 

European CLOs continuing to perform well, closely followed by High Yield, with a 

0.44% contribution to return. As with the loans book, both Europe and the US 

contributed to returns. Financials contributed 0.14% and convertibles 0.10%, both 

strong relative to the size of the allocation, while investment grade contributed 

0.01%. 

• Looking at returns on a geographical basis, Europe slightly outperformed the US, with 

Europe contributing 1.02% and the US 0.85%. There was a small positive contribution 

from Asia.

• Looking at individual securities, no single security contributed a material loss to the 

Fund as a result of fundamental concerns. We remain highly diligent with respect to 

the fundamental performance of individual businesses. 

Dorset Council Pension Fund’s return on initial investment:           

+5.12% net (since 1 December 2017)

AUM in CMA: £141.9m as at 28 June 2019

P
age 54



Performance Since Inception

3

Please note, the Performance Index GBP is based on a theoretical, non-investable share class. It is made up of a series of share classes in order to 
demonstrate the longest consistently available track record for the Fund. A breakdown of the index formulation is included at the end of the presentation.

Source: CQS as at 28 June 2019. 1Returns reference the Performance Index GBP. 250/50 Index is a blended benchmark return comprising the US LLI (Leveraged Loan Index) and the Global High Yield 

Index (HW00) expressed in Hedged GBP terms. The index is included merely to show the general trends in the period indicated and is not intended to imply that CMA is similar to the index in composition 
or risk. This presentation includes historic returns and past performance is not a reliable indicator of future results. The value of investments can go down as well as up.

CMA Fund
(Net Returns)1

50% Global HY / 
50% US Loan 

Index2

CYTD Q2 2019 Last 12m
Since Investment 
1 December 2017

CMA return (Net of 
fees, GBP)

4.47% 1.71% 3.80% 5.12%

Index return (Gross,
GBP hedged)

6.63% 1.72% 4.19% 4.20%

LIBOR+4% 
(GBP)

2.39% 1.19% 4.83% 7.61%

CMA Upper Target
Libor +5%

CMA Lower Target
Libor +4%

950

975

1,000

1,025

1,050

1,075

1,100

November
2017

March
2018

July
2018

November
2018

March
2019

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 
In

d
e
x
 G

B
P

June

2019

P
age 55



Investment Commentary – Q2 2019

4

Market background

• Credit markets continued to rally through Q2, with returns across the first half of the 

year as strong as they have been since 2009 for both high yield and loans.

• Spread compression has been evident, but so too has been the contribution from the 

rates markets in the light of accommodative central bank commentary. Inevitably, this 

has benefited fixed rate bonds more than floating-rate assets such as loans. Indeed, we 

estimate that 90% of US high yield index returns in Q2 came from rates.

• One of the consequences of this has been increased correlation been the major asset 

classes in recent months. More than 80% of major asset classes delivered a positive 

return in Q2 2019. This is something we are very aware of and monitoring closely.

• Looking through the asset classes, high yield registered a strong performance as we have 

said, with local currency returns of 2.57% from US high yield and 2.48% from European 

high yield. Loans were also positive, with a return of 1.68% in the US and 1.17% in 

Europe. 

• Elsewhere, asset backed securities found continued demand for both the technically 

very well positioned RMBS and CRT areas of the market, while CLO issuance increased 

on the quarter. Financials returned 4.41% while convertibles returned 1.15%, helped by 

supportive equity markets, all in local currency terms. 

Investment strategy and outlook

• We started the period with 51% in loans, 22% in ABS, 13% in high yield, just over 3% each in 

convertibles and financials, and 1% in investment grade credit. Unallocated capital was 

therefore just under 6%.

• We increased exposure to US high yield (from 7.3% to 10.7%) and to convertibles (from 3.5% 

to 5.0%) over the quarter, taking our allocation to these traditionally more volatile asset 

classes towards a 3-year high. This circa 8.5% tactical reallocation from an all-time low in 

September reflects our desire to capture both idiosyncratic opportunities and some positive 

market sentiment.

• Circa 75% of the portfolio remains in traditionally less volatile income-generating asset 

classes, forming a stable core to offset our increased allocation to high yield and 
convertibles.

• We took the decision to allocate away from our investment grade corporate 
strategy, having benefited from spread tightening in this area of the market, in 
favour of more attractive investment opportunities elsewhere.

• We ended the period with 50.5% in loans, 21% in ABS, a little over 17% in high 
yield, 5% in convertible bonds and just over 3% in financials. Unallocated capital 

was therefore just under 4%.

• As we look forward from here, we believe it is more important than ever to focus on 
the fundamentals. Market noise is contributing to rising correlation between asset 
classes. In our assessment, the real risks for long-term investors in credit are 
realised losses from defaults, which can be mitigated by thorough research, and the 

temptation to seek security in assets with a negative yield, which can have a very 
negative impact on returns as prices move back towards par. We remain highly 
diligent with respect to the fundamental performance of individual businesses, and 
discipline with respect to our investment process, principles and philosophy is 
essential.

• As we stand today, our target exposure to loans is approximately 50.00%, ABS is 
22.25%, high yield is 17.00%, financials is 2.75% and our target exposure to 
convertibles is 5.50%. The target cash weighting, therefore, is 2.50%. The Fund’s 
overall yield is currently 5.45% in Sterling terms at the end of June while circa 80% 
of the Fund remains invested in floating rate instruments.

Source: CQS as at 28 June 2019. The Fund may have since exited some or all of the positions detailed in the above commentary. Quoted Fund returns reference the Performance Index GBP. Investors should note the base 

currency of the Fund is in US dollars. All market data sourced from Bloomberg, MSCI, Barclays, BofA Merrill Lynch, Markit and UBS.

P
age 56



Dorset County Pension Fund | 1

DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND
QUARTERLY REPORT

Q2 2019

Dorset County (‘DC’) property fund provides diversified exposure to good quality real estate located throughout the UK, across a range
of sectors including offices, industrial, retail and other commercial. The allocation to property has increased from 10% to 11% of DC’s
total assets which represents approximately £330m. The new allocation is to target Secure Long Income (‘SLI’) property beyond which
the intention is to transition the portfolio gradually to a 50/50 split between SLI and Conventional properties.

CONVENTIONAL SLI

Mandate Commenced 1993 Commenced 2017

Performance objective MSCI Quarterly over 5 years LPI +2% p.a.

Capital Value (Jun 2019) £282.1m (88%) £37.2 (12%)

Number of assets 28 9

Value of purchases during quarter - £1.2m 

Value of sales during quarter £0.1m -

Net initial yield (p.a.) 4.4% 3.9%

Average unexpired lease term (to break) 8.8 years (7.8 years) 64.9 years (19.6 years)

COMBINED VALUATION
Direct Property (Jun 2019 values) £281.6m

Indirect Assets (Jun 2019 values) £37.7m

Total Portfolio Valuation £319.3m

PERFORMANCE CONVENTIONAL SLI COMBINED MSCI QUARTERLY UNIVERSE

Q2 2019 0.2% -0.5% 0.3% 0.5%      

12 months 3.9% 1.3% 3.9% 3.3%

3 yrs p.a. 6.5% - 6.5% 6.0%

5 yrs p.a. 9.1% - 9.2% 8.5%

(Combined Dorset Portfolios)

£319.3M 37
AssetsCapital Value To Invest

£10.7M

Page 57



Dorset County Pension Fund | 2

STRATEGY

Bow Lane, London

Coney Street, York   

Size

▪ Target size £330m – current size £319.3m. DC has increased its allocation to
property from 10% to 11% of total assets which represents approximately £330m.

▪ The new allocation is targeting Secure Long Income.
▪ The longer term intention is to transition the portfolio gradually to a 50/50 split

between Conventional property and SLI, the SLI property held within the
Conventional portfolio is to be included in the 50:50 allocation.

Performance objectives 

▪ Conventional and SLI portfolios’ have had distinct benchmarks since 1st April
2018.

▪ Conventional portfolio: “To achieve a return on Assets at least equal to the
average IPD Quarterly Universe Portfolio Return including Transactions and
Developments for a rolling five year period commencing 1 January 2006.”

▪ Secure Long Income Portfolio: “To achieve a total return greater than, or equal to,
Limited Price Inflation (“LPI”) plus 2.0% p.a. measured over the long run (7-10
years) commencing 1 April 2018.”

Income yield

▪ Strive for the Conventional portfolio income return to exceed the MSCI (formerly
called IPD) benchmark income return.

▪ Continue to focus on maintaining a low vacancy rate and a resilient income yield.
▪ Ensure SLI held properties / new acquisitions have strong rental growth prospects,

long leases and an element of indexation.

ALLOCATION

Property type

▪ Conventional portfolio: Remain well diversified as the portfolio transitions to a
50/50 split to SLI, with holdings in good locations with a proportion of exposure
to properties that will allow active management to generate outperformance.

▪ We anticipate maintaining a total of between 15-20 assets with an average lot
size of between £8m and £11m.

▪ SLI portfolio: target lot sizes between £3m and £20m with an average lease
length in excess of 15 years at purchase with at least 70% of the portfolio having
index linked rent reviews once fully invested.

Geographic allocation ▪ Diversified by location but with a bias towards London and the South East.

Sector allocation

▪ Diversified by sector with a maximum of 50% in any single sector.
▪ Target a lower than average weighting to Offices and Retail and a higher than

average weighting to Industrial and Other Commercial.
▪ Source suitable SLI investments that could be available in any sector.

• Economic activity has slowed in recent months, as political uncertainty and weakness in the global economy have
both dragged on growth.

• We expect growth to improve from current rates in the second half of the year supported by ongoing labour
market strength and improving household spending power.

• A strong rebound is unlikely though, with Brexit-related uncertainty set to rise again as the October Article 50
deadline approaches.

• Performance in the second quarter of 2019 was similar to the first. At the All Property level capital values drifted
lower, with a drop of 0.7% compared to a 0.8% fall in Q1.

• Our forecasts remain unchanged from last quarter. We expect modest All Property capital value falls to continue
in 2019/20 driven by weaker investor sentiment and a loss of momentum in occupier markets.

• Over the period 2019-23 we are projecting UK property to deliver an average total return of 3.5% p.a. Income
returns will be the mainstay of performance, so quality of income and underlying occupier appeal will be critical.

ECONOMIC AND PROPERTY UPDATE 

Page 58



Dorset County Pension Fund | 3

CONVENTIONAL PORTFOLIO INFORMATION 

TRANSACTIONS

Purchases £0m

Disposals £0.1m

Money available to invest £0m

Union House, Southwark, London

CONVENTIONAL PORTFOLIO INFORMATION

Dunbeath Court, Swindon

Q2 2019

Direct market value £244.4m

Indirect market value £37.7m

Total Conventional Portfolio market value £282.1m

No. of assets (avg. value) 28 (£10.1m)

No.of lettable units (direct avg. value) 81 (£3.0m)

Vacancy rate (% direct ERV) 2.3%

Avg. unexpired direct lease term (to break) 8.8 years (7.8 years)

Direct net initial yield (p.a.) 4.4%

% of income direct RPI / index linked 9.4%

Rent with +10 years remaining (% of direct rent) 16.7% 

Rent with +15 years remaining (% of direct rent) 8.0% 

Largest Tenant ACI Worldwide
£1.0m p.a.

(7.6% of contracted income)

Page 59



Dorset County Pension Fund | 4

48.5%

19.3%

10.0%

6.5%

9.0%

6.6%

London / South East Eastern South West Midlands North Rest of UK

CONVENTIONAL PORTFOLIO ANALYSIS

SECTOR BREAKDOWN INCLUDING INDIRECTS

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

DC Conventional Portfolio MSCI Quarterly Universe

GEOGRAPHICAL BREAKDOWN EXCLUDING INDIRECTS

Cambridge Science Park 

Page 60



Dorset County Pension Fund | 5

SLI PORTFOLIO INFORMATION

TRANSACTIONS

Purchases £1.2m

Disposals £0m

Money available to invest £10.7m

Union House, Southwark, London

SLI PORTFOLIO INFORMATION

Red Lion, London SW1

Q2 2019

Direct market value £37.2m

Indirect market value £0m

Total SLI Portfolio market value £37.2m

No. of assets (avg. value) 9 (£4.1m)

No.of lettable units (direct avg. value) 13 (£2.9m)

Vacancy rate (% ERV) 0%

Avg. unexpired direct lease term (to break) 64.9 years (19.6 years)

Net initial yield (p.a.) 3.9%

% of income RPI / index linked 71.1%

Rent with 15+ years remaining (% of rent) 100% 

Largest Tenant Ei Group Plc
£0.4m p.a.

(28.9% of contracted 
income)

Page 61



Dorset County Pension Fund | 6

Union House, Southwark, London

SLI PORTFOLIO ANALYSIS 

39%

24%

37%

London / South East Eastern

South West Midlands

North Rest of UK

39%

61%

SECTOR BREAKDOWN (% OF TOTAL VALUE)

Supermarkets Pubs Ret. W'house Offices

Industrial Hotel Other Residential

GEOGRAPHICAL BREAKDOWN (% OF TOTAL VALUE) 

Elgin Bar & Grill, London W9  

Ingersley Building, Macclesfield 

Page 62



Dorset County Pension Fund | 7

TRANSPARENCY

Green leases are essential in protecting against environmental

risks and improving the sustainability of the portfolio. All

leases are now being monitored for green lease clause

implementation.

Responsible Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) practices are fundamental to our business

strategy. We have implemented a consistent ESG framework across our UK House. The Dorset

County Property Portfolio has set a Gold ambition level and set targets to 2022 in three areas:

CARBON

Landlord energy data collection for 2018/19 is being finalised and the fund onboarded into a new sustainability data platform

to support carbon management.

COMPLIANCE 

COMPLIANCE
• Energy ratings
• Policies

• Compliance 
Risk

TRANSPARENCY
• Building 

certifications
• Reporting

• Stakeholder 
engagement

• Data coverage

CARBON

• Energy 
• Water

• Waste 
• Tenants

A key part of the ESG strategy is the Energy Performance Risk Mitigation Program, where we seek to improve the sustainability

performance of assets through improving the Energy Performance Certificate ratings.

Figures 1 and 2 Change in level of risk by value (left) and EPC Risk Management Action Plans (right)

No Unknown or High Risk EPCs 3% Year On Year Carbon ReductionGRESB Outperformance

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL, GOVERNANCE  

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

Q3 2018 Q4 2018 Q1 2019 Q2 2019

Ca
pi

ta
l v

al
ue

 o
f u

ni
ts 

(£
)

M
ill

io
ns

Exempt

Unknown

Long Term High Risk (F & G Rated)

Short Term High Risk (F & G Rated)

Medium Risk (E Rated)

Low Risk (A - D Rated)

105

12

1
4

1

Medium 

Risk

Short Term 

High Risk 

Long Term 

High Risk 

No. of units

High Quality or Modelled 

EPC
0 0 1

Tenant Engagement 12 0 0

Refurbishment 0 0 0

Planned Redevelopment or 
Considering Sale

0 0 0

Green Lease Tracking Number of Leases

Historic leases reviewed 0

Trackers received Q4 2018 0

Trackers received Q1 2019 0

Trackers received Q2 2019 0

Page 63



Dorset County Pension Fund | 8

IMPORTANT NOTICE

The information contained herein must be treated in a confidential manner and may not be reproduced, used or disclosed, in whole or in part,
without the prior written consent of CBRE Global Investors.

The indirect property portion of this portfolio is managed by CBRE Global Investment Partners Limited which is authorised and regulated by the
Financial Conduct Authority in the United Kingdom. In accordance with the restrictions on the promotion of non-mainstream pooled investments,
the communication of this document in the United Kingdom is only made to persons defined as professional client or eligible counterparties, as
permitted by COBS 4.12.5R (Exemption 7) and the Collective Investment Scheme (Exemptions) Order 2001.

Acceptance and/or use of any of the information contained in this document indicate the recipient’s agreement not to disclose any of the
information contained herein. This document does not constitute any form of representation or warranty on the part of CBRE Global Investors,
investment advice, a recommendation, or an offer or solicitation, and it is not the basis for any contract to purchase or sell any security, property
or other instrument, or for CBRE Global Investors to enter or arrange any type of transaction. CBRE Global Investors expressly disclaims any
liability or responsibility therefore.

This document should not be regarded as a substitute for the exercise by the recipient of its, his or her own judgement. The figures in this
document have not been audited by an external auditor. This document does not purport to be a complete description of the markets,
developments or securities referred to in this report. The value of an investment can go down as well as up and an investor may not get back the
amount invested. Past performance is not a guide to future performance. Forecasts of future performance are not an indicator of future
performance. All target or projected “gross” internal rates of return (“IRRs”) do not reflect any management fees, incentive distributions, taxes,
transaction costs and other expenses to be borne by certain and/or all investors, which will reduce returns. “Gross IRR” or “Gross Return” shall
mean an aggregate, compound, annual, gross internal rate of return on investments. “Net IRR” or “Net Returns” are shown after deducting fees,
expenses and incentive distributions. There can be no assurance that the mandate will achieve comparable results, that targeted returns,
diversification or asset allocations will be met or that the investment strategy and investment approach will be able to be implemented or that the
mandate will achieve its investment objective. Actual returns on unrealized investments will depend on, among other factors, future operating
results, the value of the underlying assets and market conditions at the time of disposition, foreign exchange gains or losses which may have a
separate and uncorrelated effect, legal and contractual restrictions on transfer that may limit liquidity, any related transaction costs and the timing
and manner of sale, all of which may differ from the assumptions and circumstances on which the valuations used in the prior performance data
contained herein are based. Accordingly, actual returns may differ materially from the returns indicated herein. The value of any tax benefits
described herein depends on your individual circumstances. Tax rules may change in the future.

CBRE Global Investors and its affiliates accept no liability whatsoever for any direct, consequential or indirect loss of any kind arising out of the
use of this document or any part of its contents.

Where funds are invested in property, investors may not be able to realise their investment when they want. Whilst property valuation is conducted
by an independent expert, any such opinion is a matter of the valuer’s opinion. Property is a specialist sector which may be less liquid and
produce more volatile performance than an investment in broader investment sectors. CBRE Global Investors Limited is regulated by the Royal
Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS). CBRE Global Investors (UK Funds) Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct
Authority (FCA).

Page 64



�����������
���	
	�����
��	�

���������
����
������
�����������
�����������
	

�����������
�����������
����� �����
�!�"������
!����� #�$�

Page 65



Page 66



%

Page 67



&

' ()' (*+ ()+ (*, -., -// -./ -/ 012345 678349 012349 67834: 01234: 67834; 01234; 67834< 01234< 67834= 01234= 67834> 01234> 67834?
@ ABCDE BA F BGHEH IJGH BKL MNMLOOO P QR C

ST UVWXYZ[ \W]Y^̂_ \`̀a ]bc \d ef gâ d\^ Yhâci ]ga bĉ X\j XVj \â U]g (k X^ V\Wa \jja \lajâ m` \^ \\g\+̂)n V]Y')op (k X^ V\Wa \jja \lajâ mif)oa ggX\j Yl̀ \gY` U]ĉ YqWYgY]^ r\j VY

Uŝc Y\X^ V\Wa \jja \lajâa YgWYj \â rY^ Uĉ Yd\]` \^ YX\gcsj Uhr\j VYt gYY\qqY]à us UWs UWdVj \v

SSw YrYW\bYxYu
qUgVWYr\j VYUsa ]sj \â U]ja ]y Yj̀a \lajâa Ygc Y` bYz̀ qUWŝ Uja U\ggY^ r\j VY (SSS{ca ga g\qWUums UWĉ YqWUqUgY` ]Uâsa X\â U]j YrYj Us| V]` r\j VYzif)o }o'* (

~ ����� � �� ���� �~ ����� � ��� �� ����� � ��� ��� ��� � ������ �� � ��� �

� ���� ��� �
. -�,�, -���� -���. -.��� -��

[ Y]Xc d\Wy) (p�o� (**o� (��� ('ooo ()'

  �¡ ��� ¢�
£¤ ��¥ £¤ �¥¥~ �¦�¤ �¦�� �¥§

~� £¨ �� £�§~
¤ £© ª� £�§

« UWŝ Uja Uif)o e¬y

' eo'+ ('
' eo+� ()

[ Y]Xc d\Wyif)o e¬y
' eo'* (+
' eo+� e

k X^ V\Wa \jja \lajâ mif)o e¬yS
* eo�� ()
* eo�' ()

® ���̄ �¡� �� �¡̄ ��� ��� �° ±����� �²
³� ���
³� �³�

´ ���� ���µ� �¡̄ ��� ��� �° ±����� �²
³� ���
³� ���

¶·̧¹ º» ¼½¾¿À¿ Á¿À ÂÃ¿ ½ÄÀ ¼ÅÆ¾ÇÀ ÈÉÊ ËÊÌÍÃÎ É¾¿ ¾ÏÈ¿ ½ÀÇ¿ ½ÐÅ¼É¾¼¿ ½¿ ½ÑÒ ÉÀ¿ È½ Ë

ÓÔÕ Ö× ØÙÚ ÛÖÔ ÜÝÖØÞÛÖ×Õ ßØ× ÛÜà×Ô ÛáâÜáÜâ×Õ ÜÞÜà×Ô Ûã äÞåæ ÖØç× äØâÕ ØÚ

Ò¿ ÉÎ¿Ò¿À¿ ¼¾Àè ÉÀ ÉÅ¼è ¼é ê¼éÎ ÂÀè ¼ÏÈÅÀÑ ÈÒ¿ È Ëëè¿ ¾ÉÒ ¾È¾è Èì¾Àè ¼ÏÈÅÀÑ ÈÒ¿ È¿ ¾

Á¼ÅÂÐÒ È¾¼À ÈÀè ¼Î ¼½Ðè ÆÉÅí¿ ½À ¼ÅÆ¾ÈÑ¿À ¾À ÈÀ ÉÒ¿ ½ÑÒ ÉÀ¿ È½¾¼½¾¿À¿ Á¿À Â Ë
ëè ¼ÉÎ ÈÁ¼À ÉÎÒ ¼¾è Èì¾¾À Å¼¾¾À ¼¾À ¾Ñ ÈÅÒ È½ê îÀ ¼ÅÆ¿ ½À ¼Å¼¾À ÅÉÀ ¼¾É½éÒ È½ê î

À ¼ÅÆ¿ ½ÑÒ ÉÀ¿ È½ÅÉÀ ¼¾ Ëëè ¼ï ð½é ÐÉ½¾ðÏÏÈÅÀ Éñò ËóÍÑ ÉÒÒ¿ ½Ò È½ê îÀ ¼ÅÆ¿ ½ÑÒ ÉÀ¿ È½

¼ôÏ¼ÐÀ ÉÀ¿ È½¾ÏÅ¿ ÈÅÀ ÈÅð½½¿ ½êÈðÀ ÈÑ ÐÈÒÒ ÉÀ ¼ÅÉÒÀ È¾ðÏÏÈÅÀÀè ¼è ¼é ê¼ Ë

õÊ ËöóÍÑ ÉÒÒ¿ ½¿ ½ÑÒ ÉÀ¿ È½ìÈðÒéÀ Éí ¼Àè ¼ï ð½é É÷ Ëó ôÒ ¼Á¼ÅÉê¼

ø� ��±�� �¡ ��± £� ���� �¡̄ ��� ���ù���� ��� ���

) ())ú û) (*)ú ûo ())ú ûo (*)ú û' ())ú û' (*)ú

f uqYX^ Y` r\j VYUs
XUjj \^ YW\jt¬ dv�)*+)*

'opo�o
�o*

w YrYW\bYdVĵa qj Y' (�p+ ('�� (o�* (p�o) ('+�� (�' ü Qýþ C

Page 68



ÿ
� ����� � � �� 	
� ��
 

�� ����� � �� �� ��� ��� �� � !

� ��" � ! # �$ %���
  &' �(( �
 ���()
*+ �,+(+ 
 -� �$ %�� ��.// � � ����� � � �� 	
� ��
 

� ��0// � # �$ %���
  &' �(( �
 ���()

Page 69



1

Page 70



Page 71



2

3 45678 9
: ;<=>
3 ;<=>9
? ;<=>9
@A 6B<A 6B<C7A 56

D
D
D C E= E
D C E= E
D C E= E

F GHIJ GKL G

M NOP
QP NRR
QS NTO
QM NMT
QT NRQ

U VWXY Z[H\

M NS]
QP N^̂
QP NP]
_ NTQ
QQ NMT

` <a =7A b<

cd E:e
cd Eee

3 Ef:
d Ef:
: Eeg

hK [W\ 3 45678 9
: ;<=>
3 ;<=>9
? ;<=>9
@A 6B<A 6B<C7A 56

i
i

Bj4ja =7A b<i Bj4ja =7A b<i Bj4ja =7A b<i

F GHIJ GKL G

T k]̂R kQOP
RO kP]P kQ]O
QTP kTOM kQOP
QQ_ k]MT kP̂M
QOQ kTM_ kMR]

U VWXY Z[H\

R kQQR k]PP
RO k_PP kOO]
QMM kO]] kP]̂
QMO k]OP kŜS
Q̂Q kR̂_ k_]_

` <a =7A b<

clmd nlod
clfd nmdg

e3 n?d3 nodf
:: ngeo nfme
:g nmmg ndmo

Page 72



 
Date of Meeting: 12 September 2019 
 
Director:   Aidan Dunn, Executive Director Corporate Development

Executive Summary: 
 
At its meeting 7 January 2017, the Pension Fund Committee approved the Full Business 
Case (FBC) for the establishment of the Brunel Pension Partnership.  This report provides 
an update to the Committee on progress in implementing the FBC. 
 
To date, investments valued at approximately £840m have transferred to the pool’s 
management, representing nearly 30% of the Fund’s total assets of £3.0bn.  A further 
£90m is expected to transition in September 2019 to Brunel’s Emerging Markets Equities 
portfolio. 
 
Dawn Turner, Brunel’s Chief Executive Officer (CEO), has resigned from her position and 
will be leaving the company at the end of September 2019.  Laura Chappell, Brunel’s Chief 
Compliance and Risk Officer, will be Acting CEO until a new CEO is recruited. 
 

Equalities Impact Assessment:   
 
This report does not deal with any new strategies or polices that would trigger an impact 
assessment. 

Budget:  
 
Not applicable. 

Risk Assessment:  
 
Details of the expected risks of implementing the project are included in the report. 

Climate Implications:   
 
The Fund’s Investment Strategy Statement requires all external investment managers to 
consider and manage all financially material risks arising from environmental issues, 
including those associated with climate change. 

Other Implications:   
 
None. 

Recommendation: 
 
That the Committee note the progress in establishing the Brunel Pension Partnership. 

Reason for Recommendation: 
 

 

Pension Fund Committee 

Investment Pooling Progress Report 

Page 73

Agenda Item 11



Page 2  

To ensure that the Fund has the appropriate management arrangements in place. 

Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1: Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for quarter ending 30 June 2019 
Appendix 2: Brunel Oversight Board 30 April 2019 – minutes 

Background Papers: 
 
Brunel Pension Partnership Full Business Case (December 2016) 
Investment Strategy Statement (March 2018) 

Officer Contact:   
 
Name: David Wilkes, Service Manager for Operational Finance 
Tel: 01305 224119 
Email: investments@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 

 

1. Background 

1.1 At the additional meeting on 9 January 2017 the Committee resolved that the Brunel 
Pension Partnership investment pool be developed, funded and implemented in 
accordance with the Full Business Case (FBC), including the setting up of a Financial 
Conduct Authority (FCA) regulated company to be named Brunel Pension 
Partnership Limited (Brunel Ltd).  This was then ratified by Dorset County Council on 
16 February 2017.  The FBC was also approved by the nine other participating 
administering authorities.  This report provides members with update on progress 
implementing the FBC. 

 
1.2 Brunel Ltd was formally created on 18 July 2017, with representatives from the 

administering authorities of each of the ten founding funds signing the shareholders 
agreement to establish the company.  Brunel Ltd received authorisation on 16 March 
2018 from the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) to act as a full scope investment 
firm, allowing it to provide advisory and discretionary investment management 
services to Dorset and the nine other client funds.   

 

2. Portfolios Development and Implementation 

 Listed Equities  

2.1 Following a tender process under the LGPS National Framework for Passive 
Services, Brunel appointed Legal and General Investment Management (LGIM) as 
the fund manager for passive and Smart Beta equities. 

2.2 Dorset’s internally managed passive UK equities portfolio successfully transitioned to 
the Brunel portfolio 11 July 2018 and Dorset’s global equities under the management 
of Allianz successfully transitioned to the Brunel Smart Beta portfolio 18 July 2018.   

Page 74



Page 3  

2.3 Following the conclusion of the Passive and Smart Beta manager selection process, 
Brunel turned its attention to the seven active equities portfolios, firstly UK Equities 
and Low Volatility Global Equities, with the other equities portfolios to follow.  

2.4 The results of these two initial active equities concluded in September 2018, with 
transition to the new portfolios in November 2018.  These are the first Brunel 
portfolios managed through the Authorised Contractual Scheme (ACS).   

2.5 Dorset has a target allocation to UK core equities of 6.25% (approximately £185m) 
but no allocation to Low Volatility Global Equities.  In November 2018, the Fund’s 
investment with AXA Framlington transferred to the Brunel UK Equites portfolio. 

2.6  In total, investments valued at approximately £840m have transferred to the pool’s 
management, representing nearly 30% of the Fund’s total assets of £3.0bn. Fee 
savings in a full year from the assets transferred to date are estimated at 
approximately £1.2m, compared to the Fund’s share of Brunel’s annual running costs 
of £1.0m in 2019-20.  As more assets transition to Brunel’s management, fee savings 
are expected to increase. 

2.7 In October 2018, Brunel issued a “Manager Search Launch Paper” for their Emerging 
Markets Equity portfolio, setting out the detailed timeline for the development of the 
portfolio.  Dorset has a target allocation of 3.0% (approximately £90m) to emerging 
markets equities, and it is anticipated that the Fund’s current investment with JP 
Morgan will transfer to the Brunel portfolio. Brunel has now concluded the portfolio 
development, manager selection and due diligence process, with the mandate 
awarded to a combination of managers.  Transitions are planned for September 
2019.   

2.8 In January 2019, Brunel issued a “Manager Search Launch Paper” for their High 
Alpha Equity portfolio, setting out the detailed timeline for the establishment of the 
portfolio, with final transitions expected November 2019.  Dorset has a target 
allocation of 4.25% (approximately £125m) to global high alpha equities, and it is 
anticipated that this will be funded by partial disinvestment from the Fund’s current 
investments under the management of Investec and Wellington. 

2.9 In July, Brunel issued a “Manager Search Launch Paper” for their Smaller 
Companies Equities portfolio, setting out the detailed timeline for the establishment 
of the portfolio, with final transitions expected May 2020.  Dorset has a target 
allocation of 2.25% (approximately £75m) to smaller companies equities, to be 
funded from disinvestment of assets under the management of existing managers or 
from cash balances. 

Private Markets  

2.10 Work by Brunel establishing private markets’ portfolios is progressing concurrently 
with public markets’ activity.  Following the meeting of the Committee in June 2018, 
commitments of 2.0% (approximately £60m) to the Private Equity portfolio and 2.0% 
to the Secured Income portfolio were agreed. 

Page 75



Page 4  

2.11 Commitments to the private markets’ portfolios are expected to be made by Brunel to 
underlying investments over a two year period ending March 2020, with an 
opportunity to ‘top-up’ initial commitments in April 2019.  Thereafter, from April 2020, 
commitments to further two year investment cycles will be sought by Brunel, again 
with the opportunity to ‘top-up’ after the first year. 

2.12 Private Equity, in particular, has proved challenging for the Fund to reach target 
allocation.  Therefore, officers will need to regularly review and update the required 
levels of commitments to Brunel, alongside the legacy investments with the Fund’s 
existing managers, HarbourVest and Aberdeen Standard.   

2.13 Brunel has made commitments to two Private Equity funds - the Capital Dynamics 
Global Secondary Fund and the Neuberger Berman Private Equity Impact Fund.   
Dorset’s share of those commitments is £11.5m to the Capital Dynamics Global 
Secondary Fund and £14.3m to the Neuberger Berman Private Equity Impact Fund, 
leaving £34.2m uncommitted. To date £2.5m has been drawndown against the 
Capital Dynamics Fund. 

2.14  Brunel has made commitments to two Secured Income funds - the Aberdeen 
Standard Long Lease Property Fund and the M&G Secured Property Income Fund.  
Dorset’s share of these commitments is £22m to each fund, leaving £16m 
uncommitted.  To date, £2.9m has been drawndown against Dorset’s commitment to 
the Aberdeen Standard Fund, with a call for a further £8m expected shortly. 

 Liability Driven Investment (LDI) 

2.15 In January 2019, Brunel issued a “Manager Search Launch Paper” for their LDI 
portfolio.  LDI is Dorset’s largest and most complex mandate with a target allocation 
of 14% (approximately £400M) and its incumbent manager is Insight Investments. 

2.16 Due to the complexity and importance of this asset class, a number of meetings have 
taken place between Brunel and officers from the three clients who have allocations 
to LDI (including Dorset) and their advisers.  Throughout the process it has been 
made clear to potential providers that clients may decide not to transfer their existing 
investments to a new manager. 

2.17 The portfolio development, manager selection and due diligence process has now 
concluded, and Insight has not been selected as Brunel’s preferred provider for LDI.  
Because of the bespoke nature of LDI, any transitions will take place client by client 
rather than all at once, at a time convenient to each client.   

2.18 Officers and the Independent Adviser will be watching the experience, costs and 
benefits of the first client transition very closely.  Only if this indicates significant 
benefits to the Fund will a transfer from the incumbent manager be recommended.  If 
such benefits are clear, it is very unlikely that a transition would take place before the 
conclusion of the planned review of the strategic asset allocation in 2020.  

  

 

Page 76



Page 5  

Diversified Growth Funds (DGFs) 

2.19 In April 2019, a workshop was hosted by Brunel to gain a better understanding of 
clients’ reasons for allocating to DGFs.  Dorset’s target allocation to DGFs is 8% 
(approximately £240M) and its incumbent manager is Barings. 

 Other Portfolios 

2.20 Final commitments will be sought by Brunel on a portfolio by portfolio basis, as and 
when appropriate. The expectation in the FBC is that most of the assets of the ten 
client funds will in time transfer to Brunel portfolios but, initially at least, some assets 
will remain outside of the pool for reasons of liquidity and/or value for money.  For 
Dorset such assets are expected to include holdings in property, legacy holdings in 
private equity and infrastructure, and potentially LDI depending on the Brunel 
offering. 

2.21 The development and transition plan for all Brunel’s portfolios (excluding private 
markets) is summarised below. 

  

  

3. Portfolios Performance  

3.1 Brunel now produce a quarterly review of the performance of the investments held by 
the Fund in Brunel portfolios (see Appendix 1).  As well as financial performance 
metrics, the report also includes responsible investment indicators for each portfolio.  
Representatives from Brunel will give a further explanation of these indicators at the 
meeting. 

Portfolio
Dorset 

Allocation
Start Date

Transition 
Date

Passive UK Equities 12.25% Jan-18 Jul-18
Passive Smart Beta Equities 8.50% Jan-18 Jul-18
UK Active Equities 6.25% Oct-18 Nov-18
Low Volatilty Active Equities 0.00% Oct-18 Nov-18
Emerging Market Active Equities 3.00% Oct-18 Sep-19
High Alpha Developed Active Equities 4.25% Dec-18 Nov-19
Smaller Companies Active Equities 2.25% Jul-19 May-20
Sustainable Active Equities 0.00% Sep-19 Aug-20
Global Core Active Equities 8.50% Oct-19 Sep-20
Liability Driven Investments 14.00% Dec-18 Aug-19
Diversified Growth Funds 8.00% Mar-19 Dec-19
Passive Index Linked Gilts 0.00% Dec-18 Aug-19
Multi Asset Credit 5.00% Dec-19 Jul-20
Sterling Corporate Bonds 6.00% Feb-20 Sep-20
Global Bonds 0.00% Jun-20 Apr-21
Index Linked Gilts 0.00% Jun-20 Jun-20
Hedge Funds 0.00% Aug-20 Mar-21
Equity Protection 0.00% Sep-20 Jun-21
Tactical Asset Allocation 0.00% Sep-20 Jul-21

Page 77



Page 6  

4. Governance  

4.1 Minutes from the meeting of the Brunel Oversight Board on 30 April 2019 are 
attached as Appendix 2.  The oversight board also met on 25 July 2019 but the draft 
minutes for that meeting have not yet been approved for publication. 

4.2 Dawn Turner, Brunel’s Chief Executive Officer (CEO), has resigned from her position 
and will be leaving the company at the end of September.  Laura Chappell, Brunel’s 
Chief Compliance and Risk Officer, has agreed to take on the role of Acting CEO 
to bridge the gap until a new CEO is recruited.  

4.3 The resignation of the CEO has prompted Brunel to review their remuneration policy. 
Under the shareholders’ agreement, any changes to the remuneration policy are a 
‘Special Reserved Matter’ that require the approval of all ten shareholders.  Proposed 
changes to the policy, including raising the cap on executive director remuneration, 
were discussed at the meeting of the July oversight board, but agreement across all 
funds has not yet been achieved.  

 
5. Key Measures of Success 

5.1 Brunel Ltd identified the following measures by which successful implementation of 
the project will be judged: 

 
a) Delivering within budget,  
b) Obtaining FCA approval, 
c) Establishment of first portfolios in 2018, 
d) Application of the investment principles, 
e) Control of transition costs, 
f) Selection of fund managers that indicate investment cost and fee savings with 

maintained or enhanced performance, 
g) Compliance and risk management, and 
h) Feedback from clients and reputation. 

 
 
6. Key Risks 

6.1 Brunel Ltd identified a number of key risks to successful implementation, with the 
following risks still outstanding: 

 
6.2 Transition costs: there is a risk that the transition costs are significantly higher than 

the level assumed within the business case.   
Mitigation: implement robust strategic transition management, controls and practical 
flexibility. 

 
6.3 Investment cost and fee savings: there is a risk that the fee savings, whilst 

maintaining performance, are not achieved.   
Mitigation: wide research and stimulation of the market, investment team have strong 
negotiation skills and intelligent consideration of balance between performance and 
fees. 

Page 78



Page 7  

6.4 Operational costs and resources: there is a risk that the required on-going 
operational costs are significantly higher than the business case and or the people 
requirements are not met.   
Mitigation: robust remuneration policy and clear communication of the benefits of 
working for Brunel Ltd, quality procurement procedures and experienced financial 
management resource within Brunel Ltd. Responsive governance arrangements to 
enable solutions to key operational issues to be agreed in a timely manner. 

6.5 Assets under management: there is a risk that clients delay the transition of assets 
into the pool limiting economies of scales and diminishing the value of the pool 
structure.   
Mitigation: clear pooling and investment principles within shareholders and service 
agreements. Excellent communications from Brunel Ltd to clients. 

 

 

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2019

Information Classification: Public

P
age 81



Contents

Page 3     -    About Brunel and News

Page 4     -    Executive Summary

Page 5     -    Market Summary - Chief Investment Officer

Page 8     -    Market Summary - Head of Private Markets

Page 11     -    Responsible Investment & Stewardship Review

Page 13     -    High Level Performance of Pension Fund

Page 14     -    Asset Allocation of Pension Fund

Page 15     -    High Level Performance of Pension Fund - Risk Summary

Page 16     -    Brunel Portfolios Overview

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public

Dorset County Pension Fund

Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2019

Page 2 of 27

P
age 82



About Brunel and News

About Brunel

Brunel Pension Partnership (Brunel) was established on 18 July 2017 as one of eight national Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS)
Pools. The pool brings together circa £30 billion investments of 10 likeminded funds.

We manage the investments for the pension funds of Avon, Buckinghamshire, Cornwall, Devon, Dorset, Environment Agency,
Gloucestershire, Oxfordshire, Somerset and Wiltshire.

Brunel is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority No. 790168.

Brunel News

Brunel is continuing to develop at pace, ensuring we provide the services and offerings to meet our core target of implementing your asset
allocation.

• In May we joined the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB) Investor Advisory Group (IAG), a group of leading asset owners and
managers committed to improving sustainability-related disclosures to investors

• In June, we kicked off the research phase of our sustainable equities offering

• More than 100 interested investment managers responded to our call for thought-pieces and strategic research on Diversified Growth
Funds (DGF). We have invited select managers to tender on the strength of the evidence offered with regard to differentiators, total return
and risk, drawdown experience, bond and equity correlation / beta, downside capture and indicative costs

• We have published our Climate Statement on the Brunel website. This is a precursor to our full Climate Change Policy, which is currently
being developed.

Dorset County Pension Fund

Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2019Information Classification: Public

Forging better futures

Page 3 of 27

P
age 83



Executive Summary

High Level Performance

The Fund delivered 3.2% on an absolute basis over the quarter, outperforming the benchmark by
0.3%. The absolute return over the one-year period is 5.6%, underperforming the strategic benchmark
by 0.6%.

The key driver of positive absolute performance this quarter was the Fund’s exposure to global
equities. Global markets continued to provide strong returns over the quarter, with the MSCI AC
World returning 6.3%. The three legacy global equity positions contributed 1.2% to absolute
performance. The allocation to passive UK equities also contributed 0.4% to positive performance.

UK equity holdings contributed 0.7% to absolute performance, largely driven by the significant 13%
allocation to UK passive equities. The Brunel UK passive portfolio performed in line with the FTSE All
Share, which returned 3.3% over the quarter on a total return basis.

Private markets contributed a positive 0.6% to absolute return. This was driven by the HarbourVest
Private equity fund, which contributed 0.2% to absolute performance, as well as the IFM
infrastructure fund, which also contributed 0.2% to absolute performance.

The positive relative return was helped by the diversified growth position in Barings, which
outperformed its benchmark by 1.4% and the Brunel private equity portfolio, which outperformed its
benchmark by 4.4%. The State Street currency overlay was the main detractor from performance
over the quarter.

Key Points:
- 3.2% Absolute Net Performance Q2
- 0.3% Relative Performance vs benchmark Q2
- 5.6% Absolute Net Performance 1Y
- -0.6% Relative Performance vs strategic benchmark 1Y

Fund Specific Events

There have been no fund specific events to report over the quarter.

Total
(GBPm)

 31 Mar 2019 3,024

 30 Jun 2019 3,085

 Net cash inflow (outflow) -35

Total Fund Valuation

Mar Jun
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Assets Transitioned to Brunel

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2019

Dorset County Pension Fund

Page 4 of 27

P
age 84



Market Summary – Chief Investment Officer

Real Yields UK Index Listed

10-2 yr Yield SpreadsFixed Income

Q2 2019 saw a repeat of Q1 with strong returns achieved across all areas of fixed income. Price
increases were once again fuelled by slowing global growth expectations, which prompted further
inflows into the asset class. The impact of this was most prevalent in longer dated bonds; 10-year
yields tended to fall more than shorter dated yields in most countries. UK and Eurozone yield curves
are now looking flatter than before. The 10-2-year yield spread on UK government bonds is now only
15bps, significantly down from 34bps at the end of last quarter.

The best performing asset class in fixed income over the quarter was US investment grade (IG)
bonds, which returned +4.5% in local terms. This was partially fuelled by a 32bps fall in IG corporate
spreads over the quarter; US IG spreads are roughly 175bps as at quarter end. The lowest performing
asset class in fixed income was UK Gilts, which returned +1.4% in GBP terms over the quarter. This is
explained by the relatively lower fall in 10yr yields vs other regions.

• UK Consumer Price Inflation (CPI) remained largely stable over the last quarter. The headline CPI
was 2.0% in May-19, which is in line with the Bank of England’s (BoE) long-term target of 2%. This is
broadly in line with last quarter as well; the headline CPI reading was 1.9% as at Q1 2019. However,
core CPI inflation is largely expected to undershoot the BoE’s target of 2% in the coming years, with
median estimates of 1.8%, 1.7% & 1.6% for 2019, 2020 & 2021 respectively

• Investment grade (IG) corporate bond spreads have continued to fall in the UK despite doubts over
slowing global growth and Brexit uncertainty. IG spreads were around 140bps as at quarter end, this
is down from 154bps in Q1 19. The move YTD has been more significant, with spreads down 37bps

• Yield curves have continued to flatten aggressively across Europe, with 10-2yr yield spreads
remaining below +50bps in the US, UK and Germany. The US remains fairly flat with a 10-2yr spread
of +26bps, although the curve has steepened by +12bps in the last quarter following the Federal
Reserve’s increasingly dovish stance on interest rates. The market is now pricing in 1-2 rate cuts in
2019 in the US

• Real yields in the UK have remained mostly range-bound in Q2 2019. The average yield on longer
dated inflation linked bonds was -1.80% at the end of the quarter, which is the same as the last
quarter end. Despite this, intra-quarter yields have seen fluctuation, with a range of –1.65% to -1.95%

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2019

Dorset County Pension Fund

Page 5 of 27

P
age 85



Market Summary – Chief Investment Officer

EPS Growth

Global Indices 1 Year ReturnsEquity

Following on from the positive returns in the previous quarter, Global markets continued to provide
strong returns in Q2. The MSCI AC World returned 6.3% over the quarter, in-spite of a steep downturn
in May, where the index fell 4.6% from peak to trough. The downturn was once again fuelled by US-
China trade standoff. However, with increasingly accommodating central banks and a G20 summit
that provided progress on trade talks, the index rallied throughout June to provide a positive return
on the quarter.

US equities continued to set new record highs in Q2 as the S&P 500 returned 6.8% in Q2,
compounding to return 18.6% YTD. Despite the May sell-off, investors were encouraged by the
dovishness of the Federal Reserve, three interest rate cuts expected by the end of the year, and the
optimism that surrounded the US/China trade talks from the G20 summit.

• Despite the continuing positive performance in US equity markets, the economic data points
towards a cautious environment. EPS growth expectations have been revised downwards from ~8%
at the start of the year to currently 3%. This has been coupled with an easing of inflation expectations,
which is now expected to be 1.8% year on year. However, looking ahead to 2020, analysts expect an
EPS growth of 11%, a level of optimism that may be correlated to the expected forthcoming rate cuts

Emerging Markets provided a positive return of 3.1% over the quarter, however, underperformed
global markets. This has compounded to a YTD return of 10.84%, in sterling terms.

• US-China trade tensions weighed heavily on the performance of the Emerging market index over
the quarter, returning -4% in May
• China currently has a position of 32% of the emerging market index and exhibited a return of -1.5%
over the quarter, which contributed to a -60bps drag on the performance of the index
• In contrast to the negative returns in China, the index benefited from strong returns in Russia,
Brazil and South Africa, with the latter benefitting from the re-election of the ANC party
• Russia was the largest contributor to positive performance in Emerging markets, returning 20% in
sterling terms. This was driven by a 66% increase in Gazprom, as well as the Russian central bank
cutting interest rates by 25bps as a potential signal for further easing.

European markets ex UK returned 9% over Q2, 17.85% YTD

• The Consumer discretionary, Information Technology and industrials were the strongest
performing sectors over the quarter, returning 13.3%, 13% and 11.8% respectively. Real Estate was the

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2019

Dorset County Pension Fund

Page 6 of 27

P
age 86



Market Summary – Chief Investment Officer

only negative performing sector over the quarter driven by a five-year rent freeze on residential
property in the German capital.
• As mentioned last quarter, growth is a persistent problem in Europe with GDP growth confirmed
at 0.4% in Q1. Inflation for June was also stable at 1.2%. There was a hint at further monetary policy
easing in the form of new bond purchases to combat the low inflation outlook

FTSE All share returned 3.3% over the quarter, underperforming global markets and posting a YTD
return of 13%

• The Technology sector enjoyed a strong quarter, providing a total return of 14%. In contrast, those
sectors which display a domestic bias, such as Utilities, provided a negative return amidst further
political and Brexit uncertainty, with Theresa May resigning as PM and a further extension of the
deadline to 31 October 2019
• The economy shrank by 0.4% in April, led the GBP/USD to decline by -2.3% over the quarter.
However, with US interest rate cuts expected we may see a potential weakening of the USD in future

Gold rallied in Q2, returning 8.9%
• Gold, often seen as a safe haven investment, rallied to above $1,400/ ozt at the end of the quarter.
This is the highest it has been since 2013, returning 10.33% YTD
• Oil prices fell over the quarter, with Brent Crude returning -4.2%. However, the strong performance
in Q1 has concluded in Brent Crude oil returning 20.3% YTD

Sterling returns for indices:
- FTSE All-Share: 3.26% (3m) 0.57% (12m)
- MSCI Europe: 7.4% (3m) 6.4% (12m)
- MSCI Europe ex UK: 9.0% (3m) 8.2% (12m)
- MSCI ACWI: 6.3% (3m) 10.3% (12m)
- MSCI ACWI ex USA: 5.7% (3m) 5.6% (12m)
- MSCI Emerging: 3.1% (3m) 5.4% (12m)
- MSCI China: -1.6% (3m) -3.0% (12m)
- S&P 500: 6.8% (3m) 14.5% (12m)
- GBP Vs USD: -2.3% (3M) -3.6% (12M)

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2019

Dorset County Pension Fund

Page 7 of 27

P
age 87



Market Summary – Head of Private Markets

Overview

Investors continue to increase allocations across broad swathes of private market asset classes,
particularly to infrastructure and private equity. Undoubtedly, this is driving up asset pricing and
compressing future returns. We would urge Clients to temper their expectations of lofty historical
returns being replicated in the future. The next 3-4 months will be a very busy period for the Brunel
PM team across multiple Portfolios as the construction process reaches a crescendo.

Infrastructure

In Q2 2019, Brunel made commitments to two geographically distinct clean energy infrastructure
funds, both managed by Capital Dynamics (CEI 7 and 8). This is in line with our Infrastructure
strategy to commit 35% of the Infrastructure portfolio to renewable energy generation funds.

The UK market for onshore renewables is improving, with the UK government setting a new target
of zero net emissions by 2050. Fund CEI 8, which will invest >75% of its capital into UK renewables,
had its first close in April 2019 at £114m (>25% of target fund size). It already has an extremely robust
pipeline, with exclusivity agreed on four UK projects to close in Q3 2019, all with 12 to 20-year fixed
price contracts in place with power purchasers. A second close is expected in July 2019, taking the
fundraising to over 50% of fund target.

Equally pleasing is progress at CEI 7-A, the US strategy, which invests alongside the US$ 1.2bn fund
CEI 7. Fund 7-A had a first close in April 2019 and the final close will be in July 2019, reaching a fund
size of US$188m. The fund has a very encouraging pipeline, and capital deployment is expected to
accelerate in Q3 and Q4 2019, with the potential to be fully allocated by mid-late 2020, pending the
outcome of several large deals. Four projects have already been completed, comprising onshore
wind and solar assets, some with battery storage.

Capital Dynamics have remained disciplined and diligent in their deal sourcing, securing full
requirement PPAs before closing all deals and have remained efficient in their asset management
costs through CD Arevon, their in-house technical / engineering business, a key differentiator of this
manager above all others in the market.

Aside from the new fund commitments, the team had positive updates from existing managers NTR
and Mirova. NTR continues to fund raise and deploy with good operational performance from
existing assets. Mirova, the general infrastructure fund, is now fully committed and is expected to be
>80% drawn down by the end of 2019, having transacted in numerous sectors (digital, transport,

UK Industrials Still Offer Income Growth
Photo: Stirling Park, Rochester – LGIM IPIF Asset

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2019

Dorset County Pension Fund

Page 8 of 27

P
age 88



Market Summary – Head of Private Markets

utility, social PPP) across France, Spain, Norway, Finland and Italy.

All Brunel’s selected managers continue to find promising opportunities to invest in, which is very
pleasing in such a competitive market environment. This sourcing capability is one of many aspects
the Brunel team spend a lot of time researching prior to selecting any manager.

We remain on track to build a nicely diversified infrastructure portfolio of eight to ten 10 funds (60 to
100 underlying investments) for Cycle 1 Clients, with all capital committed (but not invested) before
the 31 March 2020 deadline.

Private Equity

No new fund commitments were made in the quarter ending 30 June, but considerable work was
done to progress a new fund opportunity towards closing post period (in July).

Over Q2, the Brunel PM team had two successful strategy days with Neuberger Berman and Capital
Dynamics to aid in our primary fund search.
Existing Brunel PE Portfolio funds are progressing nicely. The Capital Dynamics Global Secondaries V
(GSEC V) fund made its first call during the quarter and a first drawdown for the NB PE Impact fund
was made in July to fund a co-investment. NB impact has also made two primary fund
commitments, but no money has yet been called for these.

Capital Dynamics Global Secondaries Fund V had raised US$ 320m from 85 investors at by Q1 and Q2
201919 (almost 50% of target fund size). So far they have closed nine deals, with a further three deals
in execution, for a total amount of US$ 240m. Even at this early stage the fund’s holdings are a very
diverse array of maturing assets across >100 funds and >600 companies (c66% buyout, 34%
growth/late-stage venture) with vintage year diversification stretching back over a decade. Current
geographic exposure is c51% US, 38% Europe and 11% Asia. The sectors with the largest exposure are
IT (30%), consumer discretionary (19%) and healthcare (17%) with the remaining 34% being mainly
across industrials, consumer staples and energy.

Further closings for GSEC V are expected before December with >30% of capital projected to be
drawn down by year end 2019.

Secured Income

Brunel’s secured income portfolio received drawdown requests from Aberdeen Standard Long Lease
Property Fund, which is investing in a combination of pre-let funding projects and existing (built)

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2019

Dorset County Pension Fund

Page 9 of 27

P
age 89



Market Summary – Head of Private Markets

assets in the Alternatives sector. A further drawdown from clients is expected imminently.
Investment progress by M&G has been slowed by the lack of suitable available transactions – Brunel
will receive an update on likely opportunities from the M&G Secured Property investment team. Both
funds performed strongly over the last year to March (total return +7.2% M&G; +6.7% ASI), increasing
their attractiveness as returns from commercial property moderate.

Property

Though property pricing looks elevated, both in the UK and in most developed international markets,
investment in the asset class continues to hold up well globally, supported by expectations of
interest rates remaining lower for longer, particularly in Europe. Income growth can still be obtained
from some property sectors, such as Industrials, though the pace of growth has moderated. The
attractions of this resilient, growing income stream has exacerbated the contrast between valuations
quoted for logistics assets (with yields now below 4%) and the accelerating devaluation of the Retail
sector (with yields over 6%).

Longer-term yield compression since 2010 across all sectors has accounted for 60% of global real
estate value growth and is now reversing in some areas, encouraging investors to focus either on
strategies which provide downside protection against falling capital values or on higher-risk
development/asset management strategies which could still provide double-digit returns.

Underwriting development projects so late in the cycle has been hampered by high construction
costs but this, and the controlled levels of lending to projects, have prevented the high levels of
gearing and oversupply seen in the last property cycle, limiting damage during the next downturn.
The polarisation of investor interest may lead to mispricing opportunities in the less obvious areas of
the market – investors should maintain a diversified portfolio to mitigate specific risks.

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2019

Dorset County Pension Fund

Page 10 of 27

P
age 90



Responsible Investment & Stewardship Review

o

oImproving Climate Change Disclosure

Two years on from the recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures
(TCFD), the TCFD has published its 2019 status report. In 2017 Mark Carney said, “Having information
on [climate] risks would allow investors to back their convictions with their capital, whether they are
climate optimists or pessimists, evangelicals or sceptics.” This sentiment still resonates today. Whilst
disclosure of threats to business from escalating climate risks is improving, the status report
highlighted that it’s not happening fast-enough given the scale of financial risks posed by extreme
weather and the low carbon transition. Brunel advocates strongly for improved transparency; we co-
signed letters written to the Prime Minister and Chancellor calling strongly for the recommendations
of the TCFD to be made mandatory. We understand this is being considered for all large companies
and pension funds by 2022. In parallel, Brunel is building capacity to fulfil TCFD reporting for clients.

Another area of backing was a public business letter to the Prime Minister in support of the
Committee on Climate Change’s advice to the government to set a 2050 net zero greenhouse gas
emissions target. The letter was a joint initiative between Aldersgate, the B team, CBI, CDP, The
Climate Group, Corporate Leaders Group, IIGCC and Renewables UK. We are pleased that on 11 June,
legislation was passed which put the UK on a path to become the first major economy to set net zero
emissions target in law.

Investor pressure for disclosure has stepped up. Exxon rejected the GHG targets proposal filed by
CA100+ lead investors and sought no-action relief with the SEC. A letter, Brunel co-signed, did not
prevent the SEC from rejecting the proposal. The New York State Common Retirement Fund issued
a call for dissent, citing that an inadequate response to climate change constitutes a serious failure of
corporate governance. This called for investors to:

• Withhold their support from re-election of all ExxonMobil directors
• Vote for an independent chair, for a climate change board committee, and for a report on lobbying

Brunel strongly supported this call; we utilised our voting policy to direct the vote across passive
equity holdings (Exxon is not in Brunel active equities). Whilst these resolutions did not pass (click
here to view Exxon AGM Results), they gained good support, sending a strong message, and one to
which the company has to respond. This combined with recent announcements by LGIM’s carbon
pledge that Exxon is on the 2019 exclusion list will no doubt see a shift in attitudes towards positive
engagement with shareholders.

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2019

Dorset County Pension Fund

Page 11 of 27

P
age 91

https://www.fsb-tcfd.org/publications/tcfd-2019-status-report
// https://www.fsb-tcfd.org/publications/tcfd-2019-status-report//.
https://www.fsb-tcfd.org/publications/tcfd-2019-status-report
https://www.theccc.org.uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/uk-becomes-first-major-economy-to-pass-net-zero-emissions-law
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/uk-becomes-first-major-economy-to-pass-net-zero-emissions-law
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/uk-becomes-first-major-economy-to-pass-net-zero-emissions-law
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/34088/000121465919003152/d53190px14a6g.htm
https://corporate.exxonmobil.com/-/media/Global/Files/investor-relations/annual-meeting-materials/proxy-materials/2019-Proxy-voting-results.pdf
https://corporate.exxonmobil.com/-/media/Global/Files/investor-relations/annual-meeting-materials/proxy-materials/2019-Proxy-voting-results.pdf
https://corporate.exxonmobil.com/-/media/Global/Files/investor-relations/annual-meeting-materials/proxy-materials/2019-Proxy-voting-results.pdf
https://www.reuters.com/article/us-climate-change-l-g-funds/investor-lgim-dumps-exxonmobil-from-its-future-world-funds-idUSKCN1TL2ZV
https://www.reuters.com/article/us-climate-change-l-g-funds/investor-lgim-dumps-exxonmobil-from-its-future-world-funds-idUSKCN1TL2ZV


Responsible Investment & Stewardship Review

Challenging Animal Welfare
May was a historic month with Beyond Meat became the first plant-based meat company to go
public, becoming the biggest Initial Public Offering (IPO) since the 2008 crash, with a value of $3.8bn.
Reflecting the growing interest in food production and supple rising consumer standards will lead to
increased financial risks for companies who do not appropriately manage animal welfare. Brunel has
joined the Business Benchmark on Farm Animal Welfare (BBFAW) investor collaboration. BBFAW,
which is now in its 7th year, is a measure of farm animal welfare management, policy commitment,
performance and disclosure in food companies, including the management of antibiotic use. Letters
will be sent to 150 companies commending leading and improving businesses on their performance
and encouraging poorer performers to improve.

Social Media’s Objectionable Content
Following the shootings in Christchurch, the New Zealand Super Fund has been leading an initiative
calling on Facebook, Google, and Twitter to strengthen controls on live streaming and objectionable
content. Brunel joined the investor group representing NZ$5 trillion AUM. Engagement has also
been led by governments. The investor group announced support for the Christchurch Call, an
initiative of New Zealand Prime Minister Jacinda Ardern and French President Emmanuel Macron
who met with world leaders, tech companies and civil society, in Paris to discuss the call. Company
engagement thus far has been good. Facebook announced implementation of One Strike Bans for
inappropriate live streaming. Letters have been sent to the social media companies and
engagement is ongoing.

Diversity targets in Sight
Figures released by the Hampton-Alexander Review (launched 2016) show that for the first time, the
FTSE 250 could meet the 33% target for women in senior leadership positions if current progress is
maintained. 27.5% of FTSE 250 board positions are now held by women, up from 24.9%. However,
many boards have only one woman and there are still four all-male boards in the FTSE 250. Brunel
continues to engage on diversity, working with the 30% Club and Diversity Project, supporting
engagements with laggards and applying our voting policy.

Audit Quality and Effectiveness
Brunel welcomed the opportunity to meet with Sir Donald Brydon to discuss the independent
review he is leading on ‘The quality and effectiveness of audit’. Further updates on discussions and
work in this area will be included in next quarter’s update.

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2019

Dorset County Pension Fund

Page 12 of 27

P
age 92

https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2019-05-01/beyond-meat-ipo-raises-241-million-as-veggie-foods-grow-fast
https://www.bbfaw.com
https://www.bbfaw.com
https://nzsuperfund.nz/news-media/new-zealand-investment-funds-combined-assets-more-nz90-billion-add-their-weight-calls
https://www.christchurchcall.com
https://www.forbes.com/sites/zakdoffman/2019/05/15/facebook-to-issue-immediate-one-strike-bans-for-sharing-toxic-content-on-facebook-live
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/ftse-350-urged-to-keep-up-the-pace-to-meet-women-on-boards-target


High Level Performance of Pension Fund

Fund Strategic BM Excess

3 Month 3.21 2.89 0.32

Fiscal YTD 3.21 2.89 0.32

1 Year 5.64 6.26 -0.62

3 Years 9.90 10.14 -0.24

5 Years 8.88 8.85 0.02

10 Years 11.19 10.84 0.35

Since Inception 8.66 0.00 0.00

Performance of Fund Against Benchmark Rolling Quarters Total Fund Net of Mgr. Fees

Fund Benchmark Fund Cum. Benchmark Cum.

Q
3 2

017

Q
4 2

017

Q
1 2

018

Q
2 2

018

Q
3 2

018

Q
4 2

018

Q
1 2

019

Q
2 2

019

-4.0%

0.0%

4.0%

8.0%

12.0%

Key Drivers of Negative & Positive Performance

Over the reporting period, the Fund exhibited positive absolute performance of 3.2%, outperforming the benchmark by 0.3%.

Key highlights of performance over the period:

• Strong positive performance of global equity markets over the quarter saw this sector contribute to absolute returns. Legacy global equity positions
across Investec, Wellington and JP Morgan contributed 1.2% to absolute outperformance. These positions also contributed 0.3% to relative
outperformance. Notably, the Wellington portfolio exhibited a relative return of 1.2% and the JP Morgan portfolio exhibited a relative return of 1.1%
• The passive smart beta portfolios contributed 0.4% to absolute return due to their global equity exposure. The unhedged portfolio returned 6.3% on a
total basis, whilst the hedged portfolio underperformed the unhedged portfolio by 3.3% due to its long exposure to sterling. Both were in line with their
respective benchmarks
• passive portfolio, which contributed 0.4% to absolute return, performing in line with its benchmark. The 5.5% allocation to the Brunel UK active
portfolio contributed 0.2% to absolute performance over the quarter
• The legacy private equity, infrastructure and property funds contributed 0.6% to absolute performance over the quarter
• The diversified growth position in Barings helped to drive outperformance, contributing 0.1% to absolute performance

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2019

Dorset County Pension Fund

Page 13 of 27

P
age 93



Asset Allocation of Pension Fund

Others, 4.8

Hermes, 2.2

Cash, 2.3

IFM, 3.1

JP Morgan, 3.3

Passive Smart Beta 
(Hedged), 4.4

CQS, 4.6

Passive Smart Beta, 5.0

Brunel UK Active 
Equity, 5.5

Barings, 5.9

Royal London, 7.1

Insight, 13.1

Passive UK Equities, 
12.5

CBRE, 10.3

Wellington, 8.3

Investec, 7.5

Asset Allocation Split

-2.4% -1.2% 0.0% 1.2% 2.4%

Aberdeen Standard
Barings

Brunel - PM Private Equity
Brunel - PM Secured Income

Brunel UK Active Equity
CBRE
CQS

Cash
Harbourvest

Hermes
IFM

Insight
Investec

JP Morgan
Passive Smart Beta

Passive Smart Beta (Hedged)
Passive UK Equities

Royal London
Schroders

Wellington

Allocation Against Strategic Benchmark

The Fund continues to maintain a significant overweight position to cash, which is compensated by a significant underweight position in Barings.

• The overweight allocation to cash provided a negative contribution to asset allocation over the quarter as cash underperformed the strategic
benchmark

• The underweight position in Barings provided a slight positive contribution to asset allocation as its benchmark mildly underperformed the
strategic benchmark. Stock selection was positive as Barings outperformed its benchmark by 1.4% over the quarter

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2019

Dorset County Pension Fund

Page 14 of 27

P
age 94



High Level Performance of Pension Fund – Risk Summary

Total Return Benchm. Return

Brunel UK Active Equity 9.27% 9.43%

Passive Smart Beta 8.90% 9.10%

Passive Smart Beta (Hedged) 4.83% 5.68%

Passive UK Equities -0.14% -0.08%

Brunel - PM Private Equity 21.40% 8.88%

Brunel - PM Secured Income 2.66% 0.75%

Manager Level Performance (Transitioned) – Since Inception

Ann. Return Standard
Deviation

Benchm.
Return

Benchm. Std.
Dev.

Aberdeen Standard 12.39% 12.37% 9.00% 9.78%
Allianz 13.89% 7.45% 13.61% 10.05%
Barings 5.20% 5.91% 4.62% 0.08%
CBRE 6.19% 3.87% 6.47% 2.12%
Cash 0.26% 0.17% 0.00% 0.00%
Harbourvest 17.62% 10.10% 9.00% 9.78%
Hermes 6.36% 4.78% 9.98% 0.09%
IFM 16.03% 7.77% 9.98% 0.09%
Insight 11.97% 20.92% 11.60% 21.18%
Internally Managed UK Equities 53.29% 34.17% 8.94% 9.86%
Investec 13.38% 10.66% 13.61% 10.05%
JP Morgan 13.83% 12.85% 12.49% 12.49%
Royal London 6.26% 6.25% 4.82% 6.75%
Schroders 15.72% 11.02% 7.66% 10.67%
Wellington 14.88% 10.51% 13.61% 10.05%
Dorset County Pension Fund 9.90% 6.08% 10.14% 5.76%

Manager Level Performance (Pre-Transition) – 3 Year

Over the three-year reporting period, the Fund delivered positive absolute performance on an annualised basis, but underperformed the
benchmark, with higher volatility than the benchmark. The key highlights of performance over the period were:

• Schroders UK small cap active fund returned 15.7%, outperforming its target benchmark by 8.1%
• HarbourVest provided a positive absolute return of 17.6%, outperforming its benchmark by 8.6%
• IFM also outperformed its benchmark by 6.1%
• As expected, Brunel’s passive products performed broadly in line with their benchmarks

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2019

Dorset County Pension Fund

Page 15 of 27

P
age 95



Brunel Portfolios Overview

Portfolio Benchmark AUM
(GBPm)

Perf.
3 Month

Excess
3 Month

Perf.
1 Year

Excess
1 Year

Perf.
3 Year

Excess
3 Year

Perf.
5 Year

Excess
5 Year

Perf.
SI

Excess
SI

Inception
Date

Brunel UK Active Equity FTSE All Share 168 3.13% -0.13% 9.27% -0.16% 21 Nov 2018

Passive Smart Beta SciBeta Multifactor
Composite 153 6.30% 0.11% 8.90% -0.20% 8.90% -0.20% 25 Jul 2018

Passive Smart Beta
(Hedged)

SciBeta Multifactor
Hedged Composite 136 2.97% -0.05% 4.83% -0.86% 4.83% -0.86% 25 Jul 2018

Passive UK Equities FTSE All Share 386 3.24% -0.01% -0.14% -0.06% -0.14% -0.06% 11 Jul 2018

Brunel - PM Private
Equity

MSCI AC World
Index 3 10.94% 4.66% 21.40% 12.52% 26 Mar 2019

Brunel - PM Secured
Income

Consumer Price
Index 3 1.42% 0.58% 2.66% 1.92% 15 Jan 2019

o

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2019

Dorset County Pension Fund

Page 16 of 27

P
age 96



Passive Smart Beta

Description

Exposure to equity markets and
a combination of smart beta
factors to outperform market
cap indices.

Invest passively in equities via
alternative indices.

High

Absolute: High Relative: V.Low

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

 Investment
 Strategy &
 Key

Risk/
Volatility:

Holding: £153,410,340

All values in % Fund BM Excess

 3 Month 6.30 6.19 0.11

 Fiscal YTD 6.30 6.19 0.11

 1 Year 8.90 9.10 -0.20

 3 Years 0.00 0.00 0.00

 5 Years 0.00 0.00 0.00

 10 Years 0.00 0.00 0.00

 Since Inception 8.90 9.10 -0.20

Quarterly performance Rolling Performance

Fund Benchmark Fund Cum. Benchmark Cum.
Q

1 2
018

Q
2 2

018

Q
3 2

018

Q
4 2

018

Q
1 2

019

Q
2 2

019

-10.0%

-8.0%

-6.0%

-4.0%

-2.0%

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

Passive smart beta is a factor-based portfolio that aims to exploit Value, Quality and Low Volatility in a multifactor approach. During the screening
process, Momentum and Size factors are also considered. The fund is constructed by individual regions. The weights of the regions are in line with
MSCI World Index.

• The smart beta portfolio returned 6.3% over the quarter, which was broadly in line with the benchmark. It should be noted that global equities
exhibited strong performance over the quarter, with the MSCI AC World index also returning 6.3%

• The smart beta hedged portfolio underperformed the unhedged portfolio due to the long sterling exposure. The hedged portfolio underperformed
the unhedged product by 3.3%, due to the weakening of GBP relative to USD

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2019

Dorset County Pension Fund

Page 17 of 27

P
age 97



Passive Smart Beta (Hedged)

Description

Exposure to equity markets and
a combination of smart beta
factors to outperform market
cap indices.

Invest passively in equities via
alternative indices.

High

Absolute: High Relative: V.Low

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

 Investment
 Strategy &
 Key

Risk/
Volatility:

Holding: £135,718,805

All values in % Fund BM Excess

 3 Month 2.97 3.02 -0.05

 Fiscal YTD 2.97 3.02 -0.05

 1 Year 4.83 5.68 -0.86

 3 Years 0.00 0.00 0.00

 5 Years 0.00 0.00 0.00

 10 Years 0.00 0.00 0.00

 Since Inception 4.83 5.68 -0.86

Quarterly performance Rolling Performance

Fund Benchmark Fund Cum. Benchmark Cum.
Q

1 2
018

Q
2 2

018

Q
3 2

018

Q
4 2

018

Q
1 2

019

Q
2 2

019

-12.0%

-10.0%

-8.0%

-6.0%

-4.0%

-2.0%

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

Passive smart beta is a factor-based portfolio that aims to exploit Value, Quality and Low Volatility in a multifactor approach. During the screening
process, Momentum and Size factors are also considered. The fund is constructed by individual regions. The weights of the regions are in line with
MSCI World Index.

• The smart beta portfolio returned 6.3% over the quarter, which was broadly in line with the benchmark. It should be noted that global equities
exhibited strong performance over the quarter, with the MSCI AC World index also returning 6.3%

• The smart beta hedged portfolio underperformed the unhedged portfolio due to the long sterling exposure. The hedged portfolio underperformed
the unhedged product by 3.3%, due to the weakening of GBP relative to USD

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2019

Dorset County Pension Fund

Page 18 of 27

P
age 98



Passive Smart Beta – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

ALLSTATE CORP 6,537,453

EXXON MOBIL CORP 6,372,727

DANAHER CORP 6,355,538

INGERSOLL-RAND PLC 6,273,131

WALMART INC 6,244,664

TRAVELERS COS INC/THE 6,232,411

PFIZER INC 6,146,232

WALT DISNEY CO/THE 6,011,978

SYNOPSYS INC 5,959,647

HARTFORD FINANCIAL SVCS GRP 5,930,774

DUKE ENERGY CORP 5,843,231

EBAY INC 5,745,721

EXELON CORP 5,681,182

AMERICAN ELECTRIC POWER 5,645,905

COGNIZANT TECH SOLUTIONS-A 5,633,768

MONDELEZ INTERNATIONAL INC-A 5,457,036

SOUTHERN CO/THE 5,456,205

CONSOLIDATED EDISON INC 5,453,344

PHILLIPS 66 5,417,893

ANTHEM INC 5,398,785

Top 20 Holdings

0% 7% 14% 21% 28% 35% 42% 49% 56% 63% 70%

North America  63.51%

Western Europe  23.75%

East Asia & Pacific  11.91%

Middle East & North Africa    0.83%

Regional Exposure

0% 2% 4% 6% 8% 10% 12% 14% 16% 18% 20% 22%

Financial  20.72%

Consumer Non-cyclical  19.81%

Industrial  11.55%

Consumer Cyclical  10.76%

Utilities  10.23%

Technology    9.24%

Communications    7.81%

Basic Materials    5.02%

Energy    4.49%

Cash    0.19%

Diversified    0.18%

Sector Exposure

Forging better futures

Information Classification:Confidential Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2019

Dorset County Pension Fund

Page 19 of 27

P
age 99



Passive Smart Beta – Responsible Investment

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2019

Dorset County Pension Fund

Page 20 of 27

P
age 100



Passive UK Equities

Description

Provide exposure to FTSE All
Share using a low cost highly
liquid approach.

Invest passively in securities
underlying the FTSE All Share.
Provide long term growth

High

Absolute: High Relative: V.Low

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

 Investment
 Strategy &
 Key

Risk/
Volatility:

Holding: £386,150,239

All values in % Fund BM Excess

 3 Month 3.24 3.26 -0.01

 Fiscal YTD 3.24 3.26 -0.01

 1 Year -0.14 -0.08 -0.06

 3 Years 0.00 0.00 0.00

 5 Years 0.00 0.00 0.00

 10 Years 0.00 0.00 0.00

 Since Inception -0.14 -0.08 -0.06

Quarterly performance Rolling Performance

Fund Benchmark Fund Cum. Benchmark Cum.
Q

1 2
018

Q
2 2

018

Q
3 2

018

Q
4 2

018

Q
1 2

019

Q
2 2

019

-12.0%

-10.0%

-8.0%

-6.0%

-4.0%

-2.0%

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

Passive UK equities provided positive performance over the quarter. The FTSE All Share returned 3.3%. As expected, the Brunel UK passive product
performed in line with the benchmark, returning 3.2%

• The UK outperformance was largely driven by the Technology sector, which provided a total return of 14% over the quarter

• In contrast, those sectors which display a domestic bias, such as Utilities, provided a negative return amidst further political and Brexit uncertainty,
with Theresa May resigning as PM and a further extension of an official Brexit date to 31 October 2019

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2019

Dorset County Pension Fund

Page 21 of 27

P
age 101



Passive UK Equities – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

HSBC HOLDINGS PLC 73,240,161

ROYAL DUTCH SHELL PLC-A SHS 62,403,646

BP PLC 60,091,886

ROYAL DUTCH SHELL PLC-B SHS 53,201,416

ASTRAZENECA PLC 46,202,874

DIAGEO PLC 43,499,151

GLAXOSMITHKLINE PLC 42,851,352

BRITISH AMERICAN TOBACCO PLC 34,617,284

RIO TINTO PLC 29,657,048

UNILEVER PLC 29,441,826

PRUDENTIAL PLC 24,633,037

BHP GROUP PLC 23,220,430

LLOYDS BANKING GROUP PLC 21,995,758

RECKITT BENCKISER GROUP PLC 21,466,214

RELX PLC 19,929,291

VODAFONE GROUP PLC 19,139,705

GLENCORE PLC 16,866,711

COMPASS GROUP PLC 16,469,873

NATIONAL GRID PLC 15,710,195

BARCLAYS PLC 14,166,201

Top 20 Holdings

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Western Europe  96.78%

East Asia & Pacific    1.86%

Europe & Central Asia    0.34%

North America    0.33%

Middle East & North Africa    0.27%

Latin America & Caribbean    0.22%

Sub-Saharan Africa    0.21%

Regional Exposure

0% 2% 4% 6% 8% 10% 12% 14% 16% 18% 20% 22% 24% 26% 28%

Consumer Non-cyclical  26.99%

Financial  25.74%

Energy  14.57%

Basic Materials    8.35%

Consumer Cyclical    8.14%

Industrial    6.05%

Communications    4.72%

Utilities    2.59%

Technology    1.22%

Cash    0.97%

Sector Exposure

Forging better futures

Information Classification:Confidential Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2019

Dorset County Pension Fund

Page 22 of 27

P
age 102



Passive UK Equities – Responsible Investment

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2019

Dorset County Pension Fund

Page 23 of 27

P
age 103



Brunel UK Active Equity

Description

Provide exposure to UK Equities,
together with enhanced returns
from manager skill.

Skilled managers will create
opportunities to add long term
value through stock selection
and portfolio construction.

Managed level of liquidity. Less
exposure to more illiquid assets.

High absolute risk with
moderate relative risk, around
4% tracking error.

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

 Investment
 Strategy &
 Key

Risk/
Volatility:

Holding: £168,282,770

All values in % Fund BM Excess

 3 Month 3.13 3.26 -0.13

 Fiscal YTD 3.13 3.26 -0.13

 1 Year 0.00 0.00 0.00

 3 Years 0.00 0.00 0.00

 5 Years 0.00 0.00 0.00

 10 Years 0.00 0.00 0.00

 Since Inception 9.27 9.43 -0.16

Quarterly performance Rolling Performance

Fund Benchmark Fund Cum. Benchmark Cum.
Q

1 2
018

Q
2 2

018

Q
3 2

018

Q
4 2

018

Q
1 2

019

Q
2 2

019

-4.0%

-2.0%

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

The FTSE All Share index underperformed global markets during the quarter, posting a return of 3.26% over the quarter. Sectors which display a
domestic bias, such as Utilities, provided a negative return amidst further political and Brexit uncertainty, with Theresa May resigning as PM and a
further extension of the Brexit deadline to 31 October 2019. The UK economy shrank by 0.4% in April, reflected in the GBP/USD decline by -2.3% over the
quarter. However, with US interest rate cuts expected we may see a potential weakening of the USD in future.

Over the quarter, the portfolio has marginally underperformed the FTSE All Share by -0.12%, returning 3.13% versus the FTSE All Share return of 3.26%.
Manager relative performance was mixed over the quarter.

Since inception on 21 November 2018, the portfolio has returned 9.28%, an under performance of -0.15% versus the FTSE All Share over the same period.
Again, relative performance by managers was mixed over the period.

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2019

Dorset County Pension Fund

Page 24 of 27

P
age 104



Brunel UK Active Equity – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

ROYAL DUTCH SHELL PLC-B SHS 76,424,308

BP PLC 64,244,518

RIO TINTO PLC 56,990,430

BHP GROUP PLC 55,946,767

GLAXOSMITHKLINE PLC 55,331,881

HSBC HOLDINGS PLC 54,544,377

UNILEVER PLC 49,816,381

RELX PLC 47,252,170

PRUDENTIAL PLC 40,856,577

ROYAL DUTCH SHELL PLC-A SHS 40,624,984

DIAGEO PLC 35,634,322

BRITISH AMERICAN TOBACCO PLC 35,181,627

LEGAL & GENERAL GROUP PLC 28,143,655

LLOYDS BANKING GROUP PLC 25,288,952

ANGLO AMERICAN PLC 22,476,407

STANDARD CHARTERED PLC 22,146,881

RIGHTMOVE PLC 21,466,308

AUTO TRADER GROUP PLC 21,291,303

MEGGITT PLC 20,252,229

ST JAMES'S PLACE PLC 19,570,673

Top 20 Holdings

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Western Europe  93.55%

East Asia & Pacific    3.40%

Middle East & North Africa    1.46%

North America    0.87%

Europe & Central Asia    0.64%

Sub-Saharan Africa    0.08%

Regional Exposure

0% 2% 4% 6% 8% 10% 12% 14% 16% 18% 20% 22% 24% 26%

Consumer Non-cyclical  25.09%

Financial  21.04%

Energy  12.54%

Consumer Cyclical  11.48%

Basic Materials  11.26%

Industrial    7.49%

Communications    6.63%

Technology    1.43%

Utilities    1.12%

Cash    0.58%

Sector Exposure

Forging better futures

Information Classification:Confidential Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2019

Dorset County Pension Fund

Page 25 of 27

P
age 105



Brunel UK Active Equity –  Responsible Investment

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2019

Dorset County Pension Fund

Page 26 of 27

P
age 106



Information Classification: Public Page 27 of 27

P
age 107



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 109



Requests for Urgent or items for 

Page 110



in the future. 

Page 111



Page 112



that 

Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Date of Meeting: 12 September 2019 
 
Lead Officer:  Pensions Fund Administrator 

Executive Summary: 
 
This report is the quarterly update for the Pension Fund Committee on all operational and 
administration matters relating to the Fund.  It contains updates on the following: 

 Data Quality – Annual Report & Review 
 End of Year – Update 
 Annual Benefit Illustrations 2019 
 2019 Valuation - Update 
 Key Performance Indicators and work backlogs 

 
 

Equalities Impact Assessment: 
 
N/A 

Budget:  
 
N/A 

Risk Assessment:  
 
Having considered the risks associated with this decision, the level of risk has been 
identified as: 
Current Risk: N/A 
Residual Risk N/A 
 

Other Implications: 
 
N/A 

Recommendation: It is recommended that the Committee note and comment on the 
contents of the report. 
 

Reason for Recommendation:  
To update the Committee on aspects of Pensions Administration 

 

Pension Fund Committee 

Pensions Administration 

Page 117

Agenda Item 12



Page 2  

Appendices: 
 Appendix 1 - DCPF Common Data Quality Reports  
 Appendix 2 - DCPF Conditional Data Quality Report  
 Appendix 3 – Data Improvement Plan 
 Appendix 4 – Annual Benefit Illustration, (Active) 2019 
 Appendix 5 – Annual Newsletter 2019 
 Appendix 6 - KPIs (May 2019 – July 2019) 

 

Background Papers: 
 

 LGPS Regulations 2013 

 
 

Officer Contact: 
 
Name: Karen Gibson 
Tel: 01305 228524 
Email: karen.gibson@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 

  

1. Background 
 

1.1. This report is the quarterly update for the Pension Fund Committee on all operational 
and administration matters relating to the Fund. 

 
 
2. Data Quality – Annual Report and Review 
 

2.1. Each year, the quality of our data is reviewed and measured. The serves two main 
purposes. Firstly, it feeds into the future year’s Data Improvement Plan, (Appendix 1), 
and secondly it provides the Data Quality scores for the Dorset County Pension Fund 
which must be reported to The Pensions Regulator each year and recorded in the 
Fund’s Annual Report. 
 

2.2. The continuing diversification of the employer base, the increasing number of payroll 
providers and TUPE transfers, present the Fund with significant operational challenges 
in meeting the statutory record keeping requirements. A specific challenge for LGPS 
funds, is the large number of multiple and transient employments. 

 
2.3. The 2019 Data Quality reports, for both ‘Common’ and ‘Scheme Specific’ data, are 

attached at Appendix 2 and 3.  This provides a summary of data integrity as at July 
2019 and gives a comparison with the position in August 2017 and September 2018. 
This shows an improvement in all areas tested. 

 

Page 118



Page 3  

2.4. Common Data – is the reporting items applicable to all pension schemes. The overall 
score of tests passed for common data held was 99.3%, an improvement over the 
2018 rate of 99.2%.   Seven of the eight categories met the highest benchmark of 
greater than 98% with three categories not recording a single failure. The one area not 
meeting the highest benchmark was member addresses held, which was 95.7%, 
however this is an improvement on the 2018 score of 94.5%. The general quality of 
data tested at Dorset is of a high standard.  

 
2.4.1. Whilst the Fund has near perfect address data for active and pensioner 

members, the challenge is maintaining accurate addresses for deferred and 
frozen refund members. The Fund has paid a tracing company to assist us in 
locating many members who we could not trace, and this was a successful 
exercise with over 3000 deferred members traced, many of whom have 
registered for our on-line Member Self-Serve facility.  

 
2.5. Scheme Specific Data, (sometimes known as ‘Conditional’ data) is the data specific to 

the LGPS. The overall score for scheme specific data was 98.1%, an improvement 
over the 2018 score of 97.7%. The percentage of member records without a single 
scheme specific data failure is 90.7%, which represents an improvement of 2.1% over 
the 2018 score of 88.8%. 
 

2.6. This illustrates the continued work of the Fund to have a continued process of data 
cleansing and checking, and the close working relationship with employers to support 
them in providing accurate data in such a complex pension scheme. These results 
give confidence that the right benefits are being paid and that the 2019 Valuation 
results will be as accurate as possible. 

 
 
3. 2019 End of Year Processes  

 
3.1. The collection of data from the Fund’s 200+ employers is the single biggest annual 

exercise, and the most important as this is when the bulk of the Fund’s data is 
received. These annual returns not only provide the yearly CARE figure that enables 
the calculation of the pension accrual for that year, but it also provides a final salary 
figure for the Annual Benefit Illustrations, and a basis to check all membership data. 

3.2. Because this is a Valuation year, and because of the increasing importance of data 
and strict timescales, employers were asked to provide their returns by 30 April, earlier 
than the usual 8 May deadline. Employers were also informed that financial penalties 
would be imposed where they had failed to inform the Fund of new members or 
scheme leavers. Several training sessions were offered as well as comprehensive 
guides to help them fulfil their data requirements. 
 

3.3. I am pleased to report that the combined efforts of staff and employers has meant that 
this has been the Fund’s most successful year to date in terms of both data collection 
and quality. The team worked exceptionally hard through May and June and the 
processes were complete in record time. Improved data checking, and the use of a 

Page 119



Page 4  

new tool provided by Barnett Waddingham to validate data, all contributed to this 
outcome.  

 
3.4. Most employers provided good data, but 19 provided data that was below the required 

level. These employers will shortly receive letters outlining the requirements of the 
Fund, the importance of good data, and issuing financial penalties based on key 
missing data items and/or late submission. These employers will be given the option to 
start monthly returns instead of paying the penalty. 

 
3.5. The one exception to this is an employer who continues to provide exceptionally poor 

data year on year. This employer has been reported to The Pensions Regulator and 
has received financial penalties before. They have received a lot of support from the 
Fund and have previously agreed to submit monthly returns, although this has proved 
difficult for them. This employer will receive a further financial penalty and the Fund will 
be meeting with them to discuss the issues further.  

 

4. Annual Benefit Illustrations 
 

4.1. As a result of the early completion of the end of year process, the Annual Benefit 
Illustrations were issued to active members early this year on 7 August. The total 
issued was 23,616. An interesting demographic of the Fund is that 17,637 were sent to 
female members, and 5,979 to male scheme members 
 

4.2. I am additionally pleased to report that the good quality data has resulted in the lowest 
ever number of issues raised. The illustration, and the annual newsletter have been 
very well received by members and there is no doubt that this increases understanding 
and engagement with members, which is vital to maintaining good membership levels 
and accurate data. 
 

4.3. The illustration for 2019, and the annual newsletter, are attached at Appendix 4 and 5. 
 

4.4. Members have been given the option to opt out of receiving a paper illustration in 
future years. Currently only a few members are interested in this option, as most 
benefit from, and appreciate, the annual communication as well as the on-line member 
portal. 
 
 

5. Valuation 2019 
 

5.1. The early completion of the end of year processes, and the very high quality of 
scheme data, has meant that the valuation data has been provided to our actuaries, 
Barnett Waddingham, at the earliest point ever. The Actuary has also confirmed that 
the data is of a very high standard. This is important for many reasons but does mean 
that confidence can be had in the Valuation outcomes and employer contribution 
levels set. 
 

Page 120



Page 5  

5.2. The current uncertainty about future LGPS benefits, mainly because as a result of the 
McCloud judgement and Cost Cap processes, which potentially will have a significant 
impact to the scheme, has left LGPS actuaries in a difficult position this year, unable to 
forecast accurately the benefits due to members. 
 

5.3. The Scheme Advisory Board issued guidance to actuaries on behalf of LGPS Funds to 
ensure a unified approach to the 2019 Valuation outcomes. This guidance suggested 
the approach to be one based on the current scheme provisions, but with an element 
of prudence to accommodate future uncertainties.  
 

5.4. It is hoped that provisional results will be received by November 2019. 
 
 

6. Key Performance Indicators and work backlogs  
 

6.1. The Key Performance (KPI) Indicators for the period 1 May 2019 to 31 July 2019 are 
attached at Appendix 6. This represents the ten key areas for the Fund but does not 
cover all work completed. 
 

6.2. The KPI shows some areas falling below previous completion rates. However, this is in 
areas where the work is not as urgent, i.e. it has far less impact on members. This has 
been necessary to accommodate an increased workload, the end of year processes 
and internal changes to processes for refunds and deferred benefits.  
 

6.3. The Aggregation backlog work is now nearly at an end, with only 128 cases remaining.    
  

 
Aidan Dunn  
Pension Fund Administrator 
12 September 2019 
 

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Version 1.10 - External © Heywood Limited trading as Aquila Heywood 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Local Government Pension Scheme 
Common Data Quality Report 

Dorset Pension Fund 

July 2019 

Page 123



 

 

Version 1.10 - External        Page 2 of 19  

 

Table of Contents 

1 Executive Summary 3 

1.1 Introduction 3 

1.2 Data Quality Service 3 

1.3 Benchmark 4 

1.4 Summary of Common Data Results 5 

1.5 TPR Common Data Core Test Results 6 

2 Analysis of Common Data Results 7 

3 Data Correction Plan 12 

4 Appendices 13 

4.1 Appendix A – TPR Guidance 13 

4.2 Appendix B – Common Data and Fail Criteria 15 

 

Page 124



 

 

Version 1.10 - External        Page 3 of 19  

 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 Introduction 

In 2015, the Pensions Regulator (TPR) assumed responsibility for Public Sector Pension 

Schemes. Prior to this, in June 2010, TPR issued guidance on the approach that they consider 

to be good practice for measuring the presence of member data. Specific targets were set 

for data TPR deemed as ‘common’ and Aquila Heywood has assisted customers in the 

collection and qualification of this data.  

To assist customers in undertaking a practical assessment of their common data, Aquila 

Heywood offers a Data Quality service. 

1.2 Data Quality Service  

Working with the Dorset County Council (Dorset), Aquila Heywood has completed a review 

of Dorset’s common pension data in line with the guidance notes set down by TPR. Aquila 

Heywood’s understanding of the Local Government Pension Scheme data, benefit 

calculations, interfaces and processes, has assisted in the agreement of which items to test. 

The tests to satisfy each condition have been run and the results quantified to provide 

guidance on any corrective action required.    

The service incorporates data items tested against the data conditions agreed with Dorset. 

To provide focus on the key areas of common data to be addressed, each data category is 

measured against an agreed benchmark. 

In 2019, a set of “core” tests were identified for reporting to TPR. The results to be quoted to 

TPR are quoted separately from the overall test scores. For details of where the TPR tests 

differ from the overall tests, please refer to appendix B. 

  

Page 125



 

 

Version 1.10 - External        Page 4 of 19  

 

1.3 Benchmark 

The benchmarks applied to the results presented in this report were agreed between Dorset 

and Aquila Heywood. The categories and thresholds are as follows: 

Category Pass Threshold 

Blue Pass rate >= 98% 

Green 95% <= Pass rate < 98% 

Amber 90% <= Pass rate < 95% 

Red Pass rate < 90% 

These benchmarks are illustrated in the background of the results graphs. TPR have set 

targets of 100% accuracy for data created after June 2010 and 95% accuracy for data created 

beforehand. The Aquila Heywood data quality service measures data as a whole as updates 

for many members are continuous and alter the last updated date on the system. 

  

Page 126



 

 

Version 1.10 - External        Page 5 of 19  

 

1.4 Summary of Common Data Results 

The graph below indicates Dorset’s performance for each data category against the agreed 

scheme benchmarks together with the results from the 2018 tests. The results presented 

herein are generated from data extracted from Dorset’s Live Altair service on 10th July 2019 

for all tests. The 2018 tests were generated from data extracted on 14th August 2018. The 

overall percentage of tests passed for Dorset’s common data is 99.3% which is a slight 

increase from the 2018 score of 99.2%. The 2019 tests were conducted on 113,468 member 

records, a decrease of 1,033 on 2018. 

 

Seven of the eight categories met the highest benchmark of greater than 98% with three 

categories not recording a single failure. A further 2 categories have been rounded to 100% 

with a score of over 99.95%. The lowest scoring category concerned member Address that 

achieved a score of 95.7% which is an improvement on the 2018 score of 94.5%. The general 

quality of the common data tested at Dorset is of a high standard. There is some work 

required to trace members recorded as “gone away” to bring this category into the highest 

benchmark.  

The percentage of member records without a single common data failure is 95.1%. This is 

lower than the equivalent score reported in 2018 of 97.8%, however this score was in error. 

The exact score cannot be provided as the 2018 data is no longer available, but it would 

have been between 93.6% and 94.1%. As a result, the score of 95.1% represents an 

improvement of at least 1%. 

 

9
9

.5

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

9
9

.7

9
4

.5

1
0

0
.0

9
9

.5

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

9
9

.9

9
5

.7

1
0

0
.0

9
9

.9

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

0
.0

9
5

.7

0
.0

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

P
as

s 
R

at
e

 (
%

)

2018

2019

TPR

Page 127



 

 

Version 1.10 - External        Page 6 of 19  

 

1.5 TPR Common Data Core Test Results 

The percentage of member records that did not fail any of the tests deemed to be in the 

core list of TPR tests is 95.7%. This is the figure to be quoted on the scheme return to TPR. 

The core test scores for each category are shown below.  

 

99.9 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0
95.7

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

P
as

s 
R

at
e

 (
%

)

Page 128



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 7 of 19  

 

2 Analysis of Common Data Results 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

NI Number 

Eligible for Testing:  

All members 

113468 
 
(-1033) 

112870 
 
(-1005) 

99.5% 
 
(+0.02%) 

99.9% 
 
 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 

0 
581 
17 

There has been a small increase in the percentage of members 
that passed all tests in this category since 2018.  

Of the 581 members with a temporary NI number, 159 fall within 
the core test requirements.  

- 11 are active; 

- 5 are undecided leaver; 

- 18 are deferred pensioners; 

- 4 are adult dependants; 

- 121 of the temporary NI numbers are recorded for 
frozen refund cases which may affect CEP payments;  

The remainder are leavers or deceased that may be dealt with as 
a lower priority and do not count towards the core test results 

 

A further 17 members have an NI number with an incorrect 
format which is not a core test. 8 of these are leavers and 5 are 
deceased members. The remainder should be dealt with as a 
priority.  

Name 

Eligible for Testing:  

All members 

113468 
 
(-1033) 

113468 
 
(-1033) 

100% 
 
(0%) 

100% 
 
 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 

0 
0 
0 

All member records have valid name fields recorded for the third 
consecutive year. 

P
age 129



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 8 of 19  

 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

Sex and Date of Birth 

Eligible for Testing:  

All members (Leavers and 
deaths excluded from test D) 

113468 
 
(-1033) 

113468 
 
(-1033) 

100% 
 
(0%) 

100% 
 
 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 
Fail D: 

0 
0 
0 
0 

All member records have a valid sex and date of birth recorded 
for the third consecutive year. 

Date commenced and 
NRD 

Eligible for Testing:  

All members 

113468 
 
(-1033) 

113466 
 
(-1029) 

100% 
 
(+0%) 

100% 
 
 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 

1 
1 

The number of failures in this category has reduced from 6 to 2. 

1 leaver has a blank date joined fund. This test is included in the 
TPR core tests. 

1 other active member has an invalid date joined fund. This test 
is not included in the TPR core tests. 

Status 

Eligible for Testing:  

All members 

113468 
 
(-1033) 

113468 
 
(-1033) 

100% 
 
(0%) 

100% 
 
 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 

0 
0 
0 

All member records have a valid and consistent status recorded 
for the third consecutive year. 

P
age 130



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 9 of 19  

 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

Status and invalid data 
view 

Eligible for Testing:  

All members 

113468 
 
(-1033) 

113381 
 
(-739) 

99.9% 
 
(+0.26%) 

N/A Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 
Fail D: 

9 
45 
9 
24 

294 fewer members have failed tests in this category leading to a 
small improvement in the pass rate. 

This category does not count towards the core tests. 

9 members have an ‘Exit’ data view which is not in line with their 
status history. 45 members have an unexpected ‘deferred’ data 
view having never been deferred on their status history. 9 
members have an unexpected ‘pensions’ data view and 24 
members have a ‘dependents’ data view which is not in line with 
their status history. A total of 87 members have unexpected data 
views: 

- 2 leavers and 12 deceased, that are a lower priority; 

- 7 are active members; 

- 8 are undecided leavers; 

- 5 are deferred pensioners; 

- 11 are pensioners; 

- 42 are for aggregated records; 

Fails in this category should be investigated to ensure correct 
benefits are calculated as a priority. 

P
age 131



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 10 of 19  

 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

Address 

Eligible for Testing:  

All members except leavers 
and deaths (status 3 and 7) 

113468 
 
(-1033) 

108534 
 
(+9) 

95.7% 
 
(+1.19%) 

95.7% 
 
 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 
Fail D: 
Fail E: 

7 
2 
4878 
3857 
33 

There has been an improvement in the pass rate of 1.19% in this 
category due to 9 fewer members with address errors and 1033 
fewer members being tested.  

7 members have no address recorded and 2 members have an 
address record but the 1st line is blank. 4878 members are 
recorded as “gone away”. 3857 members have no Postcode 
recorded. These tests are included in the core tests 

A further 33 postcodes are in an incorrect format. This test does 
not count towards the TPR core tests. 

Of the 3890 members either missing or having an invalid 
postcode, 3843 are also recorded as “gone away”. Some of the 
remaining members may be overseas without having the 
overseas indicator set. 

P
age 132



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 11 of 19  

 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

Status and valid data 
view 

Eligible for Testing:  

Members with deferred 
benefits or benefits in 
payment (Status 4, 5, 6, 7, 9 
and T) 

113468 
 
(-1033) 

113419 
 
(-1043) 

100% 
 
(-0.01%) 

N/A Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 
Fail D: 
Fail E: 
Fail F: 

0 
0 
0 
1 
30 
18 

There has been a small reduction in the percentage of members 
passing the tests in this category due to 1033 fewer members 
qualifying for the tests and an increase of 10 failing the tests. 
This category is not included in the TPR core results. 

1 deceased case from active status is missing exit details where 
the death grant is recorded. 

30 deceased members who were pensioners do not have a date 

recorded for when the pension ceased, an increase of 14 since 

2018. Similarly, 18 deceased dependants are missing a cease 

date, an increase of 18 since 2018.  

 

P
age 133



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 12 of 19  

 

3 Data Correction Plan 
The table below provides Dorset with suggestions for resolving the issues identified. This table is deliberately high-level as the detail and dates should be agreed 

once the results have been thoroughly reviewed. This table represents a summary of the recommended actions outlined in Section 2. 

Data Category Recommendation Suggested Priority 

NI Number • Obtain correct NI numbers for the members with temporary numbers or those in the incorrect format. 

Prioritise the 159 members that are neither leavers nor deceased 

• Low 

Name • No issues found  

Sex and Date of Birth • No issues found  

Date commenced 
and NRD 

• Investigate the 1 leaver case with a blank date joined fund as this could affect benefits 

• Correct the date joined fund for the active member 

• Low 

• High 

Status  • No issues found  

Status and invalid 
data view 

• Invalid data should be removed where necessary or the member status history corrected where appropriate. 

These cases should be treated as a high priority where the member is not a leaver or deceased as the 

presence of the data may affect benefits 

• High 

Address • Current addresses should be sought and uploaded for the members that failed this category • Medium 

Status and valid data 
view 

• The 1 death from active status may be missing death grant data and should be investigated 

• The 48 pensioner and dependant deaths with missing cease dates should be investigated and corrected  

• Low 

• Low 

P
age 134



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 13 of 19  

 

4 Appendices 

4.1 Appendix A – TPR Guidance 

Data Field TPR Comment 

National Insurance Number 'TN' formats should be regarded as missing data. The final character of NI numbers is not essential. 

Surname Check that surname is present. 

Forename(s) or initials Forenames are preferable but initials are an acceptable alternative. 

Sex Check that sex is present. 

Date of birth Check that date of birth is present and consistent (earlier than date joined scheme, retirement, date of leaving). False dates should 
be classed as missing data. 

Date pensionable service 
started/policy start 
date/first contribution date 

For trust-based schemes this will be date pensionable service started. For contract-based schemes this will effective start date of the 
policy or the first contribution date, depending on the provider's requirements. 

Expected 
retirement/maturity date 
(target retirement age) 

This field may be derived or explicit; for most DB schemes it will probably be derived as the scheme's normal retirement date. Need 
to check that it is populated if that is a scheme/system requirement, that it is consistent with scheme rules and statutory 
requirements, and is later than date of birth and pensionable service date/first contribution date. 

Membership status Check that a current valid status is recorded for each member. This may be a dual status, eg active or deferred member with partial 
retirement. For contract-based schemes this may be 'active' or 'inactive'. 

Last status event Check that benefits taken are consistent with status, and, if status history is recorded, that the latest status is the same as the 
explicitly recorded current status. 

P
age 135



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 14 of 19  

 

Data Field TPR Comment 

Address An address should be present for all members of all schemes. Because of DPA requirements an exception is permissible for active 
members of those trust-based schemes in which communication with members is normally sent via the employer. 'Gone away', 
'unknown' or similar should be treated as missing data. 

Postcode Check that a postcode is present if address is not identifiable as being overseas. Will assist with valuations for actives, for whom 
storing full address may breach DPA principles. 

  

P
age 136



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 15 of 19  

 

4.2 Appendix B – Common Data and Fail Criteria 

Common Data 

Condition Fail A Fail B Fail C Fail D Fail E Fail F 

NI Number  

Eligible for Testing:  

All members  

NI Number (NI-

NUMBER) is blank 

 

NI number is temporary 

(commences TN) and is 

not a child pension 

(DEPND-TYPE = ‘C’) 

Leavers (3) and deaths 

(7) are excluded from 

the TPR results 

NI number does not adhere 

to standard (Neither of the 

first two letters can be D, F, I, 

Q, U or V. The second letter 

cannot be O. Prefixes BG, GB, 

KN, NK, NT, TN (checked in 

fail B) and ZZ are not used. 

Suffix must be A,B, C or D. 

Characters 3-8 must be 

numbers) 

Test is excluded from the TPR 

results 

   

Tested: 113468 Failed: 0 Failed: 581 Failed: 17    

Name 

Eligible for Testing:  

All members 

 

Surname (SURNAME) is 

blank 

Forenames 

(FORENAMES) is blank 

Initials (INITS) is blank 

Test is excluded from the TPR 

results 

   

Tested: 113468 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 0    

P
age 137



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 16 of 19  

 

Condition Fail A Fail B Fail C Fail D Fail E Fail F 

Sex and Date of Birth 

Eligible for Testing:  

All members * 

Sex (SEX) is blank Sex is not Male or 

Female 

Date of Birth (DOB) is blank Date of Birth is earlier 
than or equal to  
01/01/1900 (* Leavers 
and deaths  excluded 
from this test) (Status 3 
and 7) 

  

Tested: 113468 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 0   

Date commenced and 

NRD 

Eligible for Testing:  

All members 

Date Joined fund (DJF) is 

blank 

Date Joined Fund is 

earlier than Date of 

Birth plus 15 years 

Test is excluded from 

the TPR results 

NRD checks are not required 

as these are always 

calculated 

   

Tested: 113468 Failed: 1 Failed: 1     

Status 

Eligible for Testing:  

All members 

Status (STATUSKEYF) is 

blank 

Status is not 1-9, T or O Status on member summary 

(STATUSKEYF) does not 

match that on basic details 

(STATUS[1]) 

Test is excluded from the TPR 

results 

   

Tested: 113468 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 0    

P
age 138



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 17 of 19  

 

Condition Fail A Fail B Fail C Fail D Fail E Fail F 

Status and invalid data 

view 

Eligible for Testing:  

All members 

Category is excluded 

from the TPR results 

Exit details should not 

be present unless status 

is 3, 7 or 9 or a previous 

status is 9 and the 

current status is 1, 2, 4, 

5 or T 

Deferred details should 

not be present unless 

status is 4 or a previous 

status is 4 and the 

current status is 1, 2, 3, 

5, 7 or T 

Pension details should not be 

present unless status is 5 or T  

or a previous status is 5 or T 

and the current status is 1, 2, 

3, 4 or 7 

Dependant details 

should not be present 

unless status is 6 or a 

previous status is 6 and 

the current status is 3 

or 7 

  

Tested: 113468 Failed: 9 Failed: 45 Failed: 9 Failed: 24   

Address 

Eligible for Testing:  

All members except 

leavers and deaths 

(status 3 and 7) 

Address record does not 
exist 

Address record exists, 

but line 1 (ADD-LINE-1) 

is blank 

Gone Away (ADD-GONAWY) 

indicator is set 

If the address is not 
overseas, the Postcode 
(POSTCODE) is blank 

If the address is not 

overseas, the Postcode 

is not the correct 

format (1st letter =Q, V 

or X, 2nd letter is I, J or 

Z, 3rd, 4th or 5th 

character is not a 

space) 

Test is excluded from 

the TPR results 

 

Tested: 113468 Failed: 7 Failed: 2 Failed: 4878 Failed: 3857 Failed: 33  

P
age 139



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 18 of 19  

 

Condition Fail A Fail B Fail C Fail D Fail E Fail F 

Status and valid data 

view 

Eligible for Testing:  

Members with deferred 

benefits or benefits in 

payment (Status 4, 5, 6, 

7, 9 and T ) 

Category is excluded 

from the TPR results 

Status 4 does not have 

deferred details 

Status 5 or T do not 

have pension details 

Status 6 does not have 

dependant details 

Status 7 or 9, with a 

previous status of 1 or 

4  do not have exit 

details 

Status 7 with a 

previous status of 5  

should have a relevant 

date pension ceased 

Status 7 with a 

previous status of 6 

should have a relevant 

date pension ceased 

Tested: 113468 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 1 Failed: 30 Failed: 18 

P
age 140



 

 

 
Aquila Heywood, 1st Floor, Hamilton House, Church Street, 
Altrincham, Cheshire, WA14 4DR 
W: www.aquilaheywood.co.uk  T: 0161 613 4200 

 

 

Page 141

http://www.aquilaheywood.co.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Version 1.00 - External © Heywood Limited trading as Aquila Heywood 

•  

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Local Government Pension Scheme 
Scheme-specific Data Quality Report 

Dorset Pension Fund 

July 2019 

Page 143



 

 

Version 1.10 - External        Page 2 of 50  

 

Table of Contents 

1 Executive Summary 4 

1.1 Introduction 4 

1.2 Data Quality Service 4 

1.3 Benchmark 5 

1.4 Summary of Scheme-specific Data Results 5 

1.4.1 Member Benefits Data 6 

1.4.2 Other Member Data 7 

1.4.3 CARE Benefits 7 

1.4.4 HMRC 7 

1.4.5 Contracting Out 8 

1.5 TPR Scheme-specific Data Core Test Results 8 

1.6 Other Information 9 

2 Scheme-specific Data Results 10 

2.1 Member Benefits Data Category 10 

2.1.1 Results 10 

2.1.2 Analysis of Results 11 

2.2 Other Member Data Category 17 

2.2.1 Data Results 17 

2.2.2 Analysis of Results 18 

2.3 CARE Benefits 21 

2.3.1 Data Results 21 

2.3.2 Analysis of Results 22 

2.4 HMRC 23 

2.4.1 Data Results 23 

2.4.2 Analysis of Results 24 

2.5 Contracting Out 27 

2.5.1 Data Results 27 

2.5.2 Analysis of Results 28 

3 Data Correction Plan 30 

4 Appendices 33 

4.1 Appendix A – TPR Guidance (In-Scope Tests) 33 

4.2 Appendix B – Benefit Crystallisation Events (In-Scope) 37 

Page 144



 

 

Version 1.10 - External        Page 3 of 50  

 

4.3 Appendix C – Conditions and Fail Criteria 38 

 

Page 145



 

 

Version 1.10 - External        Page 4 of 50  

 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 Introduction 

In 2015, the Pensions Regulator (TPR) assumed responsibility for Public Sector Pension 

Schemes. Prior to this, in June 2010, TPR issued guidance on the approach that they consider 

to be good practice for measuring the presence of member data. Specific targets were set 

for data TPR deemed as ‘common’ and Aquila Heywood has assisted customers in the 

collection and qualification of this data. TPR also outlined ‘scheme-specific’ data but did not 

set prescriptive targets as the data is deemed to be scheme-specific. The guidance did target 

Pension Scheme Trustees to ensure that ‘reasonable endeavours’ were undertaken to 

provide evidence of assessment and measurement, together with an action plan to meet the 

scheme specific targets. 

To assist customers in undertaking a practical assessment of their scheme-specific data, 

Aquila Heywood offers a Data Quality service. 

1.2 Data Quality Service  

Working with Dorset Pension Fund (Dorset), Aquila Heywood has completed a review of 

Dorset scheme-specific pension data in line with the guidance notes set down by TPR 

detailed in appendix A. Aquila Heywood’s understanding of the Local Government Pension 

Scheme data, benefit calculations, interfaces and processes, has assisted in the agreement of 

which items to test. The tests to satisfy each condition have been run and the results 

quantified to provide guidance on any corrective action required.    

The following terms should be understood to aid understanding of the conditions used and 

the results obtained: 

• Data condition – identified TPR condition, for example check that an active member 

does not have a date of leaving 

• Data category – grouping of relevant data conditions, for example Member Benefits (see 

section 1.4 below) 

• Data item – item of data which forms part of a data condition for example ‘date of 

leaving’ 

The service incorporates in the order of 100 individual tests against the data conditions 

agreed with Dorset. To provide focus on the key areas of scheme-specific data to be 

addressed, each data category is measured against an agreed benchmark. 

Page 146



 

 

Version 1.10 - External        Page 5 of 50  

 

In 2019, a set of “core” tests were identified for reporting to TPR. The results to be quoted to 

TPR are quoted separately from the overall test scores. For details of where the TPR tests 

differ from the overall tests, please refer to appendix C. 

1.3 Benchmark 

The benchmarks applied to the results presented in this report were agreed between Dorset 

and Aquila Heywood. The categories and thresholds are as follows: 

Category Pass Threshold 

Blue Pass rate >= 98% 

Green 95% <= Pass rate < 98% 

Amber 90% <= Pass rate < 95% 

Red Pass rate < 90% 

These benchmark ranges are illustrated in the background of subsequent results graphs. 

1.4 Summary of Scheme-specific Data Results 

The graph below indicates Dorset’s performance for each data category against the agreed 

scheme benchmarks together with the results from the 2018 tests. Also below is an 

explanation as to the data conditions relevant to each data category. The results presented 

herein are generated from data extracted from Dorset’s Live Altair service on 10th July 2019 

for all tests. The 2018 tests were generated from data extracted on 24th August 2018. The 

overall percentage of tests passed for Dorset’s scheme-specific data is 98.1%, an 

improvement over the 2018 score of 97.7%. The percentage of member records without a 

single scheme-specific data failure is 90.7%. This represents an improvement of 2.1% over 

the 2018 score of 88.8%. 

Page 147



 

 

Version 1.10 - External        Page 6 of 50  

 

 

The total number of member records tested is 113,468, and decrease of 1,033 records from 

the number tested in 2018. 

1.4.1 Member Benefits Data 

This category includes those data conditions for members that directly relate to the details 

of benefits in payment or to the calculation of benefits yet to be paid. 

A total number of 58,656 members qualified for one or more checks as part of the in-scope 

conditions under this category, an increase of 1,814 on 2018. Dorset set a minimum 90% 

benchmark target and achieved a 99.5% pass rate, placing it in the highest blue benchmark. 

This pass rate is a 0.9% improvement on 2018. The detailed analysis of each condition is in 

Section 2.1, but all 10 of the Data Conditions specified attained the highest benchmark 

category (Blue, >98%). The lowest scoring condition was Tranches of Dependant Pension, 

where 98.0% of members tested passed. This represents a 0.5% improvement on 2018. The 

only condition where the number of members failing a test increased was AVC Details where 

2 members now fail tests where there was only 1 last year.  

 

 

9
8

.6

9
8

.6

9
6

.7 9
9

.7

9
1

.2

9
9

.5

9
9

.0

9
9

.0

9
9

.9

9
1

.0

9
9

.8

1
0

0
.0

9
9

.2

9
9

.9

9
1

.5

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

P
as

s 
R

at
e

 (
%

)

2018
2019
TPR

Page 148



 

 

Version 1.10 - External        Page 7 of 50  

 

1.4.2 Other Member Data 

This category includes those data items that may be used in the calculation of member 

benefits. 

A total number of 77,708 members qualified for one or more checks as part of the in-scope 

conditions under this category, an increase of 630 on 2018. Dorset set a minimum 90% 

benchmark target and achieved a 99.0% pass rate, attaining the highest blue benchmark. 

This pass rate a 0.4% improvement over 2018. The detailed analysis of each condition is in 

Section 2.2 with 6 of the 7 Data Conditions specified attained the highest benchmark 

category (Blue, >98%). The lowest score was on the Contributions condition, where 93.6% of 

members passed. This represents a 1.1% increase on 2018.  

1.4.3 CARE Benefits  

This category includes those data items required to calculate Career Average Revalued 

Earning (CARE) benefits. 

A total number of 41,241 members qualified for the checks as part of the in-scope 

conditions under this category, an increase of 336 on 2018. Dorset set a 90% minimum 

benchmark target and achieved a 99.0% pass rate, placing CARE benefits in the highest blue 

benchmark. This pass rate represents a 2.2% improvement on 2018. Failures in this category 

require investigation as CARE data directly affects member benefits.  

As CARE revaluation is calculated for each member from a single factor table, the table itself 

is checked for a complete list of factors and was given a 100% pass. The detailed analysis of 

the conditions is in Section 2.3. Fails in this category directly affect the calculation of 

member benefits and so should be resolved as a priority. 

1.4.4 HMRC  

This category includes those values recorded as a result of the Finance Act 2004 as well as 

Pre A-Day limits. 

A total number of 91,443 members qualified for one or more checks as part of the in-scope 

conditions under this category, an increase of 3,874 on 2018. The conditions within this 

category have been expanded for clarity and are detailed in Appendix B.   

Dorset set a 90% minimum benchmark target and achieved a 99.9% pass rate placing the 

category in the highest blue category. This pass rate represents a 0.2% improvement on 

2018. The detailed analysis of each condition is in Section 2.4. The highest benchmark was 

achieved in 6 of the 7 categories. The BCE 7 (Death Benefits) condition attaining a pass rate 

of 88.6% placing the condition in the red benchmark with which represents a increase of 

0.4% since 2018. The bulk of failed cases did not have a death grant recorded where one was 

expected.  

Page 149



 

 

Version 1.10 - External        Page 8 of 50  

 

1.4.5 Contracting Out  

This category includes those data items required to meet scheme contracting out conditions. 

A total number of 72,230 members qualified for one or more checks as part of the in-scope 

conditions under this category, a decrease of 331 on 2018. Dorset set a 90% minimum 

benchmark target and achieved a 91.0% pass rate, placing Contracting Out in the amber 

benchmark. This pass rate is 0.1% less than in 2018. The detailed analysis of each condition 

is in Section 2.5  but the highest individual score was achieved in the condition Date 

Contracted Out, where 99.9% of members passed. The remaining three categories in 

Contracting Out were benchmarked as red with a slight reduction in the scores to 2018. Fails 

in this category are likely to have an impact on GMP Reconciliation and so should be 

resolved either in advance, or as part of the GMP Reconciliation process. 

1.5 TPR Scheme-specific Data Core Test Results 

The percentage of member records that did not fail any of the tests deemed to be in the 

core list of TPR tests is 95.4%. This is the figure to be quoted on the scheme return to TPR. 

The results for each qualifying category are shown below: 

 

 

9
9

.8

1
0

0
.0

9
9

.2

9
9

.9

9
1

.5

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

90.0

100.0

P
as

s 
R

at
e

 (
%

)

Page 150



 

 

Version 1.10 - External        Page 9 of 50  

 

1.6 Other Information 

The remainder of this report is split into the following sections: 

• Scheme-specific Data Results – results of each in-scope condition per category along 

with the number of members tested, main failures and suggested risks and actions 

• Appendices – details to qualify failures against each condition, along with a list of TPR’s 

guidance relating to the Local Government Pension Scheme 

Where possible, Aquila Heywood has provided advice and suggested next actions to work 

with Dorset in implementing a solution to any data anomalies. This document is the start 

point for Dorset data management policy and Aquila Heywood will agree with Dorset the 

appropriate frequency to repeat these conditions and demonstrate progress in scheme-

specific data cleansing. 

Page 151



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 10 of 50  

 

2 Scheme-specific Data Results 

2.1 Member Benefits Data Category 

2.1.1 Results 

 

9
8

.9

9
4

.1 9
9

.9

1
0

0
.0

9
8

.9

9
9

.1

9
9

.9

9
7

.2

9
9

.8

9
7

.5

9
8

.9

9
8

.1

1
0

0
.0

9
9

.9

9
9

.7

9
9

.8

1
0

0
.0

9
8

.9

1
0

0
.0

9
8

.0

9
8

.9

1
0

0
.0

0
.0

9
9

.9

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

9
9

.1

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

90.0

100.0

P
as

s 
R

at
e

 (
%

)

2018

2019

TPR

P
age 152



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 11 of 50  

 

2.1.2 Analysis of Results 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

(change) 

Divorce Details 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 1, 2, 4, 5 & T 
where Calculation Date 
(DVC-CALDTE) has a 
value 

92 
 
(+1) 

91 
 
(+1) 

98.9% 
 
(+0.01%) 

98.9% 
 
 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 
Fail D: 
Fail E: 
Fail F: 

0 
0 
0 
0 
1 
0 

1 member has a blank pension debit amount. The same result as 2018. 

P
age 153



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 12 of 50  

 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

(change) 

Transfer In Details 
1 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 1, 2, 4, 5 & T 
where transfer In 
details exist 

8003 
 
(+56) 

7852 
 
(+376) 

98.1% 
 
(+4.04%) 

100% 
 
 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 
Fail D: 
Fail E: 
Fail F: 

1 
2 
9 
74 
65 
5 

320 member records have been corrected since 2018 leading to an 
improvement of 4.04% in the pass rate for this condition.  

1 deferred member has a transfer that is missing the date of transfer, 
while 2 deferred members are a missing a transfer value. These tests 
count towards the TPR core tests.  

There are also 9 failures where there is no service credit or pension credit 
recorded from the transfer that will require investigation. Providing 
service was recorded correctly on the service history, member benefits 
will be correct.  

A common fail with 74 instances are where there is a service credit, but 
no corresponding service dates on the service history that should be 
investigated urgently.  

65 instances concerned invalid transfer types that do not match those 
calculations write-back or have no transfer type selected. The most 
recent incorrectly recorded transfer type was in 2000 while the latest 
transfer with no type selected was in 2008. This fault may lead to 
incorrect reporting but will not affect benefits for these members.  

Additionally, there were 5 cases where the transfer date was prior to the 
date of commencement. 

P
age 154



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 13 of 50  

 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

(change) 

Transfer In Details 
2 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 1, 2, 4, 5 & T 

where transfer In 

details exist 

8003 
 
(+56) 

8003 
 
(+62) 

100% 
 
(+0.08%) 

N/A Fail A: 0 
 
 
 

All members passed the test in this condition this year, improving on the 
6 members who failed in 2018.  

AVC Details 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 1, 2, 4, 5 & T 

where AVC details exist 

3888 
 
(+96) 

3886 
 
(+95) 

99.9% 
 
(-0.03%) 

99.9% 
 
 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 
Fail D: 

0 
0 
0 
2 

2 members have an additional pension purchase contract without an 
amount of pension being purchased and this test counts towards the TPR 
core results. This is an increase on the 1 member who failed the same test 
in 2018. 

Total Original 
Deferred Benefit 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 4 
 

24128 
 
(+724) 

24066 
 
(+909) 

99.7% 
 
(+0.8%) 

100% 
 
 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 
Fail D: 
Fail E: 
Fail F: 

2 
1 
3 
0 
0 
59 

The number of members failing tests in this condition has reduced by 185 
since 2018 translating to a 0.8% increase in the pass rate.  

2 members failed on 2 occasions (tests A and C) due to lack of an initial 
pension value and current pension value, of which 1 of the members also 
have a PI effective date that that is either missing or earlier than date 
joined fund. 1 further member does not have current pension value 
recorded. These tests are included in the TPR core results. 
 

1 member has an initial value below £1. 59 members, including 1 of the 
members above, have a latest PI date earlier than the latest PI date 
processed. These cases should be investigated ahead of producing 
deferred ABS.  

P
age 155



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 14 of 50  

 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

(change) 

Tranches of 
Original Deferred 
Benefit 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 4 

24128 
 
(+724) 

24082 
 
(+878) 

99.8% 
 
(+0.66%) 

100% 
 
 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 
Fail D: 
Fail E: 
Fail F: 

2 
10 
0 
0 
0 
36 

The number of members failing tests in this condition has reduced by 154 
leading to a 0.66% improvement to the pass rate.  

2 members are missing or have a small PEN tranche which is a mandatory 
amount and counts towards the TPR score. The number of members 
failing this test has reduced from 11 in 2018.  

10 members had a total initial pension that did not equal the total of the 
protected, unprotected and tapered pensions. 36 members with pre-08 
service did not have a scheme lump sum recorded. Neither of these tests 
are included in the TPR core tests. 

Total Gross 
Pension 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 5 & T 

19885 
 
(+922) 

19877 
 
(+939) 

100% 
 
(+0.09%) 

100% 
 
 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 
Fail D: 
Fail E: 

3 
2 
4 
0 
1 

The number of members failing tests in this condition has decreased by 
17 to 8 members, leading to a small increase in the pass rate. 

3 members are missing a value for the total initial pension of which 2 are 
also missing a current total pension. 2 additional members are missing 
the current total pension. There is 1 member with a date from which PI is 
calculated that is either missing of earlier than date joined fund. These 
tests are included in the TPR core results. 

2 additional members have an initial pension of less than £1. 

P
age 156



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 15 of 50  

 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

(change) 

Tranches of 
Pension 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 5& T 

19885 
 
(+922) 

19658 
 
(+1218) 

98.9% 
 
(+1.62%) 

99.1% 
 
 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 
Fail D: 
Fail E: 
Fail F: 

3 
3 
3 
0 
167 
53 

227 members now fail tests in this condition which is a decrease of 296 
on the 523 members that failed in 2018. This has resulted in an increase 
of 1.62% on the pass rate.  

3 members are missing or have a very small PN60 tranche while another 3 
members are missing or have a very small CARE tranche where one would 
be expected. 167 members have a latest PI date earlier than the latest 
processed, a reduction of 341 members. These tests are included in the 
TPR core results. 

9 members are either missing or have a small value in the PEN tranche 
which is mandatory while 53 members do not have PEN or GMP as the 
first component, which is a new test for 2019 to ensure correct 
administration of the members. These tests do not count towards the TPR 
score. 

Total Gross 
Dependant 
Pension 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 6 

2660 
 
(+15) 

2659 
 
(+18) 

100% 
 
(+0.11%) 

100% 
 
 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 
Fail D: 
Fail E: 

1 
0 
0 
0 
0 

4 members failed tests in this condition in 2018 which has now reduced 
to 1. 

1 member has no initial pension value and this test counts towards the 
TPR core results.  

P
age 157



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 16 of 50  

 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

(change) 

Tranches of 
Dependant 
Pension 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 6 

2660 
 
(+15) 

2607 
 
(+28) 

98% 
 
(+0.5%) 

100% 
 
 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 

0 
53 
 
 

The number of members failing tests in this condition has decreased by 
13 leading to an increase of 0.5% in the pass rate. 

No members failed the only test included in the TPR core results.  

53 members have a last PI date earlier than the latest date processed by 
Dorset and should be investigated as a high priority to ensure correct 
benefits are in payment. 

 

P
age 158



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 17 of 50  

 

2.2 Other Member Data Category 

2.2.1 Data Results 

 

 

9
9

.9

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

9
9

.3

9
2

.5 1
0

0
.0

9
9

.2

9
9

.8

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

9
9

.9

9
3

.6 1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

9
9

.8

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

9
9

.9

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

0
.0

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

90.0

100.0

P
as

s 
R

at
e

 (
%

)

2018
2019
TPR

P
age 159



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 18 of 50  

 

2.2.2 Analysis of Results 

Pension Credit members are excluded from tests in this category. 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

(change) 

Date of Leaving 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 1, 2, 4, 5, 9 & T  

77708 
 
(+630) 

77531 
 
(+549) 

99.8% 
 
(-0.1%) 

99.8% 
 
 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 
Fail D: 

40 
0 
112 
25 

The number of members failing a test in this condition has increased from 
96 to 177 from 2018. The reason for this should be investigated. 

40 members have a blank or invalid data joined fund and this should be 
investigated as their benefits may be incorrect. 4 members failed this test 
last year. 112 members have a date joined fund that is later than or equal 
to date left. No members failed this test last year.  These 2 tests are 
included in the TPR core results. 

25 members have a date of leaving present without a previous deferred 
or frozen leaver status. The number of fails has reduced by 67 since last 
year.  

Date Joined 
Scheme 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 1, 2, 4, 5, 9 & T 

77708 
 
(+630) 

77707 
 
(+631) 

100% 
 
(+0%) 

100% 
 
 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 

0 
1 

The number of members failing a test in this condition has decreased 
from 2 to 1.  

1 member has a date joined fund earlier or equal to their 15th birthday. 
This test is not included in the TPR core results. 

Employer Details 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 1, 2, 4, 5, 9 & T 

77708 
 
(+630) 

77708 
 
(+633) 

100% 
 
(+0%) 

100% 
 
 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 
Fail D: 

0 
0 
0 
0 

All members tested have passed all tests in this condition. In 2018, 3 
members failed a test. 

P
age 160



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 19 of 50  

 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

(change) 

Salary (Final 
Salary members) 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 1, 2, 4, 5, 9 & T 

 

68893 
 
(-4575) 

68820 
 
(-4157) 

99.9% 
 
(+0.56%) 

99.9% 
 
 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 
Fail D: 
Fail E: 
Fail F: 

45 
0 
0 
7 
0 
36 

The number of members failing tests in this condition has fallen from 491 
to 73, while the number of members qualifying has reduced by 4575. 

45 members with pre-2014 membership are missing a pensionable salary 
entry. This has fallen by 141 since last year. This test counts towards the 
TPR core results. 

7 deferred members have a blank or small pensionable pay on their 
deferred details.  

36 members had a latest salary recorded that was earlier than the latest 
bulk update by Dorset and should be investigated to determine if they are 
still active members. This has reduced by 261 since last year. 

Annual benefit statements cannot be processed for members with final 
salary service without a pay recorded and therefore investigation should 
be made to ensure no members are affected in this way. 

Contributions 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 1, 2, 4, 5, 9 & T 

77708 
 
(+630) 

72727 
 
(+1459) 

93.6% 
 
(+1.13%) 

N/A Fail A: 
Fail B: 

4886 
194 

The number of failed tests in this condition has decreased from 5810 to 
4981 representing an increase in the pass rate of 1.13%.  

This condition is excluded from the TPR core results. 

4886 are missing the rolled up contribution total. The bulk contribution 
totalling calculation will populate the rolled up contribution total where 
contributions exist. 194 members did not have a contribution posting for 
the latest bulk update by Dorset and these should be investigated to 
determine if they are still active members. 

P
age 161



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 20 of 50  

 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

(change) 

Leavers 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 4, 5, 9 & T 

49493 
 
(+2613) 

49492 
 
(+2620) 

100% 
 
(+0.02%) 

100% 
 
 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 

1 
0 
0 

8 members failed tests in this condition in 2018.  

1 member is missing a date of leaving. This test is included in the TPR core 
test results. 

Service 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 1, 2, 4, 5, 9 & T 

77708 
 
(+630) 

77700 
 
(+1239) 

100% 
 
(+0.79%) 

N/A Fail A: 8 
 

The number of members failing tests in this condition has reduced from 
617 to 8 since 2018. 

8 members have dates on the basic details that suggest a service change 
since commencement, but do not have a service history to detail the 
change. This test is excluded from the TPR core results. 
 

P
age 162



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 21 of 50  

 

2.3 CARE Benefits 

2.3.1 Data Results 

 

 

9
6

.7

1
0

0
.0

9
9

.0

1
0

0
.0

9
9

.2

1
0

0
.0

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

90.0

100.0

P
as

s 
R

at
e

 (
%

)

2018

2019

TPR

P
age 163



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 22 of 50  

 

2.3.2 Analysis of Results 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

(change) 

CARE data 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 1, 2, 4, 5, 9 & T 

41241 
 
(+336) 

40818 
 
(+1245) 

99% 
 
(+2.23%) 

99.2% 
 
 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 

68 
347 
74 
 

The number of failed tests in this condition has decreased from 1332 to 
423 translating to a 2.23% improvement in the pass rate. 

347 members appear to be missing at least one year-end entry of CARE 
data. Some members failing this test joined the fund in March and may 
not have been received payment in the scheme year of entry so may be 
genuine exceptions. This test is included in the TPR core results. 

There are 68 members without CARE data where some is expected, while 
74 members have a contribution entry recorded for a year in which there 
are no CARE benefits recorded.  

This data is crucial to the calculation of member benefits and the 
employers with missing data should be reminded of the importance of 
providing this data as soon as possible. Annual Benefits Statements 
cannot be processed without this information. 

CARE Revaluation 

Eligible for Testing:  
Revaluation Factor 
Table 

1 1 100% 
 
(0%) 

100% 
 
(0%) 
 

None  The revaluation table is present and correct 

 

P
age 164



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 23 of 50  

 

2.4 HMRC 

2.4.1 Data Results 

 

 

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

9
9

.9

8
8

.2

1
0

0
.0

9
9

.9

9
9

.1

9
9

.9

1
0

0
.0

9
9

.9

8
8

.6

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

9
9

.9

1
0

0
.0

0
.0

9
9

.9

0
.0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

9
9

.9

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

90.0

100.0

P
as

s 
R

at
e

 (
%

)

2018

2019

TPR

P
age 165



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 24 of 50  

 

2.4.2 Analysis of Results 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

(change) 

BCE 2 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 5 & T where 
Date Retired > 
6/4/2006 

14038 
 
(+1152) 

14018 
 
(+1138) 

99.9% 
 
(-0.1%) 

100% 
 
 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 

1 
4 
19 

The number of members failing a test in this condition has increased from 6 
to 20 since 2018. 

1 member has an invalid crystallisation date while 4 members have a blank 
personal lifetime allowance recorded. These tests are part of the TPR core 
tests.  

19 members, including the 4 members above, have a blank personal 
lifetime allowance percentage recorded.  

BCE 5 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 4 & T 

24134 
 
(+724) 

24131 
 
(+725) 

100% 
 
(+0%) 

N/A Fail A: 3 4 members had failed the test in 2018. 

3 members with deferred benefits are over the age of 75. This test is not 
included in the TPR core tests. 

BCE 6 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 5 & T members 
where Date Retired > 
6/4/2006 and Age at 
Date Retired < 75 

14032 
 
(+1152) 

14021 
 
(+1153) 

99.9% 
 
(+0.01%) 

99.9% 
 
 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 

1 
10 
0 

12 members failed tests in this condition on 2018. There are now 11 
members failing tests. 

10 members do not have a PCLS recorded despite having a lump sum on 
the pension details. This test is included in the TPR core results.  

1 member has an invalid crystallisation date recorded. 

P
age 166



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 25 of 50  

 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

(change) 

BCE 7 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 7 members 
where Date of Death 
(from Exit Details) is 
after 6/4/06 and 
within 5 years of Date 
Retired  

264 
 
(+10) 

234 
 
(+10) 

88.6% 
 
(+0.45%) 

N/A Fail A: 
Fail B: 

17 
13 

30 members failed tests in this condition for a second consecutive year. 
This condition is not included in the TPR core tests. 

17 members have a death grant of zero where a value was expected a 
reduction of 13 from 2018.  

13 members have a total death grant value but at least one of the 
crystallised value and percentage at the date of death is blank or 0. There 
were no failures in this test in 2018. 

BCE 8 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 3 members 
where Date Left is > 
6/4/2006 and there is 
a value in QROPS 
Transfer Date  

33 
 
(-3) 

33 
 
(-3) 

100% 
 
(0%) 

N/A Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 
Fail D: 

0 
0 
0 
0 

All members tested passed all tests in this condition as they did in 2017 and 
2018. 3 fewer members have qualified for the tests. 

P
age 167



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 26 of 50  

 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

(change) 

Lifetime 
Allowance 
Charge Paid 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 5 & T where 

Date Retired is after 

6/4/2006  

(ignoring members 
where Date, Amount 
& Indicator) are ticked 
in either Enhanced 
Protection or Payment 
of PCLS Reportable 
Events (Reportable 
Events 1 & 2 on 
Crystallisation screen) 

14035 
 
(+1150) 

14031 
 
(+1163) 

100% 
 
(+0.1%) 

100% 
 
 

Fail A: 4 17 members failed this test in 2018.  

4 members appear to have exceeded the Lifetime Allowance and does not 
have a tax charge recorded. This test is included in the TPR core results. 

Annual 
Allowance 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 1 members 

24907 
 
(-311) 

24872 
 
(-131) 

99.9% 
 
(+0.71%) 

99.9% 
 
 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 

35 
0 

215 members failed tests in this condition in 2018. This has now reduced to 
35 resulting in a 0.71% increase in the pass rate. 

There are 35 active members without the latest AA data recorded that was 
processed by Dorset. This test is included in the TPR core results. 

P
age 168



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 27 of 50  

 

2.5 Contracting Out 

2.5.1 Data Results 

 

9
9

.8

7
3

.0

8
2

.0

7
2

.0

9
9

.9

7
2

.5

8
1

.8

7
1

.4

9
9

.9

7
6

.1 8
1

.8

7
1

.4

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

90.0

100.0

P
as

s 
R

at
e

 (
%

)

2018
2019
TPR

P
age 169



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 28 of 50  

 

2.5.2 Analysis of Results 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

(change) 

Date Contracted 
Out 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 1, 2, 4, 5 & T 
members 

72230 
 
(-331) 

72125 
 
(-319) 

99.9% 
 
(+0.02%) 

99.9% 
 
 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 

105 
0 
0 
 

117 members failed tests in this condition in 2018. 

105 members now have a blank DCO and joined prior to 6/4/16. 70 are 
active members and 6 are leavers awaiting processing. The remaining 29 
are deferred or pensioners. These tests are included in the TPR core results. 

NI Contributions 
/ Earnings History 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 1, 2, 4, 5 & T 
members where NI-
Table is not E and date 
contracted out is on 
or after 6/4/78 AND 
before 6/4/1997 

15689 
 
(-146) 

11377 
 
(-188) 

72.5% 
 
(-0.52%) 

76.1% 
 
 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 
Fail D: 
Fail E: 

1 
792 
0 
0 
3747 

The number of members failing tests in this condition has increased by 42 
to 4312 while the number qualifying for tests has reduced by 146. 

3747 members have neither a full NI earnings history nor a GMP recorded 
(Failed both C and D simultaneously). 1 deferred member is missing date 
left active service These tests are included in the TPR core results. 

792 members do not have values that correspond with Period End Dates. If 
there are GMP details for these members, the data will not be required. 
This test is excluded from the TPR core results. 

This data is key for correct assessment and payment of benefits. 

Pre 88 GMP 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 4, 5 & T 
members where 
Contract Out SSPA75 
is before 6/4/88 

7296 
 
(-156) 

5965 
 
(-145) 

81.8% 
 
(-0.23%) 

81.8% 
 
 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 

1329 
3 
0 
 

The number of members failing tests in this condition has fallen by 11 to 
1331. The number of members qualifying for these tests has fallen by 156. 

1329 members that have left with pre-1988 service are missing a GMP at 
exit. 3 members have a post-88 GMP that is greater than the total GMP. 
These tests are included in the TPR core results. 

P
age 170



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 29 of 50  

 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

(change) 

Post 88 GMP 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 4, 5 & T 
members where 
Contract Out SSPA75 
is before 6/4/97 and 
Date Left is after 
6/5/1988 

14265 
 
(-85) 

10188 
 
(-150) 

71.4% 
 
(-0.62%) 

71.4% 
 
 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 

3840 
3741 
0 
 

The number of members failing tests in this condition has increased by 65 
to 4077 while the number qualifying for tests has reduced by 85. 

Of the 4077 members who failed a test; 3504 are missing both a value for 
Total GMP and a value for Post 88 GMP at exit. A further 336 members are 
missing a Total GMP and 237 members are missing Post 88 GMP at exit. 
These tests are included in the TPR core results. 

 

 

P
age 171



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 30 of 50  

 

3 Data Correction Plan 
The table below provides Dorset with suggestions for resolving the issues identified in Section 2 and a suggested priority. This table is deliberately high-level as the 

detail and dates should be agreed once the results have been thoroughly reviewed. The milestones represent a summary of the recommended actions outlined in 

more detail in Section 2.  

Data Category Milestone Suggested Priority 

Member Benefits • Investigate the 1 incorrect divorce record 

• Investigate the 151 cases with incomplete Transfer In data with a high priority as benefits may be incorrect 

• Correct the 2 members with incorrect AVC details at the highest priority as benefits may be incorrect 

• Correct the 108 issues with deferred benefit cases prior to running deferred annual benefit statements 

• Investigate the 235 defects in pension benefits  

• Investigate the 54 Dependant Pensioner cases  

• Investigate all cases where the latest PI does not appear to have been applied  

• High 

• High 

• VERY HIGH 

• High 

• High 

• High 

• VERY HIGH 

P
age 172



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 31 of 50  

 

Data Category Milestone Suggested Priority 

Other Member 
Data 

• Investigate the 177 cases with either an unexplained date of leaving present or a missing date of leaving 

• Investigate the 1 case with an incorrect date for when they joined the Scheme 

• Investigate the 73 final salary pay issues prior to running annual benefit statements 

• Investigate cases with missing contributions prior to running annual benefit statements 

• Investigate the 1 case where the date for leaving is either blank or incorrect 

• Investigate the 8 cases that appear to have a service change not reflected on their service history. Prioritise 

the 5 active members and 1 undecided leaver. 

• Low 

• High 

• High 

• Medium 

• High 

• VERY HIGH 

CARE Data • Investigate all data issues in this category by status prior to issuing annual benefit statements for that status. 

Pensioners should be investigated as soon as possible to ensure correct benefits are in payment 

• High 

P
age 173



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 32 of 50  

 

Data Category Milestone Suggested Priority 

HMRC • Review criteria for testing HMRC data and ensure that current processes populate this data correctly in Altair 

• Investigate the 1 member with incorrect Crystallisation Dates 

• Investigate the 23 members with missing Crystallisation amounts or percentages 

• Investigate the 3 members with deferred benefits that are over the age of 75 

• Investigate the 10 missing PCLS amounts 

• Investigate the 30 cases with missing death grant data 

• Investigate the 4 members that has exceeded the LTA without a tax charge recorded 

• Investigate the 35 cases with missing Annual Allowance data  

• Investigate the reasons for the increase in numbers missing AA data for this year 

• Medium  

• Medium 

• Medium 

• Medium 

• Medium 

• Low 

• High 

• High 

• High 

Contracting Out  • Investigate the 105 cases with incorrect Date Contracted Out data  

• Investigate missing and incorrect data for NI contributions and earnings history 

• Review and update GMP values in conjunction with the GMP Reconciliation process  

• Obtain and upload GMP figures for the members with missing data as a high priority 

• Medium 

• Medium 

• Medium 

• High 

P
age 174



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 33 of 50  

 

4 Appendices 

4.1 Appendix A – TPR Guidance (In-Scope Tests) 

Member Benefits 

Condition Status Tested TPR Guidance 

Pension Sharing Details Active, Deferred, 
Pensioner 

If a member has had a pension sharing order, check that full details of the benefits transferred to the ex-spouse/ex-civil 
partner are present. 

Transfer In Details Active, Deferred, 
Pensioner 

If benefits have been transferred in, check that all relevant details are recorded. This will include (as a minimum) the details of 
the previous scheme, the amount of the transfer value (split between protected rights and non protected rights and, if 
relevant, split between the amount received in respect of the member and employer contributions and AVCs), benefits 
secured, (if relevant) contracting out details. 

AVC Details Active, Deferred, 
Pensioner 

Check that there is a history of any AVCs paid, type of investment, current provider, and (if relevant) benefits being secured  

 

Total Original Deferred Benefit Deferred Check that total original deferred benefit is present (either derived or explicit). 

Tranches of Original Deferred 
Benefit 

Deferred Check that there is a breakdown of the various tranches of the total deferred benefit. This must identify tranches with 
different rates of increases either in deferment or in payment, and tranches with different contingent spouse's/civil partner's 
benefits. Likely to include such items as pre/post 1997 splits, pre/post 2005 splits, Barber splits, VFM underpin etc. Details of 
the date at that any tranche is payable, if different from the scheme's normal retirement date, will also be required. The sum 
of the individual components must equal any total deferred pension that is recorded on the system. 

Total Gross Pension Pensioner Check that a total pension is present (either derived or explicit).  

P
age 175



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 34 of 50  

 

Condition Status Tested TPR Guidance 

Tranches of Pension Pensioner Check that there is a breakdown of the various tranches of the total pension, identifying tranches with different rates of 
increase and contingent spouse’s/civil partner’s benefits. The sum of the individual components must equal any total pension 
that is recorded on the system. 

Other Member Data 

Condition Status Tested TPR Guidance 

Date of Leaving Deferred, 
Pensioner 

For trust-based schemes, check that member has a date of leaving that is after date joined 

Date Joined Scheme Active, Deferred Check that the date joined scheme is present, later than date of birth, and not earlier than date joined company. False dates 
should be classed as missing data.  

Date joined employing 
company  

Active, Deferred For members of multi-employer schemes check that date joined employing company is present and is later than date of birth. 
False dates should be classed as missing data.  

Salary Active, Deferred Check that there is at least one relevant salary within the last 12 months of membership.  

Salary History Active, Deferred Check that a relevant salary exists for each of the last 5 renewal periods of membership and is greater than £0.50. 

Contributions Pensioner For contributory schemes check that there is a contribution amount present for each year of active membership, or that a 
contribution total is present.  

Date of leaving (date 
pensionable service ended)/ 
date last 
premium/contribution paid 

Deferred, 
Pensioner 

For trust-based schemes check that member has a date of leaving which is after date joined scheme, and that member status 
is not active if date of leaving is present. 

P
age 176



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 35 of 50  

 

CARE Data 

Condition Status Tested TPR Guidance 

Accrued benefit details  

 
Active, Deferred, 
Pensioner 

Check that accrued benefit details are present if they are updated and recorded annually. If benefits are calculated from first 
principles when member leaves, all relevant salary & contribution will be required instead.  

Revaluation percentage  
 

Global Table Check that there is a history of revaluation percentage for the accrued pension for each relevant year, if benefits have not 
been not uprated and recorded annually.  
 

HMRC 

Condition Status Tested TPR Guidance 

Benefit Crystallisation Event 
Details 

Active, Deferred, 
Pensioner 

Check that full details of the dates and amounts paid at each benefit crystallisation event, including details of LTA percentage 
used, are present. 

Lifetime Allowance Charge 
Paid 

Pensioner Check that the date and amount of any lifetime allowance charge paid is present.  

  

P
age 177



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 36 of 50  

 

Contracting Out 

Condition Status Tested TPR Guidance 

Date Contracted Out Active, Deferred, 
Pensioner 

Check that this is present and not earlier than 06/04/1978. 

N.I. History (Contracted Out 
earnings & contributions) 

Active, Deferred, 
Pensioner 

Check that members have a full contracted-out history during any period contracted out on a GMP basis. A verified GMP, 
agreed with NISPI, would be an acceptable alternative. Not required for reduced rate females. 

Pre 88 GMP Deferred, 
Pensioner 

Check that a member with at least one month of pre 4/88 contracted out service has a pre 88 GMP. GMP must be divisible by 
52. May be derived if total GMP and post 4/88 GMP are recorded. 

Post 88 GMP Deferred, 
Pensioner 

Check that a member with at least one month of post 4/88 service contracted out on a GMP basis has a post 88 GMP. Can be 
derived or explicit.  

 
  

P
age 178



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 37 of 50  

 

4.2 Appendix B – Benefit Crystallisation Events (In-Scope) 

Benefit Crystallisation Event Description 

BCE2 Where a member becomes entitled to a scheme pension, whether from a defined benefits arrangement or a money purchase arrangement. 

BCE5 Test the level of entitlements not taken by a member at age 75 under a defined benefits arrangement, by measure of the level of benefits that 

would come into payment at that time, if drawn. 

BCE6 A lifetime allowance test is triggered through BCE6 whenever a member becomes entitled under a registered pension scheme to:  

• A pension commencement lump sum paid before age 75, when uncrystallised benefits are drawn under an arrangement  

• A serious ill health lump sum paid before age 75, where the individual falls into serious ill health  

• A lifetime allowance excess lump sum where a chargeable amount has been identified because the individual’s lifetime allowance has 

been fully used up.  

BCE7 Where a relevant lump sum death benefit is paid on the death of the member. 

BCE8 Where a member’s benefits or rights are transferred to a qualifying recognised overseas pension scheme.  

  

P
age 179



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 38 of 50  

 

4.3 Appendix C – Conditions and Fail Criteria 

Member Benefits 

Condition Fail A Fail B Fail C Fail D Fail E Fail F 

Divorce Details  

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 1, 2, 4, 5 & T where 

Calculation Date 

(DVC-CALDTE) has a value 

Value is  missing in total 
pension debit 
(DVC-TOTINI) 

Value prior to 01/12/2000 
is present in calculation 
date (DVC-CALDTE) 

Value prior to 01/12/2000 
is present in Payment 
Date  (DVC-PAYDTE) 

CETV (DVC-TVAMT) is 
blank or 0) 

Pension debit 
(DVC-CONAMT) is blank 
or 0 

Percentage split 
(DVC-PCSPLT) is blank, 0 
or over 100 

Tested: 92 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 1 Failed: 0 

Transfer In Details 1 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 1, 2, 4, 5 & T where 

transfer In details exist  

Date received 
(ADD-TV-DT) is blank or 0 

Only Actives (1), 
undecided leavers (2) and 
deferred (4) are counted 
for the TPR results 

Transfer Value is blank or 
0 (ADD-TV) 

Only Actives (1), 
undecided leavers (2) and 
deferred (4) are counted 
for the TPR results 

Service (ADD-BD-CR) and 
transferred pension (ADD-
RETP) are both blank or 0 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

If service (ADD-BS-CR) > 0, 
service history must be 
present. There must be a 
service history line that 
starts (HIST-START) on the 
same date as previous 
scheme from ADD-FROM) 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results  

Type (ADD-TYPE) is not 
valid ie CLUB, INTERFND, 
NON CLUB, PERSONAL, 
RESTITUTIO or some have 
INTRAFND 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

Date TV Received is 
invalid or < date joined 
fund (DJF) 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

Tested: 8003 Failed: 1 Failed: 2 Failed: 9 Failed: 74 Failed: 65 Failed: 5 

Transfer In Details 2 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 1, 2, 4, 5 & T where 

transfer In details exist  

Previous scheme name 
(ADD-PR-SCH) or 
employer reference (ADD-
PR-EMP) must be present 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

     

Tested: 8003 Failed: 0      

P
age 180



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 39 of 50  

 

Condition Fail A Fail B Fail C Fail D Fail E Fail F 

AVC Details 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 1, 2, 4, 5 & T where 

AVC details exist 

If AVC Details present 
then start date 
(AVC-START) must be 
present 

Only Actives (1), 
undecided leavers (2) and 
deferred (4) are counted 
for the TPR results 

If AVC Details present 
then contract end date 
(AVC-TE-DUE) must be 
present and equal to or 
later than AVC-START 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

If AVC Details present and 
type (AVC-TYPE) is A, B, G, 
L, P, R, S then added years 
(AVC-ADDY) must be 
greater than 0 

Only Actives (1), 
undecided leavers (2) and 
deferred (4) are counted 
for the TPR results 

If AVC Details present and 
type (AVC-TYPE) is H, M 
then pension  (AVC-P75T) 
must be greater than 0 
and less than or equal to 
the scheme maximum 

Only Actives (1), 
undecided leavers (2) and 
deferred (4) are counted 
for the TPR results 

  

Tested: 3888 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 2   

Total Original Deferred 

Benefit 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 4 

No value in Initial Pension 
(DEF-TOT-IP) 

The value in Initial 
Pension is between £0.01 
and a small figure (default 
of £1.00) agreed with 
customer 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

No value in total current 
pension (DEF-TOT-CP) 

The value in total current 
Pension is between £0.01 
and a small figure (default 
of £1.00) agreed with 
customer 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

PI date (DEF-INC-DT) must 
be present and later than 
date joined fund (DJF) 

Last PI date (DEF-PI-DT[1]) 
is earlier than last PI date 
processed by customer 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

Tested: 24128 Failed: 2 Failed: 1 Failed: 3 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 59 

Tranches of Original 

Deferred Benefit 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 4 

Member has no ‘PEN' 
tranche (DEF-TYPE) or has 
one with a value less than 
or equal to a small figure 
(default of £1.00) agreed 
with customer. (including 
negative values)  

'PEN' + ‘UPEN’ + ‘TAPE’ 
does not equal Total 
Initial Pension  

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

Member with service 
between 01/04/2008 (09 
S&NI) and 31/03/2014 (15 
S&NI) has no ‘PN60’ 
tranche or has one with a 
value less than a small 
figure (default of £1.00) 
agreed with customer 

Member with post 
31/03/2014 (15 S&NI) 
service has no ‘CARE’ 
tranche or has one with a 
value less than or equal to 
a small figure (default of 
£1.00) agreed with 
customer 

Member with CARE5050 
or TVINLG50 CARE data 
has no ‘CP50’ tranche or 
has one with a value less 
than or equal to a small 
figure (default of £1.00) 
agreed with customer 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

Member with pre 
01/04/2008 (09 S&NI) 
service has no ‘RA’ 
tranche or has one with a 
value less than or equal to 
a small figure (default of 
£1.00) agreed with 
customer 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

Tested: 24128 Failed: 2 Failed: 10 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 36 

P
age 181



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 40 of 50  

 

Condition Fail A Fail B Fail C Fail D Fail E Fail F 

Total Gross Pension 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 5 & T 

No value in Initial Pension 
(PEN-TOT-IP) 

The value in Initial 
Pension is between £0.01 
and a small figure (default 
of £1.00) agreed with 
customer 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

No value in total current 
pension (PEN-TOT-C) 

The value in total current 
Pension is between £0.01 
and a small figure (default 
of £1.00) agreed with 
customer 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

PI date (PEN-INC-DT) must 
be present and later than 
DJF 

 

Tested: 19885 Failed: 3 Failed: 2 Failed: 4 Failed: 0 Failed: 1  

Tranches of Pension 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 5 & T 

‘PEN’ tranche (PEN-TYPE) 
has a value less than or 
equal to a small figure 
(default of £1.00) agreed 
with customer 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

Member with service 
between 01/04/2008 (09 
S&NI) and 31/03/2014 (15 
S&NI) has no ‘PN60’ 
tranche or has one with a 
value less than or equal to 
a small figure (default of 
£1.00) agreed with 
customer 

Member with post 
31/03/2014 (15 S&NI) 
service has no ‘CARE’ 
tranche or has one with a 
value less than or equal to 
a small figure (default of 
£1.00) agreed with 
customer 

Member with CARE5050 
or TVINLG50 CARE data 
has no ‘CP50’ tranche or 
has one with a value less 
than or equal to a small 
figure (default of £1.00) 
agreed with customer 

Last PI date 
(PEN-PI-DT[1]) is earlier 
than last PI date 
processed by customer 

The first pension 
component on the list 
must be either ‘PEN’ or 
‘GMP’ 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

Tested: 19885 Failed: 3 Failed: 3 Failed: 3 Failed: 0 Failed: 167 Failed: 53 

Total Gross Dependant 

Pension 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 6  

No value in Initial Pension 
(DEP-TOT-IP) 

The value in Initial 
Pension is between £0.01 
and a small figure (default 
of £1.00) agreed with 
customer 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

No value in total current 
pension (DEP-TOT-C) 

The value in total current 
Pension is between £0.01 
and a small figure (default 
of £1.00) agreed with 
customer 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

PI date (DEP-INC-DT) must 
be present  

 

Tested: 2660 Failed: 1 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 0  

P
age 182



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 41 of 50  

 

Condition Fail A Fail B Fail C Fail D Fail E Fail F 

Tranches of Dependant 

Pension 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 6  

‘PEN’ tranche (DEP-TYPE) 
has a value less than or 
equal to a small figure 
(default of £1.00) agreed 
with customer 

Last PI date (DEP-PI-DT) is 
earlier than last PI date 
processed by customer 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

    

Tested: 2660 Failed: 0 Failed: 53     

 

  

P
age 183



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 42 of 50  

 

Other Member Details 

Pension Credit members are excluded from tests in this category. 

Condition Fail A Fail B Fail C Fail D Fail E Fail F 

Date of Leaving 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 1, 2, 4, 5 & T  

A non-Status 1 member 
has a blank entry or an 
invalid date in Date Left 
(DATE-LEFT) 

Date Joined Fund (DJF) is 

either blank or earlier 

than or equal to 1/1/1900 

Date Joined Fund is later 

than or equal to Date Left 

if Date Left present 

Date left is present for a 
status 1 member who 
does not have a previous 
status of 4 or 9  

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

  

Tested: 77708 Failed: 40 Failed: 0 Failed: 112 Failed: 25   

Date Joined Scheme 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 1, 2, 4, 5, 9 & T  

Any of Date Joined 
Scheme (DJF), Date of 
Birth (DOB) and/or Date 
commenced current 
service (DCCPS) Joined 
Fund are either blank or 
earlier than or equal to 
1/1/1900 

 

Date Joined Fund (DJF) is 
earlier or equal to Date of 
Birth (DOB) plus 15 years 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

    

Tested: 77708 Failed: 0 Failed: 1     

Employer Details 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 1, 2, 4, 5, 9 & T  

Location (LOCATION) is 
blank 

Date Joined employer 
(DT-JOIN-EM) is either 
blank or earlier than or 
equal to 1/1/1900 

Date Joined employer 
must be earlier than date 
of birth (DOB) plus 15 
years 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

Employment type (CLASS) 
is blank  

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

  

Tested: 77708 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 0   

P
age 184



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 43 of 50  

 

Condition Fail A Fail B Fail C Fail D Fail E Fail F 

Salary (Final Salary 

members)  

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 1, 2, 4, 5, 9 & T  

A member with pre-
01/04/2014 (2015 in 
S&NI) service has an 
invalid or blank date in 
the latest instance of 
Pensionable 
remuneration (PEN-REM) 

For non-status 1 or 2 
members, the latest 
instance of Pensionable 
remuneration does not 
equal the member’s 
DATE-LEFT  

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

The latest instance of 
Pensionable 
remuneration contains a 
valid date (PEN-REM-DT) 
but there is no 
corresponding amount  

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

Status 4 member does not 
have a value in 
DEF-PENREM or a value 
less than a small figure 
(default of £1.00) agreed 
with customer 

Test is excluded from 
the TPR results 

Status 5 or T member 
does not have a value in 
PEN-PS-REM or a value 
less than a small figure 
(default of £1.00) agreed 
with customer 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

For status 1 members the 
latest pensionable 
remuneration date must 
be equal to or later than 
the customer’s last 
posting date 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

Tested: 68893 Failed: 45 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 7 Failed: 0 Failed: 36 

Contributions 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 1, 2, 4, 5, 9 & T  

Total Paid Including 
Interest (TCI-TOTAL) is 
blank or less than a small 
figure (default of £1.00) 
agreed with customer 

Test is excluded from 
the TPR results 

For status 1 members the 
latest date must be equal 
to or later than the 
customer’s last posting 
date and have a 
corresponding figure 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

    

Tested: 77708 Failed: 4886 Failed: 194     

Leavers 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 4, 5, 9 & T  

Date Left (DATE-LEFT) is 
either blank or is earlier 
than or equal to 1/1/1900 

Date Joined Scheme (DJF) 

is either blank or is earlier 

than or equal to 1/1/1900 

Date Left is earlier than 
Date Joined Scheme 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

   

Tested: 49493 Failed: 1 Failed: 0 Failed: 0    

P
age 185



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 44 of 50  

 

Condition Fail A Fail B Fail C Fail D Fail E Fail F 

Service 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 1, 2, 4, 5, 9 & T 

If DCCPS > DJF, and DJF < 
01/04/2014(15 S&NI)), 
service history must be 
present 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

     

Tested: 77708 Failed: 8      

CARE Benefits 

Condition Fail A Fail B Fail C Fail D Fail E Fail F 

CARE data 

Eligible for Testing:  

All status 1 and status 2, 

4, 5, 9 & T where Date 

Left is after 31/03/14 

(31/03/15 in S&NI) 

If member has post-
31/03/2014 (2015 in 
S&NI) service then at least 
one of LGPSMAIN or 
LGPS5050 must be 
present if the member 
joined before the start of 
the current scheme year 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

Every 31/03 from later of 
DJF or 2015 (2016 in 
S&NI) to earlier of date-
left or current date must 
be present as an end date 
on at least one of 
LGPSMAIN, LGPS5050, 
TVINLGMN or TVINLG50 
 

If contributions at any 
31/03 from later of DJF or 
2015 (2016 in S&NI) to 
earlier of date-left or 
current date are > 0, there 
must be an entry on at 
least one of LGPSMAIN or 
LGPS5050 for the same 
date with a pay figure > 0 
Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 
 

   

Tested: 41241 Failed: 68 Failed: 347 Failed: 74    

CARE revaluation 

Eligible for Testing:  

Revaluation Factor Table 

Every 31/03 from 2015 
(2016 in S&NI) to date 
must be present on factor 
table 
000/B/00/684/2014/0101
2012 

The rates on the table do 
not match the record of 
HM treasury rates 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

    

 Failed: 0 Failed: 0     

P
age 186



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 45 of 50  

 

HMRC 

Condition Fail A Fail B Fail C Fail D Fail E Fail F 

BCE 2 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 5 & T where Date 

Retired > 6/4/2006 

Crystallisation Date (CRYS-
CRSYSD) is not a valid 
date or is earlier than 
date left 

PLA Value (CRYS-PLA) is 
blank 

PLA% (CRYS-PLAPC) is 
blank 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

   

Tested: 14038 Failed: 1 Failed: 4 Failed: 19    

BCE 5 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 4 & T  

Any member of these 
deferred statuses where 
the member is over the 
age of 75 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

     

Tested: 24134 Failed: 3      

BCE 6 

Eligible for Testing: 

 Status 5 & T where Date 

Retired > 6/4/2006 and 

Age at Date Retired < 75 

Crystallisation Date is not 
a valid date (CRYS-PPD) or 
is earlier than date left 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results as they are 
included in BCE2 

PCLS amount (CRYS-PPA) 
is blank if PEN-TOT-AL is > 
zero 

There is a date in Serious 
Ill Health Lump Sum 
Payment (CRYS-ILLD) but 
no corresponding amount 
(CRYS-ILLA) 

OR 

There is an amount in 
Serious Ill Health Lump 
Payment but no 
corresponding date 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

   

Tested: 14032 Failed: 1 Failed: 10 Failed: 0    

P
age 187



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 46 of 50  

 

Condition Fail A Fail B Fail C Fail D Fail E Fail F 

BCE 7 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 7 where Date of 

Death (from Exit Details) 

is after 6/4/06 and within 

5 years of Date Retired 

Total death grant 
(CDTC-TOTLS) is blank (To 
be checked in first run 
and removed if deemed 
not relevant.) 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

There is a value >0 in 
Total death grant but one 
or more of the following 
fields is blank or 0: 

Crystallised Value at Date 
of Death (CDTC-CVAL) 

Crystallised % Value at 
Date of Death 
(CDTV-CVALP) 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

    

Tested: 264 Failed: 17 Failed: 13     

BCE 8 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 3 where Date Left 

is > 6/4/2006 and there is 

a value in QROPS Transfer 

Date 

QROPS Transfer Date 
(CRYS-TFRD) is not a valid 
date or is earlier than 
date left 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

QROPS Transfer Amount 
(CRYS-TFRA) is blank 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

Date of Birth (DOB) is not 
a valid date 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

Age at QROPS Transfer 
Date is over 75 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

  

Tested: 33 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 0   

P
age 188



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 47 of 50  

 

Condition Fail A Fail B Fail C Fail D Fail E Fail F 

Lifetime Allowance 

Charge paid 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 5 & T where Date 

Retired is after 6/4/2006 

(ignoring members where 

Date, Amount & 

Indicator) are ticked in 

either Enhanced 

Protection or Payment of 

PCLS Reportable Events 

(Reportable Events 1 & 2 

on Crystallisation screen) 

Value in Used PLA% 
(CRYS-TPPC)  is greater 
than 100% and there is no 
value in any of LTA Charge 
(CRYS-LTACH), 25% LTA 
Charge (CRYS-LTA25) or 
55% LTA Charge (CRYS-
LTA55) 

     

Tested: 14035 Failed: 4      

Annual Allowance  

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 1  

 

Latest annual allowance 
PIP end date is earlier 
than the latest run by the 
customer 

If a scheme pays indicator 
is ticked, the scheme pays 
amount is not present OR 
a scheme pays amount is 
present, but the scheme 
pays indicator is not 
ticked  

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results  

    

Tested: 24907 Failed: 35 Failed: 0     

 

  

P
age 189



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 48 of 50  

 

Contracting Out 

Condition Fail A Fail B Fail C Fail D Fail E Fail F 

Date Contracted Out 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 1, 2, 4, 5 & T  

Contract-Out SSPA75 is 
blank and DJF is prior to 
6/4/16 

Contract-Out SSPA75 is 
prior to 6/4/78 

The date in Contract-Out 
SSPA75 is later than 
5/4/16 

   

Tested: 72230 Failed: 105 Failed: 0 Failed: 0    

NI 

Contributions/Earnings 

History 

Eligible for Testing: 

 Status 1, 2, 4, 5 & T 

where NI-Table is not E 

and date contracted out is 

on or after 6/4/78 AND 

before 6/4/1997 

A Status 4 member is 
missing Date Left Active 
Service or a Status 5 
member is missing both 
Date Left Active Service 
and Date of Retirement 

For one or more of the 
Period End Dates, there is 
not a corresponding value 
in Amount 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results  

There is not a separate 
entry in Period End Date 
(NI) for each April 5th 
between Date Contracted 
Out and 5/4/97 (or Date 
Left/Date Ret if earlier for 
Status 4 & 5 respectively) 
(non-reportable – see fail 
E) 

 

GMP is not present on the 
NI details for status 1 and 
2 and on GMP details for 
status 4, 5 & T (non-
reportable – see fail E) 

 

Fail C and Fail D both 
occurred 

 

Tested: 15689 Failed: 1 Failed: 792 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 3747  

Pre 88 GMP 

Eligible for Testing: 

Status 4, 5 & T where 

Contract Out SSPA75 is 

before 6/4/88 

There is no value provided 
for total GMP at exit 

Deducting Post 88 GMP at 
Exit from Total GMP at 
Exit results in a negative 
number 

The result of deducting 
Post 88 GMP at Exit from 
Total GMP at Exit is not 
divisible by 52. 

   

Tested: 7296 Failed: 1329 Failed: 3 Failed: 0    

P
age 190



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 49 of 50  

 

Condition Fail A Fail B Fail C Fail D Fail E Fail F 

Post 88 GMP 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 4, 5 & T where 

Contract Out SSPA75 is 

before 6/4/97 and Date 

Left is after 6/5/1988 

There is no value provided 
for total GMP at exit 

There is no value provided 
for Post 88 GMP at Exit 

Post 88 GMP at Exit is not 
divisible by 52 

   

Tested: 14265 Failed: 3840 Failed: 3741 Failed: 0    

 

 

 

 

P
age 191



 

 

 
Aquila Heywood, 1st Floor, Hamilton House, Church Street, 
Altrincham, Cheshire, WA14 4DR 
W: www.aquilaheywood.co.uk  T: 0161 613 4200 

 

 

Page 192

http://www.aquilaheywood.co.uk/


 
 
Steph Ball 
Pensions Systems Manager 
August 2019 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DATA IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

2019 
 

Page 193



1. Introduction  
 
The Pension Regulator acknowledges that complete, accurate records are a vital part of the 
administration function. 
 
This document primarily aims to address key issues identified in the Dorset Pension Fund 
Annual Data Quality review. 
 
The continuing diversification of the employer base, the increasing number of payroll 
providers and ICT systems used to transfer information present the Fund with significant 
operational challenges in meeting the statutory record keeping requirements. 
 

 
2. Purpose 
  
To record and plan the appropriate steps the Fund needs to take in order to address the 
errors identified in the review, and how we intend to improve the data held. 
 
To demonstrate how data issues during the Contracted-Out reconciliation exercise being 
undertaken with HMRC, as a result of the ending of Contracting Out in April 2016 are being 
corrected and how these will impact on the Fund’s scores. 
 
To review the expected outcomes of 2018 and ensure continued development of the 
appropriate technology to improve data quality standards, and the streamlining of 
operational processing. 
 
To ensure the Fund and employers have a clear understanding of their respective roles and 
responsibilities, ensuring all parties are committed to continuing engagement to improve 
data quality and guarantee accurate record keeping. 

 
To review the accuracy of data supplied to the Actuary for the 2019 Triennial Valuation, the 
number of errors identified and resolved to ensure accurate results and improved employer 
confidence in the assessment of assets and liabilities to ensure appropriate employers 
contributions rates are set 

 
 
3.  Key Objectives 
 

 To ensure member records are maintained as accurately as possible resulting in 
benefits being paid correctly and on time 

 To improve compliance with The Pensions Regulator (TPR) Code of Practice 14 
 To increase number of up to date and accurate addresses held for Scheme members 
 To decrease the number of records with no ‘CARE’ pay recorded 
 To ensure data provided by employers is accurate 
 To ensure errors flagged during the End of Year processes and annual Data Quality 

review are resolved 
 

 
 
 

Page 194



4.  Review of Expected Outcomes 2018/19 
 

 
Objective 

 
How will this will be measured? 

How long it 
will take to 
achieve? 

 
Achieved? 

1. To ensure member 
records are 
maintained as 
accurately as 
possible to ensure 
benefits are paid 
correctly and on 
time 

 Improvement in our TPR data score for Common 
and Scheme Specific Data  

 Audit outcome 
 Data knowledge sharing with the Technical Teams 

on how the records should be maintained  

Aug 2018 
 
Aug 2018 
Ongoing 

Yes  
 
Yes 
Ongoing 

2. To improve 
compliance with The 
Pensions 
Regulators Code of 
Practice 14. 

 Reduction in the number of amber rated priorities in 
the TPR Compliance Monitoring Document 

 Run Bulk consistency checks monthly 
 

 Ensure all Data Quality errors are cleared  

October TPR 
return 2018 
December 
2019 
March 2019 

Yes 
 
No 
 
Yes 
 

3. To decrease the 
number of ‘gone 
away’ addresses 
held for Scheme 
Members  

 Member tracing analysis undertaken – TARGET 
 Number of Annual Benefit Illustrations (ABIs) 

issued each year to deferred members increase 

October 2018 
  

Yes 
Yes 

4. To decrease the 
number of records 
with no ‘CARE’ pay 
recorded 

 EoY Errors are addressed along with CMS errors 
 

 Improve the Academy and TUPE process, agree a 
consistent approach 

 Use SQL reporting tool to ensure all records have 
been captured in previous measures 

By 2018 Data 
Quality Extract  
March 2019 
 
June 2019 

Yes 
 
Yes 
 
Yes 

5. To ensure 
information provided 
by employers is 
accurate 

 EoY Errors are addressed by the employer 
 Closer working relationship with Employer payroll 

providers to ensure the required data is submitted 
 Consideration as to whether to charge fines to 

failing employers 

June 2019 
Ongoing  
 
June 2019 

Ongoing 
Ongoing 
 
Yes 

6. To ensure errors 
flagged during the 
EoY process and 
Data Quality are 
resolved 

 On-line Data Checker  
 EoY Errors are addressed along with CMS 
 Improve the Academy and TUPE process, agree a 

consistent approach 
 Data Quality errors are cleared 

Monthly 
June 2019 
September 
2018 
March 2019 

Yes 
Yes 
Yes 
 
Yes 

7. To improve the data 
supplied to the 
Actuary at the 2019 
Triennial Valuation 
ensuring accurate 
results and 
improving employer 
confidence in the 
assessment of 
assets and liabilities 
to ensure 
appropriate 
employers 
contribution rates 
are set. 
 

 A reduction in number of queries from the Actuary 
during the Triennial Valuation 

 
 On-line Data Checker  

April 2019 
 
 
Monthly   

Yes 
 
 
Yes 

 

Page 195



5.  Expected Outcomes 2019/20 
 

 
Objective 

 
How will this will be measured? 

How long it 
will take to 
achieve? 

1. To ensure member 
records are 
maintained as 
accurately as 
possible to ensure 
benefits are paid 
correctly and on 
time 

 Improvement in our TPR data score for Common 
and Scheme Specific Data  

 Audit outcome 
 Data knowledge sharing with the Technical Teams 

on how the records should be maintained  
 EoY process guide to ensure all tasks and checks 

are completed  

Aug 2019 
 
Aug 2019 
Ongoing 
 
June 2020  

2. To improve 
compliance with The 
Pensions 
Regulators Code of 
Practice 14. 

 Reduction in the number of amber rated priorities in 
the TPR Compliance Monitoring Document 

 Run the Valuation extract after EoY has been 
processed and clear any errors identified in the 
Data Checker tool. 

October TPR 
return 2019 
June 2020  

3. To decrease the 
number of ‘gone 
away’ addresses 
held for Scheme 
Members  

 Check Gone Away against EoY data recieved 
 Email Deferred members where this address is 

proved to chase current address 
 Email Frozen refund members where this address 

is proved to chase current address 
 Trace remaining Frozen refund members 

addresses 

July 2020 
August 2020 
 
September 
2019 
March 2020 

4. To decrease the 
number of records 
with no ‘CARE’ pay 
recorded 

 EoY Errors are addressed along with CMS errors 
 

June 2020  

5. To ensure 
information provided 
by employers is 
accurate 

 EoY Errors are addressed by the employer 
 Closer working relationship with Employer payroll 

providers to ensure the required data is submitted 
 Work with Bournemouth University in reducing the 

number of casuals who have not worked or have a 
Temporary NI Number  

 Charge a financial penalty to failing employers 

June 2020 
Ongoing  
 
December 
2019 
 
June 2020 

6. To ensure errors 
flagged during the 
EoY process and 
Data Quality are 
resolved 

 Run SQL reporting to clear errors data errors  
 EoY Errors are addressed along with CMS 

Bi-Annual 
June 2020 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 196



 
 
6.  Scope and Prioritising  
 
The data quality review in August 2019 split the review of data held into two categories; 
 

 Common Data  
 Scheme Specific Data  

 
The review was carried out on the data held by the Fund on its scheme members in line with 
the guidance notes set by the TPR to identify whether data is present and accurate. 
The Common Data items are specified in The Pension Regulators guidance however, the 
Scheme Specific data items.  The Pension Regulator does not set the data items required 
for the Scheme Specific data this will be explicit to each individual Pension Scheme.  
However, illustration examples of the data required to run a Pension Scheme has been 
published by the Pension Regulator and these were taken into consideration by the Fund 
when agreeing Scheme Specific data to be checked. 
 
The LGPS Scheme Advisory Board confirmed a set of ‘core’ tests that were identified for 
reporting to the TPR.  

The data items tested for Common and Scheme Specific Data can be found below:  

Common Data item Membership type tested  
NI number All members 
Name All members 
Sex and Date of Birth All members 
Date Commenced and NRD All members 
Status All members 
Status and invalid data view All members 
Address  All members 
Status and valid data view  All members 

 

Scheme Specific 
data category  

Scheme Specific Data item  Membership type tested 

Member Benefits 
Data 
 

Divorce Details 
Transfer In Details 1 
Transfer In Details 2 
AVC Details 
Total Original Deferred Benefit  
Tranches Of Original Deferred Benefit 
Total Gross Pension 
Tranches Of Pension 
Total Gross Dependant Pension 
Tranches of Dependant 

Status 1, 2, 4, 5 & T 
Status 1, 2, 4, 5 & T 
Status 1, 2, 4, 5 & T 
Status 1, 2, 4, 5 & T 
Status 4 
Status 4 
Status 5 & T 
Status 5 & T 
Status 6 
Status 6 

Member Data Date Of Leaving 
Date Joined Scheme 
Employer Details 
Salary (Final Salary members) 
Contributions 
Leavers 
Service 

Status 1, 2, 4, 5, 9 & T 
Status 1, 2, 4, 5, 9 & T 
Status 1, 2, 4, 5, 9 & T 
Status 1, 2, 4, 5, 9 & T 
Status 1, 2, 4, 5, 9 & T 
Status 4, 5, 9 & T 
Status 1, 2, 4, 5, 9 & T 

Page 197



CARE Benefits  Care Data 
CARE Revaluation 

Status 1, 2, 4, 5, 9 & T 
N/A 

HMRC BCE* 2 
BCE* 5 
BCE* 6 
BCE* 7 
BCE* 8 
LTA* Charge Paid 
AA* Charge 

Status 5 & T 
Status 4 & T 
Status 5 & T 
Status 7 
Status 3 
Status 5 & T  
Status 1 

Contracted Out  Date Contracted Out 
NI Contributions / Earnings History 
Pre 88 GMP 
Post 88 GMP 

Status 1, 2, 4, 5 & T 
Status 1, 2, 4, 5 & T 
Status 4, 5, & T 
Status 4, 5, & T 
 

*BCE = Benefit Crystallisation Event  

When tackling the data errors identified the following considerations will be used when 
making the decision on the errors to be worked on first: 

 Priority identified on the error report 
 Data improvement plan objectives 

 
Data which has the greatest impact on member benefits will be looked at as a priority 
therefore any data errors highlighted on pensioner member records will be looked at first, 
followed by deferred and active members.  
 
Dorset County Pension fund signed a 3-year contract with Aquila Heywood to carry out the 
Data Quality reporting on our behalf.  The Systems Team have expanded their IT knowledge 
in understanding Structured Query Language and will be carrying out the reports in-house in 
2020. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 198



 
6.  Results from 2019 Data Quality 
 
The measures that were put in place prior to the Data Quality Review in August 2019 have 
shown an increase in our scores. 
 
Data area August 2019 data score Aim  
Common data  99.3% 100% 
Scheme specific data  98.1% 100% 

 

There has been a strong focus in the last two years to improve the quality of the Funds data, 
the following displays the volume of data cleansing that has been carried out. 

Fail 2017 2018 2019 

Co
nd

iti
on

al
 D

at
a 

Divorce Details 2 1 1 
Transfer In Details 1 5175 508 156 
Transfer In Details 2 80 6 0 
AVC Details 7 1 2 
Total Original Deferred Benefit 164 290 65 
Tranches of Original Deferred Benefit 223 246 48 
Total Gross Pension 30 38 10 
Tranches of Pension 332 526 229 
Total Gross Dependant Pension 8 6 1 
Tranches of Dependant Pension 58 66 53 
Date of Leaving 52 96 177 
Date Joined Scheme 6 2 1 
Employer Details 6 3 0 
Salary (Final Salary members) 1536 703 88 
Contributions 34390 6187 5080 
Leavers 16 8 1 
Service 878 617 8 
CARE data 4012 1877 489 
CARE Revaluation 0 0 0 
BCE 2 26 6 25 
BCE 5 5 4 3 
BCE 6 31 12 11 
BCE 7 34 30 30 
BCE 8 0 0 0 
Lifetime Allowance Charge Paid 16 17 4 
Annual Allowance 167 215 35 
Date Contracted Out 63 117 105 
NI Contributions / Earnings History 15822 4505 4540 
Pre 88 GMP 1704 1355 1332 
Post 88 GMP 8842 7446 7581 

Page 199



 TOTAL 73685 24888 20075 
 

Fail 2017 2018 2019 

Co
m

m
on

 D
at

a 

NI Number 685 626 598 
Name 0 0 0 
Sex & Date of Birth 0 0 0 
Date Commenced and NRD 23 6 2 
Status 0 0 0 
Status and invalid data view 1230 387 87 
Address 9647 10322 8777 
Status and valid data view 116 39 49 

 TOTAL 11701 11380 9513 
 

Page 200



Welcome to your
Dorset County Pension Fund
Annual Benefit Illustration 2019

P
age 201



1

Personal details
Please check this section carefully and notify us of any incorrect personal information.  If we do not hold your 
partnership details on our system, please notify us in writing, enclosing photocopies of your:

• marriage / civil partnership certificate / decree absolute

• spouse / partner’s birth certificate

If you have notified us that you are in a cohabiting partnership, your partnership status will show as ‘declared’.
 

Full name:

Date of birth: National Insurance Number:                 

Partnership status: 

Employer at 31/03/19:

Post ref number: Section of Scheme at 31/03/2019:       

Actual Pensionable Pay: Full Time Equivalent Pensionable Pay:

If you have more than one active post each will have a separate pension record and illustration, apart from new 
employments that commenced after 31 March 2019.

P
age 202



2

Present value of scheme benefits at 31 March 2019

Total pension at 31 March 2019: (per annum)

Contingent partner’s pension: (per annum)

Automatic lump sum : (for pre 2008 membership only)

The above figures show the current value of your Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) benefits accrued up to 31 
March 2019, assuming you retire on or after your State Pension Age, which is the Normal Retirement Date (NRD) for 
LGPS scheme benefits.

More details are on pages 3-4.

Projection to Normal Retirement Date

Normal Retirement Date (NRD):

Projected Total Pension at NRD: (per annum)

Projected Contingent partner’s pension at NRD: (per annum)

Automatic lump sum : (for pre 2008 membership only)

The above figures have been calculated, based on a projection of your accrued pre April 2014 Final Salary benefits, if 
applicable, plus your CARE benefits up to your Normal Retirement Date (NRD). 

More details are on page 5.

P
age 203



3

Breakdown of Scheme benefits at 31 March 2019
Your pension entitlement is calculated using the pay provided by your employer.  If these figures are incorrect it will 
affect your pension when you retire.  Any queries regarding these pay figures should be sent to your employer.

If you have purchased Additional 
Pension Contributions (APCs), 
Additional Regular Contributions 
(ARCs) or Added Years, the amount 
purchased will be included in your 
Total Pension.

Additional Voluntary Contributions 
(AVCs) are not included in this 
illustration, but you should receive 
an annual illustration directly from 
your AVC Provider.

Any Scheme Pays Offsets for 
Annual Allowance tax charges are 
not included in these figures.

Total pension at 31 March 2019: (per annum)

Your total pension is made up of your final salary benefits and your CARE benefits as detailed below.

Final Salary Benefits at 31 March 2019 – applicable for membership built up to 31 March 2014

Full Time Equivalent Pensionable Pay (Final Pay): 

Membership up to 31 March 2014:

Pension for pre April 2014 membership: (per annum)

Lump sum for pre 2008 membership: 

Please note that your Final Salary benefits are based on your full time equivalent pay (Final Pay) at date of leaving.  
Changes to the amounts quoted in this section will be the result of changes to your full time equivalent (Final Pay) only.

P
age 204



4

Career Average Revalued Earnings (CARE) benefits at 31 March 2019

Actual Pensionable Pay (CARE Pay) in year 01/04/2018 – 31/03/2019:

Amount of pension built up in year 2018/19

Main section 50/50 section Additional pension 
bought

In year CARE 
transfers in

Total

Pay/49 = £ Pay / 98 = £ £ £ £      

CARE pension account at 31 March 2019

Closing balance at  
31 March 2018

Cost of living adjustment 
(added 1 April 2018)

In Year build up  
(as shown above)

Total career average 
pension at 31 March 2019

£ + £ + £ = £  per annum 

Please ensure that you check the CARE pensionable pay above, which has been provided by your employer. If this 
figure is incorrect it may adversely affect your pension when you retire.

Your CARE pay figure is: 
 9  the actual pensionable pay 

received this financial year
 9  provided by your employer
 9  used to calculate the amount 

of pension earned in a year.

Reductions to pay
In cases of sickness, injury or contractual parental leave your CARE pay includes 
amounts added by your employer to ensure you don’t lose out on pension for this year.

In cases of authorised unpaid leave (including unpaid parental leave) your CARE 
pay will be lower. Your employer would have informed you how you could make 
up this shortfall.

P
age 205



5

Projections if you remain contributing to the Scheme until your Normal Pension Age

Normal Retirement Date (NRD):

Projected CARE Pension at NRD: £  per annum

Projected Final Salary pension at NRD: £  per annum

Projected Total Pension at NRD: £  per annum

Automatic lump sum: £

Projected Contingent Partner’s pension to NRD: £  per annum

These benefits have been calculated, based on a projection of your accrued pre 1 April 2014 Final Salary benefits, if 
these apply, plus your CARE benefits up to your Normal Retirement Date (NRD). Please be aware that pension 
projections using CARE assume that the same amount of CARE pension will be added each year and assume you 
continue working, receiving the same pay, until your NRD.  

Your Normal Retirement Date is your State Pension Age (SPA) (with a minimum of age 65), this may change if the 
Government alters your State Pension Age. This projection assumes that each year you will have the same amount of 
pension added to your pension account. Members can choose to retire voluntarily from age 55, however these benefits 
would be reduced for early payment if taken before your NRD.

Retirement tax free lump sum

On retirement you will have the option to take part of your benefits as a tax-free cash lump sum by giving up part of  
your pension. You will receive £12 lump sum for every £1 of yearly pension given up. Under current tax legislation, the 
maximum lump sum that you can take is 25% of the capital value of your pension benefits. Details of this are provided 
upon retirement. If you have membership prior to 1 April 2008, this will have a provision for an automatic lump sum 
based on your pre 1 April 2008 membership and 3/80th of your Full Time Equivalent Pay (Final Pay).

P
age 206



6

Life cover and family protection
If you die whilst in active service, the LGPS would ensure that your family is supported. It provides:

• a lump sum death grant of three times your actual pay, regardless of your length of membership

• an ongoing pension for your spouse, civil partner or eligible cohabiting partner.

Lump Sum death grant: £

Contingent pension: £  per annum

Deferred and some pensioner members are also entitled to a lump sum death grant. But you may be only entitled to 
one death grant where multiple, separate entitlements exist. Further details are in the enclosed newsletter.

The current nominee(s) to receive a 
death grant upon your death is 
shown in the table.

If you would like to nominate or 
change your existing nomination 
details, please complete and return 
an ‘Expression of Wish’ form.  
Details of where to find this form 
are on the back page.

Alternatively, you can amend your 
details on My Pension, our member 
portal.  Details on page 10.

Beneficiary Percentage of 
benefits payable

The DCPF Administrator has absolute discretion over who receives any lump sum death grant.

P
age 207



7

How benefits accrued before 1 April 2014 are calculated
Pension benefits accrued before 1 April 2014 are based on the length of time you were a member of the pension 
scheme (total membership) and your Full Time Equivalent Pay (Final Pay) at leaving. Membership prior to 1 April 2008 
is based on 1/80th of your Final Pay, plus 3/80th as a tax-free lump sum. Between 1 April 2008 and 31 March 2014, for 
each year of membership or part thereof, you will receive 1/60th of your Final Pay. 

Membership

For Final Salary pension calculations, your membership  
is the number of years and days before 1 April 2014  
that you were a member of the LGPS . This will include 
the following:

•  pension rights transferred in from a previous scheme 
or employer

•  any additional membership purchased

•  any additional membership awarded by your 
employer.

If you have worked part time during any period of your 
membership prior to 1 April 2014, the part time period has 
been adjusted to reflect the part time hours that were worked.

If you worked term time, your hours have been adjusted 
and reduced pro-rata based on the full amount of weeks 
per year.

Full Time Equivalent Pensionable Pay (Final Pay)

This is usually the pensionable pay earned during your final 
year of scheme membership, or one of the previous 2 years 
if this is higher. The Final Pay used in this illustration has 
been provided by your employer and is based on your 
pensionable earnings in the year up to 31 March 2019.

For part-time employees the Final Pay used will be the full 
time equivalent for your employment.

Some protection may be available to you at retirement if 
your pensionable pay has been reduced or restricted. More 
detailed information on this can be obtained from your 
employer.

P
age 208



8

How benefits accrued from 1 April 2014 are calculated
From 1 April 2014 your LGPS pension changed from a Final Salary 
scheme to a Career Average Revalued Earnings (CARE) scheme. In 
a CARE pension scheme your benefits build up each year in your 
pension account. Each year your pensionable pay is divided by the 
accrual rate of 1/49 to give the amount of annual pension gained in 
that year. This amount is added to your pension account. 

Each year the amount in your pension account is revalued in line with the Consumer Prices Index (CPI). This year  
the cost of living adjustment was 2.4%. Although last year’s 3% increase is shown on the illustration, the 2.4% increase 
due for this year is not shown. This is because the cost of living adjustment is added each year in April, after the date 
of this illustration.

In this example a member whose pensionable pay in the year 1 April 
to 31 March was £22,000 accrued an annual pension of £462.45, 
this annual income will be paid monthly throughout retirement. 

Every subsequent year a further amount of annual pension would 
then be added to the pension account, this amount would be paid 
annually in retirement.

50 / 50 section

The 50 / 50 section of the Scheme is designed to help members who are unable to afford the full contribution rate.  
If you have elected to be a member of the 50 / 50 section of the Scheme you pay in half the amount of your normal 
contributions and receive half the amount of pension accrual during that time. However, you would still have full ill 
health and death benefits while a member of the 50 / 50 section.

Example:
CARE pensionable pay of 
£22,000 X 1/ 49 = £448.98 
added to pension account

Example:
£448.98 added to pension account
Plus cost of living adjustment      
£448.98 x 3% = £462.45 (£13.47 CPI)

P
age 209



9

Pensions Tax

The Annual Allowance (AA)

Your annual allowance is the amount by which the 
value of your pension benefits may increase in 
any one year without having to apply a tax charge. 
Any pension growth over the 2018/ 2019 AA of 
£40,000 may be subject to tax at your highest tax 
rate. Promotions and high pay increases may 
cause a breach of your AA. If you have breached 
the £40,000 limit or are close to breaching it, we 
will check your pay figures carefully and write to 
you individually by October 2019. 

Please be aware that you are responsible for your 
own tax liabilities, DCPF are only able to inform 
you of the amount of annual allowance you have 
used within the DCPF fund.

Tapered Annual Allowance

You will be subject to a Tapered Annual Allowance if your 
‘Threshold Income’ is above £110,000 and your ‘Adjusted Income’ 
is above £150,000. Your Threshold Income is your taxable income 
from all sources including; salary, rental incomes and interest on 
saving, less tax reliefs including pension contributions. Your 
Adjusted Income is your Threshold Income plus any pension 
contributions to a defined contribution arrangement including 
Additional Voluntary Contributions (AVCs) and any Defined 
Benefit pension accrual. If you exceed these limits, your Annual 
Allowance will be reduced from £40,000 by £1 for every £2 you 
exceed, with a maximum reduction of £30,000. It is your 
responsibility to assess whether a Tapered Annual Allowance 
applies to you. If you think this may affect you, please see the 
HMRC website at www.gov.uk/guidance/pension-schemeswork- 
out-your-tapered-annual-allowance

The Lifetime Allowance (LTA)

From 1 April 2019 the standard pensions Lifetime Allowance has increased to £1,055,000, your LTA is calculated 
when you take your pension benefits. You may be affected if you are paid a high salary and / or you have a lot of 
pension membership. Individual Protection 2016 or Fixed Protection 2016 may be possible, please see the HMRC 
website for further details regarding these protections. www.gov.uk/guidance/pension-schemes-protect-your-
lifetime-allowance

P
age 210



10

Online Access to your Pension
Checking your pension is as easy as online banking with  
our secure My Pension website. With My Pension you can:

• update personal information and contact details
• see how much your pension is worth 
•  estimate how much your pension could be when  

you retire
•  view different options for converting pension to 

retirement lump sum
•  check your membership history and contribution rate

•  calculate death benefits and make or change your 
death grant nomination details

•  communicate with DCPF using the Contact Us  
page, selecting the appropriate query on the Category 
drop down.

Annual Benefit Illustrations on My Pension
 If you would like to receive your Annual Benefit Illustration 
on My Pension only and opt out of a paper copy sent to 
your address, this may be possible for your 2020 
illustration.  Please contact the DCPF using the details on 
the back of the booklet, stating your wish to opt out of 
paper illustrations. 

 If you wish to continuing receiving your Annual Benefit 
Illustration in paper copy sent to your address, you do not 
need to do anything.

How to register for My Pension
1. Go to https://mypension.dorsetcc.gov.uk/
2.  Click ‘Sign up to Member Self Service’ at the bottom left 

of the homepage
3. Click ‘Sign up here’ on the top right of the page
4.  Enter your surname, National Insurance number, date  

of birth and email address
5a.  If your email address is not held on our system, an 

activation code will be sent to you via email within  
2 working days

5b.  If your email address is on record, an activation key will 
be sent to you via email immediately

6.  When you have received your Activation Key, go to the 
homepage https://mypension.dorsetcc.gov.uk/  
and click ‘Login’

7. Select ‘Complete your Registration’
8.  Enter your surname, National Insurance number, date of 

birth and the Activation Key sent to your email address
9.  Create your Username, Password and select your 

Security Responses
10. Then you are registered and ready to log in.

P
age 211



Further information and disclaimer
This illustration cannot cover every personal circumstance and does not cover rights 
that apply to a limited number of employees e.g. where protected rights apply, or 
some of those whose rights are subject to a Pension Order following divorce. Please 
do not use this illustration for retirement purposes. If you are thinking of retiring, 
please obtain a pre-retirement estimate from Dorset County Pension Fund. 

In the event of any dispute over your pension benefits the appropriate legislation 
will prevail.

Contact us

If you have any queries concerning your annual 
benefit illustration, which are not pay related, 
please contact us in writing, quoting Annual 
Benefit Illustration 2019:  

Email: pensionshelpline@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
Post:   Dorset County Pension Fund, County Hall, 

Dorchester. DT1 1XJ
Online: https://mypension.dorsetcc.gov.uk/

For any pay queries please contact your 
employer directly, who will be able to check 
your details and notify us of any amendments 
that need to be made to your pension record. 

Along with some useful information there are a 
variety of forms available on our website:  
www.yourpension.org.uk/dorset

More information can be found on the LGPS 
members website at: www.lgpsmember.org

P
age 212



The Local Government Pension Scheme 

Please contact us:    Dorset County Pension Fund, County Hall, Dorchester, Dorset. DT1 1XJ 

  Email:    pensionshelpline@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk      

  Online Pension access:   https://mypension.dorsetcc.gov.uk  

Dorset County Pension Fund Newsletter 2019 
Included in this newsletter 

✓ DCPF branding 

✓ My Pension online 

✓ Lump sum death grant entitlements 

✓ Pension scams 

✓ Late retirement factors 

✓ LGPS (Miscellaneous Amendment) 

Regulations 2018 

✓ Increasing your benefits 

This leaflet provides you with important information regarding the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). If you have any 

queries regarding any of the topics discussed in this leaflet, please do not hesitate to contact a member of the pensions team at: 

pensionshelpline@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 

Dorset County Pension Fund new logo and email address 

The DCPF contact email addresses have all changed to a @dorsetcouncil.gov.uk format, in line with the 

host authority, Dorset Council.  The main contact email address for members of the DCPF is now 

pensionshelpline@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 

The Dorset County Pension Fund (DCPF) 

launched a new logo on 1 April 2019. 

As a result of the Local Government reorganisation 

in Dorset, the administering authority of the DCPF 

changed to Dorset Council. As the DCPF provides 

pensions administration for over 200 employers in 

Dorset, a fresh new identity was required. 

My Pension online 

Many members of the DCPF have registered with My Pension, the online self service pension website.  

This has provided them with the ability to look at their pension entitlements and calculate simple 

forecasts.  My Pension also provides the facility for sending communications from the DCPF directly to 

your My Pension account. 

If you would like to opt out of receiving a paper Annual Benefit Illustration and instead receive this 

information electronically on My Pension, please contact DCPF by email at 

pensionshelpline@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk . Please include in the subject line of the email - PAPER OPT 

OUT FOR ABI 2020.  Annual Benefit Illustrations will, for all members, be automatically uploaded and 

available on My Pension. 

If you wish to continue receiving your paper copy sent to your address you do not need to take any 

action at this time.  

Page 213



Assumed Pensionable Pay is used to ensure that your pension is not affected by any reduction to, or 

suspension of, your pensionable pay due to a period of sickness or injury.   

Assumed Pensionable Pay is also used to work out any enhancement to your pension awarded as a 

result of ill health retirement, any lump sum death grant following death in service, and any enhancement 

which is included in survivor benefits following death in service. 

Assumed Pensionable Pay is calculated as the average of the pensionable pay you received for the 3 

months (or 12 weeks if weekly paid) before your pay reduced due to sickness or injury absence or before 

you die or leave employment due to ill-health retirement. If your pensionable pay is reduced because you 

are away from work due to sickness or injury, or contractual parental leave, or due to a trade dispute, the 

reduction in your pay is ignored when calculating the Assumed Pensionable Pay. 

Lump sum death grant entitlements 

If you die in service as a member of the LGPS a lump sum death grant of three times your Assumed 

Pensionable Pay (please see below) at your date of death is paid, no matter how long you have been a 

member of the LGPS. 

If you also have a deferred benefit and/or a pension in payment from a previous period of membership 

of the LGPS, the lump sum death grant that will be payable is the greater of: 

• the total of any lump sum death grants payable from the deferred and/or pensions in payment 

• three times your Assumed Pensionable Pay at your date of death i.e. the in service death grant. 

If you pay Additional Voluntary Contributions (AVCs) arranged through the LGPS (in-house AVCs), the 

value of your AVC fund is payable. 

Assumed Pensionable Pay  

Privacy Notice 

Dorset Council as the administering authority of the Local Government Pension Scheme and the Dorset 

County Pension Fund values the privacy of those who provide personal data to it.  We will only collect 

and process your personal data in accordance with our Privacy Notice.  A copy of the Privacy Notice can 

be accessed by following this link 

https://www.yourpension.org.uk/Dorset/Accessibility/Privacy-and-Cookie-Policy.aspx    

By proceeding / providing personal data to the Pension Fund, you confirm that you have read and 

understood the Privacy Notice, which describes what information we collect and how we use it.  For 

more information about how we process your personal data, please contact the Dorset County Pension 

Fund using the contact details set out in the Privacy Notice. 

Late retirement factors to change 

The Government Actuary’s Department (GAD) have reviewed the factors and methodology for 

calculating the late retirement increases to benefits payable after normal pension age. These changes 

will come into force from the 1st September 2019 and will be applied to all benefits that are eligible. 

The revised increase factor on the pension will range between 0.010% and 0.022% depending on how 

many years late the benefits are paid and 0.001% on the lump sum.  

Page 214



Don’t let a scammer enjoy your retirement 

Scammers can be articulate and financially knowledgeable, with credible websites, testimonials and 

materials that are hard to distinguish from the real thing. Scammers design attractive offers to persuade 

you to transfer your pension pot to them or to release funds from it. It is then invested in unusual and 

high-risk investments like overseas property, renewable energy bonds, forestry, storage units, or simply 

stolen outright. 

 

Four simple steps to protect yourself from pension scams 

 

1. Reject unexpected offers 

If you’re contacted out of the blue about your pension, chances are it’s high risk or a scam. Be wary of 

free pension review offers. A free offer out of the blue from a company you have not dealt with before is 

probably a scam. Fortunately, research shows that 95% of unexpected pension offers are rejected.* 

2. Check who you’re dealing with 

Check the Financial Services Register (www.register.fca.org.uk) to make sure that anyone offering you 

advice or other financial services is Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) -authorised. If you don’t use an 

FCA-authorised firm, you also won’t have access to the Financial Ombudsman Service or the Financial 

Services Compensation Scheme. So you’re unlikely to get your money back if things go wrong. If the 

firm is on the FCA Register, you should call the Consumer Helpline on 0800 111 6768 to check the firm 

is permitted to give pension advice. 

Beware of fraudsters pretending to be from a firm authorised by the FCA, as it could be what we call a 

‘clone firm’. Use the contact details provided on the FCA Register, not the details they give you. 

3. Don’t be rushed or pressured 

Take your time to make all the checks you need – even if this means turning down an ‘amazing deal’. 

Be wary of promised returns that sound too good to be true and don’t be rushed or pressured into 

making a decision. 

4. Get impartial information and advice 

The Pensions Advisory Service (www.thepensionsadvisoryservice.org.uk) – Provides free independent 

and impartial information and guidance. 

Financial advisers – It’s important you make the best decision for your own personal circumstances, so 

you should seriously consider using the services of a financial adviser. If you do opt for a adviser, be 

sure to use one that is regulated by the FCA and never take investment advice from the company that 

contacted you or an adviser they suggest, as this may be part of the scam. 

www.fca.org.uk/scamsmart 

*FCA Financial Lives 

Possible changes to the LGPS 

There are many current national events and consultations which may affect the LGPS including: 

• the McCloud judgement and other court cases 

• a consultation on the implementation of the Public Sector Exit Cap  

• the Treasury and the Scheme Advisory Board’s review of the cost of the LGPS, which may also 

lead to change. 

At this time, nothing has been confirmed, but you will be contacted with all relevant information once any 

changes have been finalised. Page 215



LGPS (Miscellaneous Amendment) Regulations 2018 

A recent change to the LGPS has been made following the introduction of the LGPS (Miscellaneous 

Amendment) Regulations 2018.  The material change to active members of the LGPS is listed below. 

The full Miscellaneous Regulations can be found at http://lgpslibrary.org/assets/si/ew/SI2018-1366.pdf 

Changes to survivor benefits for same sex spouses and civil partners 

A change to the scheme rules has been made to provide that survivor benefits payable to a same sex 

spouse or a civil partner are equal to those paid to the widow of a male member.   

Why has the change been made? 

The change has been made as a result of a Supreme Court judgment (Walker v Innospec) which found 

that Mr Walker’s male spouse was entitled to the same benefits that would have been paid if Mr Walker 

had left a widow in an opposite sex marriage.  

Why does this apply to the LGPS?  

The government believes that the implication of this judgment for all public service pensions schemes, 

including the LGPS, is that surviving civil partners or surviving same sex spouses should be provided 

with benefits equal to those that would be left to the widow of a male member.   

When does the change take effect from? 

The change is backdated to the date that civil partnerships and same sex marriages were introduced – 

this is 5 December 2005 for civil partnerships and 13 March 2014 for same sex marriages.  

This means that where a member of the LGPS has died leaving a surviving civil partner or a same sex 

spouse, the survivor’s pension in payment will need to be reviewed and any additional amounts paid, 

where applicable. We are in the process of reviewing the impact of this change and will be contacting 

affected civil partners and same sex spouses in due course.  

Information in this leaflet is correct at the time of printing and is provided for information purposes only. We cannot cover 

personal circumstances and any advice given does not affect your statutory rights or over-ride existing legislation. 

July 2019 

Increasing your Pension Benefits 

Extra contributions made whilst you are still working will boost your benefits package and increase the 

amount of money you have for your retirement. You can pay extra contributions as a tax efficient way of 

topping up your benefits, although there are limits on the amount you can pay. There are also HM 

Revenue and Customs rules on the amount of pension savings you can have before the benefits become 

subject to tax. 

You can increase your benefits by paying: 

Additional Pension Contributions (APCs) to buy extra LGPS pension 

Additional Voluntary Contributions arranged through the LGPS (in house AVCs) 

Free standing Additional Voluntary Contributions (FSAVCs) to a provider of your choice 

Contributions into a personal pension plan or stakeholder pension 

For further details on the purchase of APCs please visit www.lgpsmember.org/more/apc 

For further information on the in-house AVC facility please contact the Prudential. 

Telephone: 0800 012 1378 

Website: www.pru.co.uk/localgov 

Disclaimer 

Page 216



 

Dorset Couty Pension Fund KPI Report 

Performance 2018/19 - report for period :

Number of complaints received

Admissions (DR01 & DR01W)

Transfers In Quote (DR02E, DR02R, DR03E & DR03R )

Transfers In Actual  (DR02A & DR03A)

Transfers Out (DR09E & DR10E)

Transfers Out actual (DR09A & DR10A)

Estimates Employee (DR08)

Estimates Employer (DR22, DR22I, DR22R & DR22W)

Retirements (DR14, DR14W & DR12 & DR12I & DR14I & DR22I, DR14T, DR12A, DR14A)

Deferred Benefits (DR11 & DR11W)

Refunds (DR16 & DR16W)

Deaths (DR23)

Correspondence (DR24 & DR24A)

Total

Top 10 detail - cases completed on time

Page 217



May 19 - July 19

#VALUE!

#VALUE! #VALUE! 30 #VALUE!

#VALUE! #VALUE! 15 #VALUE!

#VALUE! #VALUE! 20 #VALUE!

#VALUE! #VALUE! 10 #VALUE!

#VALUE! #VALUE! 10 #VALUE!

#VALUE! #VALUE! 15 #VALUE!

#VALUE! #VALUE! 15 #VALUE!

#VALUE! #VALUE! 5 #VALUE!

#VALUE! #VALUE! 40 #VALUE!

#VALUE! #VALUE! 15 #VALUE!

#VALUE! #VALUE! 5 #VALUE!

#VALUE! #VALUE! 30 #VALUE!

#VALUE! #VALUE! #VALUE!

Completed in period Performance KPI (days) Cases completed on time or early

Page 218



 
Date of Meeting: 12 September 2019 
 
Director:   Aidan Dunn, Executive Director Corporate Development

Executive Summary: 
 
Dorset County Council’s final audited accounts for 2018/1, including the Pension Fund 
accounts, were approved for publication by the Dorset Council Audit and Governance 
Committee on 26 July 2019 (Appendix 1). 
 
In the independent auditor’s opinion, the financial statements gave a true and fair view of 
the financial transactions of the pension fund during the year ended 31 March 2019 and of 
its assets and liabilities at that date, and were properly prepared in accordance with the 
CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 2018-19 (Appendix 2). 
 
The results of the pension fund audit are summarised in Appendix 3.  In addition, the 
auditor made two observations and recommendations for improvements to controls, 
summarised in Appendix 4. 
 

Equalities Impact Assessment:   
 
This report does not deal with any new strategies or polices that would trigger an impact 
assessment. 

Budget:  
 
Not applicable. 

Risk Assessment:  
 
Not applicable. 

Climate Implications: 
 
None. 

Other Implications:   
 
None. 

Recommendation: 
 
That the Committee: 

1) Note the publication of the final (audited) Pension Fund accounts for 2018-19. 
2) Note the opinion, work and observations of the independent auditor.  

Reason for Recommendation: 
 

 

Pension Fund Committee 

Pension Fund Accounts 2018-19 

Page 219

Agenda Item 13



Page 2  

To ensure that the Committee has assurance that the pension fund accounts represent a 
true and fair view of its transactions, assets and liabilities, and that the accounts have been 
properly prepared. 

Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1: Final Pension Fund Accounts 2018-19 
Appendix 2: Independent Auditor’s Report on the Pension Fund Financial Statements 
Appendix 3: Results from Audit of the Pension Fund Financial Statements 
Appendix 4: Independent Auditor’s Observations and Recommendations  

Background Papers: 
 
Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 
CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 2018-19 
 

Officer Contact:  
 
Name: David Wilkes, Service Manager for Operational Finance 
Tel: 01305 224119 
Email: investments@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 

 

Page 220



DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS Appendix 1

2017/18 2018/19

£'000 £'000 Note £'000 £'000

119,537   Contributions 7 122,212   

92,166   Employer contributions 94,290   

27,371   Member contributions 27,922   

8,615   Transfers in from other pension funds 8 5,938   

128,152   Total additions from dealing with members etc. 128,150   

(113,223)  Benefits 9 (120,112)  

(92,186)  Pensions (98,737)  

(18,989)  Commutations and retirement grants (17,771)  

(2,048)  Death benefits (3,604)  

(6,688)  Payments to and on account of leavers (5,700)  

(340)  Refunds of contributions (296)  

(111)  State scheme premiums -     

(6,237)  Transfers to other pension funds (5,404)  

8,241   2,338   

(13,654)  Management expenses 10 (14,345)  

(5,413)  (12,007)  

48,919   Investment Income 11 30,533   

37,265   Dividends from equities 18,693   

10,908   Rents from properties 10,439   

942   Income from property funds 1,109   

134   Interest on cash deposits 481   

184   Other investment income 71   

(514)  Taxes on income (260)  

88,715   143,208   

137,634   Net return on investments 173,741   

132,221   161,734   

2,735,997   Opening net assets of the fund 1 April 2,868,218   

2,868,218   Closing net assets of the fund 31 March 3,029,952   

FUND ACCOUNT

Dealings with members, employers and others 

directly involved in the Fund

Net increase/(decrease) in assets available for 

benefits during the year

Profit/(loss) on disposal of investments and changes 

in the  value of investments

Net additions/(withdrawals) from dealings with 

members and others

Net additions/(withdrawals) including Fund 

management expenses

1

Page 221



DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS Appendix 1

31 March 2018 31 March 2019

£'000 £'000 Note £'000 £'000

840 Long term investments 12 395  

840   Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd 395  

2,860,059  Investment assets 13 3,025,386  

448,550   UK equities (quoted) 29,469  

644,160   Overseas equities (quoted) 421,913  

1,388,985   Pooled investment vehicles 2,104,713  

76,486   Private equity 80,275  

255,830   Property 281,480  

39,995   Cash & cash equivalents 103,022  

920   Derivative contracts 733  

5,133   Other investment assets 3,781  

(3,778)  Investment liabilities 13 (1,686) 

(3,778)  Other investment liabilities (1,686) 

2,857,121 Total net investments 13 3,024,095  

2,895   Long term debtors 1,930  

2,895   Other long term debtors 1,930  

12,249  Current assets 12,911  

7,554  Contributions due from employers 8,689  

4,695   Other current assets 4,222  

(4,047) Current liabilities (8,984) 

(229)  Unpaid benefits (534) 

(3,818)  Other current liabilities (8,330) 

-     Deferred income (120) 

2,868,218 Net assets available to fund benefits 3,029,952

NET ASSETS STATEMENT

2

Page 222



NOTES TO THE DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS Appendix 1

-

-

-

-

-

31 March 2018 31 March 2019

291  Total Employers 297  

Employees

6,872   Administering Authority 6,488  

18,426   Other Scheduled Bodies 18,052  

573   Admitted Bodies 528  

25,871   Total Employees 25,068  

 Pensioners

8,319   Administering Authority 8,639  

11,608   Other Scheduled Bodies 12,155  

1,290   Admitted Bodies 1,341  

21,217   Total Pensioners 22,135  

 Deferred Pensioners

8,950   Administering Authority 8,950  

13,644   Other Scheduled Bodies 13,746  

1,269   Admitted Bodies 1,234  

23,863   Total Deferred Pensioners 23,930  

2,218  'Undecided' members 4,105  

73,169  Total Members 75,238  

The scheme is governed by the Public Service Pensions Act 2013. The fund is administered in accordance with the 

following secondary legislation: 

the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 (as amended) 

the Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment) Regulations 2014 (as 

the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016.

It is a contributory defined benefit pension scheme administered by the Council to provide pensions and other benefits 

for pensionable employees of the Council, other councils and a range of other scheduled and admitted bodies within 

the county area. Teachers, police officers and firefighters are not included as they come within other national pension 

schemes. The fund is overseen by the Dorset County Pension Fund Committee, which is a committee of the Council.

d) Benefits

Prior to 1 April 2014, pension benefits under the LGPS were based on final pensionable pay and length of pensionable 

service. From 1 April 2014, the scheme became a career average scheme, whereby members accrue benefits based 

on their pensionable pay in that year at an accrual rate of 1/49th. Accrued pension is uprated annually in line with the 

Consumer Prices Index. A range of other benefits are also provided including early retirement, disability pensions and 

death benefits.

NOTE 1. DESCRIPTION OF THE FUND

The Dorset County Pension Fund ("the Fund") is part of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) and was 

administered by Dorset County Council ("the Council") up to 31 March 2019.  Following reorganisation of local 

government in Dorset, Dorset Council became the administering authority for the Fund from 1 April 2019.

Membership details are set out below:

a) General

b) Membership

Membership of the LGPS is voluntary and employees are free to choose whether to join the scheme, remain in the 

scheme or make their own personal arrangements outside the scheme.

Organisations participating in the Fund include the following: 

Scheduled bodies, which are automatically entitled to be members of the Fund.

Admitted bodies, which participate in the fund under the terms of an admission agreement between the Fund and 

the employer. Admitted bodies include voluntary, charitable and similar not-for-profit organisations, or private 

contractors undertaking a local authority function following outsourcing to the private sector. 

c) Funding

Benefits are funded by contributions and investment earnings. Contributions are made by active members of the fund in 

accordance with the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 and ranged from 5.5% to 12.5% of 

pensionable pay for the financial year ending 31 March 2019. Employers’ contributions are set based on triennial 

actuarial funding valuations. The last such valuation was at 31 March 2016. Currently, employer contribution rates range 

from 9.5% to 26.6% of pensionable pay.

3

Page 223



NOTES TO THE DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS Appendix 1

Taxation

Employer contributions are set at the percentage rate recommended by the fund actuary for the period to which they 

relate. 

The Fund is a registered public service scheme under Section 1(1) of Schedule 36 of the Finance Act 2004 and as 

such is exempt from UK income tax on interest received and from capital gains tax on the proceeds of investments 

sold. Income from overseas investments suffers withholding tax in the country of origin, unless exemption is 

permitted. Irrecoverable tax is accounted for as a fund expense as it arises.

Management expenses

The Fund discloses its pension fund management expenses in accordance with the CIPFA guidance Accounting for 

Local Government Pension Scheme Management Expenses (2016). All items of expenditure are charged to the 

Fund on an accruals basis.

Employer deficit funding contributions are accounted for on the basis advised by the fund actuary in the rates and 

adjustment certificate issued to the relevant employing body. Additional employers’ contributions in respect of ill-

health and early retirements are accounted for in the year the event arose. Any amount due in the year but unpaid 

will be classed as a current financial asset. Amounts not due until future years are classed as longterm financial 

assets.

Investment income

Transfers in and out relate to members who have either joined or left the Fund. 

Individual transfers in/out are accounted for when received or paid. Transfers in from members wishing to use the 

proceeds of their additional voluntary contributions (see below) to purchase scheme benefits are accounted for on a 

receipts basis and are included in Transfers In (Note 8).

Bulk (group) transfers are accounted for in accordance with the terms of the transfer agreement. 

Interest income is recognised in the Fund account as it accrues, using the effective interest rate of the financial 

instrument as at the date of acquisition or origination. 

Dividend income is recognised on the date the shares are quoted ex-dividend. Any amount not received by the end 

of the reporting period is disclosed in the net assets statement as a current financial asset. 

Distributions from pooled funds are recognised at the date of issue. Any amount not received by the end of the 

reporting period is disclosed in the net assets statement as a current financial asset. 

Employee contribution rates are set in accordance with LGPS regulations, using common percentage rates for all 

schemes which rise according to pensionable pay.

Paragraph 3.3.1.2 of the Code requires disclosure of any accounting standards issued but not yet adopted. No such 

accounting standards have been identified for 2018/19.

The accounts report on the net assets available to pay pension benefits. They do not take account of obligations to pay 

pensions and benefits which fall due after the end of the financial year nor do they take into account the actuarial 

present value of promised retirement benefits. The Code gives administering authorities the option to disclose this 

information in the net assets statement, in the notes to the accounts or by appending an actuarial report prepared for 

this purpose. The Fund has opted to disclose this information by appending an actuarial report.

Property-related income consists primarily of rental income. Rental income from operating leases on properties 

owned by the Fund is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Any lease incentives granted 

are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income, over the term of the lease. Contingent rents based on 

the future amount of a factor that changes other than with the passage of time, such as turnover rents, are only 

recognised when contractually due. 

Changes in the value of investments (including investment properties) are recognised as income and comprise all 

realised and unrealised profits/losses during the year.

Benefits payable

Pensions and lump-sum benefits payable include all amounts known to be due as at the end of the financial year. 

Any amounts due but unpaid are disclosed in the net assets statement as current liabilities, providing that payment 

has been approved.

Normal contributions are accounted for on an accruals basis as follows: 

NOTE 2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

The statement of accounts summarise the Fund's transactions for the 2018/19 financial year and its financial position at 

31 March 2019. The accounts have been prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority 

Accounting in the United Kingdom 2018/19 ("the Code"), which is based upon International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS), as amended for the UK public sector.

The accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis.

NOTE 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Fund Account:

Transfers to and from other schemes

Contribution income

4

Page 224



NOTES TO THE DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS Appendix 1

Financial assets

Dividends, interest and purchases and sales of investments in foreign currencies have been accounted for at the 

spot market rates at the date of transaction. End-of-year spot market exchange rates are used to value cash 

balances held in foreign currency bank accounts, overseas investments and purchases and sales outstanding at the 

end of the reporting period.

The Fund uses derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to specific risks arising from its investment 

activities. The Fund does not hold derivatives for speculative purposes.

Cash comprises cash in hand and demand deposits and includes amounts held by the Fund’s external managers. 

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and 

that are subject to minimal risk of changes in value.

Loans and receivables 

Financial liabilities 

A financial liability is recognised in the net assets statement on the date the Fund becomes party to the liability. The 

Fund recognises financial liabilities relating to investment trading at fair value as at the reporting date, and any gains 

or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the liability between contract date, the year-end date and the 

eventual settlement date are recognised in the fund account as part of the change in value of investments. 

Other financial liabilities classed as amortised cost are carried at amortised cost ie the amount carried in the net 

asset statement is the outstanding principal repayable plus accrued interest. Any interest charged is accounted for 

on an accruals basis and included in administration costs.

Derivatives

Cash and cash equivalents 

Actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits 

The actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits is assessed on a triennial basis by the scheme actuary 

in accordance with the requirements of International Accounting Standard (IAS) 19 and relevant actuarial standards. 

As permitted under the Code, the Fund has opted to disclose the actuarial present value of promised retirement 

benefits by way of an actuarial report appended to the accounts. 

Additional voluntary contributions 

The Fund provides an additional voluntary contribution (AVC) scheme for its members, the assets of which are 

invested separately from those of the Fund. AVCs are not included in the accounts in accordance with Section 

4(1)(b) of the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of funds) Regulations 2016 but are 

disclosed for information in Note 20.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities 

A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place giving rise to a possible asset whose existence will only 

be confirmed or otherwise by the occurrence of future events. 

Financial assets classed as amortised cost are carried in the net asset statement at amortised cost, ie the 

outstanding principal receivable as at the year-end date plus accrued interest.

All investment assets are included in the financial statements on a fair value basis as at the reporting date. A 

financial asset is recognised in the net assets statement on the date the Fund becomes party to the contractual 

acquisition of the asset. From this date any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the asset are 

recognised in the fund account. 

The values of investments as shown in the net assets statement have been determined at fair value in accordance 

with the requirements of the Code and IFRS 13 (see Note 16). For the purposes of disclosing levels of fair value 

hierarchy, the Fund has adopted the classification guidelines recommended in Practical Guidance on Investment 

Disclosures (PRAG/Investment Association, 2016). 

Properties are valued annually as at the year-end date by independent external valuers on a fair value basis and in 

accordance with the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors’ (RICS) Valuation Standards.  See Note 16 for more 

details.

Foreign currency transactions 

Net Assets Statement:

Freehold and leasehold properties

Contingent assets and liabilities are not recognised in the net asset statement but are disclosed by way of narrative 

in the notes (see Note 22).

A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place prior to the year-end giving rise to a possible financial 

obligation whose existence will only be confirmed or otherwise by the occurrence of future events. Contingent 

liabilities can also arise in circumstances where a provision would be made, except that it is not possible at the 

balance sheet date to measure the value of the financial obligation reliably. 

5

Page 225



NOTES TO THE DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS Appendix 1

The items in the net asset statement for which there is a significant risk of material adjustment the following year are as 

follows:

Actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits (Note 19)

Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions depends on a number of complex judgements relating to the discount 

rate used, salary increases, changes in retirement ages, mortality rates and returns on fund assets. A firm of 

consulting actuaries is engaged to provide the fund with expert advice about the assumptions to be applied.

Private equity investments (Note 16)

Private equity investments are valued at fair value in accordance with International Private Equity and Venture 

Capital Valuation Guidelines (2012). Investments are not publicly listed and as such there is a degree of estimation 

involved in the valuation.

Freehold, leasehold property and pooled property funds (Note 16)

Valuation techniques are used to determine the carrying amount of pooled property funds and directly held freehold 

and leasehold property. Where possible these valuation techniques are based on observable data but where this is 

not possible management uses the best available data. 

NOTE 4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES

NOTE 6. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

There are events, both favourable and unfavourable, that can occur between the end of the reporting period and the 

date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.  There are events that provide additional information about 

conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period (adjusting events), and events that occur after the reporting 

period (non-adjusting events). 

NOTE 5. ASSUMPTIONS MADE ABOUT THE FUTURE AND OTHER MAJOR SOURCES OF UNCERTAINTY

Pension fund liability 

The net Fund liability is re-calculated every three years by the appointed actuary, with annual updates in the 

intervening years. The methodology used is in line with accepted guidelines. 

This estimate is subject to significant variances based on changes to the underlying assumptions which are agreed 

with the actuary and have been summarised in Note 18. Actuarial re-valuations are used to set future contribution 

rates and underpin the Fund’s most significant investment management policies, for example in terms of the balance 

struck between longer term investment growth and short-term yield/return.

The Fund’s property portfolio includes a number of directly owned properties which are leased commercially to 

various tenants. The Fund has determined that these contracts all constitute operating lease arrangements under the 

classifications permitted by IAS 7 and the Code, therefore the properties are retained on the net asset statement at 

fair value. 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 

affect the reported amounts. Estimates and assumptions take account of historical experience, current trends and 

future expectations, however actual outcomes could be different from the assumptions and estimates made. 

Directly held property 

Brexit

On 10 April 2019 European Union (EU) leaders agreed to an extension of article 50, which may delay the date the UK 

will exit the EU until 31 October 2019.  The terms of a final exit agreement are still to be agreed, but it is expected that 

this will have short and long term implications for the Fund's assets and liabilities.

6

Page 226



NOTES TO THE DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS Appendix 1

2017/18 2018/19

£'000 Employer contributions £'000

66,550 Contributions re future service costs 68,282

18,771 Contributions re past service costs (deficit recovery) 22,325

76 Voluntary additional contributions 101

3,562 Augmentation cost of early retirements 3,575

3,207 Exit payments from employers -        

-        Exit credits to employers 7

92,166 Total employer contributions 94,290

27,371 Member contributions 27,922

119,537 Total contributions receivable 122,212

2017/18 2018/19

£'000 £'000

32,547  Administering authority 35,391

79,464  Other scheduled bodies 83,016

7,526  Admitted bodies 3,805

119,537 Total contributions receivable 122,212

2017/18 2018/19

£'000 £'000

37,408  Administering authority 40,151

67,824  Other scheduled bodies 72,131

7,991  Admitted bodies 7,830

113,223 Total benefits payable 120,112

NOTE 10. MANAGEMENT EXPENSES

2017/18 2018/19

£'000 £'000 

1,775 Administrative expenses 1,745

532 Oversight and governance costs 609

11,347 Investment management expenses 11,991

13,654 Total management expenses 14,345

Investment management expenses consisted of:

2017/18 2018/19

£'000 £'000 

9,306 Investment management fees 10,002

442 Performance related fees 282

218 Custody fees 123

440 Transaction costs 771

941 Other fees and costs 813

11,347 Total investment management expenses 11,991

NOTE 7. CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVABLE

All transfers in from other pension funds were individual transfers, there were no group transfers to the Fund in 2018-19.

By category:

NOTE 9. BENEFITS PAYABLE

By type of employer:

By type of employer:

NOTE 8. TRANSFERS IN FROM OTHER PENSION FUNDS

Transaction costs associated with pooled investment vehicles are taken into account in calculating the bid/offer spread 

of these investments and are therefore embedded within the purchase and sales costs and not separately identifiable.  

All other transaction costs have been charged to the Fund Account.

The table below shows a breakdown of the management expenses incurred during the year.

7

Page 227



NOTES TO THE DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS Appendix 1

NOTE 11. INVESTMENT INCOME

Rents from properties are shown net of operating expenses of £1,152k in 2018-19 (£734k in 2017-18).

Each of the ten funds own an equal share of Brunel, with share capital invested by each fund at a cost of £840k.  The 

Fund's shareholding in Brunel was valued at cost at 31 March 2018.  The value of each fund's shareholding based on 

Brunel's most recently audited accounts was £395k, and the value of the Fund's shareholding has been impaired 

(adjusted downwards) to reflect this. 

In response to the requirements of the investment regulations for LGPS funds to pool investment assets, Brunel Pension 

Partnership Ltd (Brunel) has been formed to oversee the investment assets for the Avon, Buckinghamshire. Cornwall, 

Devon, Dorset, Environment Agency, Gloucestershire, Oxfordshire, Somerset, and Wiltshire LGPS funds.  

The Fund lends UK and overseas equity stock held in the portfolio. All benefits as a stockholder are retained except for 

the voting rights. The income from stock lending was £71k. The value of stock on loan as at 31 March 2019 was £13.5M 

secured by total collateral worth £14.4M.

NOTE 12. LONG TERM INVESTMENTS

8

Page 228



NOTES TO THE DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS Appendix 1

31 March 2018 31 March 2019

Portfolio / Manager / Pooled Vehicle

% £'000 £'000 %

0.00%   840   Long Term Investments 395   0.00%   

840     Brunel Pensions Partnership 395   

15.70%   448,550   UK Equities - Quoted 29,469   1.00%   

401,402     Dorset County Council -     

16,771     Allianz -     

14,586     Investec 14,932   

15,791     Wellington 14,537   

22.50%   644,160   Overseas Equities - Quoted 421,913   14.00%   

265,107     Allianz -     

181,341     Investec 200,402   

197,712     Wellington 221,511   

2.70%   76,486   Private Equity 80,275   2.70%   

41,438     HarbourVest 46,925   

35,048     Aberdeen Standard 32,091   

-       Capital Dynamics Global Secondary Fund V 1,259   

9.00%   255,830   Property (directly owned) 281,480   9.30%   

255,830     CBRE Global Investors 281,480   

Pooled Investment Vehicles:

7.20%   204,504   Bonds 214,353   7.10%   

204,504     RLAM / Unit Linked Inv Fund - Life Policy 214,353   

8.60%   245,842   UK Equities - Quoted 613,642   20.20%   

190,746     AXA Framlington / Unit Trust -     

55,096     Schroders / Unit Trust 52,033   

-       LGIM (passive UK) 374,013   

-       Brunel (active UK) 187,596   

3.60%   103,281   Overseas Equities - Quoted 379,228   12.50%   

103,281     JP Morgan / Unit Trust 98,177   

-       LGIM (passive smart beta) 281,051   

4.80%   136,206   Multi Asset Credit (MAC) 139,717   4.60%   

136,206     CQS 139,717   

1.40%   39,547   Property 41,792   1.40%   

8,897     Lend Lease Retail Partnership 8,255   

14,577     Standard Life UK Shopping Centre Trust 13,415   

16,073     UK Long Income Property Fund 17,183   

-       Aberdeen Standard Long Lease Property Fund 2,939   

6.10%   173,342   Diversified Growth Funds 176,110   5.80%   

173,342     Barings Asset Management / Non UCITS (PIF) 176,110   

3.70%   106,545   Infrastructure 138,742   4.60%   

32,964     Hermes GPE / Infrastructure Fund 51,897   

73,581     IFM / Global Infrastucture Fund 86,845   

13.30%   379,718   Liability Driven Investment 401,129   13.30%   

379,718     Insight / LDI Active 16 Fund 401,129   

48.70%   1,388,985   Total - Pooled Investments 2,104,713   69.50%   

1.40%   39,995   Cash & Cash Equivalents 103,022   3.40%   

0.00%   920   Derivatives 733   0.00%   

0.00%   1,355   Investment Receivables/(Payables) 2,095   0.10%   

100.00% 2,857,121   Total Investments 3,024,095   100.00%

Market Value Market Value

The following table summarises details of the market valuation of the Fund's investments as at the reporting date.

Any single investments exceeding 5% of total net assets are in pooled investment vehicles made up of underlying 

investments each of which represent substantially less than 5% of total net assets.

NOTE 13. INVESTMENTS

9

Page 229



NOTES TO THE DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS Appendix 1

Value

1 April

Purch's & 

Derivative

Sales &

Derivative

Change in

market

Value

31 March

2018 payments receipts value 2019

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Equities - Unquoted 840 -      -      (445) 395

Equities - Quoted 1,092,710 361,201  (1,093,014) 90,485  451,382

Pooled Investment Vehicles 1,388,985 1,343,933  (685,171) 56,966  2,104,713

Private Equity 76,486 40,297  (53,046) 16,538  80,275

Property 255,830 23,622  (1,387) 3,415  281,480

Total Securities 2,814,851 1,769,053 (1,832,618) 166,959 2,918,245

Forward Foreign Exchange 920 29,532  (5,968) (23,751) 733

Total Securities and Derivatives 2,815,771 1,798,585 (1,838,586) 143,208 2,918,978

Other Investment Balances:

Cash & cash equivalents 39,995 -        -        -        103,022

Other investment assets 5,133 -        -        -        3,781

Other investment liabilities (3,778) -        -        -        (1,686)

Net Investment Assets 2,857,121 1,798,585 (1,838,586) 143,208 3,024,095

NOTE 15. ANALYSIS OF DERIVATIVES

Settlement Currency 

Bought

Local 

Value

Currency 

Sold

Local 

Value

Asset 

Value

Liability 

Value

000s 000s £'000 £'000

1-6 months GBP 22,143 EUR 25,461 144   -     

GBP 153,122 USD 199,519 596   -     

JPY 40,938 GBP 284 -     -     

GBP 13,455 JPY 1,937,315 -     (7)

Open Forward Currency Contracts at 31 March 2019 740   (7)  

Net Forward Currency Contracts at 31 March 2019 733

NOTE 16. FAIR VALUE OF INVESTMENT ASSETS

Level 1:

Level 2:

Level 3:

All investment assets have been valued using fair value techniques which represent the highest and best price available 

at the reporting date.  Asset valuations have been classified into three levels, according to the quality and reliability of 

information used to determine fair values, as follows:

The following tables summarise the Fund's investment assets by class at 31 March 2019 and at 31 March 2018 

measured at fair value according to the above fair value hierarchy.

where fair values are derived form unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets;

where market prices are not available, for example, where an asset is traded in a market that is not 

considered to be active, but where valuation techniques are based significantly on observable market 

data;

where at least one input that could have a significant effect on the valuation of the asset is not based 

on observable market data.

The Fund's holdings in derivatives are to hedge liabilities or exposures to reduce risk. To maintain appropriate 

diversification a significanct proportion of the Fund's equity portfolio is in overseas stock. To reduce the volatility 

associated with fluctuating currency rates, the Fund hedges 50% of the US Dollar, Euro and Japanese Yen exposure 

within the portfolios managed by the Fund's global equties managers, Investec Asset Management and Wellington 

Management. As at 31 March 2019, the Fund held the following open forward currency contracts.

The following table summarises details of purchases, sales and changes in the market valuation of investments in the 

fund during the financial year.

NOTE 14. RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS IN INVESTMENTS AND DERIVATIVES

10

Page 230



NOTES TO THE DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS Appendix 1

Level 1 

£'000

Level 2 

£'000

Level 3 

£'000

Total

£'000

UK Equities - Quoted 29,469  -        -        29,469  

Overseas equities - Quoted 421,913  -        -        421,913  

Pooled Investment Vehicles -        1,927,120  177,593  2,104,713  

Private Equity -        -        80,275  80,275  

Property -        -        281,480  281,480  

Cash & Cash Equivalents 103,022  -        -        103,022  

Derivatives 733  -        -        733  

Other investment assets 3,781  -        -        3,781  

Total 558,918  1,927,120  539,348  3,025,386  

Level 1 

£'000

Level 2 

£'000

Level 3 

£'000

Total

£'000

UK Equities - Quoted 448,550  -        -        448,550  

Overseas equities - Quoted 644,160  -        -        644,160  

Pooled Investment Vehicles -        1,242,893  146,092  1,388,985  

Private Equity -        -        76,486  76,486  

Property -        -        255,830  255,830  

Cash & Cash Equivalents 39,995  -        -        39,995  

Derivatives 920  -        -        920  

Other investment assets 5,133  -        -        5,133  

Total 1,138,758  1,242,893  478,408  2,860,059  

Description of Asset Basis of Valuation Key Inputs Key Sensitivities

Level 1:

Level 2:

Level 3:

Not required.

Exchange traded pooled 

investments

Published exchange prices at 

the reporting date.

Valued at fair value at the 

reporting date by Peter Sudell 

FRICS of BNP Paribas Real 

Estate and Andrew Wells 

FRICS (the Derwent portfolio) 

of Allsop LLP, both acting as 

independent valuers and in 

accordance with current RICS 

Valuation Standards.

Not required. Not required.

Significant changes in rental 

growth, vacancy levels or 

the discount rate could 

affect valuations, as could 

more general changes to 

market prices.

Not required.

Pooled investments - unit 

trusts etc.

Closing bid price where bid 

and offer prices are published, 

or closing single price where 

single price only is published.

Net Asset Value (NAV) 

based pricing set on a 

forward pricing basis.

Freehold and leasehold 

properties

Existing lease terms and 

rentals, independent 

market research, nature of 

tenancies, covenant 

strength for existing 

tenants, assumed 

vacancy levels, estimated 

rental growth, discount 

rate.

Not required.

The basis of the valuation of each class of investment asset is summarised below.

Market quoted investments Published bid market price 

ruling on the final day of the 

accounting period.

31 March 2019

31 March 2018

During the year ended 31 March 2019 there were no transfers between levels 1, 2 or 3 of the fair value hierarchy .

11

Page 231



NOTES TO THE DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS Appendix 1

Description of Asset Basis of Valuation Key Inputs Key Sensitivities

Sensitivity of assets valued at Level 3

(+/-) £'000 £'000 £'000

10.00% 177,593  195,352  159,834  

15.00% 80,275  92,316  68,234  

10.00% 281,480  309,628  253,332  

Total 539,348  597,296  481,400  

(a) Market Risk

NOTE 17. NATURE AND EXTENT OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following table demonstrates the change in the net assets available to pay benefits if the market price for each 

class of investment had increased or decreased by 15%, excluding temporary investments and cash deposits.

Valuations could be affected 

by material events occurring 

between the date of the 

financial statements 

provided and the Fund's 

reporting date, changes to 

expected cashflows, 

differences between audited 

and unaudited accounts.

Property funds

Other price risk represents the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in 

market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or foreign exchange risk), whether those changes are 

caused by factors specific to the individual instrument or its issuer or factors affecting all such instruments in the 

market. The Fund's investment managers mitigate this risk through diversification in line with their own investment 

strategies.

(a) (i) Other Price Risk

Underlying assets valued at 

fair value at the reporting date 

by each fund's valuers in 

accordance with current RICS 

Valuation Standards, taking 

account of other financial 

assets and liabilities within the 

fund structure.

Existing lease terms and 

rentals, independent 

market research, nature of 

tenancies, covenant 

strength for existing 

tenants, assumed 

vacancy levels, estimated 

rental growth, discount 

rate.

Significant changes in rental 

growth, vacancy levels or 

the discount rate could 

affect valuations, as could 

more general changes to 

market prices.

The Fund's primary long-term risk is that its assets will fall short of its liabilities (i.e. promised benefits payable to 

members). Therefore the aim of investment risk management is to minimise the risk of an overall reduction in the value 

of the Fund and to maximise the opportunities for gains across the whole Fund portfolio. The Fund achieves this through 

asset diversification to reduce exposure to market risk (price risk, interest rate risk and currency risk) and credit risk to 

an acceptable level. In addition, the Fund manages its liquidity risk to ensure there is sufficient liquidity to meet its 

forecast cash flows.

Market risk is the risk of loss resulting from general market fluctuations in equity and commodity prices, interest and 

foreign exchange rates and credit spreads. The Fund is exposed to market risk from its investment activities, 

particularly through its equity holdings. In general, excessive volatility in market risk is managed through the 

diversification of the portfolio in terms of geographical and industry sectors and individual securities, and by gaining 

exposure to different markets through different investment managers. Exposure to specific markets and asset classes 

is limited by applying strategic targets to asset allocation, which are agreed and monitored by the Committee.

Responsibility for the Fund's risk management strategy rests with the Committee. The Committee receives regular 

reports from each investment manager and from its Independent Adviser on the nature of the investments made and 

their associated risks.

Unquoted equity Comparable valuation of 

similar companies in 

accordance with International 

Private Equity and Venture 

Capital Valuation Guidelines 

(2012).

Earnings (EBITDA) and 

revenue multiples, 

discount for lack of 

marketability, control 

premium.

Having analysed historical data and current market trends, and consulted with independent investment advisors, the 

fund has deternined that the valuation methods described above are likely to be accurate within the following ranges, 

and has set out below the consequent potential impact on the closing values of investments held at 31 March 2019.

Pooled Investment Vehicles

Private Equity

Property

Value at 31 

March 2019

Value on 

Increase 

£'000

Value on 

Decrease 

£'000

Valuation 

range

% 

12

Page 232



NOTES TO THE DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS Appendix 1

As at 31 March 2019 Value            

£'000

Change

% 

Increase 

£'000

Decrease 

£'000

29,469  15.00% 4,420  (4,420) 

421,913  15.00% 63,287  (63,287) 

2,104,713  15.00% 315,707  (315,707) 

80,275  15.00% 12,041  (12,041) 

281,480  15.00% 42,222  (42,222) 

103,022  0.00% -        -        

733  15.00% 110  (110) 

3,781  0.00% -        -        

Total 3,025,386  14.47% 437,787  (437,787) 

As at 31 March 2018 Value            

£'000

Change

% 

Increase 

£'000

Decrease 

£'000

448,550  15.00% 67,283  (67,283) 

644,160  15.00% 96,624  (96,624) 

1,388,985  15.00% 208,348  (208,348) 

76,486  15.00% 11,473  (11,473) 

255,830  15.00% 38,375  (38,375) 

39,995  0.00% -        -        

920  15.00% 138  (138) 

5,133  0.00% -        -        

Total 2,860,059  14.76% 422,241  (422,241) 

As at 31 March 2019 Market

Value +1% -1%

£'000 £'000 £'000

103,022  1,030  (1,030) 

214,353 2,144  (2,144) 

  Multi Asset Credit (MAC) 139,717 1,397  (1,397) 

  Liability Driven Investment (LDI) 401,129 4,011  (4,011) 

Total 858,221  8,582  (8,582) 

As at 31 March 2018 Market

Value +1% -1%

£'000 £'000 £'000

39,995  400  (400) 

204,504 2,045  (2,045) 

  Multi Asset Credit (MAC) 136,206 1,362  (1,362) 

  Liability Driven Investment (LDI) 379,718 3,797  (3,797) 

Total 760,423  7,604  (7,604) 

Assets held in pooled investment vehicles:

Cash & cash equivalents

  Bonds

To mitigate the effect of movements in foreign exchange rates against its overseas equities investments, the Fund 

has in place a 50% passive currency hedge against the three major currencies, the US Dollar, the Euro and the 

Japanese Yen, and 50% of its holdings in the LGIM Smart Beta fund are in hedged units.

  Bonds

Change in net assets 

Cash & cash equivalents

Interest rates vary and can impact the value of the net assets available to pay benefits to scheme members. This 

analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. The analysis is 

performed on the same basis for the year ended 31 March 2018. 

Derivatives

Derivatives

Other investment assets

Following analysis of historical data, the Fund considers the likely volatility associated with foreign exhange rates to 

be +/- 10% in total. The following summarises the Fund's exposure to currency exchange rate movements on its 

investments net of these hedges. 

An increase or decrease of 1% (100 basis points) in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased or 

decreased the change for the year in net assets available to pay benefits by the amount shown below. 

Assets held in pooled investment vehicles:

(a) (iii) Currency Risk

Currency risk represents the risk that future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 

foreign exchange rates. The Fund is exposed to currency risk on any cash balances and investment assets that are 

not denominated in UK sterling. 

UK equities - quoted

Private Equity

Change in net assets 

Overseas equities - quoted

Pooled Investment Vehicles

The Fund invests in financial assets for the primary purpose of obtaining a return on investments on behalf of 

scheme members. These investments are subject to interest rate risks, which represent the risk that the fair value of 

future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Fund's 

exposure to interest rate movements on those investments at 31 March 2019 and 2018 are provided below, based 

on underlying financial assets at fair value. 

Cash & cash equivalents

Cash & cash equivalents

Property

Property

UK equities - Quoted

(a) (ii) Interest Rate Risk

Pooled Investment Vehicles

Overseas equities - Quoted

Other investment assets

Private Equity

13

Page 233



NOTES TO THE DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS Appendix 1

As at 31 March 2019 Total 

Exposure

Unhedged 

Exposure

Potential 

Movement

£'000 £'000 £'000

421,913  210,957  21,096  

781,900  641,375  64,137  

80,275  80,275  8,028  

Total 1,284,088  932,606  93,261  

As at 31 March 2018 Total 

Exposure

Unhedged 

Exposure

Potential 

Movement£'000 £'000 £'000

644,160  322,080  32,208  

486,410  486,410  48,641  

76,486  76,486  7,649  

Total 1,207,056  884,976  88,498  

(b) Credit Risk

31 March 2019 31 March 2018

Investment £'000 £'000

Bank Account Deposits 44,572 2,895

Money Market Funds 58,450 37,100

Assets held in pooled investment vehicles:

  Bonds 214,353 204,504

  Multi Asset Credit (MAC) 139,717 136,206  

  Liability Driven Investment (LDI) 401,129 379,718

Total 858,221 760,423

(c) Liquidity Risk

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Future service contributions 15.60% 15.60% 15.60%

Deficit recovery contributions 4.40% 5.10% 5.80%

Total employer contributions 20.00% 20.70% 21.40%

The selection of high quality counterparties, brokers and financial institutions minimises credit risk that may occur 

though the failure to settle transactions in a timely manner. The Fund's exposure to concentrations of credit risk to 

individual counterparties comprises of temporary investments and bonds held in pooled investment vehicles. The 

contractual credit risk is represented by the net payment or receipt that remains outstanding.

Overseas equities - quoted

Pooled Investment Vehicles

Private Equity

Credit risk represents the risk that the counterparty to the financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and 

cause the Pension Fund to incur a financial loss. The market values of investments generally reflect an assessment 

of credit in their pricing and consequently the risk of loss is implicitly provided for in the carrying value of the Fund's 

financial assets and liabilities. 

Overseas equities - quoted

Pooled Investment Vehicles

Private Equity

Liquidity risk represents the risk that the Fund will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. Such 

risks are mitigated by maintaining a detailed cashflow model and taking appropriate steps to ensure that there is 

adequate cash available to meet liabilities as they fall due.

NOTE 18. FUNDING ARRANGEMENTS

In accordance with the LGPS Regulations, the Fund's actuary, Barnett Waddingham, undertakes a funding valuation 

every three years for the purpose of setting employer contribution rates for the forthcoming triennial period. The most 

recent such valuation took place as at 31 March 2016, setting employer contribution rates for the period 1 April 2017 to 

31 March 2020.

Contribution rates for the year ending 31 March 2019 were set at the latest valuation calculated as at 31 March 2016. 

The common contribution rates set at the 2016 valuation for the three year period ending 31 March 2020 are as follows.

The Fund's exposure to credit risk at 31 March 2019 is the carrying amount of the financial assets. 

The Fund has immediate access to its cash holdings and defines liquid assets as assets that can be converted to 

cash within three months notice, subject to normal market conditions.  As at 31 March 2019, liquid assets were 

£2,486M representing 82% of total net assets (£2,381M at 31 March 2018 representing 83% of total net assets at 

that date).

Deposits are not made with banks and financial institutions unless they are rated independently and meet the  

Fund's credit criteria. The Fund also sets limits as to the maximum percentage of deposits placed with any one 

individual institution. In addition, to enable diversification, the Fund is able to invest in Money Market Funds, all of 

which have a AAA rating from the leading credit rating agencies.

14

Page 234



NOTES TO THE DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS Appendix 1

Valuation Valuation

2016 2013

Annual rate of return on investments 5.40% 6.00%

Annual rate of increases in pay (long term) 3.90% 4.20%

Annual rate of increases in pay (short term) 2.40% 2.70%

Annual rate of increases to pensions in payment 2.40% 2.70%

The Council remits monthly contributions to the Fund in arrears, and March 2019 contributions of £2.6M were accrued 

as at 31 March 2019. Management and administration costs of £1.9M were incurred by the Council and recharged to the 

Fund in 2018/19. In addition at any given time there may be amounts which have been paid or received by both the 

Council or the Fund where indebtedness arises between the two. These can arise due to operational necessity or where 

single transactions have elements relating to both the Council and the Fund and are settled on a regular basis.

The Fund is continuing the process required to recover withholding tax from various EU investments following rulings 

requiring equal treatment for all EU investors. These claims will be retrospective and will cover a varying number of 

years depending on the domicile. Neither the amount nor the expected time of settlement are known so consequently 

the financial statements as at 31 March 2019 do not reflect any potential recovery of tax.

At the 2016 valuation, the Fund was assessed as 83% funded, compared to 82% at the 2013 valuation, and the deficit 

recovery period was reduced from 25 years to 22 years. The key assumptions applied by the actuary for the 2016 and 

2013 valuations are summarised below. To be consistent with the market value of assets, the liabilities were valued 

allowing for expected future investment returns and increases to benefits as determined by market levels at the 

valuation date.

NOTE 22. CONTINGENT ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND CONTRACTUAL COMMITMENTS

NOTE 19. ACTUARIAL PRESENT VALUE OF PROMISED RETIREMENT BENEFITS

In addition to the triennial funding valuation, the Fund's actuary, Barnett Waddingham, also undertakes a valuation of 

the Fund's liabilities, on an IAS 19 basis, using the same base data as the funding valuation rolled forward to the current 

financial year, taking account of membership numbers and updating assumptions to the current year. This annual 

valuation is not carried out on the same basis as that used for setting employer contribution rates and the Fund 

accounts do not take account of liabilities to pay pensions and other benefits in the future.

This valuation as at 31 March 2019 is set out in Appendix D Pension Fund - IAS 26 Disclosures to these financial 

statements 2018/19.

Senior officers of the Council are members of the Fund as employee contributors. As at 31 March 2019, one member of 

the Committee was a contributing member of the Fund and one member of the Committee was a deferred member of 

the Fund. The key management personnel of the Fund are the members of the Committee and the Council's Chief 

Financial Officer, who is the Fund Administrator. The £1.9M recharge from the Council includes a charge of £19,000 for 

the Fund Administrator's time spent working for the Fund.

NOTE 21. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related party issues arise primarily from the fact that the Council is the administering authority for the Fund. The Council 

also has various operational, contractual and financial dealings with a number of scheduled and admitted bodies of the 

Fund, however, these activities do not relate to the Council's role as administering authority for the Fund.

The contribution rates paid by each employer, in addition to those paid by members of the scheme, are set to be 

sufficient to meet the liabilities that build up each year within the Fund in respect of the benefits earned by each 

employer's active members of the Fund during the year plus an amount to reflect each participating employer's share of 

the value of the Fund's assets compared with the liabilities that have already accrued at the valuation date. Each 

employer pays an individual rate of contributions to reflect its own particular circumstances and funding position within 

the Fund. The contribution rates were calculated using the projected unit method taking account of market conditions at 

the valuation date.

NOTE 20. ADDITIONAL VOLUNTARY CONTRIBUTIONS

The Council administers an in-house AVC Scheme with two designated providers, Prudential and Equitable Life. The 

amounts contributed to AVC plans by employees who are members of the pension scheme do not form any part of, and 

are not included in, the Fund accounts.

Recovery of withholding tax

Each employer in the Fund is responsible for collecting from their own employees and paying to the AVC provider those 

contributions due on AVC plans. Dorset County Council as employer deducted and paid to the AVC providers a total of 

£352k in 2018/19 (£321k in 2017/18).

15

Page 235



NOTES TO THE DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS Appendix 1

Impact of the McCloud and Sargeant judgements

The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) introduced a new Career Average Revalued Earnings (CARE) benefit 

structure with effect from 1 April 2014.  For members who were 10 years or less from Normal Retirement Age on 1 

April 2012, an ‘underpin’ was provided based on the existing final salary scheme to provide transitional protection to 

those members.

In December 2018, the Court of Appeal found that transitional protections in the pension schemes for firefighters 

("McCloud") and the judiciary ("Sargeant") resulted in unlawful age discrimination.  The implications of the ruling are 

therefore expected to apply to all public sector schemes including the LGPS. The Government sought permission to 

appeal this decision to the Supreme Court but that permission was denied on 27 June 2019.  There remains, however, 

considerable uncertainty about the eventual remedy that may be put in place for the LGPS.

The Government Actuary's Department’s (GAD) has estimated the potential impact to be between 0.1% and 3.2% of 

total LGPS active member liabilities, depending on a number of assumptions.  Whilst this looks at the national picture, 

the impact on any given fund and its scheme employers could be significantly different.  The Fund’s actuary has 

therefore calculated the estimated impact on liabilities for the main employers in the Fund based on the assumptions 

used by GAD.  These results range from 0.4% to 0.8% of total liabilities for each employer.

16

Page 236



Page 237



Page 238



16

Dorset County Council Pension Fund
Results from our audit

Risk Area
Risk 
Type

Fraud 
Risk 

Comment

Management override of 
controls

We have used our audit analytic software “Spotlight” to interrogate journal entries and have 
not identified any instances of management override from our audit procedures.

Completeness and accuracy of 
the asset transfer to Brunel 
Pension Partnership Ltd

We have reviewed the independently received transition and valuation reports from Brunel 
with no issues noted. 

Valuation of direct property 
investments

We prepared an expectation of the year end valuation of each property held by the Fund using 
comparable market indices and comparing the expectation to the valuation provided by BNP 
Paribas Real Estate. We also utilised our experts Deloitte Real Estate (DRE) to assess the fair 
value of a sample of properties reported by BNP Paribas Real Estate. No issues were noted.

Completeness and valuation of 
investments and disclosures

We identified one minor disclosure deficiency whereby the fair value hierarchy disclosure was 
missing a sensitivity analysis of its level 3 assets as per the CIFPA requirement. This has been 
addressed in the latest version of the financial statements. No other issues were noted with 
our testing. 
We recommend performing either a book cost, unit or cash reconciliation quarterly. We 
understand from speaking to management that this is planned in the future and 2018 was the 
first year with StateStreet as global custodian and this level of reporting will be considered in 
2019. 

Accuracy of retirement benefits 
and transfers out values

There were no issues noted with any of our substantive procedures however while testing the 
design and implementation of key controls operating within the Aquila infrastructure we raised 
a number of general IT control findings as detailed on page 23. We have also raised 
observations surrounding the membership reconciliation process and the benefit calculation 
review process as detailed on page 22. 

When planning our audit we set the following audit quality objectives for this audit: to obtain sufficient, relevant and reliable audit evidence to 
enable us to express an opinion on the statutory accounts of the Fund prepared under the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting (“the 

Code”) issued by CIPFA and LASAAC. There have been no changes to our scope, risk assessment or procedures from our April 2019 Planning 

Report to the Audit Committee. Our conclusions and observations are noted below subject to the list of outstanding items detailed on page 3

Significant risk Audit focus area

Materiality was calculated using 1% of Fund net assets at £30.3m with a clearly trivial threshold of £0.3m.

There were no uncorrected misstatements or disclosure deficiencies in the financial statements. The Conclusions above are based on the status of 
our work so far, and we anticipate issuing an unqualified audit opinion, subject to the outstanding items raised on page 3. 

Our audit fee for the year ending 31 March 2019 is £19,362 for the Fund.

P
age 239



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Observation Deloitte recommendation 
Management comment 

We identified that the Pension 
Manager could not supply a 
membership number reconciliation 
between 2017-18 and 2018-19.  
The reconciliation should show 
movements of members in the 
financial year and retrospective 
changes that revised any prior-year 
figures. This reconciliation this would 
enhance the robustness of admin 
procedures and allow for more 
accurate financial reporting of the 
fund account reflecting membership 
movements and would allow us to 
audit the movement of member 
numbers, which we have not been 
able to do. 

It is recommended that the Pension Manager 
develops an Altair report that can count the total 
(and identify individual) retrospective changes to 
membership data. 
It is also recommended that the Pension Fund 
Manager performs a reconciliation between prior-
year reported membership numbers and revised 
membership numbers. 

In order to facilitate these 
recommendations would require third 
party software developments even if it 
is possible for it to be delivered in due 
course.  
We would need to consider the cost vs 
benefit of implementing this as it would 
have a limited impact on the day to 
day running of the Fund. 

The admin team perform a review of 
all of the inputs for benefit 
calculations however checks over the 
outputs of the calculations are only 
performed for calculation routines 
with known errors within the system 
or for particularly complex 
calculations. The team are heavily 
reliant on the initial design and 
calibration of Altair to calculate 
pensions and lump sum benefits. 

Some schemes of the size and nature of the Fund 
have at least one of the below controls: 
1. A formal compliance team whose role it is to 

check whether the correct decisions have been 
made through the benefits system. Best practice 
is to independently test a risk based sample of up 
to 10% of benefit calculations. 

2. A formal pensions internal audit team either 
through a co-sourced or outsourced arrangement 
who will focus on a number of activities and 
include routine benefit calculations periodically in 
their reviews. 

3. A 100% manual check on the different calculation 
routines impacted by system or actuarial factor 
updates. 

4. A periodic ‘deep-dive’ which is undertaken by the 
pensions team on instruction by the audit 
committee. 

Given the size and nature of the Fund and the 
tailoring of Altair specific for Fund purposes we 
recommend that the AC considers points 1 and 2 
above. 

We test and check all systems updates 
to Altair which have any impact on 
calculations (including all factor table 
changes) which would give comfort 
that at the implementation of a 
calculation routine or any known 
change, that the system is functioning 
correctly.  
We also manually check all complex 
calculations. We agree that it will not 
capture any changes to the underlying 
system after that date however we 
would need to consider the cost vs 
benefit of doing any additional checks. 

 

P
age 241



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Annual Report 2018-2019

P
age 243

A
genda Item

 14



©  Cover photos: Main image, Andy Harris - Weymouth Harbour

© Shutterstock - Left, Cerne Valley. Right, Bournemouth Gardens  

P
age 244



Co
nt

en
ts

  |
  2Contents

Introduction and Overview 3 
Chairman’s Statement 4
Introduction  6
Key Financial Information 7
Changes to the Fund in 2018-19 7
The Annual Report 8
Responsible Investing 8

Overall Fund Management 9
The Fund’s Managers 10
Other Organisations/Individuals 11
Contact and Further information 13

Financial Performance 14

Investment Performance 16 
 
Scheme Administration 22
The Local Government Pension Scheme 23
The LGPS at a glance 25
Scheme Membership 28
Scheme Benefits 29
Participating Employers of the Fund 31
Other Scheme Administration   
Information  42

Actuarial Information 51
IAS26 Report - Actuarial Valuation   
as at 31 March 2016 52

Governance  59
Pension Fund Committee 60
Local Pension Board 63

Pension Fund Accounts 66
Independent Auditors Report 67
Fund Account  68
Net Assets Statement 69
Notes to the Accounts 70

Asset Pools  88
Brunel Costs and Savings 89

Other Material 92
Knowledge and Skills 93
Training  93
Glossary of Terms 95

Appendices  97
Appendix 1 –  Governance Policy and 

Compliance Statement 98
Appendix 2 –  Investment Strategy 

Statement 108
Appendix 3 –  Pension Administration 

Strategy Report 114
Appendix 4 –  Funding Strategy 
 Statement 131
Appendix 5 –  Communication Policy  

Statement 140
Appendix 6 –  UK Stewardship Code 

Principles 148
Appendix 7 – Voting Issues Policy 150
Appendix 8 – Risk Management 156

P
age 245



Introduction and Overview

P
age 246



In
tro

du
ct

io
n 

an
d 

O
ve

rv
ie

w
  |

  4

This is a period of unprecedented 
change for the Local Government 
Pension Scheme (LGPS) nationally. 
For Dorset it has again been a year 
dominated by the Government’s 
requirement for funds to pool 
investments, in order to improve 
efficiency and to reduce costs, whilst 
maintaining overall investment returns. 
The Dorset Fund is one of ten pension 
funds which formed the Brunel Pension 
Partnership, which itself is one of eight 
such pools across England and Wales.

Brunel Pension Partnership
Significant progress has been made for 
the transition of the Fund’s assets to 
the management of the Brunel Pension 
Partnership. Over the course of the year, 
the internally managed passive portfolio 
for UK equities, the global equities 
under the management of Allianz, and 
the UK active equities managed by 
AXA Framlington were all successfully 
transferred to portfolios developed and 
managed by Brunel. This equates to 
approximately £800 million transferred 
to the pool’s management, representing 

Introduction
As Chairman of the Pension Fund 
Committee for a fifth year in 2018-19, I 
am pleased to present the Dorset County 
Pension Fund’s Annual Report for the 
year ended 31 March 2019. The aim of 
the report is to highlight the important 
issues affecting the Fund over the last 
twelve months, as well as providing 
general information regarding the 
pension scheme and its performance.

Chairman’s Statement
nearly 30% of the Fund’s total assets 
of £3.0 billion, in the first year of Brunel 
being fully operational.

Investment Performance
The value of the Fund’s assets achieved a 
significant milestone by closing the year at 
just over £3.0 billion for the first time, up 
from £2.85 billion at the start of the year.  

The Fund’s annual return on investments 
of 6.0% was above the discount rate of 
5.4% set by the Fund’s actuary, but below 
the combined benchmark return of 7.4%. 
There were a number of contributing 
factors for this underperformance, 
including the costs of transferring 
investments to Brunel, and the low 
returns on cash balances that have 
been purposely built up by the Fund in 
response to market uncertainty.

Over the longer term, the Fund returned 
an annualised 10.6% over the three 
years to March 2019, compared to the 
benchmark of 10.8%, and an annualised 
8.7% against the benchmark of 8.8% over 
five years. 

P
age 247



In
tro

du
ct

io
n 

an
d 

O
ve

rv
ie

w
  |

  5

Strategic Asset Allocation
In order to bring holdings in listed 
equities back closer to the target 
allocation of 45% there were a number 
of disinvestments throughout the year, 
with further disinvestments in 2019/20.  
It continues to be a challenge to reach 
target in the more illiquid private 
market asset classes, namely property, 
infrastructure and private equity.  
However, we are now starting to see 
more opportunities becoming available 
through Brunel, as well as our existing 
specialist managers.

Annual Employers Meeting
The Annual Employers’ Conference was 
held at Springfield House, Wareham 
in January 2019. The event was well 
attended and featured speakers from the 
Fund’s Actuary, the Pensions Regulator 
and Officers representing the Fund.

Committee and Staffing Changes
The meeting of the Committee in 
February 2019 was the last for Councillor 
John Lofts after many years of 
distinguished service, including ten years 
as Chairman. As I did at the meeting, I 
would like to thank John again on behalf 
of myself and the Committee, for his long 
and valued service to the Fund. 

In March 2019, the Fund Administrator 
Richard Bates, stepped down from his 
role after nearly five years in the position. 
I would like to thank Richard for all his 
hard work and devotion to the Fund and 
wish him all the very best for the future.

Thank You
The continued success of the Fund 
depends on the combined efforts of all 
those involved with the Fund. I would 
like to thank the Vice-Chairman, Cllr 
Peter Wharf, my fellow Committee 
members, local pension board 
members, and external advisers for their 
commitment and support over the past 
year. My sincere thanks also extend 
to all the staff who support the Fund 
in the administration of pensions and 
investment management for all their hard 
work throughout the year. 

Cllr John Beesley
Chairman

P
age 248



In
tro

du
ct

io
n 

an
d 

O
ve

rv
ie

w
  |

  6Introduction
Dorset Council (DC, the Council) is the 
statutory administering authority for 
the Dorset County Pension Fund (DCPF, 
the Fund), which is part of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). 
All aspects of the Fund’s management 
and administration, including investment 
matters, are overseen by the Pension 
Fund Committee (PFC), which is 
a committee of the Council. It is a 
contributory defined benefit pension 
scheme established under statute, which 
provides for the payment of benefits to 
employees of DC and former employees 
of Dorset County Council and the 
admitted and scheduled bodies in the 
Fund. Separate arrangements are made 
for teachers, fire-fighters and police 
officers.

The purpose of the Fund is to provide 
retirement benefits specified by the 
LGPS regulations for staff working for 
local authority employers, and other 
employers admitted by agreement, in 
the Dorset area. The regulations also 
specify the member contribution rates 
as a percentage of pensionable pay, 
with employer contribution rates being 

set every three years by the Fund’s 
Actuary, Barnett Waddingham LLP. 
These contributions are supplemented 
by earnings on the Fund’s investments in 
order to pay retirement benefits.

The day to day running of the Fund is 
delegated to the Fund Administrator 
who is the Executive Director (Corporate 
Development S151) of the Council and 
is responsible for implementing the 
decisions made by the PFC. Supporting 
him is a team of staff split into two 
sections. The Pension Administration 
Team administers all aspects of member 
records, pension benefits etc. and the 
Treasury and Investments team looks 
after the accounting and management 
information requirements of the Fund. All 
aspects of the day to day management 
of investment funds are undertaken by 
external fund managers.

Publication of this report gives the 
Council the opportunity to demonstrate 
the high standard of governance and 
financial management applied to the 
Fund. It brings together a number of 
separate reporting strands into one 

comprehensive document that enables 
both the public and employees to see 
how the Fund is managed and how well it 
is performing.

It is in the interest of both employees and 
the public that the Fund is well managed 
and continues to provide high returns 
and excellent value for money.

P
age 249



In
tro

du
ct

io
n 

an
d 

O
ve

rv
ie

w
  |

  7Key Financial Information
•  The total value of the Fund rose by 

£161.7 million (5.6%) over the year and 
has reached £3.02 billion as at 31 March 
2019, compared to the previous year end 
valuation of £2.85 billion. Over the last 
five years the market value of the Fund 
has increased by £0.70 million (30.0%).

•  The Fund achieved a return on 
investments for the 2018-19 financial 
year of 6.0%, 1.4% below the benchmark 
return of 7.4% but above the discount 
rate (or target rate of return) used by the 
actuary at the last valuation of 5.4%.

•  The Fund underperformed its 
benchmarks over three years with 
a performance of 10.6% against its 
benchmark of 10.8%. Over five years 
the performance was 8.7% against a 
benchmark of 8.8%.

•  The number of active contributors in 
the Fund fell from an adjusted 25,871 
in 2017-18 to 25,068 in 2018-19, a 
decrease of 3.1%, whilst the number of 
pensioners rose in 2018-19 by 4.3% to 
22,135. 

•  At the most recent actuarial valuation, 
as at 31 March 2016, the funding level 

was 83%, an increase from 82% as at 
31 March 2013, with the deficit recovery 
period reduced from 25 years to 22 years.

•  Income from contributions has been 
gradually increasing over the past five 
years from £105,331,000 in 2014-15 
to £122,212,000 as at 31 March 2019, 
a rise of 16.0%. The pension benefit 
payments have been steadily rising 
over the same period from 100,022 
in 2014-15 to 120,112 as at 31 March 
2019, a rise of 20.1%.

Changes to the Fund in 2018-19

•  The internally managed passive UK equity 
portfolio, and the Allianz managed Global 
Equity portfolios were transitioned to 
Brunel portfolios managed by Legal and 
General Investment Management (LGIM) 
in July 2018.

•  On 21 November 2018, assets under the 
management of external UK manager 
AXA Framlington were transferred to the 
Brunel UK Equities Active portfolio. 

•  A commitment of 2.0% was made to the 
Brunel Private Equity Portfolio with £1.2M 
being invested in January 2019, with a 

further 2.0% commitment to the Brunel 
Secured Income Portfolio of which 
£2.9M was also invested in January 
2019. Drawdowns against commitments 
will be funded from cash balances and/
or further disinvestment from equities 
and corporate bonds.

•  CBRE, the Fund Property manager made 
the following investment commitments 
in 2018-19:

•  Purchased Astra House in Harlow 
for £8.9 million in September 2018 
(see photograph below) which was 
previously an office block and has 
been converted into studios, one- and 
two- bedroom flats;

Astra House, Harlow  

P
age 250



In
tro

du
ct

io
n 

an
d 

O
ve

rv
ie

w
  |

  8

•  Purchased a portfolio of sixty 
social rented homes at one 
scheme in Buckshaw Village, 
Lancashire for £2.6 million;

•  Purchased a portfolio for £3.3 million 
for a new affordable housing fund 
with Step Forward in October 2018.

The Annual Report
The Local Government Pension Scheme 
Regulations 2013 require administering 
authorities to prepare a document known 
as “The Pension Fund Annual Report”. The 
authority must publish the Pension Fund 
Annual Report on or before 1st December 
following the year end. From 1 April 2014, 
this report must contain information about 
the fund on the following:

•  Overall Fund Management – The 
report must list the names and, where 
appropriate, contact details for the 
Fund Management.

•  Financial Performance – The report 
must provide an overview of the fund’s 
financial performance, focused primarily 
on income, expenditure and cash flows.

•  Investment Policy and Performance – 
This should demonstrate how the 
investment strategy statement has 
been put into practice during the year 

and how this links to the Funding 
Strategy Statement.

•  Scheme Administration – A report of the 
arrangements made during the year for 
the administration of the fund.

•  Actuarial Report – Disclosure of the 
current level of funding as reported 
by the actuary at the last triennial 
revaluation.

•  Governance – Regulation 55 of the 
LGPS Regulations 2013 prescribes 
the content of the Governance 
Compliance Statement.

•  Fund Account, Net Assets Statements 
and Notes – The report must include 
a fund account and a net assets 
statement with supporting notes and 
disclosures in accordance with proper 
accounting practices.

•  Asset Pools – How asset pooling 
arrangements are progressing.

•  Pensions Administration Strategy report.

•  Funding Strategy Statement.

•  Investment Strategy Statement.

•  Communications Policy Statement.

•  External Audit Opinion.

•  Other Material - any other material 
which the authority considers 
appropriate.

Responsible Investing
The Council has a paramount fiduciary 
duty to obtain the best possible financial 
return on Fund investments without 
exposing assets to unnecessary risk. 
The Council believes that following good 
practice in terms of social, environmental 
and ethical issues is generally likely to 
have a favourable effect on the long-term 
financial performance of a company and 
will improve investment returns to its 
shareholders. 

The Fund investment managers, acting 
in the best financial interests of the 
Fund, are expected to consider, amongst 
other factors, the effects of social, 
environmental and ethical issues on 
the performance of a company when 
undertaking the acquisition, retention or 
realisation of investments for the Fund.

P
age 251



Overall Fund Management

P
age 252



O
ve

ra
ll 

Fu
nd

 M
an

ag
em

en
t  

|  
10Overall Fund Management

The Fund’s Managers

Administering Authority
Dorset Council, County Hall
Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1XJ

The Fund is invested in Equities (UK and 
Overseas), Corporate Bonds, Private 
Equity, Property, Diversified Growth 
Funds, Multi Asset Credit, Infrastructure, 
Liability Driven Investments and Cash 
and Cash Equivalents. The Fund does 
not currently manage any fund’s 
internally but used seventeen external 
fund managers in 2018-19, the details of 
which are provided:

Fund Managers Managers Asset Class Address
1Internally Managed UK Equities County Hall, Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1XJ
3AXA Framlington Investment 
Managers UK Limited

UK Equities 7 Newgate Street, London EC1A 7NX

Schroders UK Equities 1 London Wall Place, London EC2Y 5AU
Brunel - Legal & General 
Investment Management

UK Equities One Colman Street, London EC2R 5AA

Royal London Asset Management Bonds 55 Gracechurch Street, London EC3V 0RL
J.P.Morgan Asset Management Overseas Equities 60 Victoria Embankment, London EC4Y 0JP
2Allianz Global Investors Overseas Equities 199 Bishopsgate, London EC2M 3TY
Investec Asset Management Overseas Equities 25 Basinghall Street, London EC2V 5HA
Wellington Management 
International Ltd

Overseas Equities 80 Victoria Street, London SW1E 5JL

HarbourVest Partners, LLC Private Equity One Financial Center, Boston, MA 02111
Aberdeen Standard Investments Private Equity 6 St Andrew Square, Edinburgh EH2 2AH
CBRE Global Investors Property Third Floor, One New Change, London 

EC4M 9AF
Baring Asset Management  
Limited

Diversified 
Growth Fund

20 Old Bailey, London EC4M 7BF

CQS Multi Asset Credit 4th Floor, One Strand, London WC2N 5HR                                  
Hermes GPE LLP Infrastructure 150 Cheapside, London EC2V 6ET
IFM Investors Infrastructure 3rd Floor, 60 Gresham Street, London 

EC2V 7BB
Insight Investment  
Management Limited

Liability Driven 
Investment

160 Queen Victoria Street, London  
EC4V 4LA

Brunel - Colmore Private Markets 9 Colmore Row, Birmingham B3 2BJ

Key
1  On 11 July 2018, the Internally Managed Fund 

was transferred to the Brunel UK Passive 
Equities portfolio managed by Legal & General 
Investment Management.

2  On 18 July 2018, the holdings under the 
management of Allianz transferred to the Brunel 
Smart Beta portfolio managed by Legal  
& General Investment Management.

3  On 21 November 2018, assets under the 
management of AXA Framlington were transferred 
to the Brunel UK Equities Active portfolio.

P
age 253



O
ve

ra
ll 

Fu
nd

 M
an

ag
em

en
t  

|  
11

The Fund Actuary
Employee contributions are fixed by 
Central Government. However, the Actuary 
is required to set employer contribution 
rates to ensure benefits under the Scheme 
are properly funded. Although the Actuary 
is required to carry out a full valuation 
every three years, they are also required 
to calculate contributions rates for new 
employers, if membership figures change 
and if an employer leaves the Scheme. 
The Council has appointed Barnett 
Waddingham as its Fund Actuary.  

Independent Adviser
An Independent Adviser (Alan Saunders) 
has been appointed to support the Pension 
Fund Committee through reviewing 
investment activity, giving advice on 
general investment matters, assisting 
in the selection of new managers and 
carrying out independent assessments 
of compliance against other benchmarks 
that the Fund’s performance is measured 
against, and offer a practical approach to 
address and control risk.

External Auditor
Deloitte have been appointed as external 
auditors for Dorset Council and the 
Dorset County Pension Fund with effect 
from 1 April 2019.

Other Organisations/Individuals
Service Address

Actuary

Barnett Waddingham LLP 163 W George Street, Glasgow G2 2JJ

Auditors

Deloitte LLP 5 Callaghan Square, Cardiff CF10 5BT

AVC Providers

Prudential Plc PO Box 2711, Reading RG1 3UL

Bankers

NatWest - Main Bankers 49 South Street, Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1DW

State Street  - Banker 20 Churchill Place, Canary Wharf, London E14 5HJ 

Custodian

State Street Global Services Quartermile 3, 10 Nightingale Way, Edinburgh EH3 9EG

Fund Legal Advisers

Osborne Clarke 2 Temple Back East, Temple Quay Bristol BS1 6EG

Governance Adviser

Peter Scales
MJ Hudson Allenbridge

8 Old Jewry, London  EC2R 8DN

Independent Adviser

Mr Alan Saunders
MJ Hudson Allenbridge

8 Old Jewry, London  EC2R 8DN

Local Government Pension Fund Pool

Brunel Pension Partnership Limited 101 Victoria Street, Bristol BS1 6PU

P
age 254



O
ve

ra
ll 

Fu
nd

 M
an

ag
em

en
t  

|  
12

Custodian Services 
The Fund employs State Street Bank & 
Trust as its global custodian, independent 
to the investment managers, to be 
responsible for the safekeeping of the 
Fund’s assets. State Street Bank & Trust 
provides a wide variety of services that 
underpin the work of the officers of 
the Pension Fund and its investment 
managers in managing the Pension Fund’s 
assets. The performance of the global 
custodian is reported to the Committee 
and Board on an annual basis.

The custody services provided by State 
Street Bank & Trust to the Fund include:

•  safekeeping of the Pension Fund’s 
assets of the various different 
investment managers;

•  collection of income from dividends 
and interest;

•  tax reclamation services;

•  corporate action processing and 
proxy voting based on the instructions 
received by the Pension Fund’s 
investment managers;

•  filing of US-based class action 
lawsuits;

•  foreign exchange settlement to 
enable the Pension Fund to buy and 
sell assets in foreign currencies;

•  stock lending;

•  reporting on the value of pension 
Fund’s assets and the investment 
performance of the Fund’s investment 
managers.

Internally Managed Cash
The Pension Fund also holds cash 
internally as working balances and 
operates its own treasury management 
policy, which is implemented by the 
County's Treasury Management Team.   
 
Working balances comprise funds 
required to pay pensions, to fund 
private equity, property investments 
and other managers and to pay day-to-
day expenses. Surplus balances will be 
invested in accordance with the Treasury 
Management Strategy.

Legal Adviser
The Pension Fund uses Osborne Clarke 
for advice covering conveyancing, 
investment and employer issues.

P
age 255



O
ve

ra
ll 

Fu
nd

 M
an

ag
em

en
t  

|  
13

Contact and Further Information

For more information about the Dorset 
County Pension Fund, please contact 
our Pensions helpline on:

Call:   
(01305) 224845

Email:   
pensionshelpline@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Address:
Dorset County Pension Fund
County Hall, Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1XJ

Our website:
Contains further information relating to  
the LGPS. The address is as follows:  
www.yourpension.org.uk/Dorset/Home.aspx

Alternatively, you can contact a member of the team as follows:

Queries regarding Fund Investments  
and Accounts
Mr Aidan Dunn 
Executive Director of  
Corporate Development 
aidan.dunn@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Mr David Wilkes  
Treasury and Investments Senior   
Finance Manager   
(01305) 224119
                                                   
Queries regarding Benefits
Mrs Karen Gibson  
Pension Benefits Manager    
(01305) 228524

P
age 256



Financial Performance

P
age 257



Fi
na

nc
ia

l P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

  |
  1

5

Late Contributions
In 2018-19 there was one employer who 
regularly paid their contributions late. 
As at 31 March 2019, the employer was 
up to date and there were no overdue 
contributions. A report to the Pensions 
Regulator regarding the late payment 
of contributions was submitted on 
14 January 2019. The option to levy 
interest in respect of the late contribution 
payments was considered. However, the 
Fund did not exercise this option due to 
the employer’s circumstances.

Analysis of Pension Overpayments
There was a total of £73,039.77 pension 
overpayments in 2018-19. As at 31 
March 2019, £6,499.35 of this had been 
recovered and £66,540.42 remained 
outstanding. The Human Resources 
Payroll team are looking to adapt a policy 
to write off small amounts in relation to 
pension overpayments.

Financial Performance

P
age 258



Investment Performance

P
age 259



2016 20192013 2014 2015

Book 
Cost
Market 
Value

£M

2017 2018
0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

In
ve

st
m

en
t P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
  |

  1
7Investment Performance 

Fund Growth (year ended 31 March) - The change in value of the Fund over the 
last seven years as at 31 March.

 UK Equities £643M (21.3%)
 Bonds £214M (7.1%)
 Liability Driven Investments £401M (13.3%)
 Overseas Equities £801M (26.4%)
 Private Equity £80M (2.7%)
 Property (including Property Funds) 
 £323M (10.7%)
 Diversified Growth Fund £176M (5.8%)
 Multi Asset Credit £140M (4.6%)
 Infrastructure £139M (4.6%)
 Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 (including Derivatives) £106M (3.5%)

 £162 £3.030
 
 Fund value Total
 increase fund value

M Bn

% % 5.6 1.4

 Fund value Underperformed 
 increase benchmark

Total Asset Distribution as at 31 March 2019 - The total asset distribution of 
the Dorset County Pension Fund as at 31 March 2019 is shown below. These 
allocations are within the agreed ranges.

This year’s Fund Information

P
age 260



In
ve

st
m

en
t P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
  |

  1
8Asset Allocation

The Dorset County Pension Fund 
Committee is responsible for deciding 
the asset allocation of the fund. The 
table opposite summarises the Fund’s 
Asset Allocation.

31-Mar-18 31-Mar-19 Target Allocation

Asset Class Manager £M % £M % £M %
UK Equities Several  684.4 24.0  643.0 21.3  604.7  20.0 
Overseas Equities Several  654.2 22.9  703.0 23.3  665.2  22.0 
Emerging Markets Equities JP Morgan  103.2 3.6  98.2 3.2  90.7 3.0
Total Listed Equities  1,441.8 50.5  1,444.2 47.8  1,360.6  45.0 
Corporate Bonds Royal London Asset 

Management
 204.5 7.1  214.4 7.1  181.4 6.0

Multi Asset Credit CQS  136.2 4.8  139.7 4.6  151.2 5.0
Diversified Growth Barings  173.3 6.1  176.1 5.8  241.9 8.0
Infrastructure Several  106.6 3.7  138.7 4.5  151.2 5.0
Private Equity Several  76.5 2.7  80.3 2.7  151.2 5.0
Property CBRE  295.4 10.4  323.3 10.7  362.8 12.0
Cash Internal  40.0 1.4  105.1 3.5  -   0.0
F/X Hedging State Street  -   0.0  0.7 0.0  -   0.0
Total Return Seeking Assets  2,474.3 86.7  2,622.5 86.7  2,600.3  86.0 
Liability Matching Assets Insight  379.7 13.3  401.1 13.3  423.3 14.0
Total Asset Valuation  2,854.0 100.0  3,023.6 100.0  3,023.6  100.0 

0

5

10

15

20

25

UK Equities Overseas 
Equities

Emerging 
Markets

Corporate 
Bonds

Multi Asset 
Cedit

Diversified 
Growth 

Fund

Infrast-
ructure

Private 
Equity

Property Cash Liability 
Matching

Asset mix of the portfolio Actual 31/03/18

Actual 31/03/19

Strategic Target

P
age 261



In
ve

st
m

en
t P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
  |

  1
9Fund Returns Achieved Over One, Three 

and Five Years by Asset Class
The table opposite sets out the returns 
for one, three and five years in each of 
the investment categories and enables 
comparison against their specific 
benchmarks.

Dorset Benchmark Dorset Benchmark Dorset Benchmark
1 year 3 year 5 year

% % % % % %
UK Equities
Schroders -5.6 -3.1 10.9 5.9 9.8 4.9
Brunel/ LGIM Passive¹ 9.4 9.4 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Brunel UK Active² 9.7 9.4 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Overseas Equities
Investec 12.2 12.0 13.7 14.4 N/A N/A
Wellington 11.6 12.0 15.1 14.4 N/A N/A
Brunel / LGIM Smart Beta ¹ 9.2 9.2 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Brunel / LGIM  Smart Beta 
(Hedged) ¹

11.6 11.1 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Emerging Markets
JP Morgan -4.9 -0.3 14.6 14.4 9.1 8.9
Bonds
Royal London Asset Management 4.8 4.5 7.0 5.9 7.5 6.8
Multi Asset Credit
CQS 2.6 4.8 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Private Equity
HarbourVest 23.3 6.4 15.4 9.5 18.3 6.1
Aberdeen Standard 19.7 6.4 10.7 9.5 11.0 6.1
Brunel PM Secured Income³ 1.2 -0.1 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Property
CBRE Global Investors 5.4 6.0 6.9 6.8 10.3 9.7
Diversified Growth Fund
Barings Asset Management 1.6 4.9 5.2 4.6 4.1 4.6
Inflation Hedging Bonds
Insight 8.6 8.4 22.1 16.1 9.9 8.9
Infrastructure
Hermes Fund -1.2 10.0 6.8 10.0 N/A N/A
IFM Fund 18.0 10.0 16.7 10.0 N/A N/A
Total Assets 6.0 7.4 10.6 10.8 8.7 8.8¹ New mandate July 2018

² New mandate November 2018
³ New mandate January 2019

P
age 262



In
ve

st
m

en
t P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
  |

  2
0

2016 20192013 2014 2015

Dorset

Benchmark

2017 20182011 20122010
0

10

20

30

40

Total Annual Returns - This diagram shows the total return of the Fund 
compared with its benchmark for each of the last ten years as at 31 March. 

Rates of Return One Year Summary 
During the year, the Fund underperformed its bespoke benchmark with a return of 6.0% 
compared to a benchmark of 7.4%. Positives to performance have been attributable to 
mainly three managers. The two Private Equity managers HarbourVest and Aberdeen 
Standard outperformed their benchmark by 16.9% and 13.3% respectively, whilst 
Infrastructure manager IFM returned 18.0% against its benchmark of 10.0%.

The main detractor to performance was the Infrastructure manager Hermes who 
underperformed their index by 11.2%. 

Rates of Return Three Year Summary 
Over the three-year period, the Fund returned 10.6% against its bespoke benchmark of 
10.8%. Positives to performance were Infrastructure manager IFM who returned 16.7% 

against their benchmark of 10.0%, whilst 
Private Equity manager HarbourVest 
outperformed their benchmark by 5.9%. 
The UK Equity manager Schroders 
outperformed their benchmark by 5.0%.

The main detractor to performance was 
the Infrastructure manager Hermes who 
underperformed their index by 3.2%.

Rates of Return-Five Year Summary 
Over the five-year period, the Fund was 
in-line its bespoke benchmark with a 
return of 8.7% compared to a benchmark 
of 8.8%. Positives to performance were 
HarbourVest, Schroders and Aberdeen 
Standard who outperformed their 
benchmarks by 12.2%, 4.9% and 4.9% 
respectively. 

Only one manager underperformed their 
benchmark over the five-year period. 
Diversified Growth Manager Barings 
Asset Management underperformed their 
benchmark by 0.5%.

Performance Monitoring
Investment manager performance 
is reviewed quarterly by the Pension 
Fund Committee. The Committee 
review a comprehensive quarterly and 
longer period reports that includes the 
performance of each manager measured 

P
age 263



In
ve

st
m

en
t P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
  |

  2
1against their benchmark and target. 

Information on returns is currently 
provided by State Street.

Fund Benchmarks
The Fund utilises external investment 
managers to undertake the day to day 
management of the Fund’s assets. Each 
manager has a specific benchmark and 
performance target against which their 
performance is regularly monitored. 

The table opposite shows the Managers 
of the Fund and their respective 
benchmarks.

Manager Description Benchmark Indices Date of 
Appointment

Aberdeen Standard Private Equity FTSE All Share 2006

Barings Asset 
Management

Diversified Growth Fund 3 Month LIBOR +4% 2012

Brunel - Colmore Private Equity MSCI ACWI 2019

Brunel - Colmore Secured Income Consumer Price Index 2019

Brunel - Fundrock UK Active Equity FTSE All Share 2019

Brunel - LGIM Passive Smart Beta Passive Smart Beta 2018

Brunel - LGIM Passive Smart Beta (Hedged) Passive Smart Beta (Hedged) 2018

Brunel - LGIM Passive UK Equities Passive UK Equities 2018

CBRE Property MSCI Quarterly Universe 2000

CQS Multi Asset Credit 1 month LIBOR +4% 2017

HarbourVest Private Equity FTSE All Share 2006

Hermes Infrastructure 10% Absolute Return 2015

IFM Infrastructure 10% Absolute Return 2016

Insight Liability Driven Investment Sourced from Insight 2012

Investec Asset 
Management 

Global Equity MSCI World Net 2015

J.P.Morgan Asset 
Management

Emerging Markets Equity MSCI Emerging Markets Net 2012

Royal London Asset 
Management

Corporate Bonds iBoxx Sterling Non-Gilt > 5 
Years

2007

Schroders UK Equities FTSE Small Cap ex 
Investment Trusts

2006

Wellington Investment 
Management

Global Equity MSCI World Net 2015

P
age 264



Scheme Administration

P
age 265



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 2
3

The Local Government  
Pension Scheme
The Local Government Pension Scheme 
(LGPS) has been in existence since 1922 
and has developed into a comprehensive 
scheme providing pensions for all 
members and their spouses, civil 
partners or eligible cohabitating partners 
and eligible children.

The Local Government Pension Scheme is 
a defined benefit scheme. This means that 
benefits are determined by the regulations 
and are not affected by investment 
performance or market conditions. 

From April 2019 the LGPS in Dorset is 
administered by Dorset Council, and 
prior to this by Dorset County Council. 
The Dorset County Pension Fund (DCPF) 
administration service covers over 230 
employers, and over 80,000 members. A 
breakdown of the scheme membership 
can be found on page 32.

Employees of all Local Authorities, higher 
and further education establishments, 
schools and other public bodies and 
service providers can join the LGPS. 

Scheme Administration
The Scheme is governed by the Public 
Services Pension Act 2013.The fund is 
administered in accordance with the 
following secondary legislation:

•  The Local Government Pension 
Scheme 2013 (as amended);

•  The Local Government Pension 
Scheme (Transitional Provisions, 
Savings and Amendment) regulations 
2014 (as amended);

•  The Local Government Pension 
Scheme (Management and Investment 
of Funds) Regulations 2016.

How the Scheme Currently Works
The LGPS is required to be funded. 
Scheme funds, currently surplus to 
immediate pension benefit requirements, 
are invested in approved securities. The 
Fund must be sufficient to sustain future 
pension entitlements of past and present 
members. The Fund is financed by 
members and employers’ contributions 
and earnings from investments.  
 
Until 31 March 2014 the LGPS was 
classified as a final salary scheme whereby 
the annual pension and any retirement 

grant were paid based on the period of 
membership and (usually) the final twelve 
months pay. Benefits built up in the LGPS 
up to and including 31 March 2014 will 
continue to be calculated on a final salary 
basis. 
 
With effect from 1 April 2014 the LGPS 
changed from a final salary scheme to a 
career average scheme. All benefits built 
up in the LGPS after 31 March 2014 will 
be calculated under the rules of the new 
career average scheme. 

Our vision is to administer the DCPF 
successfully, in a cost effective way, 
whilst meeting member expectations, and 
ensuring our statutory duties are met.

The Administration Service cost was 
measured as £21.44 per member in 2018. 
With data quality scores very high, and 
staff turn over and complaints very low, 
this represents good value for money.

The Data Quality scores for the Fund, as 
reported to the Pensions Regulator in 2018 
were 99.2% for Common Data, and 97.70% 
for Scheme Specific (Conditional) Data. 

P
age 266



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 2
4Performance Information

The table below shows a summary of the main task areas, our local target for 
completion, (Fund KPIs), the legal timescales, the number of tasks completed in each 
work area, plus the % completed within our target time. 

This represents a section of our work only, it does not cover all work areas. The total 
number of individual work cases completed for the year was 47,389. 

Process Fund KPIs Legal 
Requirement

Number of cases 
completed in year

% completed 
within 
Benchmark

Deaths - Calculate and notify amount of 
dependent's benefit

5 Days 2 months 655 99.84

Estimates - Letter notifying estimate of retirement 
benefits

15 Days 2 months 1,613 100.00

Retirements - Process and pay lump sum 
retirement grant (including all retirement types)

5 Days 2 months 2,460 98.70

Deferment - Calculate and notify deferred benefits 40 Days 2 months 3,025 98.15

Transfers in - Letter detailing transfer in quote 15 Days 2 months 802 99.00

Transfers out - Letter detailing transfer out quote 10 Days 2 months 340 96.47

Refund - Process and pay a refund 15 Days 2 months 2,419 99.42

Joiners - Send notification of joining the LGPS  
to scheme member

30 Days 2 months 7,107 93.32

Divorce - estimates for divorce purposes 
processed

30 Days or 21 Days for 
Court Ordered Requests

3 months 156 84.62

General Correspondence 30 Days  5,359 99.79

P
age 267



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 2
5The LGPS at a glance

For further  information and additional 
resources, please see our website  
http://www.yourpension.org.uk/Dorset/
Home.aspx

Eligibility for membership
Membership is generally available to 
employees of participating employers 
who have contracts of employment of 
three months or more, are under the 
age of 75 and who are not eligible for 
membership of other statutory pension 
schemes. Membership of the LGPS is 
therefore not open to Police Officers, 
firefighters, civil servants, etc who have 
their own pension schemes. Employees 
of admission bodies and designating 
bodies such as a town or parish council 
can only join if their employer nominates 
them for membership of the LGPS.

Employee contributions
The rate of contribution payable by 
members of the main scheme varies 
according to pay, ranging from 5.5% to 
12.5%. The pay ranges to which each 
contribution rate applies are adjusted each 
April in line with changes in the cost of 
living. Members of the 50/50 option pay half 
the main scheme contributions and build up 
half the normal main scheme pension.

Extra benefits
Members can pay additional pension 
contributions (APCs) to increase 
their pension. They can also pay 
money purchase additional voluntary 
contributions (AVCs) into a scheme 
operated in conjunction with the 
Prudential, to provide extra pension, 
extra lump sum, extra death benefits or 
permutations thereof. Both APCs and 
AVCs attract tax relief in most cases.

Retirement benefits
For each year of membership in the main 
scheme, an employee member builds up 
a pension of a 49th of the pay received 
during that year. This pension is then 
increased each year in line with inflation, 
to maintain its value in real terms. 
Someone in the 50/50 option builds up 
a pension of a 98th of the pay received 
during that year, which is again protected 
against inflation. Ill health pensions can 
also be awarded, based on one of three 
tiers, for those that satisfy the Scheme’s 
criteria for permanent incapacity. Those 
in the 50/50 option have full ill-health 
and death cover. Membership that was 
built up before 1 April 2014 continues 
to provide benefits as it did at the 
time. Membership from 1 April 2008 
to 31 March 2014 therefore provides 
final salary pensions based on 60ths. 

Membership before that also provides 
final salary benefits, based on 80ths. 
Members can normally exchange some 
annual pension for a larger lump sum at 
a rate of 1:12, in other words, every £1 of 
annual pension foregone produces £12 
of lump sum. HMRC limits apply.
Generally a minimum of two years 
membership is required to draw 
retirement benefits

Age of retirement
Normal pension age is age 65 or State 
pension age, whichever is the later, but:

•  Pension benefits are payable at any 
age if awarded due to ill health;

•  Members may retire with unreduced 
benefits from age 55 onwards if 
their retirement is on grounds of 
redundancy or business efficiency;

•  Members may retire early at their 
own choice from 55 onwards and 
employer approval is not required. But 
generally early retirement reductions 
will apply.

•  Members who have left employment 
may request payment of benefits 
from age 55 onwards, but actuarial 
reductions may apply where benefits 
come into payment before normal 
pension age;

P
age 268



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 2
6•  Members who remain in employment 

may also ask to retire flexibly from 
age 55 onwards if they reduce their 
hours of work or grade. Employer 
consent is required and actuarial 
reductions may apply;

•  Payment of benefits may be delayed 
beyond normal pension age but only 
up to age 75. 

There are also various protections 
regarding membership that are linked 
to earlier normal retirement ages that 
applied in earlier versions of the Scheme.

Benefits on death after retirement
A death grant is payable if less than ten 
years pension has been paid and the 
pensioner is under age 75 at the date of 
death, in which case the balance of ten 
years pension is paid as a lump sum. 
Pensions are also normally payable 
to the member’s spouse, civil partner, 
eligible cohabiting partner and any 
eligible dependent children.

Benefits on death in service
A lump sum death grant is payable, 
normally equivalent to three years 
assumed pay. The administering 
authority has absolute discretion over the 
distribution of this lump sum among the 

deceased’s relatives, dependants, personal 
representatives or nominees. Pensions 
may also be payable to the member’s 
spouse, civil partner, eligible cohabiting 
partner and eligible dependent children.

Cost efficiencyStatutory duties

Member 
expectations

Successful
administration

Cost of living increases
Career average pensions that are beig built 
up, and pensions in payment, are increased 
annually to protect them from inflation. 
Pensions Increases are currently in line 
with the Consumer Prices Index.

P
age 269



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 2
7

Provision LGPS 2008 LGPS 2014

Basis of the Pension Final Salary A Career Average Revalue Earnings scheme.(Prior to 31st 
March 2014, the scheme was a final salary scheme). 

Accrual rate The accrual rate was 1/60th The accrual rate is 1/49th. 

Revaluation rate (the rate of 
increase for accumulated pension)

Based on Final Salary Consumer Price Index

Normal Pension Age 65 There is no normal scheme pension age, instead each 
member’s Normal Pension Age (NPA) will be their State 
Pension Age.

Employee Contribution Rates Between 5.5% and 7.5% Between 5.5% and 12.5%

Opting Out No Members who have already or are considering opting out of 
the scheme can instead elect to pay half the contributions 
for half the pension, while still retaining the full value of 
other benefits. This is known as the 50/50 option.

Lump Sum Trade Off Trade £1 of pension for £12 lump sum Trade £1 of pension for £12 lump sum

Death in Service Lump Sum 3 x Pensionable Pay 3 x Pensionable Pay

Death in Service Survivor Benefits 1/160th accrual based on Tier 1 ill health pension 
enhancement

1/160th accrual based on Tier 1 ill health pension 
enhancement

Ill Health provision Tier 1 - Immediate payment with service enhanced to 
Normal Pension Age (65) 
Tier 2 - Immediate payment with 25% service 
enhancement to Normal Pension Age (65) 
Tier 3 - Temporary payment of pension for up to 3 years

Tier 1 - Immediate payment with service enhanced to 
Normal Pension Age (65) 
Tier 2 - Immediate payment with 25% service 
enhancement to Normal Pension Age (65) 
Tier 3 - Temporary payment of pension for up to 3 years

Indexation of pension in Payment CPI (RPI for pre-2011 increases) CPI

Vesting Period 3 Months 2 Years

The scheme includes a 50/50 option which allows a member to contribute half of their normal contribution rate into the scheme in 
return for half of their normal pension. Under this option full life assurance and ill health cover is retained. 

The LGPS 2008/2014 Schemes
Changes to the Local Government Pension Scheme. The table shown here compares the LGPS 2008 and the LGPS 2014 schemes.

P
age 270



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 2
8Scheme Membership

Entry to the LGPS is automatic for all 
employees under the age of 75 and with a 
contract of employment for more than three 
months. Any employees with a contract for 
less than three months are able to elect to 
join the scheme. Employees who do not 
wish to remain in the scheme can opt out; if 
this is done within two years of joining they 
can claim a refund of the contributions they 
have paid. Fire fighters and teachers, who 
have their own pension schemes, are not 
entitled to be members of the LGPS.

Members who leave the scheme may 
transfer their accrued benefits to other 
approved schemes. Members who leave 
with less than two years membership 
can choose to receive a refund of their 
contributions (less income tax) provided 
they have no other LGPS benefits and, in 
most circumstances, have not transferred 
other pension benefits. New members 
may transfer benefits accrued with other 
schemes into the Fund (usually within a 
deadline of twelve months). 

Standard contributions for members 
vary from 5.5% to 12.5% depending on 
the members’ level of pensionable pay. 
Employers meet the balance of the cost 
of the LGPS through variable employer 
contributions which are set by the DCPF’s 

actuary every three years following a 
valuation. A valuation was undertaken as at 
31 March 2016 that sets out the employers’ 
contribution rate for the three-year period 
commencing 1 April 2017. Employer 
contribution rates are shown on page 32.

Employees Contributions Table 2018-19
There are nine salary bands with a different 
contribution percentage for each band. The 
contribution percentage a member pays is 
based on their actual annual pensionable 
salary from 1 April to 31 March each year.

Contribution Table 2018-19

Band Pay Bands:  
Actual Pensionable Pay

Contribution Rate Main 
Scheme %

Contribution rate 50/50 
Scheme %

1 Up to £14,100 5.50 2.75

2 £14,101 to £22,000 5.80 2.90

3 £22,001 to £35,700 6.50 3.25

4 £35,701 to £45,200 6.80 3.40

5 £45,201 to £63,100 8.50 4.25

6 £63,101 to £89,400 9.90 4.95

7 £89,401 to £105,200 10.50 5.25

8 £105,201 to £157,800 11.40 5.70

9 £157,801 or more 12.50 6.25

P
age 271



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 2
9Scheme Benefits

Benefits built up before April 2014 also 
retain their protected Normal Pension Age, 
which for most members is 65, although 
certain members have a retirement age of 
60 for all or part of their membership. There 
is an additional protection for members 
who were active on 31 March 2012 and 
were within ten years of their protected 
Normal Pension Age on 1 April 2012. These 
members will get a pension at least equal 
to the pension they would have received 
in the LGPS had it not changed on 1 April 
2014, subject to meeting certain criteria.

The main section of this scheme accrues 
a pension build up each year of 1/49th 
of pensionable pay received, with 
additional pension being added for each 
subsequent year and an adjustment to 
the pension build up each year in line 
with CPI. Alternatively, members can 
opt for the 50/50 section of the scheme, 
where they can pay 50% of the normal 
contribution and accrue 50% of the 
standard pension but still benefit from 
full ill health and death benefits.

Pension is determined at a rate of 1/60th 
of final pay for each year of membership 
between 1 April 2008 and 31 March 2014 
and 1/80th of final pay for each year of 
membership before 1 April 2008. 

Retirement grants are based on 3/80th 
of final pay for each year of membership 
before 1 April 2008. Although an automatic 
lump sum is not a feature of the retirement 
benefits after that date, retirees have 
the option to take a lump sum from the 
scheme up to certain limits, getting £12 of 
tax-free lump sum for every £1 of annual 
(taxable) pension given up. 

Where a member dies in service, a lump 
sum in the form of a death grant would 
be paid. This death grant is equal to 
three years’ pay. Survivor’s pensions 
are payable on the death of a scheme 
member to the scheme member’s 
husband, wife, civil partner or eligible 
co-habiting partner at an accrual rate 
of 1/160th. The survivor pension for an 
eligible co-habiting partner only takes 
account of the member’s pensionable 
service after 5 April 1988. Children’s 
pensions are also payable to eligible 
children of deceased scheme members. 

In the main, benefits can be paid upon 
leaving to a member with at least 2 years 
qualifying membership in the following 
circumstances: 

•  on reaching State Pension Age, without 
any early retirement reductions applied; 

•  between the age of 55 and State 
Pension Age, however early retirement 

reductions will normally apply 
where someone draws their pension 
benefits before State Pension Age. 
The amount of reduction that applies 
depends on the individual’s age, sex, 
length of pensionable service and the 
date they joined the scheme; 

•  at any age, if the member retires on 
the grounds of permanent ill-health. 
Three different levels of ill-health 
benefit are payable, depending 
on how soon it is judged that an 
individual will be able to obtain gainful 
employment again in future. In the 
case of death in service, dependants’ 
benefits are paid even if the 
membership is less than 3 months; 

•  at the age of 55 and, if the member 
retires by reason of redundancy or 
business efficiency. 

If a member leaves with at least two 
years membership and is not entitled to 
immediate payment of benefits, and does 
not choose to transfer out their accrued 
benefits, deferred benefits are awarded. 
Deferred benefits are those which 
remain in the Fund and are paid when 
the member reaches retirement age. 
Such benefits are subject to inflationary 
increases between the date of leaving 
and the date of payment.  

P
age 272



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 3
0Pension Increase

Mandatory increases in pensions and 
deferred benefits are made in accordance 
with annual statutory Pension Increase 
(Review) Orders to help protect pensions 
against inflation. As the September 2018 
Consumer Prices Index (CPI) rate was 
2.4%, the annual pension will increase by 
2.4% from Monday 8 April 2019.

If the members pension began before 
24 April 2018, you will receive the full 
2.4% increase. If your pension began on 
or after 24 April 2018, you will receive 
a proportionate increase in line with the 
table below:

Pensions commencing before  
24 April 2018 2.40%

24 April 2018 to 23 May 2018 2.20% 

24 May 2018 to 23 June 2018 2.00%

24 June 2018 to 23 July 2018 1.80%

24 July 2018 to 23 August 2018 1.60%

24 August 2018 to 23 September 2018 1.40%

24 September 2018 to 23 October 2018 1.20%

24 October 2018 to 23 November 2018 1.00%

24 November 2018 to 23 December 2018 0.80%

24 December 2018 to 23 January 2019 0.60%

24 January 2019 to 23 February 2019 0.40%

24 February 2019 to 23 March 2019 0.20%

Pensioners must be over the age of fifty-
five or have retired on ill-health grounds to 
receive the increase. Those in receipt of a 
widow’s, widower’s or dependant’s benefit 
receive the increase regardless of age.

The table below shows the rate of 
increases that have applied for the last 
ten years:
Year Beginning April Rate of Increase % Index

2019 2.4 CPI

2018 3.0 CPI

2017 1.0 CPI

2016 0.0 CPI

2015 1.2 CPI

2014 2.7 CPI

2013 2.2 CPI

2012 5.2 CPI

2011 3.1 CPI

2010 0.0 RPI

P
age 273



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 3
1Participating Employers  

of the Fund
At 31 March 2019 there were 297 
employers in the Pension Fund. 
Participating employers can be 
scheduled bodies or admitted bodies, as 
defined below:

•  Scheduled Bodies. Employers such 
as the County Council (including 
maintained schools), Academies and 
District and Borough Councils, whose 
employees are automatically entitled 
to be members of the Fund.

•  Admitted Bodies. These are 
voluntary, charitable and, in certain 
circumstances, private sector 
organisations carrying out scheduled 
bodies’ contracts, where staff can 
become members of the Scheme by 
virtue of an Admission Agreement 
between the Pension Fund and the 
relevant body. At 31 March 2019 there 
were 64 admitted bodies participating 
in the Pension Fund.

The membership of the Scheme is 
analysed below over the three main 
categories of Active Members, Deferred 
Members and Pensioners.

•  Active Members: Those in 
employment with the Council or one 
of the scheme employers making 

contributions to the Pension Fund.

•  Deferred Members: Those who have 
left the Council or one of the Scheme 
employers but have not yet become 
entitled to receive their pension from 
the Scheme.

•  Pensioners: Those who receive a 
pension from the Scheme (including 
spouses’ and dependants’ pension).

Scheme employers are supported by 
a dedicated team, who are available 
to assist and support employers. In 
addition to the information, forms and 
fact sheets available on our website, 
regular training is provided to assist 
employers in understanding their role and 
responsibilities, and in completing the 
data returns required.

Our employers are all required to use 
our Your Fund employer portal, which 
enables notifications and data to be 
exchanged securely. This system links 
directly into our work flow system.

Employer meetings, (Pension Liaison 
Officers Group – PLOG), meet three times a 
year, and all employers are invited to attend.

Specific support is provided to employers 
outsourcing and new employers including 
a dedicated section on our website.

Full support and regular training 
is provided to assist employers in 
completing and maintaining their LGPS 
discretions policy, including a section 
on the fund website containing a full list 
of discretions, policy guidance and a 
template document at
www.yourpension.org.uk/Dorset/
Employers

P
age 274



An
nu

al
 R

ep
or

t 2
01

8 
- 2

01
9 

 | 
 3

2
Sc

he
m

e 
Ad

m
in

is
tra

tio
n 

 | 
 3

2Employer Contribution Rates - Year Ended 31 March 2019  
The tables below show the Scheduled Bodies and Admitted Bodies Information. 

The following are the employers participating in the Dorset County Pension Fund 
as at 31 March 2019. The contribution rates shown are the percentage of its 
employees’ pensionable pay that each employer paid into the fund during 2018-19. 
The contribution rates are set at a level so as to bring the fund to 100% funding over 
a period of twenty-two years. The contributions received from both employer and 
employee during the year are also shown.
Scheduled Bodies  Number of 

Active Members 
 Number of 
Pensioners 

Contribution 
Rate Paid %

 Employer 
Contributions 

Employee 
Contribution 
Rate Paid %

Employee 
Contributions

Principal Councils
Borough of Poole 2,016 2,590 15.9 10,355,661.71 6.5 3,028,771.74
Bournemouth Borough Council 2,397 3,533 15.2 13,855,274.62 6.4 3,703,413.53
Christchurch Borough Council 245 295 15.2 1,009,242.05 6.6 326,222.11
Dorset County Council - Post LGR 1/4/1997 6,488 6,115 22.5 26,960,445.41 6.3 7,034,097.39
Dorset County Council - Pre LGR 1/4/1997 0 2,524 N/A  -   N/A  -   
East Dorset District Council 262 309 15.2 995,139.59 6.5 314,025.33
North Dorset District Council 0 221 N/A 154,000.00 N/A  -   
Purbeck District Council 108 196 15.8 716,350.70 6.5 173,491.81
Tricuro 996 240 17.7 3,146,279.10 5.9 1,011,075.36
Weymouth Councils Partnership 625 999 15.3 3,374,616.58 6.6 1,035,053.27

Parish and Town Councils
Alderholt Parish Council 2 0 22.0  7,451.26 5.7 1,928.15
Arne Parish Council 1 0 22.0  1,457.45 5.5 364.29
Bere Regis Parish Council 1 0 22.0  2,372.81 5.8 625.57
Blandford Town Council 14 11 22.0  57,614 .09 6.4 16,592.30
Bothenhampton And Walditch Parish Council 1 1 0 22.0  -   5.5  -   
Bridport Town Council 19 8 22.0  92,050 .43 6.3 26,404.27
Chickerell Town Council 2 0 22.0  9,099 .13 6.2 2,555.03
Colehill Parish Council 1 2 22.0  4,141.01 5.9 1,136.56

P
age 275



An
nu

al
 R

ep
or

t 2
01

8 
- 2

01
9 

 | 
 3

3
Sc

he
m

e 
Ad

m
in

is
tra

tio
n 

 | 
 3

3Scheduled Bodies  Number of 
Active Members 

 Number of 
Pensioners 

Contribution 
Rate Paid %

 Employer 
Contributions 

Employee 
Contribution 
Rate Paid %

Employee 
Contributions

Corfe Mullen Parish Council 6 1 22.0  26,059.95 6.0 8,226.54
Crossways Parish Council 1 0 22.0  3,064.08 6.5 905.28
Dorchester Town Council 24 24 22.0  97,211.94 6.4 28,743.88
East Stoke Parish Council 1 0 22.0  606.87 5.5 151.70
Ferndown Town Council 5 7 22.0  30,401.57 7.1 9,746.71
Gillingham Town Council 11 8 22.0  66,153.78 6.7 20,196.09
Knightsford Parish Council 2 0 0 22.0  490.82 6.5 1,667.08
Lyme Regis Town Council 17 12 22.0  86,545.46 5.9 23,884.17
Lytchett Matravers Parish Council 1 0 22.0  3,330.30 5.8 878.02
Lytchett Minster & Upton Town Council 6 1 22.0  26,272.56 5.8 7,002.74
Milborne St Andrew Parish Council 1 0 22.0  543.84 5.5 135.96
Portland Town Council 2 3 22.0  5,552.23 5.4 1,416.32
Puddletown Parish Council 1 0 22.0  770.44 5.9 189.52
Shaftesbury Town Council 7 3 22.0  39,892.40 6.3 11,371.72
Sherborne Town Council 16 19 22.0  77,326.82 6.4 22,418.34
St Leonards Parish Council 1 0 22.0  5,143.82 6.5 1,519.73
Stalbridge Town Council 1 0 22.0  4,550.09 5.8 1,200.35
Sturminster Marshall Parish Council 1 0 22.0  1,879.56 5.5 469.92
Sturminster Newton Parish Council 0 2 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Swanage Town Council 28 63 22.0  124,840.51 5.9 34,242.16
Verwood Town Council 3 0 22.0  13,130.21 6.1 3,664.14
Wareham St Martin Parish 0 1 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Wareham Town Council 6 9 22.0  33,539.64 6.4 9,977.44
West Moors Parish Council 2 1 22.0  8,840.63 6.2 2,492.57
West Parley Parish Council 1 0 22.0  3,322.61 5.8 830.62
Wimborne Minster Town Council 9 2 22.0  37,068.82 6.0 10,014.37
Wool Parish Council 1 1 22.0  2,856.36 5.6 723.34

Further and Higher Education Establishments
Arts Institute At Bournemouth 239 64 14.1  981,054.46 6.5 421,351.18
Bournemouth & Poole Adult Learning 116 28 19.6  444,650.37 6.2 78,537.94

P
age 276



An
nu

al
 R

ep
or

t 2
01

8 
- 2

01
9 

 | 
 3

4
Sc

he
m

e 
Ad

m
in

is
tra

tio
n 

 | 
 3

4Scheduled Bodies  Number of 
Active Members 

 Number of 
Pensioners 

Contribution 
Rate Paid %

 Employer 
Contributions 

Employee 
Contribution 
Rate Paid %

Employee 
Contributions

Bournemouth And Poole College 405 399 15.5  1,508,279.55 6.4 396,080.76
Bournemouth University 1,546 517 13.1  4,443,951.31 6.9 2,041,812.29
Harewood College 0 3 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Kingston Maurward College 189 103 15.1  367,235.91 5.9 138,834.73
Weymouth College 210 208 15.3  650,289.25 6.0 184,645.30
Winton Arts & Media College 60 4 18.8  132,504.27 6.1 42,286.72

Academies and Schools
Ad Astra Infant School (Teach Trust) 3 42 3 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Allenbourn Middle School 4 55 6 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Ambitions Academies Trust 51 2 18.8 101,286.30 5.8 35,927.74
Atlantic Academy (Aspirations) 51 10 18.8 268,202.86 6.2 63,310.49
Avonbourne Academy 173 18 18.8 411,294.65 6.1 136,179.82
Avonbourne School 0 26 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Baden Powell & St Peter School 5 53 3 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Bayside Academy (Ambitions) 32 0 18.8 79,386.52 5.6 23,748.42
Beaminster St Mary's Academy 17 5 18.8 24,319.23 5.5 7,114.07
Beaucroft School 0 11 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Beechcroft St Pauls (DSAT) 35 0 18.8 55,186.54 5.5 16,767.56
Bethany CE Junior School 6 34 5 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Bishop Of Winchester Academy 62 9 18.8 162,982.34 5.8 50,552.71
Blandford Education Trust 108 5 18.8 137,711.85 5.7 41,496.07
Bourne Academy 49 9 18.8 197,027.05 6.3 66,722.32
Bournemouth School 0 17 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Bournemouth School Academy 40 6 18.8 111,419.26 6.2 36,772.09
Bournemouth School For Girls 0 15 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Bournemouth School For Girls Academy 57 14 18.8 148,530.31 6.3 49,782.07
Broadstone First School 7 31 4 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Broadstone Middle School 7 25 1 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Budmouth College 131 51 22.5 399,201.58 5.9 109,221.49
Canford Heath Infants School (Teach Trust) 3 48 3 N/A  -   N/A  -   

P
age 277



An
nu

al
 R

ep
or

t 2
01

8 
- 2

01
9 

 | 
 3

5
Sc

he
m

e 
Ad

m
in

is
tra

tio
n 

 | 
 3

5Scheduled Bodies  Number of 
Active Members 

 Number of 
Pensioners 

Contribution 
Rate Paid %

 Employer 
Contributions 

Employee 
Contribution 
Rate Paid %

Employee 
Contributions

Canford Heath Junior School (Teach Trust) 3 42 2 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Carter Community School 41 6 18.8 97,044.22 6.1 31,391.17
Castleman Academy Trust 4 1 18.8 131,910.07 5.7 40,208.27
Chickerell Primary Academy 38 10 18.8 68,574.44 5.6 20,538.17
Colehill First School 4 28 3 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Corfe Castle Primary School 8 10 0 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Corfe Hills Academy 62 60 18.8 157,898.26 5.9 50,066.19
Courthill Infants School 5 60 3 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Dorchester Middle School 47 7 18.8 85,618.39 5.7 26,169.24
Dorset Studio School 6 0 18.8 21,400.72 6.1 6,909.36
Dunbury C of E Academy 24 1 18.8 26,458.70 5.5 7,673.13
Elmrise Academy Leaf 39 1 18.8 77,736.59 5.6 23,248.89
Emmanuel C of E Middle School 4 27 5 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Epiphany C of E Primary School 51 8 18.8 61,287.42 5.7 18,483.43
Glenmoor Academy 8 3 18.8 25,211.44 5.9 7,217.08
Hamwic Education Trust 537 10 18.8 667,727.59 5.7 202,932.54
Harbourside Learning Partnership 6 0 18.8 430,688.36 5.7 129,028.33
Hayeswood First School 4 21 3 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Haymoor Junior School (Teach Trust) 3 32 7 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Heath Academy Trust 130 7 18.8 225,870.65 5.6 61,446.82
Heatherlands Primary School 6 42 1 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Heathlands Primary School 6 33 5 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Highcliffe School 58 34 18.8 184,376.76 6.1 59,661.94
Highcliffe St Mark Primary School 0 6 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Hill View Primary Academy 0 1 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Hillary Trust 0 2 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Hillside Community First School 4 19 0 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Hillview Academy (Reach) 57 2 18.8 76,804.54 5.7 23,051.04
IPACA 0 29 N/A  -   N/A  -   

P
age 278



An
nu

al
 R

ep
or

t 2
01

8 
- 2

01
9 

 | 
 3

6
Sc

he
m

e 
Ad

m
in

is
tra

tio
n 

 | 
 3

6Scheduled Bodies  Number of 
Active Members 

 Number of 
Pensioners 

Contribution 
Rate Paid %

 Employer 
Contributions 

Employee 
Contribution 
Rate Paid %

Employee 
Contributions

Jewell Academy 55 0 18.8 73,199.52 5.4 21,567.03
Kings Park Academy 54 7 18.8 134,301.78 5.8 40,777.75
Kingsleigh Primary School 88 4 18.8 182,286.00 5.8 55,942.55
Kinson Primary School 34 4 18.8 71,020.36 5.7 21,546.05
LeAF Studio 15 0 18.8 37,910.03 5.9 11,836.76
Lilliput C of E Infant School 5 41 0 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Lockyer's Middle School 4 29 2 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Loders CE Primary Academy 9 1 18.8 17,642.25 5.5 3,260.73
Longfleet Primary School 5 66 3 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Longspee Academy 22 0 18.8 121,210.96 5.5 27,990.58
Lytchett Minster School 69 20 22.5  222,594 .14 6.0 59,211.39
Magna Academy 36 10 18.8 93,633.26 6.4 35,205.59
Malmesbury Park Primary School 73 9 18.8 123,991.04 5.7 37,521.41
Manorside Primary Academy 24 7 18.8 57,936.33 5.8 17,590.91
Marshwood CE Primary School 9 0 18.8 11,203.19 5.5 3,277.46
Merley First School 4 39 2 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Milldown C of E Primary 31 2 18.8 32,693.80 5.5 9,646.27
Montacute School 73 27 18.8 151,467.61 5.8 46,687.84
Moordown St Johns Primary School 50 6 18.8 69,419.52 5.7 21,035.37
Muscliff Primary School 71 5 18.8 127,587.65 5.7 38,566.08
Oakdale Junior School 5 43 0 N/A  -   N/A -
Oakmead Academy Leaf 34 9 18.8 269,650.89 6.0 40,388.67
Ocean Academy Poole 32 1 18.8 47,179.43 5.7 14,241.32
Ocean Learning Trust 41 0 18.8 436,143.94 5.7 133,629.10
Old Town Infant School & Nursery 5 27 3 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Parkfield Academy (Reach) 25 0 18.8 67,938.82 5.9 21,325.22
Parkfield School 0 2 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Parkstone Grammar School 67 26 18.8 160,472.74 6.1 51,912.19
Plymouth CAST - Bournemouth 88 5 18.8 135,492.04 5.7 39,662.07
Plymouth CAST - Dorset 152 19 18.8 181,183.91 5.6 54,437.66

P
age 279



An
nu

al
 R

ep
or

t 2
01

8 
- 2

01
9 

 | 
 3

7
Sc

he
m

e 
Ad

m
in

is
tra

tio
n 

 | 
 3

7Scheduled Bodies  Number of 
Active Members 

 Number of 
Pensioners 

Contribution 
Rate Paid %

 Employer 
Contributions 

Employee 
Contribution 
Rate Paid %

Employee 
Contributions

Plymouth CAST - Poole 101 5 18.8 142,927.26 5.7 43,260.40
Pokesdown Community Primary School 60 9 18.8 81,141.29 5.7 24,557.88
Poole Grammar School 66 36 18.8 173,389.64 6.0 55,936.44
Poole High School 118 34 21.0 312,999.87 5.9 87,955.42
Queen Elizabeth's School 65 11 18.8 204,557.16 6.1 66,815.72
Queens Park Infant Academy 1 5 18.8 40,851.52 5.6 12,270.20
Queens Park Junior Academy 35 1 18.8 75,680.48 5.7 22,638.68
Saturn Education Trust 45 0 18.8 113,967.08 5.6 33,737.02
Sherborne Area School's Trust 284 37 18.8 529,252.11 5.7 161,198.19
Shillingstone C.E. V.A. Primary School 9 0 6 22.5 8,227.17 5.5 2,008.28
Southern Multi Academy Trust 146 21 18.8 346,703.04 5.7 106,439.53
St Aldhelms Academy 35 6 18.8 103,028.53 6.0 35,586.41
St Andrew's C of E Primary School 37 3 18.8 68,303.91 5.5 20,217.32
St Clement's And St John's C of E Infant School 6 26 4 N/A  -   N/A  -   
St Edward's RC & C of E School 59 4 21 176,398.39 5.9 49,934.07
St Gregory's Primary School 0 1 N/A  -   N/A  -   
St James' C of E VC First School 28 6 18.8 69,747.60 5.7 21,636.74
St John's CE VC First School 4 19 2 N/A  -   N/A  -   
St John's Primary School 46 1 18.8 61,595.48 5.5 17,832.17
St Luke's C of E Primary School 6 44 0 N/A  -   N/A  -   
St Mark's C of E Primary School 70 3 18.8 94,235.58 5.5 27,809.19
St Mark's CE Primary School Swanage 8 12 2 N/A  -   N/A  -   
St Mary's Middle School  
(Greenwood Tree Academy Trust)

126 8 18.8 194,584.81 5.6 57,925.28

St Michael’s Primary School 66 5 18.8 127,556.85 5.5 37,953.36
St Michael’s Middle School 40 3 N/A - N/A -
St Osmund's C of E Middle School 59 10 18.8  105,374 .16 5.8 32,258.67
St Peter's RC School 139 54 18.8 286,893.23 5.8 88,104.90
St Walburgas Catholic Primary School 0 4 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Stalbridge Primary School 0 3 N/A  -   N/A  -   

P
age 280



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 3
8Scheduled Bodies  Number of 

Active Members 
 Number of 
Pensioners 

Contribution 
Rate Paid %

 Employer 
Contributions 

Employee 
Contribution 
Rate Paid %

Employee 
Contributions

Stanley Green Infant Academy 37 2 18.8 38,449.81 5.3 10,858.31
Stourfield Infant School 0 1 N/A  -   N/A  -   
TEACH Trust 6 0 18.8 308,770.80 5.8 94,230.79
The Bicknell School 0 8 N/A  -   N/A  -   
The Minerva Learning Trust 174 10 18.8 270,136.51 5.7 72,399.16
The Quay School 27 3 18.8 73,046.64 5.9 23,305.61
The Swanage School 28 0 18.8 64,780.93 6.0 20,510.47
Thomas Hardye School 115 38 18.8 303,061.63 5.9 92,753.14
Tregonwell Academy 105 7 18.8 167,853.33 6.0 48,185.97
Trent Young's CE School 17 2 18.8 22,368.96 5.5 6,421.74
Twynham School 288 44 18.8 623,965.97 6.0 198,663.19
Verwood C of E First School 4 52 0 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Wareham St Mary CE Primary School 8 15 3 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Westfield Arts College 101 40 22.5 298,651.14 5.9 80,028.22
Wey Valley School 62 16 18.8 171,956.73 6.2 56,504.36
Wimborne Academy Trust 8 1 18.8 483,097.91 5.8 148,010.56
Winton Primary Academy 52 3 18.8 122,541.74 5.7 37,017.71
Witchampton C of E Voluntary Aided First School 4 11 3 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Woodroffe School 47 42 22.5 175,243.23 6.0 47,115.56
Wyvern Academy 100 11 18.8 230,607.26 5.6 69,091.01

Other
Bournemouth Health 0 1 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Bournemouth Airport 0 40 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Bournemouth Transport 1 203 23.2  299,717.76 6.3 3,716.52
Compass Contract Services Ltd 6 1 18.2  10,093.83 5.5 3,025.12
Dorchester Joint Burial Committee 0 1 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Dorset CC Health 0 1 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Dorset & Wiltshire FRS 10 0 0 17.1  653,075.06 6.4  205,661.58 
Dorset Magistrates Court 0 91 N/A  -   N/A  -   

P
age 281



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 3
9Scheduled Bodies  Number of 

Active Members 
 Number of 
Pensioners 

Contribution 
Rate Paid %

 Employer 
Contributions 

Employee 
Contribution 
Rate Paid %

Employee 
Contributions

Dorset Valuation Panel 0 1 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Edwards and Ward 11 0 0 25.9 -6,333.70 5.5  141.51
Millbrook Healthcare (DCC) 4 3 16.8  29,432.48 6.4 10,401.80
Millbrook Healthcare (W&PBC) 2 0 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Police & Crime Commissioner for Dorset 1,330 708 14.4 5,165,012.76 6.5 2,175,772.71
Poole Housing Partnership 96 60 14.4  454,511.61 6.9 187,935.34
Stour Valley & Poole Partnership 119 23 15.8  620,893.53 6.4  190,179.78 
The Colliton Club 2 0 15.9  2,667.81 5.5 677.45
Wareham Joint Burial Committee 0 2 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Wimborne Cemetery JMC 0 1 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Total Scheduled Bodies 24,540 20,794 

Admitted Bodies  Number of 
Active Members 

 Number of 
Pensioners 

Contribution 
Rate Paid %

 Employer 
Contributions 

Employee 
Contribution 
Rate Paid %

Employee 
Contributions

1610 Ltd 2 4 14.2  5,808.77 5.7 2,348.59
A P Chant 0 2 N/A  -   N/A -
A Q S Homecare 0 11 N/A  -   N/A -
Abilities 0 0 N/A  15,000.00 N/A -
Action For Children 1 0 21.0  4,722 .46 6.5 2,080.74
Addaction 0 1 N/A  -   N/A -
AECC University College 31 31 20.5  152,012.72 6.7 49,681.99
Age UK Bournemouth 1 4 23.6  1,512.36 5.5 352.44
Ansbury 73 71 16.0  251,344 .41 6.0 83,386.61
Aster/Synergy Housing Group 42 36 17.1  371,785.67 6.6 84,932.46
Barnardo's 0 1 N/A  -   N/A -
BH Live 112 48 15.4  367,908.73 6.5 154,713.47
Bridport Museum 0 1 N/A  -   N/A -
Care Quality Commission 1 0 14.4  35,584.84 6.8 2,991.46
Care South 0 363 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Care UK 6 40 17.4  30,788.30 7.9 12,751.89

P
age 282



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 4
0Admitted Bodies  Number of 

Active Members 
 Number of 
Pensioners 

Contribution 
Rate Paid %

 Employer 
Contributions 

Employee 
Contribution 
Rate Paid %

Employee 
Contributions

Churchill Cleaning 0 2 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Churchill Contract Services 0 1 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Churchills (Bearwood) 0 1 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Churchills (Poole) 0 1 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Churchills (St Joseph's) 2 0 22.5  3,447.94 5.5 424.22
Citizens Advice Bournemouth and Poole 0 5 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Convex Leisure Ltd 0 2 N/A  -   N/A  -   
CSCI 0 15 N/A  -   N/A  -   
DC Leisure Management Ltd 0 6 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Dorset Association of Parish and Town Councils 2 5 23.6  13,001.43 6.2 3,413.50
Dorset Community Action 2 32 23.6  11,668.94 6.3 3,107.83
Dorset County Museum 5 15 23.6  27,923.79 6.7 7,556.73
Dorset Lighting 0 1 N/A  -   N/A  -   
East Boro Housing Trust 46 6 17.7  138,071.27 6.6 40,972.19
East Dorset Housing Association 0 43 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Healthy Living Wessex 0 1 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Innovate Services Ltd 2 0 21.2  4,882.12 5.7 1,319.33
Interclean 0 1 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Jurassic Coast Trust 4 0 21.5  22,970.21 5.8 6,194.39
Links4Learning 0 1 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Lymearts Community Trust Ltd 0 1 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Mack Trading 1 2 18.1  5,897.06 6.3 1,906.25
Magna Housing Association 64 232 17.2  556,968.05 6.9 129,736.89
Magna Housing Group 9 30 16.6  144,397.38 7.6 28,623.74
Mouchel 0 68 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Nviro Limited 3 0 21.9  4,889.30 5.5 1,190.41
Places For People 11 1 17.7  46,871.98 6.2 10,254.35
Poole Harbour Commissioners 0 7 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Purbeck Housing Trust 0 15 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Sequal Solutions Ltd 0 2 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Signpost Care Partnerships 0 2 N/A  -   N/A  -   

P
age 283



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 4
1Admitted Bodies  Number of 

Active Members 
 Number of 
Pensioners 

Contribution 
Rate Paid %

 Employer 
Contributions 

Employee 
Contribution 
Rate Paid %

Employee 
Contributions

Signpost Housing Association 0 46 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Signpost Services Ltd 0 7 N/A  -   N/A  -   
SLM Charitable Trust Weymouth 6 2 13.0  18,241.66 6.2 8,587.80
SLM Community & Leisure Blandford 14 3 12.0  23,903 .82 6.4 12,666.39
SLM Community Leisure Charitable Trust 27 2 16.0  90,308.04 6.2 25,393.75
SLM Food And Beverage Ltd 1 1 16.0  3,929.76 5.9 1,075.41
South Dorset Community Sports Trust 1 0 26.6  4,935.20 6.5 1,204.84
Sovereign Housing Association 3 47 16.3  178,078.64 9.6 16,574.29
Spectrum Housing Group 13 15 17.3  350,024.41 6.3 43,246.65
Stonewater 2 28 14.7  119,771.96 9.3 12,522.73
The Arts Development Company 4 2 19.8  20,224.29 6.0 5,271.34
Two Counties Cleaning 2 0 0 9.5  157.98 5.5 91.48
Wessex Education Shared Services 26 5 19.4  106,162.26 6.3 35,128.01
Wessex Water 0 6 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Weyco Services Ltd 8 0 15.3  25,386.99 6.0 8,801.63
Weymouth And Portland Housing Advice 0 51 N/A  -   N/A  -   
Weymouth Port Health Authority 3 15 23.6  889.92 5.5 207.36
Total Admitted Bodies 528 1,341
Overall Total 25,068 22,135  94,290,363.77  27,921,649.43 

1. The backdated contributions to be paid in 2019-20.
2.  No active members as not set up on Altair until 2019-20.   
3.  Contributions all recorded under “TEACH Trust” - there is no split for individual schools.
4.   Contributions all recorded under “Wimborne Academy Trust” - there is no split for individual schools.
5.  Contributions all recorded under “Harbourside Learning Partnership” - there is no split for individual schools.
6.  Contributions all recorded under “Ocean Learning Trust” - there is no split for individual schools.
7.   Contributions all recorded under “Castleman Academy Trust” - there is no split for individual schools. 
8.  Contributions all recorded under “Saturn Education Trust” - there is no split for individual schools.
9.   There are no active members as the school went back to Dorset County Council payroll from 1 July 2018.
10. There were no active members as there was a bulk transfer during 2018-19.
11.  There were no active members as at 31 March 2019 as the employer went into administration in October 2018.

P
age 284



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 4
2Other Scheme Administration 

Information

Scheme Membership
The table opposite shows the Membership in the 
Fund over the last two financial years.

31 March 2018

Active Members

Pensioners

31 March 2019

Deferred Members

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

Membership Summary

Membership Summary 31 March 
2018

31 March 
2019

Change Change %

Active Members 25,871 25,068 -803 -3.1

Pensioners 21,217 22,135 918 4.3

Deferred Members 23,863 23,930 67 0.3

70,951 71,133

P
age 285



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 4
3Age Profile of Fund Membership as at 

31 March 2019
As at 31 March 2019 the Fund had a 
total membership of 71,133, split into 
25,068 active members, 23,930 deferred 
members and 22,135 pensioners. The fund 
membership is split 62.9% female and 
37.1% male, with fourteen pensioners over 
100 years old (8 females and 6 males). 
The chart opposite shows the Fund Age 
profile as at 31 March 2019.

Starters and Leavers During 2018-19
During 2018-19 there were 5,339 new 
starters in the Pension Fund and 5,459 
that have left the scheme.

Contributions and Benefits
The table below and the chart opposite 
show the history of Contributions 
Received and Benefits Paid over the  
last five financial years. 

Year Member 
Contributions £M

Benefits 
Paid £M

2014-15 105,331 100,022

2015-16 106,672 104,157

2016-17 109,146 108,075

2017-18 119,537 113,223

2018-19 122,212 120,112

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

15-19 20-24 25-29 30-34 35-39 40-44 45-49 50-54 55-59 60-64 65-69 70-74 75+ 80-84 85-89 90-94 95-99 100+

Active 

Deferred 

Pensioners

Fund Age Distribution as at 31 March 2019

* This does not include the dependants

2014-15

Member Contributions £M

Benefits Paid £M

90,000

95,000

100,000

105,000

110,000

115,000

120,000

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19

Contributions Received and Benefits Paid 2014-15 to 2018-19

P
age 286



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 4
4New Pensioners Details

The table below shows the details of new 
pensioners split between various categories.

New Pensioners

Title Total Members

Actuarial Reduction 2

Early Retirement 808

Flexible Retirement 50

Ill-health Retirement 37

Late Retirement 126

Normal Retirement 133

Redundancy/Efficiency 171

Total 1,327

Scheme Administration
Dorset Council is the administering 
authority for the Dorset County 
Pension Fund and the scheme 
administration is the responsibility of 
the Fund Administrator. The costs of 
administering the scheme are charged to 
the Pension Fund. 
 
Financial Services staff assist the Fund 
Administrator in his statutory duty to 
ensure that the Pension Scheme remains 
solvent and is administered effectively, 
adhering to the Local Government 
Pension Scheme Regulations in order to 
meet any current and future liabilities.  

Staffing
There are four teams within the Pensions and the Treasury and Investments Team; 
three teams which administer the Local Government Pension Scheme - the Technical 
Administration Teams, the Employer Relationship and Communication Team and the 
Systems Team.  The remaining team is the Treasury and Investments Team.

The photograph below includes staff from the Dorset Council’s Treasury and 
Investments Team and the Pension Team. 

P
age 287



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 4
5The Pensions Administration team 

is accountable to the Pension Fund 
Committee, the Local Pensions Board, 
participating employers and Scheme 
members. The team is fully committed 
to providing a quality service to meet the 
needs of the Fund’s various stakeholders 
and to deliver excellent customer care.

The Pensions Administration Team 
comprises 34 full time equivalent staff who 
provide a wide range of services including: 

•  administration of the affairs of Dorset 
County Pension Fund; 

•  administration of new starters in the 
Scheme; 

•  calculation of pensions and lump 
sums for retiring members of 
the LGPS and provision of early 
retirement estimates; 

•  calculation of service credit 
calculations, outgoing transfer value 
calculations and divorce estimates for 
the Local Government; 

•  calculation of deferred pensions and 
refunds for early leavers; 

•  calculation of widows and 
dependants benefits for retired and 
active members; 

•  dealing with the administration of 
in-house AVCs and APCs; 

•  maintenance of the database 
of pension scheme members 
and provision of annual benefit 
statements and deferred benefit 
statements;

•  undertaking the annual pension 
increase exercise; 

•  key Performance Indicators report;

•  promotion and facilitation 
of relationships and working 
arrangements between Dorset  
Council and its Employers; 

•  responsible for the design, 
procurement and issuing of fact 
sheets, newsletters and guidance to 
scheme members and employers;

•  liaison with the Actuary to provide 
information for the triennial valuation, 
annual accountancy disclosures and 
ad hoc costings for employers and 
prospective employers;

•  preparation of Pensions Fund 
Committee reports relating to benefits 
related issues. 

 

A team of 4 full time equivalent staff 
in the Treasury and Investments 
Team provide support to the Fund 
Administrator in his statutory role in 
relation to accounting and investment 
related activities for the Pension Fund, 
including: 

•  collection of employee and employer 
contributions to be invested into the 
LGPS;

•  day-to-day accounting for the Pension 
Fund; 

•  liaison with External and Internal 
Audit; 

•  preparation of the Pension Fund 
Accounts for inclusion in Dorset 
Council’s Statement of Accounts; 

•  preparation of the Annual Report and 
Accounts of the Pension Fund; 

•  reconciliation of all Managers’ 
purchases, sales and dividends 
received;

•  allocation of cash to Investment 
Managers; 

•  appointment of Advisers and Actuary; 

•  investment of the Fund’s surplus cash 
balances; 

•  liaison with Investment Managers, 
Advisers and Actuary; 

P
age 288



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 4
6•  monitoring and review of Investment 

Managers, Advisers and Actuary; 

•  preparation of the Investment 
Strategy Statement and Funding 
Strategy Statement; 

•  rebalancing of Investment Managers’ 
portfolios to their target asset 
allocations; 

•  completion of statistical and financial 
returns for Government and other 
bodies; 

•  co-ordination of the production 
of FRS102/ IAS19 information for 
employers; 

•  co-ordination of reports for Quarterly 
Pension Fund Committee meetings 
and the Pension Fund’s Annual 
Meeting; 

•  preparation of Pension Fund 
Committee reports relating to 
investments and accounting issues. 

The Pensions Regulator (TPR)  
Following the continuing expansion of 
its statutory duties in respect of Public 
Sector Pension Schemes (PSPS) the TPR 
priorities for 2018 to 2021 are: 

a) developing an approach to regulation  
 that focuses on more proactive and  
 targeted work and uses a wider   

 range of regulatory interventions;

b)   effective regulation of defined 
benefit schemes;

c)   effective regulation of master trusts;

d)   enhancing and executing effective 
regulatory approaches across all 
schemes;

e)   equipping our staff to meet the 
challenges that TPR faces;

f)   ensuring employers meet their 
ongoing automatic enrolment duties;

g)  preparing for the impact of Brexit;

h)   promoting good trusteeship 
through improving governance and 
administration.

New Pensions Minister 
The DCLG minister with responsibility  
for the LGPS in England & Wales is  
Luke Hall, Conservative MP for  
Thornbury and Yate.

Communications 
The Pension Fund is committed to 
establishing and maintaining effective 
communications with its members and 
other interested parties. The Fund has 
a Communications Policy statement 
formalising the processes by which this 
will be achieved. This policy statement is 

available on the Fund’s website at  
www.yourpension.org.uk and is 
reproduced in full on page 140.

Internal Dispute Resolution Procedure
From the day a person starts a job with 
an employer, to the day when benefits 
or dependant’s benefits are paid, the 
employer and the Pension Scheme 
administering authority have to make 
decisions under the Pension Scheme 
rules that affect the member (or their 
dependants).  When the member (this 
includes dependants) is notified of a 
decision they should check, as far as they 
can, that it is based on the correct details 
and that they agree with the decision. 

If they are not satisfied with any decision 
affecting them made in relation to the 
Scheme, they have the right to ask 
for it to be looked at again under the 
formal complaint procedure.  They also 
have a right to use the procedure if a 
decision should have been made by their 
employer or administering authority, but 
it hasn’t been. The complaint procedure’s 
official name is the “Internal Dispute 
Resolution Procedure” (IDRP). 

P
age 289



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 4
7The following gives an overview of the 

IDRP process: 

First stage
If a member needs to make a formal 
complaint, they should make it: 

• in writing, and 

•  normally within 6 months of the day 
when they were told of the decision 
they want to complain about. 

The complaint will be considered 
carefully by a person nominated by the 
body that took the decision against 
which the member wishes to complain. 
This guide calls them the “nominated 
person”. That person is required to give 
the member their decision in writing. 

If the nominated person’s decision is 
contrary to the decision the member 
complained about, the employer or 
administering authority that made that 
original decision will now have to deal 
with your case in accordance with the 
nominated person’s decision. 

If the decision the member complained 
about concerned the exercise 
of discretion by the employer or 
administering authority, and the 
nominated person decides that the 

employer or administering authority 
should reconsider how they exercised 
their discretion, they will be required to 
reconsider their original decision. 

Second Stage
The member can ask the pension 
scheme administering authority to take a 
fresh look at the complaint in any of the 
following circumstances: 

•  the member is not satisfied with 
the nominated person’s first-stage 
decision; 

•  the member has not received a 
decision or an interim letter from the 
nominated person, and it is 3 months 
since the member lodged your 
complaint; 

•  it is one month after the date by 
which the nominated person told the 
member (in an interim letter) that they 
would give them a decision, and they 
have still not received that decision. 

 
This review would be undertaken by a 
person not involved in the first stage 
decision.
 
The member will need to send the 
appropriate administering authority their 
complaint in writing.  The time limits for 
making the complaint are set out within 

the IDRP Employee’s Guide (see link 
below).  The administering authority will 
consider the complaint and give you their 
decision in writing.  

If the member is still unhappy following 
the administering authority’s second 
stage decision, they can take the case to 
the Pensions Ombudsman provided they 
do so within 3 years from the date of the 
original decision (or lack of a decision) 
about which the member is complaining. 

If a member approaches you because 
they are unhappy with a decision made 
please ask them to contact staff in the 
Pensions Administration team in the 
first instance as many issues can be 
resolved without the need to resort to the 
lengthy process of IDRP.  It could simply 
be that there is a misunderstanding of 
the Regulations and that the decision 
made is in fact correct and this can be 
explained to the member accordingly.

The LGPS Internal Dispute Resolution 
Procedure (IDRP – Employee’s Guide 
and the IDRP – Employer’s Wording) 
for correspondence can be found at: 
https://www.yourpension.org.uk/Dorset/
Employers/Employer-Guide/Internal-
Dispute-Resolution-Procedure.aspx

P
age 290



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 4
8Pensions Ombudsman

In cases where a complaint or dispute 
has not been satisfactorily resolved 
through the IDRP, an application can 
be made to the pensions Ombudsman 
within three years of the event that gave 
rise to the complaint or dispute or, if 
later, within three years of when the 
individual first knew about it (or ought to 
have known about it). There is discretion 
in certain instances for the time limit to 
be extended.

The Ombudsman can investigate and 
determine any complaint or dispute 
involving maladministration of the 
scheme or matters of fact or law 
and his or her decision is final and 
binding (unless the case is taken to the 
appropriate Court on a point of law). 
Matters where legal proceedings have 
already started cannot be investigated by 
the Pensions Ombudsman.

The Pensions Ombudsman’s website  
can be found at  
www.pensions-ombudsman.org.uk  
or they can be contacted on  
0800 917 4487.

The Pensions Advisory Service (TPAS)
TPAS is available at any time to assist 
members and beneficiaries of the 

scheme in connection with any pension 
query that they may have difficulty which 
they cannot resolve with the scheme 
administrator. Information can be found 
on the TPAS website at: 
www.pensionsadvisoryservice.org.uk  
or they can be contacted on  
0800 011 3797.

General Data Protection Regulations 
The General Data Protection Regulation 
(GDPR) is a new set of European Union 
(EU) regulations which came into force 
on 25 May 2018. GDPR changes how 
organisations process and handle 
data, with the key aim of giving greater 
protection and rights to individuals. In 
order to administer the pension scheme, 
LGPS funds require various pieces of 
personal data provided by both the 
individual member and their employer. 
To ensure GDPR compliance, every LGPS 
fund is required to update their privacy 
notice in line with the new requirements 
setting out, among other things, why 
certain data is held, the reason for 
processing the data, who they share 
the data with and the period for which 
the data will be retained. Within the 
notice, members will also be provided 
with additional information about their 
rights under the legislation. The Dorset 
Council’s privacy notices are available to 

view online at:
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/
your-council/about-your-council/data-
protection/data-protection.aspx

Equality and Diversity 
Dorset County Pension Fund has a 
workforce that reflects and is part of 
the community it serves. It is the policy 
of Dorset Council to ensure that all its 
employees are selected, trained and 
promoted on the basis of their ability, 
the requirements of the job and other 
similar non-discriminatory criteria. All 
employment decisions are based purely 
on relevant and objective criteria. 
 
Dorset aim to deliver accessible, high-
quality and value for money services to 
all our customers, without discrimination 
on grounds of group memberships; for 
example; sex, race, disability, sexual 
orientation, religion, belief or age. 

Information Technology 
The Pensions Team main administration 
system is Altair, provided under licence 
by Aquilla Heywood. This licence 
provides for regular upgrades to keep 
up to date with changes in regulations 
and developments in best practice. This 
system is used for holding membership 
data, the calculation of pension benefits, 

P
age 291



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 4
9the generation of scheme documents 

and the data extracts required at each 
actuarial valuation.

The Pensions Team use CMS for Case 
Management, provided under license 
by London Pension Fund Authority. This 
license provides the ability to track the 
lifecycle of an LGPS member, monitor 
the volume of work, ensure any member 
requests are responded to and automation 
of new starter records.  It also provides 
‘Your Fund’ a site for employers with secure 
access where they can submit online forms 
and data to the Pensions Team.

The Pensions Team use an Information 
Management System, provided under 
license by Hugh Symons.  This license 
provides an electronic view of Pension 
members correspondence with a secure 
drive for the Pensions Team.

The Fund’s financial data is collected 
from a number of different payroll 
providers and collated on the County 
Council’s SAP system. This system is 
maintained in-house by the Council’s 
IT team and includes comprehensive 
contingency and business continuity 
provisions.  The payment of pensions is 
managed in-house by the Pension Fund, 
using SAP ERM System. 

All County Council staff involved in 
Pension Fund Administration and 
Investment activities have access to the 
internet and the Council’s intranet. 

The Fund maintains a website that 
is managed by its own officers and 
supported by Dorset Council. The web 
address is  
www.yourpension.org.uk/dorset

Benefit Statements
The Pensions Administration Team is 
required each year to send annual benefits 
statements to its active and deferred 
members. The statement is intended to 
inform the scheme member of the value of 
their benefits, and provide an overview of 
when they may become payable.

Performance Standards 
The Pensions Team has a number of 
service standards that it seeks to meet 
in order to ensure that it is providing an 
efficient and timely service to members 
of the LGPS. The standards are: 

New Active Members 
Membership Certificate: Dorset aim to 
issue a Membership Certificate to a new 
member within one month of receiving 
a completed notification from the 
member’s employer. 

Transfers In: Dorset aim to acknowledge 
the member’s request for transfer details 
and calculate the estimated benefits 
that a transfer value will buy and issue 
a quotation within 10 days of receiving 
details from the previous scheme and 
any additional essential information 
required from Her Majesty’s Revenue 
& Customs. Dorset aim to request 
payment of the transfer value within 5 
days of receiving confirmation from the 
member that the transfer is to proceed. 
Dorset aim to confirm the actual benefits 
purchased by the transfer value within 
10 days of receiving payment from the 
previous scheme.

Existing Active Members 
Annual Benefit Statements: Provided 
pay details are received from employers 
promptly after the year end and all 
information is held, Dorset will make 
available each year an Annual Benefit 
Statement to each member showing 
the estimated current value of accrued 
benefits, the value of prospective 
benefits at normal retirement age, the 
estimated current value of death-in-
service benefits and, for tax purposes 
the amount of Annual Allowance used 
by the change in benefit value since the 
previous year. 

P
age 292



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 5
0Paying Extra Contributions: Dorset aim 

to provide information within 10 days 
of receiving a request from a member 
wishing to pay extra contributions. 

Retirements: Dorset aim to send details 
of the benefits payable and pay the 
member’s tax-free cash lump sum within 
10 days of receiving all of the information 
required from the member’s employer 
and/or the member. 

Deaths: Dorset aim to send details of 
the benefits payable within 10 days of 
receiving all of the information required 
from the late member’s employer and we 
will pay the lump sum death grant within 
10 days of receiving Grant of Probate 
(or other appropriate documentation) or 
authorisation from two delegated officers. 

Early Leavers: Dorset aim to send details 
of the benefit options available within 30 
days of receiving all of the information 
required from the employer. 

Refunds: Dorset aim to pay a refund by the 
end of the month following receipt of the 
member’s formal request for payment. 

Transfers Out: Dorset aim to issue a 
quotation, guaranteed for 3 months, 
within 10 days of receiving the member’s 

request and confirmation of the 
member’s contracted-out rights from Her 
Majesty’s Revenue & Customs (where 
appropriate). Dorset aim to pay a transfer 
value within five days of receiving 
confirmation from the member that the 
transfer is to be made and all of the 
information required to make payment is 
received. 

Deferred Members 
Annual Benefit Statements: Dorset aim to 
make available to each deferred member a 
Benefit Statement by 31 August annually, 
showing the current value of the member’s 
preserved benefits. 

Deferred Benefits into Payment: 
Members of the Fund can access their 
own pension records online, through
Altair Member Self Service (My Pension). 
In 2018, the DCPF launched MSS 
facility, which enables active, deferred 
and pensioner members the option to 
change basic details, such as address, 
run through benefit calculations and also 
receive communications. This has been 
very successful, with approximately 25% 
of members signed up to this service.

The Dorset County Pension Fund has is 
its own website, with information for all 
member types, and for employers. The 

site contains information, forms and 
fact sheets, as well as details covering 
investments and governance.

Annual Benefit Illustrations are issued 
each year to active and deferred 
members together with an annual 
newsletter detailing regulatory changes 
and key messages for members.  
Annual newsletters are also sent to 
pensioner members each year. These 
communications are very well received 
by members.

Provided Dorset hold an address which 
has been confirmed we will write to the 
member setting out the benefit options 
available to them, at least 30 days prior 
to the date benefits become payable.

P
age 293



Actuarial Information

P
age 294



Ac
tu

ar
ia

l I
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
 | 

 5
2

Statement of the Actuary
IAS26 Report
Pension accounting disclosure as at  
31 March 2019

Prepared in accordance with IAS26

The web-link to the Actuary’s Report 
can be found on the pension website at 
https://www.yourpension.org.uk/Dorset/
Investments-Governance/Strategy-
Valuation.aspx and click on the actuarial 
valuation link.

Barnett Waddingham LLP - 26 April 2019

Introduction
We have been instructed by Dorset 
Council, the administering authority 
to the Dorset County Pension Fund 
(the Fund), to undertake pension 
expense calculations in respect of 
pension benefits provided by the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (the LGPS) 
to members of the Fund as at 31 March 
2019. We have taken account of current 
LGPS Regulations, as amended, as at the 
date of this report.

Actuarial Information
This report is addressed to the 
administering authority and its advisers; 
in particular, this report is likely to be of 
relevance to the Fund’s auditor.

These figures are prepared in accordance 
with our understanding of IAS26. In 
calculating the disclosed numbers we 
have adopted methods and assumptions 
that are consistent with IAS19.

This advice complies with Technical 
Actuarial Standard 100: Principles for 
Technical Actuarial Work (TAS 100).

The LGPS is a defined benefit statutory 
scheme administered in accordance with 
the Local Government Pension Scheme 
Regulations 2013 and currently provides 
benefits based on career average 
revalued earnings.

Please note that no allowance has been 
made for the recent McCloud judgement 
which relates to age discrimination within 
the New Judicial Pension Scheme. It is 
currently unclear how this judgement 
may affect LGPS members’ past or future 
service benefits. We continue to participate 

in discussions with the governing bodies of 
the LGPS to understand how this may affect 
mechanisms within the scheme, however, 
at the time of producing the report no 
guidance or indication of the likely impact of 
this ruling has been provided to funds.

Valuation data
Data sources
In completing our calculations for 
pension accounting purposes we have 
used the following items of data, which 
we received from Dorset County Council:

•  The results of the valuation as at 31 
March 2016 which was carried out 
for funding purposes and the results 
of the 31 March 2018 IAS26 report 
which was carried out for accounting 
purposes;

•  Estimated whole Fund income and 
expenditure items for the period to 31 
March 2019;

•  Estimated Fund returns based on 
Fund asset statements provided (or 
estimated where necessary) as at 31 
March 2016, 31 March 2018 and 31 
March 2019; and

P
age 295



Ac
tu

ar
ia

l I
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
 | 

 5
3•  Details of any new early retirements 

for the period to 31 March 2019 that 
have been paid out on an unreduced 
basis, which are not anticipated in the 
normal service cost.

Although some of these data items have 
been estimated, we do not believe that they 
are likely to have a material effect on the 
results of this report. Further, we are not 
aware of any material changes or events 
since we received the data. The data has 
been checked for reasonableness and we 
are happy that the data is sufficient for the 
purposes of this advice.

Fund membership statistics
The table below summarises the 
membership data, as at 31 March 2016.

Member 
data 
summary

Number Salaries/
Pensions

Average 
age

£000s

Actives 26,402 419,329 46

Deferred 
pensioners

27,749 30,926 46

Pensioners 18,673 85,599 71

Early retirements
We requested data on any early retirements in respect of the Fund from the 
administering authority for the year ending 31 March 2019.

We have been notified of 116 new early retirements during the year which were not 
allowed for at the previous accounting date. The total annual pension that came into 
payment was £986,600.
 
Assets
The return on the Fund (on a bid value to bid value basis) for the year to 31 March 2019 is 
estimated to be 6%. The actual return on Fund assets over the year may be different.

The estimated asset allocation for Dorset County Pension Fund as at 31 March 2019 is 
as follows:

Asset breakdown 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018

£000s % £000s %

Equities 1,525,261 50 1,518,319 53

Liability Driven 
Investment

401,129 13 379,717 13

Cash 11,670 0 53,367 2

Other Bonds 214,353 7 204,505 7

Diversified Growth 
Fund

176,110 6 173,342 6

Property 384,500 13 295,377 10

Infrastructure 138,741 5 106,545 4

Multi Asset Credit 181,509 6 136,206 5

Total 3,033,273 100 2,867,378 100

P
age 296



Ac
tu

ar
ia

l I
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
 | 

 5
4We have estimated the bid values where 

necessary. The final asset allocation of 
the Fund assets as at 31 March 2019 is 
likely to be different from that shown due 
to estimation techniques.

Unfunded benefits
We have excluded any unfunded benefits 
as these are liabilities of employers 
rather than the Fund.
 
Actuarial methods and assumptions
Valuation approach
To assess the value of the Fund’s liabilities 
at 31 March 2019, we have rolled forward 
the value of Fund’s liabilities calculated for 
the funding valuation as at 31 March 2016, 
using financial assumptions that comply 
with IAS19.

The full actuarial valuation involved 
projecting future cashflows to be paid from 
the Fund and placing a value on them. 
These cashflows include pensions currently 
being paid to members of the Fund as well 
as pensions (and lump sums) that may 
be payable in future to members of the 
Fund or their dependants. These pensions 
are linked to inflation and will normally 
be payable on retirement for the life of 
the member or a dependant following a 
member’s death.

It is not possible to assess the accuracy 
of the estimated liability as at 31 March 
2019 without completing a full valuation. 
However, we are satisfied that the 
approach of rolling forward the previous 
valuation data to 31 March 2019 should 
not introduce any material distortions in the 
results provided that the actual experience 
of the Fund has been broadly in line with 
the underlying assumptions, and that the 
structure of the liabilities is substantially 
the same as at the latest formal valuation. 
From the information we have received 
there appears to be no evidence that this 
approach is inappropriate.

Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) 
Equalisation
As a result of the High Court’s recent 
Lloyds ruling on the equalisation of 
GMPs between genders, a number 
of pension schemes have made 
adjustments to accounting disclosures 
to reflect the effect this ruling has on 
the value of pension liabilities. It is our 
understanding that HM Treasury have 
confirmed that the judgement “does not 
impact on the current method used to 
achieve equalisation and indexation in 
public service pension schemes”. More 
information on the current method of 
equalisation of public service pension 
schemes can be found here.

On 22 January 2018, the Government 
published the outcome to its Indexation 
and equalisation of GMP in public 
service pension schemes consultation, 
concluding that the requirement for 
public service pension schemes to 
fully price protect the GMP element 
of individuals’ public service pension 
would be extended to those individuals 
reaching State Pension Age (SPA) before 
6 April 2021. HM Treasury published 
a Ministerial Direction on 4 December 
2018 to implement this outcome, with 
effect from 6 April 2016. Details of this 
outcome and the Ministerial Direction 
can be found here.

Our valuation assumption for GMP is 
that the Fund will pay limited increases 
for members that have reached SPA 
by 6 April 2016, with the Government 
providing the remainder of the 
inflationary increase. For members 
that reach SPA after this date, we have 
assumed that the Fund will be required 
to pay the entire inflationary increase. 
Therefore we do not believe we need 
to make any adjustments to the value 
placed on the liabilities as a result of the 
above outcome.
 

P
age 297



Ac
tu

ar
ia

l I
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
 | 

 5
5Demographic/Statistical assumptions

The post retirement mortality tables 
adopted are the S2PA tables with a 
multiplier of 85%. These base tables 
are then projected using the CMI 2018 
Model, allowing for a long-term rate of 
improvement of 1.5% p.a.

Although the post retirement mortality 
tables adopted are consistent with the 
previous accounting date, the mortality 
improvement projection has been updated 
to use the latest version of the Continuous 
Mortality Investigation’s model, CMI_2018, 
which was released in March 2019. We 
have adopted the default smoothing 
parameter of 7.0 and have not applied an 
additional initial rate, while continuing to 
adopt a long term improvement rate of 
1.5% p.a. At the last accounting date, the 
CMI_2015 Model was adopted. The effect 
of updating to the most recent model is 
reflected in the Change in demographic 
assumptions figure in Appendix 3.

The assumed life expectations from age 
65 are:

Life expectancy from age 65 (years)

31 Mar 
2018

31 Mar 
2019

Retiring  
today

Males 22.9 24.0

Females 24.8 26.1

Retiring in  
20 years

Males 24.6 26.2

Females 26.6 28.4

We have also assumed that:

•  Members will exchange half of their 
commutable pension for cash at 
retirement;

•  Members will retire at one retirement 
age for all tranches of benefit, which 
will be the pension weighted average 
tranche retirement age; and

•  The proportion of the membership 
that had taken up the 50:50 option 
at the previous valuation date will 
remain the same.

 

Financial assumptions
The financial assumptions used to 
calculate the results in the Appendices 
are as follows:

Assumptions 
as at

31 Mar 
2019

31 Mar 
2018

31 Mar 
2017

% p.a % p.a % p.a

Discount rate 2.40 2.55 2.80

Pension 
increases

2.40 2.30 2.70

Salary 
increases

3.90 3.80 4.20

These assumptions are set with 
reference to market conditions at 31 
March 2019. Our estimate of the Fund’s 
past service liability duration is 20 years.
An estimate of the Fund’s future 
cashflows is made using notional 
cashflows based on the estimated 
duration above. These estimated 
cashflows are then used to derive a 
Single Equivalent Discount Rate (SEDR). 
The discount rate derived is such that 
the net present value of the notional 
cashflows, discounted at this single 
rate, equates to the net present value 
of the cashflows, discounted using 
the annualised Merrill Lynch AA rated 
corporate bond yield curve (where the 

P
age 298



Ac
tu

ar
ia

l I
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
 | 

 5
6spot curve is assumed to be flat beyond 

the 30 year point). This is consistent 
with the approach used at the previous 
accounting date.

Similar to the approach used to derive 
the discount rate, the Retail Prices Index 
(RPI) increase assumption is set using 
a Single Equivalent Inflation Rate (SEIR) 
approach, using the notional cashflows 
described above. The single inflation 
rate derived is that which gives the same 
net present value of the cashflows, 
discounted using the annualised Merrill 
Lynch AA rated corporate bond yield 
curve, as applying the Bank of England 
implied inflation curve. As above, the 
Merrill Lynch AA rated corporate bond 
yield spot curve is assumed to be flat 
beyond the 30 year point and the BoE 
implied inflation spot curve is assumed 
to be flat beyond the 40 year point. This 
is consistent with the approach used at 
the previous accounting date.

As future pension increases are expected 
to be based on the Consumer Prices 
Index (CPI) rather than RPI, we have 
made a further assumption about CPI 
which is that it will be 1.0% p.a. below 
RPI i.e. 2.4% p.a. We believe that this 
is a reasonable estimate for the future 
differences in the indices, based on the 

different calculation methods and recent 
independent forecasts. This is consistent 
with the approach used at the previous 
accounting date.

Salaries are assumed to increase at 
1.5% p.a. above CPI in addition to a 
promotional scale. However, we have 
allowed for a short-term overlay from 
31 March 2016 to 31 March 2020 for 
salaries to rise in line with CPI.

Curtailments
We have calculated the cost of 
curtailments arising as a result of the 
payment of unreduced pensions on early 
retirement. The cost assessed is only in 
relation to those that affect the pension 
liabilities in the Fund.

We calculate the cost of curtailments at 
the point of exit, with interest applied to the 
accounting date accounted for separately.

Over the year, we understand that 116 
former employees became entitled to 
unreduced early retirement benefits.

The capitalised cost of the additional 
benefits on IAS19 compliant assumptions 
is calculated at £4,614,000. This figure has 
been included within the service cost in the 
statement of profit or loss.

Results and disclosures
We estimate that the net liability 
as at 31 March 2019 is a liability of 
£2,025,459,000.

The results of our calculations for the 
year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in 
the appendices below:

•  Appendix 1 sets out the Statement of 
financial position as at 31 March 2019;

•  Appendix 2 details a reconciliation of 
assets and liabilities during the year; and

•  Appendix 3 shows a sensitivity 
analysis on the major assumptions.

The figures presented in this report are 
prepared only for the purposes of IAS19. 
In particular, they are not relevant for 
calculations undertaken for funding 
purposes or for other statutory purposes 
under UK pensions legislation.

We would be pleased to answer any 
questions arising from this report.

Graeme Muir FFA Partner
 

           

P
age 299



Ac
tu

ar
ia

l I
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
 | 

 5
7Net pension asset as at 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018 31 Mar 2017

£000s £000s £000s
Present value of the defined benefit obligation 5,058,732 4,902,826 4,821,680

Fair value of Fund assets (bid value) 3,033,273 2,867,378 2,735,997
Net liability in balance sheet 2,025,459 2,035,448 2,085,683

 

Reconciliation of opening & closing balances of the 
present value of the defined benefit obligation

Year to 31 
Mar 2019

Year to 31 
Mar 2018

£000s £000s
Opening defined benefit obligation 4,902,826 4,821,680
Current service cost 166,976 171,159
Interest cost 123,923 133,963
Change in financial assumptions 244,872 (148,237)
Change in demographic assumptions (292,623) -
Experience loss/(gain) on defined benefit obligation - -
Liabilities assumed / (extinguished) on settlements - -
Estimated benefits paid net of transfers in (119,777) (111,296)
Past service costs, including curtailments 4,614 8,186
Contributions by Scheme participants and other employers 27,921 27,371
Unfunded pension payments - -
Closing defined benefit obligation 5,058,732 4,902,826

Appendix 1 Statement of financial 
position as at 31 March 2019

*  Present value of funded obligation consists of 
£4,897,008,000 in respect of vested obligation and 
£161,724,000 in respect of non-vested obligation.

Appendix 2 Asset and benefit  
obligation reconciliation for the year  
to 31 March 2019P

age 300



Ac
tu

ar
ia

l I
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
 | 

 5
8Reconciliation of opening and closing balances of 

the fair value of Fund assets
Year to 31 
Mar 2019

Year to 31 
Mar 2018

£000s £000s

Opening fair value of Fund assets 2,867,378 2,735,997

Interest on assets 73,149 76,716

Return on assets less interest 92,619 49,217

Other actuarial gains/(losses) - -

Administration expenses (2,307) (2,307)

Contributions by employer including unfunded 94,290 91,680

Contributions by Scheme participants and other 
employers

27,921 27,371

Estimated benefits paid plus unfunded net of 
transfers in

(119,777) (111,296)

Settlement prices received / (paid) - -

Closing Fair value of Fund assets 3,033,273 2,867,378

Sensitivity analysis £000s £000s

Present value of total obligation 5,058,732

Sensitivity to +0.1% -0.1%

Discount rate 4,961,623 5,157,839

Long term salary increase 5,069,019 5,048,519

Pension increases and deferred revaluation 5,147,455 4,971,742

Sensitivity to +1 Year - 1 Year

Life expectancy assumptions 5,246,376 4,878,009

The total return on the Fund’s assets 
for the year to 31 March 2019 is 
£165,768,000.

Appendix 3 Sensitivity analysis

P
age 301



Governance

P
age 302



G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

 | 
 6

0

Pension Fund Committee
The Dorset County Pension Fund 
Committee Members as at 31 March 2019. 

Governance

Dorset County Pension Fund 
Committee 

Committee Member Representing

John Beesley 
(Chairman)

Bournemouth  
Borough Council

Peter Wharf  
(Vice Chairman)

Dorset County Council

Andrew Turner Scheme Member 
Representative

Andy Canning Dorset County Council

Colin Jamieson Dorset County Council

John Lofts Dorset District Councils

Mark Roberts Dorset County Council

May Haines Borough of Poole

Spencer Flower Dorset County Council

Back row (left to right): David Brown, Howard Legg, Ray Bryan.
Middle row (left to right): Andy Canning, Andrew Turner, Felicity Rice, Mark Roberts.
Front row (left to right): Alan Saunders, Peter Wharf, John Beesley, Aidan Dunn.

The Committee Members at the 20 June 2019 Pension Fund Committee are shown below. 
Due to Dorset Council elections on 2 May 2019 there are four new Committee Members 
replacing four existing members.

P
age 303



G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

 | 
 6

1

Committee Members Attendance 
The table below summarises the meetings which have taken place including  
attendance by members of the Committee. 

Committee Member 21 Jun
2018

17 Sep 
2018

22 Nov
2018

27 Feb
2019

Total Voting  
rights

Andrew Turner ü ü ü ü 4 ü

Andy Canning ü ü ü ü 4 ü

Colin Jamieson ü û û ü 2 ü

John Beesley ü ü ü ü 4 ü

John Lofts ü ü ü ü 4 ü

Mark Roberts ü ü ü ü 4 ü

May Haines û ü ü ü 3 ü

Peter Wharf ü û ü û 2 ü

Spencer Flower û û û ü 1 ü

Committee Structure 
The County Council delegates the 
management of the Fund to the Pension 
Committee. A Committee of elected 
members, five County Councillors, two 
Councillors representing Bournemouth and 
Poole Councils, one District Councillor and 
one voting Scheme Member representative 
are responsible for making investment 
policy, overseeing how the scheme is 
run and monitoring performance. The 
Committee is supported by an investment 
management expert who is not involved in 
the management of the Fund’s Assets. The 
Committee meets on a quarterly basis.

Committee Responsibilities
The Pension Fund Committee terms 
of reference are set out below and the 
Committee is responsible for monitoring 
all aspects relating to the investment of 
the assets of the Fund as follows:  
 

•  Setting and monitoring performance 
objectives for the Pension Fund;

•  Approval and review of the overall 
investment strategy of the Pension 
Fund;

•  Approval and review of asset 
allocation decisions;

•  Performance monitoring Investment 
Managers and investments;

•  Appointing (and, when necessary, 
dismissing) Investment Managers*;

•  Appointing (and, when necessary, 
dismissing) Investment Consultants;

•  Appointing (and, when necessary, 
dismissing) the Pension Fund Actuary;

•  Appointing (and, when necessary, 
dismissing) the Pension Fund Custodian;

•  Setting and approving Administering 
Authority discretions for the Local 
Government Pension Scheme;

•  Agreeing and monitoring actions to 
address findings from any review of 
Pension Fund activities;

•  Approval of key policies and statement:
 - Investment Strategy Statement.
 - Funding Strategy Statement.
 -  Governance Compliance 

Statement.
 -  Communications Strategy 

Statement.

*   This had been the responsibility of the Pension 
Fund Committee but as national pooling of 
LGPS funds progresses, this responsibility 
will ultimately transfer to the Brunel Pension 
Partnership, of which Dorset County Pension 
Fund is a member. The Pension Fund 
Committee will still retain control over the 
asset allocation.

P
age 304



G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

 | 
 6

2Accountability and Transparency 
Pensions Committee meetings are open 
to members of the public. Pensions 
Committee agendas and minutes 
are published on the Dorset County 
Council website at https://moderngov.
dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.
aspx?ID=434

Code of Conduct
Councillors are required to comply with 
the requirements of the Localism Act 
2011 regarding disclosable pecuniary 
interests which are to:

•  Check if there is an item of business 
on this agenda in which you or a 
relevant person has a disclosable 
pecuniary interest;

•  Inform the Secretary to the 
Committee in advance about your 
disclosable pecuniary interest and if 
necessary take advice;

•  Check that you have notified your 
interest to your own Council’s Monitoring 
Officer (in writing) and that it has been 
entered in your Council’s Register (if not 
this must be done within 28 days and 
you are asked to use a notification form 
available from the clerk);

•  Disclose the interest at the meeting 
and in the absence of a dispensation 
to speak and/or vote, withdraw from 
any consideration of the item.

Conflicts of Interest
The Pension Fund is governed by elected 
members acting as trustees and the 
code of conduct for elected members’ 
sets out how any conflicts of interest 
should be addressed. 

The code includes general provisions 
on ethics and standards of behaviour 
which require elected members to 
treat others with respect and not to 
bully, intimidate or do anything to 
compromise the impartiality of those 
who work for or on behalf of the 
Council. The Code also contains rules 
about “disclosable pecuniary interests” 
and sets out the action an elected 
member must take when they have 
such an interest in Council business, for 
instance withdrawing from the room or 
chamber when the matter is discussed 
and decided in committee, unless 
dispensation has been obtained from the 
Council’s Monitoring Officer.

P
age 305



G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

 | 
 6

3Function of the Local Pension Board
The function of the Local Pension Board 
as defined by sections 5 (1) and (2) of 
the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 is 
to assist the Scheme Manager:

•  to secure compliance with the LGPS 
regulations and any other legislation 
relating to the governance and 
administration of the LGPS;

•  to secure compliance with 
requirements imposed in relation to 
the LGPS by the Pensions Regulator;

•  in such other matters as the LGPS 
regulations may specify.

The Local Pension Board will ensure it 
complies effectively and efficiently with the 
code of practice on the governance and 
administration of local government pension 
schemes issued by the Pension Regulator.

The Local Pension Board will also 
help to ensure that the Dorset County 
Pension Fund (DCPF) is managed and 
administered effectively and efficiently 
and complies with the code of practice 
on the governance and administration 
of local government pension schemes 
issued by the Pension Regulator and 
with due regard to guidance issued by 
government, The Pensions Regulator and 
the LGPS Advisory Board.

The Local Pension Board for the Dorset 
County Pension Fund
With effect from 1 April 2015 Dorset County 
Pension Fund created a Local Pension Board. 

The current membership of the Local 
Pension Board as at 31 March 2019.

The Local Pension Board Current 
Membership
Board Member Representing

Councillor Andrew 
Cattaway (Chairman)

Employer Representative 
- Dorset County Council

Paul Kent (Vice-
Chairman)

Self-Nominated Retired 
Scheme Member - 
Dorset County Council

John Jones Employer Representative 
- Dorset Police 

Jeff Morley Scheme Member 
Representative - 
Nominated by Unison - 
Active Scheme Member

Adam Richens Employer Representative 
- Bournemouth Borough 
Council/Borough of Poole

James Stevens Scheme Member 
Representative - Active 
Scheme Member

Jason Vaughan Employer 
Representative - Dorset 
Councils Partnership

Luke White Employee Representative 
- Dorset Police

Chairman Update
The Chairman announced that as he was 
not standing at the May 2019 elections, 
he would also be standing down from 
the Local Pension Board, so the meeting 
of Wednesday 27 February 2019 was his 
last as Chairman.

The Local Board Members Attendance
The table below summarises the meetings 
which have taken place including 
attendance by members of the Board. 

Pension Board 
Member

29 Nov
2018

27 Feb
2019

Total

Councillor Andrew 
Cattaway

ü ü 2

John Jones û ü 1

Paul Kent ü û 1

Jeff Morley ü ü 2

Adam Richens ü ü 2

James Stevens ü û 1

Jason Vaughan ü ü 2

Luke White ü ü 2

P
age 306



G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

 | 
 6

4In accordance with Governance Regulation 
106 (6), the Local Pension Board has the 
power to do anything which is calculated to 
facilitate, or is conducive to, the discharge 
of any of its functions.

Assisting the Scheme Manager is 
interpreted as helping the Scheme 
Manager, including doing work requested 
by the Scheme Manager.  However, the 
Local Pension Board does not replace 
the Scheme Manager nor make decisions 
which are the responsibility of the 
Scheme Manager.

The remit of the Local Pension Board 
is interpreted as covering all aspects of 
governance and administration of the 
DCPF, including funding and investments.  
For the avoidance of doubt, this does not 
extend to the operational investment of 
the Fund’s assets.

The Local Pension Board is entitled to 
request information from the Scheme 
Manager in order to carry out its function.

Membership of the Local Pension Board
The Local Pension Board shall consist of six 
members and be constituted as follows:
•  three employer representatives; and
•  three scheme member 

representatives.

Scheme employer and member 
representatives shall be appointed in equal 
number, with a minimum of four in total, 
and shall together form the majority of the 
Local Pension Board’s membership.

Scheme employer representatives shall 
comprise of Dorset Council and the 
two Unitary Authorities, as the top tier 
authorities in Dorset, and the 3 largest 
employers in the Fund, representing 
around 70% of the scheme membership. 
One member will be nominated by Dorset 
County Council, one by Bournemouth 
Borough Council and one nominated by 
Borough of Poole. 

Scheme member representatives shall 
include at least one member nominated by 
the Unions, with Unison as lead union.

No officer or elected member of the 
administering authority (Dorset Council) 
who is responsible for the discharge of 
any function under the Local Government 
Pension Scheme regulations may be a 
member of the Local Pension Board. This is 
a specific requirement of the regulations.

As part of the process for selecting 
members of the Local Pension Board, 
Dorset County Council, via the Standards 
and Governance Committee, will be 

asked to nominate their member, and 
DCPF will contact:

•  Bournemouth and Poole councils to 
seek their nominations;

•  Unison, as lead union, to nominate 
member representatives; 

•  all Scheme members to canvass 
interest.  Active, pensioner and 
deferred pensioner members will be 
eligible to stand as scheme member 
representatives.  

The Pension Board is responsible for:

•  Scrutinising the progress of actions to 
meet the performance objectives of 
the Pension Fund;

•  Reviewing and monitoring the training 
plan of the Pensions Board and elected 
members and officers with delegated 
responsibilities for the management 
and administration of the Pension Fund;

•  Reviewing and monitoring the 
performance of external business 
partners, including the pensions 
administration service, the actuary, 
the custodian and the investment 
consultant;

•  Reviewing and monitoring the Risk 
Register and risk monitoring of 
scheme employers;

P
age 307



G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

 | 
 6

5•  Reviewing the implementation of 
revised policies and procedures, 
including the administering discretions;

•  Reviewing the compliance of projects 
commissioned by the Pension Fund 
Committee, including the Triennial 
Valuation of the Pension Fund;

•  Ensuring pension rules and 
regulations are being complied with, 
when officers are making decisions 
on pension matters;

•  Scrutinising data quality;

•  Reviewing internal audit reports;

•  Assisting in the development of 
improved customer services;

•  Reviewing compliance of Investment 
Managers with Investment 
Management Agreements; and

•  Reviewing progress of agreed actions 
to address finding from any review of 
the Pension Fund activities.

Accountability and Transparency 
Pension Board agendas, minutes and 
additional reports are published on the 
Dorset County Pension Fund website at 
https://www.yourpension.org.uk/Dorset/
Investments-Governance/Local-Pension-
Board/Agenda-and-Minutes.aspx

P
age 308



Pension Fund Accounts

P
age 309



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 6
7Pension Fund Accounts

Independent Auditor’s Statement to the Members of the Dorset County Pension Fund Committee on the 
Pension Fund Financial Statements

We have examined the pension fund 
financial statements for the year ended 
31 March 2019, which comprise the Fund 
Account, the Net Assets Statement and 
the related notes 1 to 22.

Respective responsibilities of the Chief 
Financial Officer and the auditor
As explained more fully in the 
Statement of the Chief Financial 
Officer’s Responsibilities, the Chief 
Financial Officer is responsible for 
the preparation of the pension fund’s 
financial statements in accordance with 
applicable United Kingdom law.

Our responsibility is to report to you 
my opinion on the consistency of the 
pension fund financial statements within 
the pension fund annual report with 
the pension fund financial statements 
in the statement of accounts of Dorset 
County Council, and its compliance with 

applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC 
Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom 
2018/19.

We also read the other information 
contained in the pension fund annual 
report and consider the implications 
for my report if we become aware 
of any apparent misstatements or 
material inconsistencies with the 
pension fund financial statements. The 
other information consists only [insert 
information included in the pension fund 
annual report as applicable].

We conducted my work in accordance 
with Auditor Guidance Note 07 – Auditor 
Reporting, issued by the National Audit 
Office. Our report on the administering 
authority’s full annual statement of 
accounts describes the basis of our 
opinion[s] on those financial statements.

Opinion
In our opinion, the pension fund financial 
statements are consistent with the full 
annual statement of accounts of Dorset 
County Council for the year ended 31 
March 2019 and comply with applicable 
law and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in 
the United Kingdom 2018/9.

We have not considered the effects of 
any events between the date we signed 
our report on the full annual statement of 
accounts ([insert date]) and the date of 
this statement.

[Signature]
Ian Howse (Appointed auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Cardiff, UK

[Date]

P
age 310



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 6
8Fund Accounts

Pension Fund Account for the Year 
Ended 31 March 2019 
The Pension Fund Accounts contain 
two core statements, the Pension Fund 
Account and the Net Assets Statement. 
Each of the statements is accompanied 
by supplementary notes providing 
additional detail to the figures presented.

Fund  Account
2017-18 2018-19

£’000 £’000 Note £’000 £’000
Dealings with members, employers and others directly involved in the Fund
119,537 Contributions 7 122,212

92,166 Employer contributions 94,290
27,371 Member contributions 27,922

8,615 Transfers in from other pension funds 8 5,938
128,152 Total additions from dealing with members etc 128,150

(113,223) Benefits 9 (120,112)
(92,186) Pensions (98,737)
(18,989) Commutations and retirement grants (17,771)

(2,048) Death benefits (3,604)
(6,688) Payments to and on account of leavers (5,700)

(340) Refunds of contributions (296)

(111) State scheme premiums -
(6,237) Transfers to other pension funds (5,404)

8,241 Net additions/(withdrawals) from dealings with 
members and others

2,338

(13,654) Management expenses 10 (14,345)
(5,413) Net additions/(withdrawals) including Fund 

management expenses
(12,007)

48,919 Investment Income 11 30,533
37,265 Dividends from equities 18,693
10,908 Rents from properties 10,439

942 Income from property funds 1,109
134 Interest on cash deposits 481
184 Other investment income 71

(514) Taxes on income (260)
88,715 Profit/(loss) on disposal of investments and 

changes in the value of investments
143,208

137,634 Net return on investments 173,741
132,221 Net increase/(decrease) in assets available for 

benefits during the year
161,734

2,735,997 Opening net assets of the fund 1 April 2,868,218
2,868,218 Closing net assets of the fund 31 March 3,029,952

P
age 311



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 6
9Net Assets Statement

31 March 2018 31 March 2019
£’000 £’000 Note £’000 £’000

840 Long term investments 12 395
840 Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd 395

2,860,059 Investment assets 13 3,025,386
448,550 UK equities (quoted) 29,469
644,160 Overseas equities (quoted) 421,913

1,388,985 Pooled investment vehicles 2,104,713
76,486 Private equity 80,275

255,830 Property 281,480
39,995 Cash & cash equivalents 103,022

920 Derivative contracts 733
5,133 Other investment assets 3,781

(3,778) Investment liabilities 13 (1,686)
(3,778) Other investment liabilities (1,686)

2,857,121 Total net investments 13 3,024,095
2,895 Long term debtors 1,930

2,895 Other long term debtors 1,930
12,249 Current assets 12,911

7,554 Contributions due from employers 8,689
4,695 Other current assets 4,222

(4,047) Current liabilities (8,984)
(229) Unpaid benefits (534)

(3,818) Other current liabilities (8,330)
- Deferred income (120)

2,868,218 Net assets available to fund benefits 3,029,952

P
age 312



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 7
0Notes to the Accounts

Note 1. Description of the Fund
The Dorset County Pension Fund ("the 
Fund") is part of the Local Government 
Pension Scheme (LGPS) and was 
administered by Dorset County Council 
("the Council") up to 31 March 2019. 
Following reorganisation of local 
government in Dorset, Dorset Council 
became the administering authority for 
the Fund from 1 April 2019.

a) General
The scheme is governed by the Public 
Service Pensions Act 2013. The fund 
is administered in accordance with the 
following secondary legislation:

 -  the Local Government Pension 
Scheme Regulations 2013 (as 
amended)

 -  the Local Government Pension 
Scheme (Transitional Provisions, 
Savings and Amendment) 
Regulations 2014 (as amended)

 -  the Local Government Pension 
Scheme (Management and Investment 
of Funds) Regulations 2016.

It is a contributory defined benefit pension 
scheme administered by the Council to 
provide pensions and other benefits for 
pensionable employees of the Council, 

other councils and a range of other 
scheduled and admitted bodies within the 
county area. Teachers, police officers and 
firefighters are not included as they come 
within other national pension schemes. 
The fund is overseen by the Dorset County 
Pension Fund Committee, which is a 
committee of the Council.

b) Membership
Membership of the LGPS is voluntary and 
employees are free to choose whether to 
join the scheme, remain in the scheme or 
make their own personal arrangements 
outside the scheme.

Organisations participating in the Fund 
include the following:

 -  Scheduled bodies, which are 
automatically entitled to be members 
of the Fund.

 -  Admitted bodies, which participate 
in the fund under the terms of an 
admission agreement between 
the Fund and the employer. 
Admitted bodies include voluntary, 
charitable and similar not-for-profit 
organisations, or private contractors 
undertaking a local authority function 
following outsourcing to the private 
sector.

Membership details are set out below:
31 March 

2018
31 March 

2019

291 Total Employers 297

Employees

6,872 Administering Authority 6,488

18,426 Other Scheduled Bodies 18,052

573 Admitted Bodies 528 

25,871 Total Employees 25,068

Pensioners

8,319 Administering Authority 8,639

11,608 Other Scheduled Bodies 12,155

1,290 Admitted Bodies 1,341 

21,217 Total Pensioners 22,135

Deferred Pensioners

8,950 Administering Authority 8,950

13,644 Other Scheduled Bodies 13,746

1,269 Admitted Bodies 1,234 

23,863 Total Deferred Pensioners 23,930

2,218 'Undecided' members 4,105

73,169 Total Members 75,238

P
age 313



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 7
1c) Funding

Benefits are funded by contributions and 
investment earnings. Contributions are 
made by active members of the fund in 
accordance with the Local Government 
Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 and 
ranged from 5.5% to 12.5% of pensionable 
pay for the financial year ending 31 
March 2019. Employers’ contributions are 
set based on triennial actuarial funding 
valuations. The last such valuation was 
at 31 March 2016. Currently, employer 
contribution rates range from 9.5% to 
26.6% of pensionable pay.

d) Benefits
Prior to 1 April 2014, pension benefits 
under the LGPS were based on final 
pensionable pay and length of pensionable 
service. From 1 April 2014, the scheme 
became a career average scheme, whereby 
members accrue benefits based on their 
pensionable pay in that year at an accrual 
rate of 1/49th. Accrued pension is uprated 
annually in line with the Consumer Prices 
Index. A range of other benefits are 
also provided including early retirement, 
disability pensions and death benefits.
 

Note 2. Basis of Preparation
The statement of accounts summarise 
the Fund's transactions for the 2018-19 
financial year and its financial position at 
31 March 2019. The accounts have been 
prepared in accordance with the Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in 
the United Kingdom 2018-19 ("the Code"), 
which is based upon International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS), as amended 
for the UK public sector.

Paragraph 3.3.1.2 of the Code requires 
disclosure of any accounting standards 
issued but not yet adopted. No such 
accounting standards have been identified 
for 2018-19.

The accounts report on the net assets 
available to pay pension benefits. They 
do not take account of obligations to pay 
pensions and benefits which fall due after 
the end of the financial year nor do they 
take into account the actuarial present 
value of promised retirement benefits. 
The Code gives administering authorities 
the option to disclose this information in 
the net assets statement, in the notes to 
the accounts or by appending an actuarial 
report prepared for this purpose. The Fund 
has opted to disclose this information by 
appending an actuarial report.

The accounts have been prepared on a 
going concern basis.

Note 3. Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies

Fund Account:
Contribution income
Normal contributions are accounted for on 
an accruals basis as follows:

Employee contribution rates are set in 
accordance with LGPS regulations, using 
common percentage rates for all schemes 
which rise according to pensionable pay.

Employer contributions are set at the 
percentage rate recommended by the fund 
actuary for the period to which they relate.

Employer deficit funding contributions are 
accounted for on the basis advised by the 
fund actuary in the rates and adjustment 
certificate issued to the relevant 
employing body. Additional employers’ 
contributions in respect of ill- health and 
early retirements are accounted for in the 
year the event arose. Any amount due in 
the year but unpaid will be classed as a 
current financial asset. Amounts not due 
until future years are classed as long term 
financial assets.

P
age 314



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 7
2Transfers to and from other schemes

Transfers in and out relate to members 
who have either joined or left the Fund.

Individual transfers in/out are accounted 
for when received or paid. Transfers 
in from members wishing to use the 
proceeds of their additional voluntary 
contributions (see below) to purchase 
scheme benefits are accounted for on 
a receipts basis and are included in 
Transfers In (Note 8).

Bulk (group) transfers are accounted 
for in accordance with the terms of the 
transfer agreement.

Investment income
Interest income is recognised in the 
Fund account as it accrues, using the 
effective interest rate of the financial 
instrument as at the date of acquisition 
or origination.

Dividend income is recognised on the 
date the shares are quoted ex-dividend. 
Any amount not received by the end 
of the reporting period is disclosed in 
the net assets statement as a current 
financial asset.

Distributions from pooled funds are 
recognised at the date of issue. Any amount 

not received by the end of the reporting 
period is disclosed in the net assets 
statement as a current financial asset.

Property-related income consists 
primarily of rental income. Rental income 
from operating leases on properties 
owned by the Fund is recognised on a 
straight-line basis over the term of the 
lease. Any lease incentives granted are 
recognised as an integral part of the total 
rental income, over the term of the lease. 
Contingent rents based on the future 
amount of a factor that changes other 
than with the passage of time, such as 
turnover rents, are only recognised when 
contractually due.

Changes in the value of investments 
(including investment properties) are 
recognised as income and comprise all 
realised and unrealised profits/losses 
during the year.

Benefits payable
Pensions and lump-sum benefits payable 
include all amounts known to be due 
as at the end of the financial year. Any 
amounts due but unpaid are disclosed 
in the net assets statement as current 
liabilities, providing that payment
has been approved.

Taxation
The Fund is a registered public service 
scheme under Section 1(1) of Schedule 
36 of the Finance Act 2004 and as 
such is exempt from UK income tax on 
interest received and from capital gains 
tax on the proceeds of investments 
sold. Income from overseas investments 
suffers withholding tax in the country of 
origin, unless exemption is permitted. 
Irrecoverable tax is accounted for as a 
fund expense as it arises.

Management expenses
The Fund discloses its pension fund 
management expenses in accordance 
with the CIPFA guidance Accounting 
for Local Government Pension Scheme 
Management Expenses (2016). All items 
of expenditure are charged to the Fund 
on an accruals basis.

Net Assets Statement:
Financial assets
All investment assets are included in the 
financial statements on a fair value basis 
as at the reporting date. A financial asset 
is recognised in the net assets statement 
on the date the Fund becomes party to the 
contractual acquisition of the asset. From 
this date any gains or losses arising from 
changes in the fair value of the asset are 
recognised in the fund account.

P
age 315



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 7
3The values of investments as shown 

in the net assets statement have been 
determined at fair value in accordance 
with the requirements of the Code and 
IFRS 13 (see Note 16). For the purposes 
of disclosing levels of fair value hierarchy, 
the Fund has adopted the classification 
guidelines recommended in Practical 
Guidance on Investment Disclosures 
(PRAG/Investment Association, 2016).

Freehold and leasehold properties
Properties are valued annually as at the 
year-end date by independent external 
valuers on a fair value basis and in 
accordance with the Royal Institute of 
Chartered Surveyors’ (RICS) Valuation 
Standards. See Note 16 for more details.

Foreign currency transactions
Dividends, interest and purchases and sales 
of investments in foreign currencies have 
been accounted for at the spot market rates 
at the date of transaction. End-of-year spot 
market exchange rates are used to value 
cash balances held in foreign currency 
bank accounts, overseas investments and 
purchases and sales outstanding at the end 
of the reporting period.

Derivatives
The Fund uses derivative financial 
instruments to manage its exposure to 
specific risks arising from its investment 

activities. The Fund does not hold 
derivatives for speculative purposes.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash comprises cash in hand and 
demand deposits and includes amounts 
held by the Fund’s external managers.

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly 
liquid investments that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash 
and that are subject to minimal risk of 
changes in value.

Loans and receivables
Financial assets classed as amortised 
cost are carried in the net asset 
statement at amortised cost, ie the 
outstanding principal receivable as at the 
year-end date plus accrued interest.

Financial liabilities
A financial liability is recognised in the 
net assets statement on the date the 
Fund becomes party to the liability. The 
Fund recognises financial liabilities 
relating to investment trading at fair 
value as at the reporting date, and any 
gains or losses arising from changes 
in the fair value of the liability between 
contract date, the year-end date and the 
eventual settlement date are recognised 
in the fund account as part of the change 
in value of investments.

Other financial liabilities classed as 
amortised cost are carried at amortised 
cost ie the amount carried in the net 
asset statement is the outstanding 
principal repayable plus accrued interest. 
Any interest charged is accounted for 
on an accruals basis and included in 
administration costs.

Actuarial present value of promised 
retirement benefits
The actuarial present value of promised 
retirement benefits is assessed on a 
triennial basis by the scheme actuary 
in accordance with the requirements of 
International Accounting Standard (IAS) 
19 and relevant actuarial standards. As 
permitted under the Code, the Fund has 
opted to disclose the actuarial present 
value of promised retirement benefits 
by way of an actuarial report appended 
to the accounts.

Additional voluntary contributions
The Fund provides an additional 
voluntary contribution (AVC) scheme 
for its members, the assets of which 
are invested separately from those of 
the Fund. AVCs are not included in the 
accounts in accordance with Section 
4(1)(b) of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme (Management and Investment 
of funds) Regulations 2016 but are 
disclosed for information in Note 20.

P
age 316



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 7
4Contingent assets and contingent 

liabilities
A contingent asset arises where an 
event has taken place giving rise to a 
possible asset whose existence will 
only be confirmed or otherwise by the 
occurrence of future events.

A contingent liability arises where an 
event has taken place prior to the year-
end giving rise to a possible financial 
obligation whose existence will only 
be confirmed or otherwise by the 
occurrence of future events. Contingent 
liabilities can also arise in circumstances 
where a provision would be made, except 
that it is not possible at the balance 
sheet date to measure the value of the 
financial obligation reliably.

Contingent assets and liabilities are not 
recognised in the net asset statement 
but are disclosed by way of narrative in 
the notes (see Note 22).

Note 4. Critical judgements in applying 
accounting policies
Pension fund liability
The net Fund liability is re-calculated 
every three years by the appointed 
actuary, with annual updates in the 
intervening years. The methodology used 
is in line with accepted guidelines.

This estimate is subject to significant 
variances based on changes to the 
underlying assumptions which are 
agreed with the actuary and have been 
summarised in Note 18. Actuarial 
re-valuations are used to set future 
contribution rates and underpin the 
Fund’s most significant investment 
management policies, for example in 
terms of the balance struck between 
longer term investment growth and 
short-term yield/return.

Directly held property
The Fund’s property portfolio includes 
a number of directly owned properties 
which are leased commercially to various 
tenants. The Fund has determined 
that these contracts all constitute 
operating lease arrangements under the 
classifications permitted by IAS 7 and the 
Code, therefore the properties are retained 
on the net asset statement at fair value.

Note 5. Assumptions made about the 
future and other major sources of 
uncertainty
The preparation of financial statements 
requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts. 
Estimates and assumptions take account 
of historical experience, current trends 

and future expectations, however actual 
outcomes could be different from the 
assumptions and estimates made.
The items in the net asset statement 
for which there is a significant risk of 
material adjustment the following year 
are as follows:

Actuarial present value of promised 
retirement benefits (Note 19)
Estimation of the net liability to pay 
pensions depends on a number of 
complex judgements relating to the 
discount rate used, salary increases, 
changes in retirement ages, mortality 
rates and returns on fund assets. A firm 
of consulting actuaries is engaged to 
provide the fund with expert advice about 
the assumptions to be applied.

Private equity investments (Note 16)
Private equity investments are valued 
at fair value in accordance with 
International Private Equity and Venture 
Capital Valuation Guidelines (2012). 
Investments are not publicly listed and 
as such there is a degree of estimation 
involved in the valuation.

Freehold, leasehold property and pooled 
property funds (Note 16)
Valuation techniques are used to 
determine the carrying amount of pooled 

P
age 317



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 7
5property funds and directly held freehold 

and leasehold property. Where possible 
these valuation techniques are based 
on observable data but where this is not 
possible management uses the best 
available data.

Note 6. Events after the reporting date
There are events, both favourable and 
unfavourable, that can occur between 
the end of the reporting period and the 
date when the financial statements are 
authorised for issue. There are events 
that provide additional information about 
conditions that existed at the end of the 
reporting period (adjusting events), and 
events that occur after the reporting 
period (non-adjusting events).

Brexit

On 10 April 2019 European Union (EU) 
leaders agreed to an extension of article 
50, which may delay the date the UK will 
exit the EU until 31 October 2019. The 
terms of a final exit agreement are still to 
be agreed, but it is expected that this will 
have short and long term implications for 
the Fund's assets and liabilities.

Note 7. Contributions receivable
By category:

2017-18 2018-19

£'000 Employer contributions £'000

66,550 Contributions re future 
service costs

68,282

18,771 Contributions re past 
service costs (deficit 
recovery)

22,325

76 Voluntary additional 
contributions

101

3,562 Augmentation cost of 
early retirements

3,575

3,207 Exit payments from 
employers

-

 - Exit credits to 
employers

7

92,166 Total employer 
contributions

94,290

27,371 Member contributions 27,922

119,537 Total contributions 
receivable

122,212

By type of employer:

2017-18 2018-19

£'000 £'000

32,547 Administering authority 35,391

79,464 Other scheduled bodies 83,016

7,526 Admitted bodies 3,805 

119,537 Total contributions 
receivable

122,212

Note 8. Transfers in from other pension 
funds
All transfers in from other pension funds 
were individual transfers, there were no 
group transfers to the Fund in 2018-19.

Note 9. Benefits payable
By type of employer:

2017-18 2018-19

£'000 £'000

37,408 Administering authority 40,151

67,824 Other scheduled bodies 72,131

7,991 Admitted bodies 7,830 

113,223 Total benefits payable 120,112

Note 10. Management expenses
The table below shows a breakdown 
of the management expenses incurred 
during the year.

2017-18 2018-19

£'000 £'000

1,775 Administrative expenses 1,745

532 Oversight and 
governance costs

609

11,347 Investment management 
expenses

 11,991

13,654 Total management 
expenses

14,345

P
age 318



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 7
6Investment management expenses 

consisted of:
2017-18 2018-19

£'000 £'000

9,306 Investment 
management fees

10,002

442 Performance related fees 282

218 Custody fees 123

440 Transaction costs 771

941 Other fees and costs 813

11,347 Total investment 
management expenses

11,991

Transaction costs associated with 
pooled investment vehicles are taken 
into account in calculating the bid/offer 
spread of these investments and are 
therefore embedded within the purchase 
and sales costs and not separately 
identifiable. All other transaction costs 
have been charged to the Fund Account.

Note 11. Investment income
Rents from properties are shown net of 
operating expenses of £1,152k in 2018-
19 (£734k in 2017-18).

The Fund lends UK and overseas equity 
stock held in the portfolio. All benefits 
as a stockholder are retained except for 
the voting rights. The income from stock 

lending was £71k. The value of stock on 
loan as at 31 March 2019 was £13.5M
secured by total collateral worth £14.4M.

Note 12. Long term investments
In response to the requirements of the 
investment regulations for LGPS funds to 
pool investment assets, Brunel Pension 
Partnership Ltd (Brunel) has been formed 
to oversee the investment assets for 
the Avon, Buckinghamshire. Cornwall, 
Devon, Dorset, Environment Agency, 
Gloucestershire, Oxfordshire, Somerset, 
and Wiltshire LGPS funds.

Each of the ten funds own an equal share 
of Brunel, with share capital invested 
by each fund at a cost of £840k. The 
Fund's shareholding in Brunel was valued 
at cost at 31 March 2018. The value 
of each fund's shareholding based on 
Brunel's most recently audited accounts 
was £395k, and the value of the Fund's 
shareholding has been impaired
(adjusted downwards) to reflect this.

P
age 319



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 7
7Note 13. Investments

The following table summarises details 
of the market valuation of the Fund's 
investments as at the reporting date.

31 March 2018 31 March 2019
% £'000 £'000 %

Portfolio / Manager / Pooled Vehicle
0.00 840 Long Term Investments 395 0.00

840 Brunel Pensions Partnership 395
15.70 448,550 UK Equities - Quoted 29,469 1.00

401,402 Dorset County Council -
16,771 Allianz -
14,586 Investec 14,932
15,791 Wellington 14,537

22.50 644,160 Overseas Equities - Quoted 421,913 14.00
265,107 Allianz -
181,341 Investec 200,402
197,712 Wellington 221,511

2.70 76,486 Private Equity 80,275 2.70
41,438 HarbourVest 46,925
35,048 Aberdeen Standard 32,091

- Capital Dynamics Global Secondary Fund V 1,259
9.00 255,830 Property (directly owned) 281,480 9.30

255,830 CBRE Global Investors 281,480

Pooled Investment Vehicles
7.20 204,504 Bonds 214,353 7.10

204,504 RLAM / Unit Linked Inv Fund - Life Policy 214,353
8.60 245,842 UK Equities - Quoted 613,642 20.20

190,746 AXA Framlington / Unit Trust -
55,096 Schroders / Unit Trust 52,033

- LGIM (passive UK) 374,013
- Brunel (active UK) 187,596

3.60 103,281 Overseas Equities - Quoted 379,228 12.50
103,281 JP Morgan / Unit Trust 98,177

- LGIM (passive smart beta) 281,051
4.80 136,206 Multi Asset Credit (MAC) 139,717 4.60

136,206 CQS 139,717

P
age 320



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 7
831 March 2018

Market Value
Potfolio/Manager/Pooled Vehicle

31 March 2019
Market Value

% £'000 £'000 %
1.40 39,547 Property 41,792 1.40

8,897 Lend Lease Retail Partnership 8,255
14,577 Standard Life UK Shopping Centre Trust 13,415
16,073 UK Long Income Property Fund 17,183

- Aberdeen Standard Long Lease Property Fund 2,939
6.10 173,342 Diversified Growth Funds 176,110 5.80

173,342 Barings Asset Management / Non UCITS (PIF) 176,110
3.70 106,545 Infrastructure 138,742 4.60

32,964 Hermes GPE / Infrastructure Fund 51,897
73,581 IFM / Global Infrastucture Fund 86,845

13.30 379,718 Liability Driven Investment 401,129 13.30
379,718 Insight / LDI Active 16 Fund 401,129

48.70 1,388,985 Total - Pooled Investments 2,104,713 69.50
1.40 39,995 Cash & Cash Equivalents 103,022 3.40
0.00 920 Derivatives 733 0.00
0.00 1,355 Investment Receivables/(Payables) 2,095 0.10

100.00 2,857,121 Total Investments 3,024,095 100.00

P
age 321



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 7
9Value  

1 April 2018
Purch’s & 
Derivative 
payments

Sales & 
Derivative 
receipts

Change in 
market value

Value  
31 March 
2019

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Equities - Unquoted 840 - - (445) 395
Equities - Quoted 1,092,710 361,201 (1,093,014) 90,485 451,382
Pooled Investment Vehicles 1,388,985 1,343,933 (685,171) 56,966 2,104,713
Private Equity 76,486 40,297 (53,046) 16,538 80,275
Property 255,830 23,622 (1,387) 3,415 281,480
Total Securities 2,814,851 1,769,053 (1,832,618) 166,959 2,918,245
Forward Foreign Exchange 920 29,532 (5,968) (23,751) 733
Total Securities and Derivatives 2,815,771 1,798,585 (1,838,586) 143,208 2,918,978
Other Investment Balances:
Cash & cash equivalents 39,995 - - - 103,022
Other investment assets 5,133 - - - 3,781
Other investment liabilities  (3,778) - - - (1,686)
Net Investment Assets 2,857,121 1,798,585 (1,838,586) 143,208 3,024,095

Note 15. Analysis of derivatives
The Fund's holdings in derivatives are 
to hedge liabilities or exposures to 
reduce risk. To maintain appropriate 
diversification a significanct proportion 
of the Fund's equity portfolio is in 
overseas stock. To reduce the volatility 
associated with fluctuating currency 
rates, the Fund hedges 50% of the US 
Dollar, Euro and Japanese Yen exposure 
within the portfolios managed by the 
Fund's global equties managers, Investec 
Asset Management and Wellington
Management. As at 31 March 2019, the 
Fund held the following open forward 
currency contracts.

Settlement Currency 
Bought

Local Value Currency 
Sold

Local Value Asset Value Liability 
Value

000s 000s £’000 £’000
1-6 months GBP 22,143 EUR 25,461 144 -

GBP 153,122 USD 199,519 596 -

JPY 40,938 GBP 284 - -

GBP 13,455 JPY 1,937,315 - (7)

Open Forward Currency Contracts at 31 March 2019 740 (7)

Net Forward Currency Contracts at 31 March 2019 733

Note 14. Reconciliation of movements in 
investments and derivatives
The following table summarises details 
of purchases, sales and changes in the 
market valuation of investments in the 
fund during the financial year.

P
age 322



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 8
0Note 16. Fair value of investment assets

All investment assets have been valued 
using fair value techniques which 
represent the highest and best price 
available at the reporting date. Asset 
valuations have been classified into 
three levels, according to the quality 
and reliability of information used to 
determine fair values, as follows:

Level 1:  where fair values are derived 
form unadjusted quoted prices 
in active markets for identical 
assets;

Level 2:   where market prices are not 
available, for example, where 
an asset is traded in a market 
that is not considered to be 
active, but where valuation 
techniques are based 
significantly on observable 
market data;

Level 3:   where at least one input that 
could have a significant effect 
on the valuation of the asset 
is not based on observable 
market data.

31 March 2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

UK Equities - Quoted 29,469 - - 29,469
Overseas equities - Quoted 421,913 - - 421,913
Pooled Investment Vehicles - 1,927,120 177,593 2,104,713
Private Equity - - 80,275 80,275
Property - - 281,480 281,480
Cash & Cash Equivalents 103,022 - - 103,022
Derivatives 733 - - 733
Other investment assets 3,781 - - 3,781
Total 558,918 1,927,120 539,348 3,025,386

31 March 2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

UK Equities - Quoted 448,550 - - 448,550
Overseas equities - Quoted 644,160 - - 644,160
Pooled Investment Vehicles - 1,242,893 146,092 1,388,985
Private Equity - - 76,486 76,486
Property - - 255,830 255,830
Cash & Cash Equivalents 39,995 - - 39,995
Derivatives 920 - - 920
Other investment assets 5,133 - - 5,133
Total 1,138,758 1,242,893 478,408 2,860,059

The following tables summarise the Fund’s investment assets by class at 31 March 2019 
and at 31 March 2018 measured at fair value according to the above fair value hierarchy.

P
age 323



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 8
1During the year ended 31 March 2019 there were no transfers between levels 1, 2 or 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

The basis of the valuation of each class of investment asset is summarised below.

Description of Asset Basis of Valuation Key Inputs Key Sensitivities

Level 1:

Market quoted 
investments

Published bid market price ruling on the 
final day of the accounting period.

Not required. Not required.

Exchange traded 
pooled investments

Published exchange prices at the 
reporting date.

Not required. Not required.

Level 2:

Pooled investments - 
unit trusts etc.

Closing bid price where bid and offer 
prices are published, or closing single 
price where single price only is published.

Net Asset Value (NAV) based pricing set 
on a forward pricing basis.

Not required.

Level 3:

Freehold and leasehold 
properties

Valued at fair value at the reporting date 
by Peter Sudell FRICS of BNP Paribas 
Real Estate and Andrew Wells FRICS (the 
Derwent portfolio) of Allsop LLP, both acting 
as independent valuers and in accordance 
with current RICS Valuation Standards.

Existing lease terms and rentals, 
independent market research, nature 
of tenancies, covenant strength for 
existing tenants, assumed vacancy levels, 
estimated rental growth, discount rate.

Significant changes in rental growth, 
vacancy levels or the discount rate could 
affect valuations, as could more general 
changes to market prices.

Description of Asset Basis of Valuation Key Inputs Key Sensitivities

Unquoted equity Comparable valuation of similar 
companies in accordance with 
International Private Equity and Venture 
Capital Valuation Guidelines (2012).

Earnings (EBITDA) and revenue multiples, 
discount for lack of marketability, control 
premium.

Valuations could be affected by material 
events occurring between the date of 
the financial statements provided and 
the Fund's reporting date, changes to 
expected cashflows, differences between 
audited and unaudited accounts.

Property funds Underlying assets valued at fair value 
at the reporting date by each fund's 
valuers in accordance with current RICS 
Valuation Standards, taking account of 
other financial assets and liabilities within 
the fund structure.

Existing lease terms and rentals, 
independent market research, nature 
of tenancies, covenant strength for 
existing tenants, assumed vacancy levels, 
estimated rental growth, discount rate.

Significant changes in rental growth, 
vacancy levels or the discount rate could 
affect valuations, as could more general 
changes to market prices.

P
age 324



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 8
2Note 17. Nature and extent of risks 

arising from financial instruments
The Fund's primary long-term risk 
is that its assets will fall short of its 
liabilities (i.e. promised benefits payable 
to members). Therefore the aim of 
investment risk management is to 
minimise the risk of an overall reduction 
in the value of the Fund and to maximise 
the opportunities for gains across the 
whole Fund portfolio. The Fund achieves 
this through asset diversification to 
reduce exposure to market risk (price 
risk, interest rate risk and currency risk) 
and credit risk to  an acceptable level. In 
addition, the Fund manages its liquidity 
risk to ensure there is sufficient liquidity 
to meet its forecast cash flows.

Responsibility for the Fund's risk 
management strategy rests with the 
Committee. The Committee receives 
regular reports from each investment 
manager and from its Independent 
Adviser on the nature of the investments 
made and their associated risks.

(a) Market Risk
Market risk is the risk of loss resulting 
from general market fluctuations in 
equity and commodity prices, interest 
and foreign exchange rates and credit 
spreads. The Fund is exposed to 

market risk from its investment activities, particularly through its equity holdings. In 
general, excessive volatility in market risk is managed through the diversification of 
the portfolio in terms of geographical and industry sectors and individual securities, 
and by gaining exposure to different markets through different investment managers. 
Exposure to specific markets and asset classes is limited by applying strategic targets 
to asset allocation, which are agreed and monitored by the Committee.

(a) (i) Other Price Risk
Other price risk represents the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
as a result of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk 
or foreign exchange risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to 
the individual instrument or its issuer or factors affecting all such instruments in the 
market. The Fund's investment managers mitigate this risk through diversification in 
line with their own investment strategies.

The following table demonstrates the change in the net assets available to pay benefits 
if the market price for each class of investment had increased or decreased by 15%, 
excluding temporary investments and cash deposits.

As at 31 March 2019 Value Change Increase Decrease
£’000 % £’000 £’000

UK equities - quoted 29,469 15.00 4,420 (4,420)
Overseas equities - quoted 421,913 15.00 63,287 (63,287)
Pooled Investment Vehicles 2,104,713 15.00 315,707 (315,707)
Private Equity 80,275 15.00 12,041 (12,041)
Property 281,480 15.00 42,222 (42,222)
Cash & cash equivalents 103,022 0.00 - -
Derivatives 733 15.00 110 (110)
Other investment assets  3,781 0.00 - -
Total     3,025,386 14.47 437,787 (437,787)

P
age 325



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 8
3As at 31 March 2018 Value Change Increase Decrease

£’000 % £’000 £’000
UK equities - Quoted 448,550 15.00 67,283 (67,283)
Overseas equities - Quoted 644,160 15.00 96,624 (96,624)
Pooled Investment Vehicles 1,388,985 15.00 208,348 (208,348)
Private Equity 76,486 15.00 11,473 (11,473)
Property 255,830 15.00 38,375 (38,375)
Cash & cash equivalents 39,995 0.00 - -
Derivatives 920 15.00 138 (138)
Other investment assets  5,133 0.00 - -
Total     2,860,059 14.76 422,241 (422,241)

(a) (ii) Interest Rate Risk
The Fund invests in financial assets for 
the primary purpose of obtaining a return 
on investments on behalf of scheme 
members. These investments are subject 
to interest rate risks, which represent 
the risk that the fair value of future 
cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market 
interest rates. The Fund's exposure 
to interest rate movements on those 
investments at 31 March 2019 and 
2018 are provided opposite, based on 
underlying financial assets at fair value.

Interest rates vary and can impact 
the value of the net assets available 
to pay benefits to scheme members. 
This analysis assumes that all other 

variables, in particular foreign currency 
rates, remain constant. The analysis is 
performed on the same basis for the year 
ended 31 March 2018.

An increase or decrease of 1% (100 basis 
points) in interest rates at the reporting 
date would have increased or decreased 
the change for the year in net assets 
available to pay benefits by the amount 
shown opposite.

As at 31 
March 2019

Market 
Value

Change in net 
assets

+1% -1%
£'000 £'000 £'000

Cash & cash 
equivalents

103,022 1,030 (1,030)

Assets held in pooled investment vehicles

Bonds 214,353 2,144 (2,144)
Multi Asset 
Credit (MAC)

139,717 1,397 (1,397)

Liability Driven 
Investment 
(LDI)

401,129 4,011 (4,011)

Total 858,221 8,582 (8,582)

As at 31 
March 2018

Market 
Value

Change in net 
assets

+1% -1%
£'000 £'000 £'000

Cash & cash 
equivalents

39,995 400 (400)

Assets held in pooled investment vehicles:

Bonds 204,504 2,045 (2,045)
Multi Asset 
Credit (MAC)

136,206 1,362 (1,362)

Liability Driven 
Investment 
(LDI)

379,718 3,797 (3,797)

Total 760,423 7,604 (7,604)

P
age 326



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 8
4(a) (iii) Currency Risk

Currency risk represents the risk 
that future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates. The 
Fund is exposed to currency risk on any 
cash balances and investment assets 
that are not denominated in UK sterling.

To mitigate the effect of movements 
in foreign exchange rates against its 
overseas equities investments, the Fund 
has in place a 50% passive currency 
hedge against the three major currencies, 
the US Dollar, the Euro and the Japanese 
Yen, and 50% of its holdings in the LGIM 
Smart Beta fund are in hedged units.

Following analysis of historical data, 
the Fund considers the likely volatility 
associated with foreign exhange rates 
to be +/- 10% in total. The following 
summarises the Fund's exposure to 
currency exchange rate movements on 
its investments net of these hedges.

As at  
31 March 
2019

Total 
Exposure

Unhedged 
Exposure

Potential
Movement

£’000 £’000 £'000
Overseas 
equities - 
quoted

421,913 210,957 21,096

Pooled 
Investment 
Vehicles

781,900 641,375 64,137

Private 
Equity

80,275 80,275 8,028

Total 1,284,088 932,606 93,261

As at  
31 March 
2018

Total 
Exposure

Unhedged 
Exposure

Potential
Movement

£’000 £’000 £'000
Overseas 
equities - 
quoted

644,160 322,080 32,208

Pooled 
Investment 
Vehicles

486,410 486,410 48,641

Private 
Equity

76,486 76,486 7,649

Total 1,207,056 884,976 88,498

(b) Credit Risk
Credit risk represents the risk that the 
counterparty to the financial instrument 
will fail to discharge an obligation 
and cause the Pension Fund to incur 
a financial loss. The market values 
of investments generally reflect an 
assessment of credit in their pricing and 

consequently the risk of loss is implicitly 
provided for in the carrying value of the 
Fund's financial assets and liabilities.

The selection of high quality 
counterparties, brokers and financial 
institutions minimises credit risk that 
may occur though the failure to settle 
transactions in a timely manner. The 
Fund's exposure to concentrations of 
credit risk to individual counterparties 
comprises of temporary investments 
and bonds held in pooled investment 
vehicles. The contractual credit risk 
is represented by the net payment or 
receipt that remains outstanding.

Deposits are not made with banks 
and financial institutions unless they 
are rated independently and meet the 
Fund's credit criteria. The Fund also sets 
limits as to the maximum percentage of 
deposits placed with any one individual 
institution. In addition, to enable 
diversification, the Fund is able to invest 
in Money Market Funds, all of which 
have a AAA rating from the leading credit 
rating agencies.

The Fund's exposure to credit risk at 31 
March 2019 is the carrying amount of the 
financial assets.

P
age 327



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 8
5Investment 31 March 

2019
31 March 

2018

£'000 £'000
Bank Account Deposits 44,572 2,895
Money Market Funds 58,450 37,100
Assets held in pooled 
investment vehicles:

Bonds 214,353 204,504
Multi Asset Credit (MAC) 139,717 136,206
Liability Driven 
Investment (LDI)

401,129 379,718

Total 858,221 760,423

(c) Liquidity Risk   
Liquidity risk represents the risk that the 
Fund will not be able to meet its financial 
obligations as they fall due. Such risks 
are mitigated by maintaining a detailed 
cashflow model and taking appropriate 
steps to ensure that there is adequate 
cost available to meet liabilities as they 
fall due. 

The Fund has immediate access to its 
cash holdings and defines liquid assets 
as assets that can be converted to cash 
within three months notice, subject to 
normal market conditions. As at 31 
March 2019, liquid assets were
£2,486M representing 82% of total net 
assets (£2,381M at 31 March 2018 
representing 83% of total net assets at 
that date).

Note 18. Funding arrangements
In accordance with the LGPS Regulations, 
the Fund’s actuary, Barnett Waddingham, 
undertakes a funding valuation every three 
years for the purpose of setting employer 
contribution rates for the forthcoming 
triennial period. The most recent such 
valuation took place as at 31 March 2016, 
setting employer contribution rates for the 
period 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2020. 

Contribution rates for the year ending  
31 March 2019 were set at the latest 
valuation calculated as at 31 March 2016. 
The common contribution rates set at the 
2016 valuation for the three year period 
ending 31 March 2020 are as follows.

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20
Future service 
contributions

15.60% 15.60% 15.60%

Deficit recovery 
contributions

4.40% 5.10% 5.80%

Total employer 
contributions

20.00% 20.70% 21.40%

The contribution rates paid by each 
employer, in addition to those paid by 
members of the scheme, are set to be 
sufficient to meet the liabilities that build 
up each year within the Fund in respect 
of the benefits earned by each employer's 
active members of the Fund during the 
year plus an amount to reflect each 

participating employer's share of the value 
of the Fund's assets compared with the 
liabilities that have already accrued at the 
valuation date. Each employer pays an 
individual rate of contributions to reflect its 
own particular circumstances and funding 
position within the Fund. The contribution 
rates were calculated using the projected 
unit method taking account of market 
conditions at the valuation date.

At the 2016 valuation, the Fund was 
assessed as 83% funded, compared to 
82% at the 2013 valuation, and the deficit 
recovery period was reduced from 25 
years to 22 years. The key assumptions 
applied by the actuary for the 2016 and 
2013 valuations are summarised below. 
To be consistent with the market value of 
assets, the liabilities were valued allowing 
for expected future investment returns and 
increases to benefits as determined by 
market levels at the valuation date.

Valuation 
2016

Valuation 
2013

Annual rate of return on 
investments

5.40% 6.00%

Annual rate of increases 
in pay (long term)

3.90% 4.20%

Annual rate of increases 
in pay (short term)

2.40% 2.70%

Annual rate of increases 
to pensions in payment

2.40% 2.70%

P
age 328



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 8
6Note 19. Actuarial present value of 

promised retirement benefits
In addition to the triennial funding valuation, 
the Fund's actuary, Barnett Waddingham, 
also undertakes a valuation of  the Fund's 
liabilities, on an IAS 19 basis, using the 
same base data as the funding valuation 
rolled forward to the current financial year, 
taking account of membership numbers 
and updating assumptions to the current 
year. This annual valuation is not carried 
out on the same basis as that used for 
setting employer contribution rates and 
the Fund  accounts do not take account 
of liabilities to pay pensions and other 
benefits in the future.

This valuation as at 31 March 2019 is set 
out in Appendix D Pension Fund - IAS 26 
Disclosures to these financial statements 
2018-19.

Note 20. Additional Voluntary 
Contributions
The Council administers an in-house AVC 
Scheme with two designated providers, 
Prudential and Equitable Life. The amounts 
contributed to AVC plans by employees 
who are members of the pension scheme 
do not form any part of, and are not 
included in, the Fund accounts.

Each employer in the Fund is responsible 
for collecting from their own employees 
and paying to the AVC provider those 
contributions due on AVC plans. Dorset 
County Council as employer deducted 
and paid to the AVC providers a total of 
£352k in 2018-19 (£321k in 2017-18).

Note 21. Related party transactions
Related party issues arise primarily 
from the fact that the Council is the 
administering authority for the Fund. The 
Council also has various operational, 
contractual and financial dealings with a 
number of scheduled and admitted bodies 
of the Fund, however, these activities 
do not relate to the Council's role as 
administering authority for the Fund.

The Council remits monthly contributions 
to the Fund in arrears, and March 2019 
contributions of £2.6M were accrued  as 
at 31 March 2019. Management and 
administration costs of £1.9M were incurred 
by the Council and recharged to the Fund 
in 2018-19. In addition at any given time 
there may be amounts which have been 
paid or received by both the Council or the 
Fund where indebtedness arises between 
the two. These can arise due to operational 
necessity or where single transactions have 
elements relating to both the Council and 
the Fund and are settled on a regular basis.

Senior officers of the Council are members 
of the Fund as employee contributors. 
As at 31 March 2019, one member 
of the Committee was a contributing 
member of the Fund and one member of 
the Committee was a deferred member 
of the Fund. The key management 
personnel of the Fund are the members 
of the Committee and the Council's 
Chief Financial Officer, who is the Fund 
Administrator. The £1.9M recharge from 
the Council includes a charge of £19,000 
for the Fund Administrator's time spent 
working for the Fund.

Note 22. Contingent assets, liabilities 
and contractual commitments
Recovery of withholding tax
The Fund is continuing the process required 
to recover withholding tax from various 
EU investments following rulings requiring 
equal treatment for all EU investors. These 
claims will be retrospective and will cover 
a varying number of years depending on 
the domicile. Neither the amount nor the 
expected time of settlement are known so 
consequently the financial statements as at 
31 March 2019 do not reflect any potential 
recovery of tax.

P
age 329



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 8
7Impact of the McCloud and Sargeant 

judgements
The Local Government Pension Scheme 
(LGPS) introduced a new Career Average 
Revalued Earnings (CARE) benefit 
structure with effect from 1 April 2014. For 
members who were 10 years or less from 
Normal Retirement Age on 1 April 2012, 
an ‘underpin’ was provided based on the 
existing final salary scheme to provide 
transitional protection to those members.

In December 2018, the Court of Appeal 
found that transitional protections in 
the pension schemes for firefighters 
("McCloud") and the judiciary ("Sargeant") 
resulted in unlawful age discrimination. 
The implications of the ruling are 
therefore expected to apply to all public 
sector schemes including the LGPS. The 
Government sought permission to appeal 
this decision to the Supreme Court but that 
permission was denied on 27 June 2019. 
There remains, however, considerable 
uncertainty about the eventual remedy that 
may be put in place for the LGPS.

The Government Actuary's Department’s 
(GAD) has estimated the potential impact 
to be between 0.1% and 3.2% of total LGPS 
active member liabilities, depending on a 
number of assumptions. Whilst this looks 
at the national picture, the impact on any 

given fund and its scheme employers 
could be significantly different. The 
Fund’s actuary has therefore calculated 
the estimated impact on liabilities for the 
main employers in the Fund based on the 
assumptions used by GAD. These results 
range from 0.4% to 0.8% of total liabilities 
for each employer.

P
age 330



Asset Pools

P
age 331



As
se

t P
oo

ls
  |

  8
9

Background 
In 2015 the Department of Communities 
and Local Government (as it then was) 
issued LGPS: Investment Reform Criteria 
and Guidance which set out how the 
government expected funds to establish 
asset pooling arrangements. The 
objective was to deliver:  

•  Benefits of scale;

•  Strong governance and decision making;

•  Reduced costs and excellent value for 
money, and;  

•  An improved capacity and capability 
to invest in infrastructure.

  
This has led to the creation of eight asset 
pools which have significantly changed 
the previous approach to investing, 
although it should be stressed that the 
responsibility for determining asset 
allocations and the investment strategy 
remains with individual pension funds. 

As a result of the investment pooling 
agenda, the Dorset Fund joined with nine 
other LGPS administering authorities 
(Avon, Buckinghamshire, Cornwall, Devon, 

Asset Pools
Environmental Agency, Gloucestershire, 
Oxfordshire, Somerset and Wiltshire) to 
form the Brunel Pension Partnership. 

In summary:

•  Brunel has ten shareholders, each 
with a ten percent share in the 
business;

•  Brunel’s shareholders are Brunel’s 
client funds;

•  Brunel is one of eight national Local 
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) 
pools in England and Wales.

Dorset County Council approved the 
business case for Brunel in January 2017, 
based on estimated potential fee savings of 
£550 million over a 20 year period across 
the ten funds, of which Dorset’s share was 
£74 million. The project would see initial 
costs, but in Dorset’s case was expected to 
break even by 2021-22. 
 
The expected costs and savings for 
Dorset, as per the original business case 
approved in January 2017, and then 
submitted to Government, are set out in 
the following table. 
 

Table 1:  Expected Costs and Savings from Pooling (as per Business Case)

2016-
2017

2017-
2018

2018-
2019

2019-
2020

2020-
2021

2021-
2022

2022-
2023

2023-
2024

2024-
2025

2025-
2026

2026-
2036

Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Set up costs 117 1,066 - - - - - - - - - 1,183

Ongoing Brunel 
Costs

- - 487 637 657 679 701 724 747 772 9,247 14,650

Dorset Fund 
Savings

- - (125) (129) (133) (137) (141) (145) (149) (154) (1,818) (2,931)

Transition costs - - 1,283 1,896 123 - - - - - - 3,301

Fee savings - - (59) (1,499) (2,562) (2,986) (3,453) (3,953) (4,232) (4,527) (66,788) (90,058)

Net costs / 
(savings)

117 1,066 1,586 905 (1,915) (2,444) (2,893) (3,374) (3,634) (3,909) (59,359) (73,855)

P
age 332



As
se

t P
oo

ls
  |

  9
0Following approval of the business case, 

the Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd was 
established in July 2017, as a company 
wholly owned by the Administering 
Authorities (in equal shares) that 
participate in the pool. The company 
is authorised by the Financial Conduct 
Authority (FCA). It is responsible for 
implementing the detailed Strategic 
Asset Allocations of the participating 
funds by investing Funds’ assets within 
defined outcome focused investment 
portfolios. In particular, it researches and 
selects the external managers or pooled 
funds needed to meet the investment 
objective of each portfolio.  
 
Now that Brunel is operational, the 
financial performance of the pool will 
be monitored to ensure that Brunel 
is delivering on the key objectives 
of investment pooling. This includes 
reporting of the costs associated with 
the appointment and management of 
the pool company including set up costs, 
investment management expenses and 
the oversight and monitoring of Brunel 
by the client funds. The set up and 
transition costs incurred to date are set 
out in the following table. 

Table 2:  Investment Pool Set Up Costs

The Dorset Fund transitioned its first assets to Brunel in July 2018, comprising the allocation 
to passive equities. The savings achieved to date are set out in the following table. 
 
Table 3:  Investment Fee Savings from Pooling 

This analysis shows the fee savings achieved for the assets that have transitioned to 
Brunel portfolios against the fees charged at the time the business case for pooling 
was prepared in 2016.  The price variance shows the savings or costs arising from 
changes in fees if asset values had remained unchanged, and the quantity variance 
shows the additional savings or costs from changes in asset values.

2018-19 Cumulative
Direct Indirect Total to date
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Set Up Costs
Recruitment  -    -    -    18 
Legal  -    -    -    133 
Consulting, Advisory & Procurement  -    -    -    82 
Other support costs e.g. IT, accommodation  -    -    -    0 
Share purchase / subscription costs  -    -    -    840 
Total Set Up Costs  -    -    -    1,072 
Transition Costs
Transition fees -  -    -    -   
Taxation -  273  273  273 
Other transition costs -  845  845  845 
Total Transition Costs  -    1,118  1,118  1,118 

Value OBC
31-Mar-16

Value
31-Mar-19

Price
Variance

Quantity
Variance

Total Saving
/ (Cost)

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
UK Passive Equities 365,654 374,014 -14 0 -14 
Smart Beta Passive Equities 227,083 281,051 73 -26 46 
UK Active Equities 218,539 187,596 299 91 390 
Total 811,276 842,662 358 65 423 

P
age 333



As
se

t P
oo

ls
  |

  9
1 A summary of the costs and savings to date compared to the original business case 

is provided in the following table. 

Table 4: Expected vs Actual Costs and Savings to Date

The above table includes custodian and performance measurement and reporting costs 
as ongoing Brunel costs, although they are separated out in note 13 of the Statement of 
Accounts. The Dorset Fund Savings included in the original business case comprised 
custodian costs, based on the custodian costs in 2016-17, as it was envisaged these 
would be met via Brunel post pooling. The realised saving shown under Dorset Fund 
Savings therefore comprise the custodian costs saved as a result of including them 
within the Brunel ongoing costs line, based on the original business case. 
 

The most significant variances from the 
original business case are summarised  
as follows: 

•  Fee savings in 2018-19 are higher 
as a result of higher asset values 
due to the higher than anticipated 
investment returns over the last three 
years;  

•  The transition costs for 2018-19 
are lower. This is partly a result of 
transition costs for global active 
equity portfolios being included in 
2018-19 in the original business 
case, whereas these assets will not 
now transition until 2019-20. No fee 
savings for the active equity portfolios 
had been included in the business 
case for 2018-19, as the transition 
was anticipated to be at year end. 
Transition costs for the passive 
mandates were also significantly 
lower than expected;  

•  Additional resources have been 
required by Brunel over and above 
those envisaged by the original 
business case, in order to deliver the 
service required by their clients. As a 
result, the ongoing overhead costs of 
the Brunel company are higher than 
originally estimated. 

2017-18 2018-19

Budget Actual Budget Actual

In Year To date In Year To date In Year To date In Year To date

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Set up costs 1,066 1,183 1,072 1,072 0 1,183 0 1,072

Ongoing Brunel Costs 0 0 0 0 487 487 807 807

Clients Savings 0 0 0 0 (125) (125) (125) (125)

Transition costs 0 0 0 0 1,283 1,283 1,118 1,118

Fee savings 0 0 0 0 (59) (59) (358) (358)

Net costs / (savings) 1,066 1,183 1,072 1,072 1,586 2,769 1,442 2,514

P
age 334



Other Material

P
age 335



O
th

er
 M

at
er

ia
l  

|  
93

Knowledge and Skills 
There is a requirement for all those 
involved in the management and 
oversight of public sector pension funds 
(whether members or officers) to ensure 
they achieve the level of knowledge and 
skill necessary for performing their duties 
and responsibilities effectively.

Dorset County Pension Fund recognises 
the importance of ensuring that it has 
the necessary resources to discharge its 
pensions administration responsibilities 
and that all staff and members charged 
with the financial administration, 
governance and decision-making with 
regard to the pension scheme are 
fully equipped with the knowledge 
and skills to discharge the duties and 
responsibilities allocated to them.

The Dorset County Pension Fund seeks 
to utilise individuals who are both capable 
and experienced and it will provide/arrange 
training for staff and members of the 
pensions decision-making and governance 
bodies to enable them to acquire and 
maintain an appropriate level of expertise, 
knowledge and skills.

Other Material
Training
All public sector organisations charged 
with the financial management of 
pension schemes will be aware of the 
schemes’ growing complexity.  Public 
sector pension scheme financial 
management demands appropriate 
skills, including knowledge of financial 
markets and products; financial services 
procurement; pensions accounting and 
auditing; actuarial practices; investment 
performance and risk management and 
the implications of legal and regulatory 
requirements.
 
Every public sector organisation should 
secure appropriate training, having 
assessed the professional competence 
of both those involved in pension 
scheme financial management and 
those with a policy, management and/or 
oversight role. They should also ensure 
that those charged with pension scheme 
governance have access to the skills and 
knowledge they require to carry out this 
role effectively. 

CIPFA has published its Pensions 
Finance Knowledge and Skills Framework 

as a basis for the training and 
development of those involved in pension 
scheme finances. The six areas within 
the Knowledge and Skills framework are:

•  Pensions legislative and governance 
context;

•  Pensions accounting and auditing 
standards;

•  Financial services procurement and 
relationship management; 

•  Investment performance and risk 
management; 

•  Financial markets and product 
knowledge; 

•  Actuarial methods, standards and 
practices.

As an administering authority of the 
Local Government Pension Scheme, 
Dorset Council has always recognised 
the importance of ensuring that all 
officers and members of the Pension 
Fund Committee charged with the 
financial management and decision 
making with regard to the pension 
scheme are fully equipped with the 
knowledge and skills to discharge the 

P
age 336



O
th

er
 M

at
er

ia
l  

|  
94

duties and responsibilities allocated to 
them. The Fund provides and arranges 
training for officers and members of the 
Pension Fund Committee to enable them 
to acquire and maintain an appropriate 
level of expertise, knowledge and skills.

Member and Officer Training
During 2018-19 knowledge was gained 
at various meetings with investment 
managers in addition to individual 
attendance at conferences and seminars. 
Two further meetings were held for 
training purposes the day prior to the 
Pension Fund Committees when they are 
held in London. There were presentations 
from Fund managers Investec, IFM and 
CQS whilst a tour of recently purchased 
properties were visited. Traning sessions 
on a number of investment classes  
were provided to committee members  
in 2018-19 including:

• Coporate bonds;

• Multi asset credit;

• Smaller companies equities;

• Global equities;

• Infrastructure;

• Property;

• Private equity.

In addition, Committee Members 
received training in relation to investment 
pooling and governance matters.

The aim of the additional training and 
education is to reflect current issues 
at seminars and conferences held by 
industry recognised professionals and 
by the Funds existing advisers and 
fund managers. Special meetings are 
convened if considered necessary.

P
age 337



O
th

er
 M

at
er

ia
l  

|  
95

Glossary of Terms
Actuarial Valuation 
An Actuarial Valuation is a three yearly 
valuation of the Fund. It is undertaken by 
the Actuary into the liability of the Fund 
to meet its liabilities. For the LGPS the 
Fund Actuary will assess the funding level 
of each participating employer and agree 
contribution rates.

Actuary
An independent consultant who advises 
the Fund and reviews the financial position 
of the Fund every three years. The Actuary 
produces a report, known as the actuarial 
report, which compares the Fund’s assets 
with the liabilities and prescribes the rates at 
which the employing bodies must contribute.

Additional Voluntary Contributions (AVCs)
AVCs are paid by a contributor who decides 
to supplement their pension by paying extra 
contributions to the Scheme’s AVC provider.

Admitted Bodies
These are employers who have been 
allowed into the Fund at the County Council’s 
discretion.

Asset Allocation
The apportionment of the Fund’s assets 
between different types of investments 
(or asset classes). 

Assets
These are everything that the pension fund 
holds. They include investments, bank 
balances and debtors.

Benchmark
A measure against which pension fund 
management performance is judged. A 
series of appropriate indices is chosen which 
reflects the requirements of the trustees. 
Usually a target is set which requires an 
agreed percentage better performance from 
the fund than the benchmark. 

Bonds
Loans made to an issuer (often a government 
or a company) which undertakes to repay the 
loan at an agreed later date. The term refers 
generically to corporate bonds or government 
bonds (gilts).

Brunel Pension Partnership (BPP Ltd)
A partnership of ten LGPS funds to pool 
the management of their investment 
assets. The individual funds will retain 
responsibility for setting investment 
strategy; BPP Ltd, a company owned 
by the ten administering authorities will 
implement the strategies on behalf of 
the funds. The funds in the partnership 
are: Avon, Buckinghamshire, Cornwall, 
Devon, Dorset, Environment Agency, 
Gloucestershire, Oxfordshire, Somerset 
and Wiltshire.

Collateral
An asset (cash or securities) posted from 
one counterparty to another, and held as a 
guarantee against the value of a specified of 
trades or other transactions.

Corporate Governance
Issues relating to the way in which a 
company ensures that it is attaching 
maximum importance to the interest of its 
shareholders and how shareholders can 
influence management. 

Custody/Custodian
The safekeeping of securities by a 
financial institution. The Custodian keeps 
a register of holdings and will collect 
income and distribute monies according 
to client instruction.

Deferred Pensioners
A deferred member is one that has 
stopped paying into the scheme but is 
not yet receiving a pension. As a deferred 
member you will receive an Annual Benefit 
Statement which shows the benefits you 
have accrued and any pension increase 
that has been applied and how much they 
will be worth on retirement.

P
age 338



O
th

er
 M

at
er

ia
l  

|  
96

Emerging Markets
Developing economies in Latin America, 
Africa, Asia and the Middle East as well 
as areas of Europe and the Far East. 
Investment returns within these markets 
tend to be more volatile than those in 
more established markets.

Equities
Ordinary shares in UK and overseas 
companies traded on a stock exchange. 
Shareholders have an interest in the profits 
of the company and are entitled to vote at 
shareholders’ meetings.

Fund Administrator
The person who is responsible for managing 
the pension fund.

Fund of Funds
Funds whose principle activity is investing 
in other investment funds. Investors in 
funds of funds can increase their level of 
diversification and take advantage of the 
experience and research capability of the 
fund of funds manager.

Funding Level
The percentage of the Fund’s liabilities which 
can be paid out of the Fund. If the funding 
level falls below 100%, more will need to be 
paid into the Fund.

Infrastructure
The public facilities and services needed to 
support residential development, including 
highways, bridges, schools and sewer and 
water systems.

LGPS
The Local Government Pension Scheme, 
a public sector pension arrangement put 
in place via Government Regulations, for 
workers in local government.

Liabilities
Financial liabilities are debts owed to 
creditors for outstanding payments due  
to be paid. 

Pension liabilities are the pension benefits 
and payments that are due to be paid when 
someone retires.

Passive Management
A style of investment management that 
seeks to attain performance equal to market 
or index returns.

Private Equity
Private equity is capital that is not noted 
on a public exchange. Private equity is 
composed of funds and investors that 
directly invest in private companies, or that 
engage in buyouts of public companies, 
resulting in the delisting of public equity.

Scheduled Body
A scheduled body is a statutorily defined 
body within the scheme’s regulations and 
has a statutory obligation to participate in 
the Scheme.

Stock Lending
Stock lending is the act of loaning a stock, 
derivative or other security to an investor 
or firm. Securities lending requires the 
borrower to put up collateral, whether 
cash, security or a letter of credit. When 
a security is loaned, the title and the 
ownership are also transferred to the 
borrower and voting rights are lost.P

age 339



Appendices

P
age 340



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  9
8

Appendix 1
Governance Policy and 
Compliance Statement

1.   Background
1.1  All Local Government Pension 

Scheme (LGPS) Funds in England 
and Wales are required to publish 
a Statement by 1 April 2006, under 
the LGPS (Amendment) (No. 2) 
Regulations 2005 which came into 
force on 14 December 2005.

1.2  The statement reflects the current 
governance position for the Fund 
and as such has been prepared 
by the administering authority 
in consultation with appropriate 
interested persons.

2.     Requirement for the Governance 
Policy Statement

2.1  The regulations on governance policy 
statements require an administering 
authority, after consultation with such 
persons as they consider appropriate, 
to prepare, maintain and publish a 
written statement setting out;

 (a)  whether it delegates its functions 
in relation to maintaining a pension 
fund to a committee, sub-committee 
or officer of the authority;

 (b) and, if so, it must state:

•  the frequency of any committee/sub-
committee meetings;

•  the terms of reference, structure 
and operational procedures of the 
delegation;

•  whether the committee/sub 
committee includes representatives of
 -  employing authorities (including 

non-scheme employers)
 - scheme members

•  and, if there are such 
representatives, whether they have 
voting rights.

2.2  Thus, the policy statement should 
include information about all of the 
administering authority’s pension 
fund governance arrangements. 
Information about the representation 
of employers should cover any 
arrangements for representing 
admitted body employers  
(non-scheme employers).

2.3  The requirement was updated in 
2008 by Regulation 31 of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme 
(Administration) Regulations with 
the additional requirement for 
administering authorities to state 
“the extent to which a delegation, 
or the absence of a delegation, 
complies with guidance given by 
the Secretary of State and, to the 
extent that it does not so comply, the 
reasons for not complying”.

2.4  The guidance was issued by the 
Department for Communities and 
Local Government (CLG) in final form 
in November 2008.  The Schedule to 
this statement describes the extent of 
compliance as required by, and in the 
format recommended in, the guidance.

2.5   The statement must be revised 
and published by the administering 
authority following a material change 
in policy on any of the matters set 
out above.

Appendices

P
age 341



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  9
92.6  In 2013 the Public Service Pensions 

Act required that each public sector 
scheme establish a Pension Board. 
The subsequent Local Government 
Pension Scheme Governance 
regulations 2015 specify the role of the 
Board for LGPS funds. The regulations 
require the creation of a Local Board 
to assist the scheme manager (in 
Dorset’s case, The Pension Fund 
Committee) in securing compliance 
with regulations, legislation relating 
to governance and administration of 
the Scheme, and any requirements 
imposed by the Pensions Regulator.

3.    Governance of the Dorset County 
Pension Fund

3.1  Under the cabinet structure in local 
government, management of the 
pension fund is a non-executive 
function and this is reflected in the 
governance structure that is set 
out below. Under this system the 
County Council has delegated all 
aspects of the management of the 
Pension scheme to the Pension 
Fund Committee  The day to day 
administration of the Fund is 
delegated to the Fund Administrator 
working within the policy decisions 
made by the Committees and any 
relevant regulations set by the CLG.

Pension Fund Committee
3.2  The formal terms of reference of the 

Pension Fund Committee as set by 
the Council are:

•  To exercise all functions of the Council 
as administering authority under Local 
Government Superannuation Act and 
Regulations and deal with all matters 
relating thereto. 

3.3  In broader terms this means that the 
Committee has responsibility for:

•  Determining the overall investment 
strategy and strategic asset 
allocation of the Fund, and in doing 
so taking proper professional advice;

•  Overseeing the preparation of and 
regularly reviewing the Fund’s key 
policy documents including the 
Investment Strategy Statement 
(ISS), Funding Strategy Statement, 
Governance Policy and Compliance 
Statement, Business Plan and 
Communications Strategy;

•  Appointing and reviewing the 
performance of all Fund Managers 
and other professional service 
providers;

•  Reviewing all aspects of 
performance across the Pension 
Fund service;

•  Deciding upon requests for admission 
of qualifying organisations wishing to 
join the Fund;

•  Deciding upon key pension policy and 
discretions that are the responsibility 
of the Administering Authority;

•  Ensuring that at all times that these 
responsibilities are discharged in the 
best interests of the Fund;

•  Making appointments to the  
Pension Board of the Dorset County 
Pension Fund.

3.4  The Committee meets at least 
quarterly and at alternate meetings 
generally requires all main managers 
to be present. Other meetings are 
occasionally held to deal with other 
business which for example might 
require urgent discussion, more time 
for consideration than that normally 
available, or be inappropriate for 
the larger audience. Business of the 
Committee will not be transacted 
unless a quorum of three members 
is present.

P
age 342



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
00

Fiduciary duty
3.5  In considering matters before each 

committee and in reaching their 
decisions, members are aware that the 
fiduciary duty to employers, taxpayers, 
and scheme beneficiaries must 
always be put before the interests of 
individuals, individual groups or sectors 
represented on the committees.

4. Representation
4.1  The current membership of the 

Pension Fund Committee is as set 
out below:

•  Five County Council members – 
appointed by the County Council (not 
more than two being members of the 
Council’s Cabinet);

•   Two Unitary Authority members – one 
appointed by Bournemouth Borough 
Council and one nominated by the 
Borough of Poole;

•  One District Council representative;

• One Scheme Member representative.

4.2  The nomination process for each 
Committee member is :

 i  The five County Council members 
are nominated by their political 
parties, maintaining the political 
balance of the Council. No more 

than one will be a member of the 
Council’s Cabinet;

 ii  The members from Bournemouth 
and Poole are nominated by their 
Council;

 iii  The member representing the 
District Councils is nominated 
by the Dorset Leaders and Chief 
Executives group;

 iv  The Scheme Member 
representative is nominated by 
the Unions, with Unison as lead 
union.

4.3   Formal statutory responsibility for 
the LGPS in Dorset remains with 
the administering authority (Dorset 
County Council) which is answerable 
for the effective and prudent 
management of the scheme. It was 
decided to invite other interested 
bodies to be represented on the 
Committee.

4.4   The representation set out above 
gives direct representation to about 
78% of the membership (contributors 
plus pensioners) and is considered 
to be the optimal mix of committee 
size with representation achieved. 
These arrangements were reviewed 
in September 2005 when the 
union representative was added to 

the Committee. Also at this time 
the practicalities of increasing 
representation by having more 
representatives was considered. 
The arrangements were also 
reviewed in September 2009, and 
on balance it was decided that a 
meaningful increase in proportional 
representation could not be achieved 
without at least doubling the size 
of the Committee and this was 
considered unworkable given the 
specialist role of the Committee. 
Officers review this on a regular 
basis and currently, the above  
still applies.

4.5  Committee papers are publicly 
available on the Council’s website 
and all employers have been 
informed of this. A hard copy is 
provided if requested. The Fund’s 
Communication Strategy explains 
in more detail engagement with all 
stakeholders. However in the case 
of employers, annual meetings are 
held to facilitate an exchange of 
information and ideas which has 
helped to keep fund management 
issues transparent and has brought 
accountability to the fore. This helps 
support the formal governance set 
out above.

P
age 343



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
01

4.6  Under the Public Service Pensions 
Act 2013 and the LGPS Governance 
regulations the Pension Fund 
Committee is now referred to as the 
Scheme Manager. The Department for 
Communities and Local Government 
being the body that makes the 
regulations for the LGPS is referred 
to as the Responsible Authority. The 
Regulations also refer to the Scheme 
Advisory Board which assists the 
Responsible Authority. The Shadow 
Board has been operating at a national 
level since 2013. The regulations also 
refer to Local Pension Boards, and this 
is described below. 

5.  Local Pension Board
5.1  As referred to in paragraph 2.6 the 

Fund was required to establish a 
Local Pension Board. The regulations 
require that the Local Board will be 
responsible for assisting it:

 a) to secure compliance with-

  1)  the LGPS regulations;

  2)  any other legislation relating 
to the governance and 
administration of the Scheme 
and any connected scheme;

  3)  any requirements imposed 
by the Pensions Regulator in 
relation to the Scheme and any 
connected scheme; and

 b)  to ensure the effective and efficient 
governance and administration of 
the Scheme and any connected 
scheme.

5.2  The regulations require that the Board 
is established by no later than 1 April 
2015, and that the board holds its 
first meeting within four months of 
this date. The regulations also specify 
that the Board’s membership should 
have equal numbers of employer and 
member representatives, and that in 
total should be no less than four.

5.3  The Dorset County Pension Fund 
established a Local Pension Board, 
with the County Council’s formal 
agreement of its terms of reference 
at their meeting on 12 February 2015.

5.4  The Board consists of three 
members representing Employers 
and three representing scheme 
members. The three Employers 
representatives are to be nominated 
by the Fund’s three largest 
employers; Dorset County Council, 

Bournemouth Borough Council, 
and the Borough of Poole. The 
Fund invited all scheme members 
to nominate themselves as 
representatives, and also asked 
Unison, as the largest union to 
nominate members. The unions are 
guaranteed at least one of the three 
scheme member positions.

P
age 344



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
02

Schedule of compliance with guidance 
issued by CLG

Principle A – Structure
(a)  The management of the administration 

of benefits and strategic management 
of fund assets clearly rest with the 
main committee established by the 
appointing Council.

(b)   That representatives of participating 
LGPS employers, admitted bodies 
and scheme members (including 
pensioner and deferred members) 
are members of either the main or 
secondary committee established 
to underpin the work of the main 
committee.

(c)   That where a secondary committee 
or panel has been established, 
the structure ensures effective 
communication across both levels.

(d)   That where a secondary committee 
or panel has been established, at 
least one seat on the main committee 
is allocated for a member from the 
secondary committee or panel.

Not Compliant  Fully Compliant Not applicable
(a) ü

(b) ü

(c) ü

(d) ü

Reason for non-compliance (Regulation 73A(1) (c) 1997 Regulations):
(c) and (d) We have only one Committee and therefore these are not applicable.

Comments on ratings given above:
(b)  The appointed trade union representative has been given the formal role of 

representing scheme members.

P
age 345



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
03

Principle B – Representation
(a)  That all key stakeholders are 

afforded the opportunity to be 
represented within the main or 
secondary committee structure. 
These include:

 i)   employing authorities (including 
non-scheme employers, eg 
admitted bodies);

 ii)  scheme members (including 
deferred and pensioner scheme 
members);

 iii)  independent professional 
observers; and

 iv)  expert advisers (on and ad-hoc 
basis).

(b)   That where lay members sit on 
a main or secondary committee, 
they are treated equally in terms 
of access to papers and meetings, 
training and are given full opportunity 
to contribute to the decision making 
process, with or without voting 
rights.

Not Compliant  Fully Compliant Not applicable
(a) ü

(b) ü

Reason for non-compliance (Regulation 73A (1) (c) 1997 Regulations):

Comments on ratings given above:
The appointed trade union representative has been given the formal role of 
representing scheme members.

The Fund has appointed an independent investment adviser and an independent 
professional observer from Allenbridge EPIC Investment Advisers.

P
age 346



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
04

Principle C - Selection and role of lay 
members
(a)  That committee or panel members 

are made fully aware of the status, 
role and function they are required 
to perform on either a main or 
secondary committee.

(b)  That at the start of any meeting, 
committee members are invited to 
declare any financial or pecuniary 
interest related to specific matters 
on the agenda.

Not Compliant  Fully Compliant Not applicable
(a) ü

(b) ü

Reason for non-compliance (Regulation 73A (1) (c) 1997 Regulations):

Comments on ratings given above:
(a)  The Committee’s responsibilities are formally documented as set out in Section 

3 of this Statement.
(b)  The agenda for each meeting has a standing item on “Code of Conduct” to 

receive declarations by members of (a) personal interests (including their 
nature) and (b) prejudicial interests under the Code of Conduct.  Members who 
have an interest to declare are asked to complete a Declaration of Interests 
form (a copy is attached to the agenda) and hand it to the Democratic Services 
Officer prior to the meeting.  Any member who has a query on a particular 
matter is asked to contact the officer named at the top of the agenda in 
advance of the meeting.

Principle D – Voting
(a)  The policy of individual administering 

authorities on voting rights is clear and 
transparent, including justification for 
not extending voting rights to each 
body or group represented on main 
LGPS committees.

Not Compliant  Fully Compliant Not applicable
(a) ü

Reason for non-compliance (Regulation 73A (1) (c) 1997 Regulations):

Comments on ratings given above:
The County Council’s constitution contains details of voting rights of committee 
members. This was formally reviewed in a report to the Committee in February 2006. 
All members of the Committee have voting rights.

P
age 347



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
05

Principle E - Training/Facility time/
Expenses
(a)   That in relation to the way in which 

statutory and related decisions are 
taken by the administering authority, 
there is a clear policy on training, facility 
time and reimbursement of expenses 
in respect of members involved in the 
decision-making process.

b)   That where such a policy exists, it 
applies equally to all members of 
committees, sub-committees, advisory 
panels or any other form  
of secondary forum.

(c)  That the administering authority 
considers the adoption of annual 
training plans for committee members 
and maintains a log of all such training 
undertaken.

Not Compliant  Fully Compliant Not applicable
(a) ü

(b) ü

(c) ü

Reason for non-compliance (Regulation 73A (1) (c) 1997 Regulations):

Comments on ratings given above:
Training, both internally and externally, is made available to members of the 
committees on a regular basis.

P
age 348



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
06

Principle F - Meetings (frequency/quorum)
(a)   That an administering authority’s main 

committee or committees meet at 
least quarterly.

(b)  That an administering authority’s 
secondary committee or panel meet at 
least twice a year and is synchronised 
with the dates when the main 
committee sits.

(c)  That administering authorities who 
do not include lay members in their 
formal governance arrangements, 
provide a forum outside of those 
arrangements by which the interests of 
key stakeholders can be represented.

Not Compliant  Fully Compliant Not applicable
(a) ü

(b) ü

(c) ü

Reason for non-compliance (Regulation 73A (1) (c) 1997 Regulations):

Comments on ratings given above:
(c)  The Fund holds annual employers meetings, enabling employer bodies to hear 

from and question those running the scheme.
(c)  From 1 April 2015, Dorset County Council in its role of Administering Authority 

has established a Local Pension Board.  This will consist of 6 voting members 
(3 employer and 3 member representatives).  The purpose of this Board is to 
review and ensure the Dorset Pension Fund secures compliance with the Scheme 
regulations and all other relevant legislations.

Principle G – Access
(a)   That subject to any rules in the 

Council’s constitution, all members 
of main and secondary committees 
or panels have equal access to 
committee papers, documents and 
advice that fails to be considered at 
meetings of the main committee.

Not Compliant  Fully Compliant Not applicable
(a) ü

Reason for non-compliance (Regulation 73A (1) (c) 1997 Regulations):

Comments on ratings given above:  
Committee papers are publicly available on the website.

P
age 349



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
07

Principle H – Scope
(a)    That administering authorities have 

taken steps to bring wider scheme 
issues within the scope of their 
governance arrangements.

Not Compliant  Fully Compliant Not applicable
(a) ü

Reason for non-compliance (Regulation 73A (1) (c) 1997 Regulations):

Comments on ratings given above:
The change to the Committee structure in 2012 gives the Pension Fund Committee 
the wider role of exercising all functions of the Council as administering authority 
under Local Government Superannuation Act and Regulations and deal with all 
matters relating thereto. 

Principle I – Publicity
(a)   That administering authorities have 

published details of their governance 
arrangements in such a way that 
stakeholders with an interest in 
the way in which the scheme is 
governed, can express an interest 
in wanting to be part of those 
arrangements.

Not Compliant  Fully Compliant Not applicable
(a) ü

Reason for non-compliance (Regulation 73A (1) (c) 1997 Regulations):

Comments on ratings given above:
This document is published in the Annual Report and made available to all 
stakeholders of the scheme.

P
age 350



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
08

Appendix 2
Investment Strategy Statement 
(ISS) March 2018
1.   Introduction 
 The Local Government Pension Scheme 
(Management and Investment of Funds) 
Regulations 2016 require administering 
authorities of LGPS funds to formulate and 
to publish a statement of its investment 
strategy, in accordance with guidance 
issued from time to time by the Secretary 
of State.  This statement must be reviewed 
by the administering authority at least every 
three years, or more frequently should any 
significant change occur. 
 
This statement replaces the previous 
version of the Investment Strategy 
Statement (ISS) first published March 
2017, and has been amended to reflect 
the results of the strategic allocation 
review agreed by the Pension Fund 
Committee 13 September 2017. 
 
2.     Investment strategy and the process 

for ensuring suitability of investments 
 All functions of Dorset County Council (“the 
Council”) as the administering authority 
for the Dorset County Pension Fund (“the 
Fund”) have been delegated to the Pension 
Fund Committee (“the Committee”).  This 
includes responsibility for determining the 

overall investment strategy and strategic 
asset allocation of the Fund, and in doing so 
taking proper professional advice. 
 
The primary investment objective of the 
Fund is to ensure that over the long term the 
Fund will have sufficient assets to meet all 
pension liabilities as they fall due.  To meet 
this objective a major review of the Fund’s 
strategic asset allocation is undertaken 
every three years shortly after the results of 
the triennial actuarial valuation are known.  
The Fund’s strategic asset allocation was 
last reviewed in this way in 2017, advised 
by Mercer, an investment consultancy firm, 
with considerable LGPS experience and 
expertise, and Alan Saunders, Allenbridge 
Epic Investment Advisers, the Fund’s 
independent adviser.  The Committee will 
also consider asset allocation at each of its 
quarterly meetings. 
 
The Fund allocates across a variety of 
different asset classes in order to prudently 
diversify sources of investment return and 
risk.  To be judged suitable for investment, 
asset classes must be consistent with the 
Fund’s risk and return objectives, improve 
diversification and be fully understood by 
officers and the Committee.  The Fund’s 
current target strategic asset allocation 
is set out in the table on this page, 
together with tolerances by which the 

actual allocation can vary without further 
agreement by the Committee:
 
Asset Class Allocation  Tolerance 
UK Equities 20.0% +/- 4.0% 
Global Equities 22.0% +/- 4.0% 
Emerging Markets 
Equities 

3.0% +/- 0.5% 

Bonds 6.0% +/- 1.5% 
Multi Asset Credit 
(MAC) 

5.0% +/- 1.0% 

Property 12.0% +/- 2.0% 
Diversified Growth 
Funds (DGF) 

8.0% +/- 1.0% 

Private Equity 5.0% +/- 1.0% 
Infrastructure 5.0% +/- 1.0% 
Total Return Seeking 
Assets 

86.0% - 

Liability Driven 
Investment (LDI) 

14.0% +/- 3.0% 

Total Assets 100.0% - 

The appointment of more than one 
manager, with differing investment 
approaches, in a number of the 
asset classes, adds a further level of 
diversification.  All managers are required 
to report on portfolio management on a 
quarterly basis, they must comply with all 
instructions given to them by the Fund (in 
accordance with the mandates agreed) 
and contracts can be terminated at one 
month’s notice. 
 

P
age 351



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
09

UK Equities (20.0%) 
Approximately two thirds of the allocation 
to UK Equities is managed internally 
by officers in the Chief Executive’s 
Department on a passive basis.  The 
target is to track the FTSE 350 index, with 
an annual deviation allowed of +/- 0.5%, 
and no derivatives or financial gearing 
are permitted.  The constituents of the 
FTSE 350 index are fully replicated by 
the in-house team.  Exposure to the 
remaining 3% of the FTSE All Share index 
not included in the FTSE 350 index is 
captured by an external active allocation 
to a pooled fund specialising in ‘small 
cap’ investments managed by Schroders 
(effective April 2006), with a target to 
outperform the FTSE Small Cap index by 
2.5% per annum.  The remaining allocation 
to UK Equities is managed on an active 
basis by AXA Framlington (effective April 
2006) in a pooled vehicle with a target of 
outperforming the FTSE All Share Index by 
3.5% per annum. 

Global Equities –  
Developed Markets (22.0%) 
Equities in developed markets are 
managed by three external investment 
managers; Allianz Global Investors, 
Investec Asset Management and 
Wellington Management.  The 
management agreements were effective 

from December 2015, and each manager 
has a target to outperform the MSCI 
Global Index.  All three are managed on 
an active basis but each has a different 
investment approach, thus adding a 
further degree of diversification. 
 
Global Equities –  
Emerging Markets (3.0%) 
The Fund has exposure to Emerging 
Markets equities through JP Morgan 
Asset Management who have managed 
an active mandate since April 2012.  The 
investment is in a pooled fund, which has 
a diversified strategy, and the target is to 
outperform the MSCI Emerging Markets 
Index by 2% per annum. 
 
Bonds (6.0%) 
The Fund’s Bonds’ manager is Royal 
London Asset Management (rlam), 
appointed with effect from July 2007, 
with a target to outperform the iBoxx 
Non-Gilt Over 5 Year Index by 0.75%.  The 
allocation is invested in the RLPPC Core 
Bond Fund, which holds a diversified 
portfolio of mainly UK Bonds with an 
emphasis on the corporate sector. 

Multi Asset Credit (MAC) (5.0%) 
The Fund is invested in the CQS Credit 
Multi Asset Fund with effect from 
1 December 2017, with a target to 

outperform LIBOR by 4.0-5.0%, net of fees.  
The fund holds a diversified portfolio of 
corporate loans, bonds and asset backed 
securities in the US and Europe. 
 
Property (12.0%) 
CBRE Global Investors is the Fund’s 
property adviser and manager.  
Approximately 90% of the Fund’s 
investment is in directly owned 
commercial property in the UK, with a 
wide diversification both geographically 
and across sectors.  The remaining 
10% is invested in indirect property 
funds, the Lend Lease Retail Partnership 
(Jersey) Unit Trust, and the Standard Life 
Shopping Centre Trust Fund, which give 
exposure to the shopping centre sector 
not covered by the direct investments.  
The manager’s target is to achieve a 
return on assets at least equal to the 
average IPD Quarterly Universe Portfolio 
Return, the industry standard benchmark, 
over a rolling five year period.  Over time 
the mandate with CBRE will be amended 
to allow for a gradual transition to a 
portfolio more evenly split between core 
and high lease value (HLV) holdings. 
 

P
age 352



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
10

Diversified Growth Funds  
(DGF) (8.0%) 
The Fund has invested with Baring Asset 
Management in their Dynamic Asset 
Allocation Fund since April 2012.  This 
pooled fund seeks to achieve equity like 
returns but with lower risk, by investing in 
a range of asset classes and focussing 
on asset allocation.  The target return is 
cash plus 4%, with 70% of equity risk.   
 
Private Equity (5.0%) 
Since April 2006 the Fund has invested 
in Private Equity ‘fund of funds’ products 
managed by HarbourVest and Standard 
Life.  HarbourVest specialise in the US, 
whereas Standard Life focus mainly 
on Europe, and both managers aim to 
outperform public equity markets by 
between 4-6% per annum over the life of 
the Fund (generally 10-15 years). 
 
Infrastructure (5.0%) 
Two Infrastructure managers, Hermes 
Investment Management and International 
Fund Management (IFM), were appointed 
in 2014.  Hermes focus mainly on UK 
opportunities, whereas IFM have a wider 
global reach.  Like Private Equity, it will take 
some time for all of the committed capital 
to be completely drawndown, but once 
invested these are intended to remain as 
long term holdings. 

Liability Driven Investment  
(LDI) (14.0%) 
Insight Investments were appointed in 
April 2012 with the objective to reduce 
the Fund’s exposure to inflation risk by 
putting together a portfolio that moves 
in a similar way to the liabilities.  The 
Fund is invested in a bespoke Qualifying 
Investor Fund (QIF) set up by Insight 
which enables them to use a range of 
derivative instruments in addition to 
index linked or conventional gilts. 
 
3.  Risk measurement and management 
Achieving satisfactory investment returns 
will, to a considerable degree, reflect the 
risks taken, and therefore the Fund seeks 
to understand, measure and manage risk, 
not eliminate it.  

Investment risk can be measured and 
managed in a number of ways: 
 
The absolute risk of a reduction in the 
value of assets through negative returns:  
Whilst this cannot be avoided entirely, 
it can be mitigated by positioning the 
assets of the Fund across a number of 
different types of assets and markets. 
 
The risk of underperforming the 
benchmarks or relative risk: The Fund’s 
investment managers can, to a large 

extent, control relative risk by using 
statistical techniques to forecast how 
volatile their performance is likely to be 
relative to their benchmark or target.  
Each manager has a mandate specific 
benchmark and controls. 
 
Different asset classes have different 
risk and return characteristics: In setting 
the investment strategy, the Committee 
considers the expected risks and returns 
of the various asset classes and the 
correlation between those returns to 
target or expected return within an 
acceptable level of risk. 
 
Risks may also arise from a lack of 
suitable balance or diversification of 
the Fund’s assets. The adoption of an 
asset allocation strategy and the detailed 
monitoring of performance and risks 
relative to the targets set, constrains the 
investment managers from deviating too 
far from the intended outcome, whilst 
at the same time allowing adequate 
flexibility to manage the portfolios in 
such a way as to enhance returns. 
 
Other financially material risks arising 
from social, environmental and corporate 
governance issues are required to be 
considered and managed by the Fund’s 
investment managers in relation to all 

P
age 353



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
11

asset classes.  The Fund’s approach is 
set out in more detail in section 5 below. 

Consideration is also given to the 
on-going risks of a mismatch, over 
time, between the Fund’s assets and its 
liabilities.  The Fund’s Funding Strategy 
Statement considers these risks in 
greater detail, however, the major risks 
that can lead to this mismatch are the 
impact of interest and inflation yields 
on liabilities.  Following a strategic 
review of the Fund undertaken by JLT 
in June 2011, the Committee began a 
process to address this risk, leading to 
the current asset allocation of 14.0% to 
Liability Driven Investment (LDI), and the 
appointment of Insight Investments. 
 
4. Approach to asset pooling 
The Fund is working with nine other 
LGPS funds to pool investment assets 
through the Brunel Pension Partnership 
Ltd (Brunel Ltd).  This is currently work 
in progress with the intention of meeting 
the Government’s requirement for the 
pool to become operational and for the 
first assets to transition to the pool from 
April 2018. 
 
Following the establishment of Brunel 
Ltd, the Fund, through the Committee, 
will retain the responsibility for setting 

the detailed strategic asset allocation 
for the Fund and allocating investment 
assets to the portfolios provided by 
Brunel Ltd. 
 
Brunel Ltd is a new company wholly 
owned by the administering authorities.  
The company is seeking authorisation 
from the Financial Conduct Authority 
(FCA) to act as the operator of an 
unregulated Collective Investment 
Scheme (CIV).  It will be responsible for 
implementing the detailed strategic asset 
allocations of the participating funds by 
investing funds’ assets within defined 
outcome focused investment portfolios.  
In particular it will research and select 
the Manager Operated Funds (MOFs) 
needed to meet the requirements of 
the detailed strategic asset allocations.  
These MOFs will be operated by 
professional external investment 
managers.   
 
The Fund will be a client of Brunel Ltd 
and as a client will have the right to 
expect certain standards and quality of 
service.  A detailed service agreement 
will set out the duties and responsibilities 
of Brunel Ltd, and the rights of the Fund 
as a client, including a duty of care for 
Brunel Ltd to act in its clients’ interests. 
 

An Oversight Board has been established, 
comprised of representatives from each 
of the administering authorities, set up 
according to an agreed constitution 
and terms of reference.  Acting for the 
administering authorities, it will have 
ultimate responsibility for ensuring 
that Brunel Ltd delivers the services 
required to achieve investment pooling.  
It will therefore have a monitoring and 
oversight function and consider relevant 
matters on behalf of the administering 
authorities, but will not have delegated 
powers to take decisions requiring 
shareholder approval.  These will be 
remitted back to each administering 
authority individually. 
 
The Oversight Board will be supported by 
the Client Group, comprised primarily of 
pension investment officers drawn from 
each of the administering authorities 
but will also draw on administering 
authorities’ finance and legal officers 
from time to time.  It will have a primary 
role in reviewing the implementation of 
pooling by Brunel Ltd, and provide a forum 
for discussing technical and practical 
matters, confirming priorities, and resolving 
differences.  It will be responsible for 
providing practical support to enable the 
Oversight Board to fulfil its monitoring and 
oversight function. 

P
age 354



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
12

The proposed arrangements for 
asset pooling for the Brunel Pension 
Partnership pool have been formulated 
to meet the requirements of the 
Local Government Pension Scheme 
(Management and Investment of Funds) 
Regulations 2016 and Government 
guidance.  Regular reports have been 
made to Government on progress 
towards the pooling of investment 
assets, and the Minister for Local 
Government has confirmed that the 
pool should proceed as set out in the 
proposals made. 
 
The Council has approved the full business 
case for the Brunel Pension Partnership.  It 
is anticipated that investment assets will 
be transitioned across from the Fund’s 
existing investment managers to the 
portfolios managed by Brunel Ltd between 
April 2018 and March 2020 in accordance 
with a timetable that will be agreed with 
Brunel Ltd.  Until such time as transitions 
take place, the Fund will continue to 
maintain the relationship with its current 
investment managers and oversee 
their investment performance, working 
in partnership with Brunel Ltd where 
appropriate. 
 
Following the completion of the 
transition plan outlined above, it 

is envisaged that all of the Fund’s 
assets will be invested through Brunel 
Ltd.  However, the Fund has certain 
commitments to long term illiquid 
investment funds which will take longer 
to transition across to the new portfolios 
to be set up by Brunel Ltd.  These assets 
will be managed in partnership with 
Brunel Ltd until such time as they are 
liquidated, and capital is returned. 

5.  Social, environmental and corporate 
governance policy 

The primary aim of the Committee is to 
maximise the value of investments made 
for the benefit of the many stakeholders, 
including council tax payers, employer 
bodies, the current employee 
contributors and pensioners.  The 
Committee does not place restrictions 
on investment managers in choosing 
individual investments in companies 
or sectors in either the UK or overseas 
markets.  It is noted that emerging 
markets investments, are made in a wide 
range of developing countries where 
conditions of employment and standards 
of environmental protection are not 
the same as they are in the developed 
countries. 
 
However the Committee expects that 
the boards of companies in which the 

Fund invests should pay due regard 
to social environmental matters and 
thereby further the long-term financial 
interests of the shareholders.  Social and 
environmental issues arise not only in 
board policy decisions but also in daily 
operations, and the Committee therefore 
looks to the directors of a company to 
manage that company’s affairs taking 
proper account of the shareholders’ long-
term interests. 
 
The Fund is a member of the Local 
Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF). 
The LAPFF exists to promote the 
investment interests of local authority 
pension funds, and to maximise 
their influence as shareholders while 
promoting corporate social responsibility 
and high standards of corporate 
governance among the companies in 
which they invest. 
 
Please follow the link below to view the 
Fund’s policies relating to responsible 
investment: 
http://www.yourpension.org.uk/Dorset/
Investments-Governance/Responsible-
Investment.aspx 
 

P
age 355



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
13

6.  Policy of the exercise of rights 
(including voting rights) attaching to 
investments 

The Fund has a voting issues policy for 
UK and overseas equity investments.  
Advice on such issues is taken from the 
National Association of Pension Funds 
(NAPF) and the Fund’s voting rights are 
used according to this advice and the 
agreed policy.  LAPFF also advise the 
Fund on any contentious areas where 
voting differently to the agreed policy 
may be considered. 
 
The Fund has outsourced proxy voting to 
Institutional Shareholder Services (ISS). 
ISS’s core business is the provision of 
proxy research, vote recommendations 
and related governance research services, 
including an end-to-end proxy voting 
platform and leading compliance and risk 
management solutions, to institutional 
investors worldwide.  ISS has close to 30 
years of experience and is a recognised 
industry leader in the field of corporate 
governance and proxy voting. 
 
The Pension Fund Committee receives 
an annual report on voting activity in the 
previous year.  Please follow the link 
below to view the most recent report: 
http://dorset.moderngov.
co.uk/ieListDocuments.
aspx?CId=135&MId=1106&Ver=4

P
age 356



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
 | 

 1
14

Appendix 3
Pension Administration Strategy 
Report

Introduction
Dorset County Pension Fund (“the Fund”) 
is responsible for the administration of 
the Local Government Pension Scheme 
(“LGPS”) within the geographical area of 
Dorset. The Fund also administers the 
LGPS on behalf of a number of qualifying 
employers who are not situated within 
the Dorset area. The service is carried 
out by Dorset County Council (“the 
administering authority”) on behalf of 
qualifying employers and ultimately the 
LGPS members.

This document is the Pensions 
Administration Strategy statement 
outlining the policies and performance 
standards towards providing a cost-
effective, inclusive and high quality 
pensions and administration service. 
Delivery of such an administration 
service is not the responsibility of one 
person or one organisation, but is rather 
the joint working of a number of different 
stakeholders, which between them are 
responsible for delivering the pensions 
administration service to meet the 
diverse needs of the membership. As the 

cost of this service is borne by the Fund, 
and effectively recharged pro-rata to 
each employer via the contribution rate, 
it is in everyone’s interests to ensure an 
efficient cost-effective provision.

Compliance
Developed in consultation with 
employers within the Fund, this 
statement seeks to promote good 
working relationships, improve efficiency 
and ensure agreed standards of quality 
in delivery of the pension administration 
service amongst the employers and the 
Fund. A copy of this strategy is issued to 
each of the relevant employers.

The undertakings set out within this 
Pension Administration Strategy will be 
reviewed annually by the Fund. In no 
circumstances does this strategy override 
any provision or requirement of the 
Regulations set out below nor is it intended 
to replace the information provided in the 
Employers’ Guide on the Dorset County 
Pension Fund website for day-to-day use;  
www.yourpension.org.uk/Dorset/
Employers

Review
The Fund will review this policy 
statement and make revisions as 
appropriate following a material change 

in its policies in relation to any of the 
matters contained in the strategy. 
Employers will be consulted and 
informed of the changes.

Regulatory Framework
Regulation 59 of the LGPS Regulations 
2013 enables an LGPS administering 
authority to prepare a document (“the 
pension administration strategy”) 
detailing administrative standards, 
performance measure, data flows and 
communication with employers.

In addition, Regulation 70 of the 
LGPS Regulations 2013 allows an 
administering authority to recover costs 
from an employing authority where 
costs have been incurred because 
of that employing authority’s level of 
performance in carrying out its functions 
under these Regulations. See Poor 
Performance section on page 123.

This document has been presented, 
considered and approved by the Pension 
Fund Committee on the 21 November 
2013 and, as such, the contents of which 
apply to all existing and future employers 
of Dorset County Pension Fund from 1 
April 2014.

P
age 357



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
15

Liaison and Communication
The delivery of a high quality, cost 
effective administration service is not the 
responsibility of just the administering 
authority, but depends on the joint 
working of the administering authority 
with a number of individuals in different 
organisations to ensure Scheme 
members, and other interested parties, 
receive the appropriate level of service 
and ensure that statutory requirements 
are met.

Each Employing authority will designate 
a named individual to act as the main 
point of contact (Pension Liaison Officer 
(PLO) with regard to any aspect of 
administering the LGPS.

Their key responsibilities will be:

•  to act as a conduit for 
communications to appropriate staff 
within the employer - for example, 
Human Resources, Payroll teams, 
Directors of Finance;

•  to ensure that standards and levels 
of service are maintained;

•  to ensure that details of all 
nominated representatives and 
authorised signatures are correct 
and to notify the Fund of any 
changes immediately;

•  to arrange distribution of 
communications literature as and 
when required;

•  to inform the Fund of any alternative 
service arrangements required;

•  to assure data quality and ensure 
the timely submission of data to the 
Fund;

•  to assist and liaise with the Fund on 
promotional activities; and to ensure 
payments due to the Fund are made 
in accordance with the Pensions 
Administration Strategy.

Employer Training / Meetings
Employer workshops are arranged four 
times per year but more will be provided 
if requested or deemed necessary by the 
Fund. The workshops cover employer 
responsibilities highlighting:

• Starter and leaver processes

• Final Pay

• LGPS Discretions

• End of Year requirements

• Communications

The Fund will hold Pension Liaison 
Officer Group (PLOG) meetings 3 times 
per year. Attendance by each employer’s 
PLO is actively encouraged.

The Fund holds an annual employer’s 
meeting where officers provide 
information on Fund Finances, 
Investment Performance and topical 
issues for the Fund; in recent times 
this has included updates on future 
changes to the LGPS. Attendance by 
each employer’s main contact and Senior 
Management is actively encouraged.

Meetings with senior pension fund staff 
can be arranged on request.

Policy Discretions
Each employer is required to produce, 
publish and maintain a statement of 
policy regarding the exercise of certain 
discretionary functions available to them 
within the LGPS regulations. The policy 
statement must be kept under review and 
where revisions are made; the revised 
policy statement must be sent to the 
Fund and made readily available to all 
employees within the employing authority 
within one month of the effective date.

Notification of Employee’s Rights
Any decisions made by an employing 
authority affecting an employee’s rights 
to membership or entitlement to benefits 
must be notified to the employee in 
writing.

P
age 358



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
16

Internal Disputes Resolution  
Procedures (IDRP)
Each employing authority is required to 
nominate and name the person to whom 
applications under Stage 1 of the Internal 
Disputes Resolution Procedures should 
be made. The name, job title and contact 
details of this nominated person must be 
kept up-to-date with the Fund.

Computer Links
The Fund will, to appropriate large 
employers, provide the software, 
hardware and communication facilities 
in order for employing authority staff 
to produce retirement estimates and 
enquire on their employee’s record of 
membership.

The Fund will ensure that the Pensions 
Administration computer system is 
available for use during normal office 
hours with the exception of any necessary 
scheduled maintenance of the system.

Fund and Employer Responsibilities
The LGPS Regulations identifies a 
number of responsibilities for the Fund 
and Employers.

Performance Standards are held within 
the following tables:

New Appointments
Employers’ Responsibility Fund’s Responsibility
To ensure that pensions information is included as 
part of any induction process.

To provide to employers on request appropriate 
information/forms for inductions.

To provide each new employee with an LGPS 
booklet and application form, either with their 
contract or within two weeks of starting work.

To update pension information in accordance with 
regulatory changes and provide sufficient stock 
within five weeks of request by the employer.

New Starters
Employers' Responsibility Fund's Responsibility
To ensure that all employees subject to automatic 
admission are brought into the LGPS from the 
date of appointment, and provide the Pensions 
Team each month with details of their start date by 
electronic interface or approved paper form.

To accurately record and update associated member 
records on the pension administration system.

To assist the Fund in ensuring that all new 
starters complete the Pension Membership 
Form containing information including National 
Insurance Number, Date of Birth and Home 
Address to the Fund within 1 calendar month of 
the employee's first pay date.

To apply for any Transfer Value details within 10 
working days of receipt of all the relevant information 
from the member and to produce a Membership 
Certificate and forward to member's home address, 
within thirteen weeks of joining the LGPS, as stated 
within the Regulations.

Where there is more than one contract of 
employment with the same employer, each 
membership shall be maintained separately and 
the Fund notified.

To accurately record these member records on the 
pension administration system.

To send the Fund notification in agreed electronic 
or paper format of any eligible employees subject to 
automatic entry, who do not wish to join, or elect to 
leave the scheme within three months of appointment.

To accurately record and update member records 
on the pension administration system within 30 
working days of receipt of the notification.

P
age 359



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
17

Valuation and Annual Benefit Illustrations
Employers' Responsibility Fund's Responsibility
To ensure that the Fund is informed of any changes in the circumstances 
of employees on approved forms or by agreed electronic templates within 1 
calendar month of the change. Forms can be found at  
www.yourpension.org.uk/Dorset/Employers/ Employer-Forms.aspx

The changes include:
Status:
•  Change of Name
•  Marital Status
•  National Insurance Number
•  Address

Conditions of Service:
• Contractual Hours
•  Remuneration changes due to down grading
•  Contribution Rate
•  Employee Number and/or Post Number
•  Date Joined Scheme (if adjusted)

Absence:

•  Maternity, Paternity and Adoption

•  Unpaid leave of absence

•  Industrial Action

•  Any other material period of absence.

Each employer must ensure that the relevant contributions are deducted, if required.
End of Year
End of Year contribution return to be sent to the Fund by the 15th May of each 
year and by 8th May in a Valuation year.

Employer to respond to End of Year queries within 15 working days of request.

To provide forms for recording any key change in circumstances and/or to provide a 
template for the secure submission of data electronically.

To accurately record and update member records on the pension administration 
system within 30 working days of notification or any shorter period as requested by 
the employer with regard to specific requirements.

To issue Annual Benefit Illustrations by the 5th October of the year concerned for all 
members where the employer has sent end of year contribution return by 15th May 
of that same year.

To calculate the LGPS member’s Annual Allowance under HMRC Legislation and 
notify members, where appropriate by the 5th October of the year concerned or 
within 3 months of member’s request.P

age 360



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
18

Retirement Estimates
Employers' Responsibility Fund's Responsibility
To submit a request using the Estimate Request Form, found on  
www.yourpension.org.uk/Dorset/ Employers/Employer-Forms by post  
or attaching it to an e-mail.

(Only 1 estimate request per member per rolling year allowed, additional 
requests chargeable as per Charging Schedule - Appendix A)

For larger bulk estimates, requests can be made in alternative formats.

To issue the quotations within 15 working days of receiving the request or by 
separate agreed timescales for bulk requests.

To provide large employers with the appropriate software to produce retirement 
estimates without the resource of Fund staff.

To provide large employers with the appropriate software to produce 
retirement estimates without the resource of Fund staff.

Actual Retirement
Employers' Responsibility Fund's Responsibility
To submit the appropriate form to the Fund at least one month before 
retirement where possible but in all cases no later than 15 working days after 
retirement date.

Further information can be found in the Employers Guide:  
www.yourpension.org.uk/Dorset/Employers.

To issue the member with a letter and retirement information within 10 days 
of notification.

To make payment of any lump sum within 5 working days of the date of retirement 
provided all relevant forms and certificates have been received from the member.

To pay any pension payment on the last working day of each month, following 
retirement.

Ill Health Retirements
Employers' Responsibility Fund's Responsibility
To determine based on medical opinion and advice of one of the Administering 
Authorities approved Independent Medical Registered Practitioners (IMRP)
whether an ill health award is to be made and determine which tier 1, 2 or 3.

To submit the appropriate form to the Fund at least one month before retirement 
where possible but in all cases no later than 15 working days after retirement date.

To calculate and pay required benefits in line with actual retirement 
timescales.

To keep a record of all Tier 3 ill health retirements, particularly in regard to the 18 
month review of their gainful employment and any subsequent appointment with an 
(IMRP) approved by the Administration Authority for a further medical certificate.

To inform the Administering Authority if and when the pension should cease.

To calculate and recover any overpayment of pension benefits.

To review all Tier 3 ill health retirement cases prior to discontinuance at three 
years and notify member of cessation if applicable.

Further information on ill health retirements can be found in the Employers 
Guide; www.yourpension.org.uk/Dorset/Employers

Update the member records as becoming a “pensioner member with deferred 
benefits from the date of the suspension”.

P
age 361



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
19

Members Leaving Employment Before Retirement
Employers' Responsibility Fund's Responsibility
To notify the Fund of the employee’s date and reason for cessation of 
membership and all other relevant information on approved forms within one 
month of the event.

To accurately record and update member records on the pension 
administration system.

To inform members who leave the Scheme, who are not entitled to immediate 
payment of benefits, the options available and deferred benefit entitlement.

Former Members with Deferred Benefits
Employers' Responsibility Fund's Responsibility
To keep adequate records of the following for members who leave the 
Scheme with deferred benefits as early payment of benefits may be required:
• Name and Last known address
• National Insurance Number
• Payroll Number
• Date of Birth
• Last job including job description
• Salary details
• Date and reason for leaving

On application from the former employee to have their deferred benefits paid 
early, a determination as to whether or not they are eligible for early payment 
on ill health grounds after seeking a suitable medical opinion from an (IRMP) 
approved by the Administering Authority, to determine whether benefits 
should be released early on compassionate grounds and whether any early 
retirement reduction should be waived.

To record and update member records on pension administration system.

Issue deferred benefit notification within 2 months of notification by employer.

To provide former members, where possible, an annual benefit illustration of their 
deferred benefits updated by accrued annual pensions increase award.

To provide estimates of benefits that may be payable and any resulting employer 
costs within 10 working days of request.

P
age 362



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
20

Death In Service and Terminal Illness
Employers' Responsibility Fund's Responsibility
To inform the Fund immediately of the death of an employee or when a member is 
suffering from a potentially terminal illness and provide details of the next of kin.

Further information can be found in the Employers Guide;  
www.yourpension.org.uk/Dorset/Employers

To assist employers, employees and their next of kin in ensuring the pension 
options are made available and that the payment of benefits are expedited in 
an appropriate caring manner.

Financial Obligations

Employers' Responsibility Fund's Responsibility

To pay the Fund all contributions deducted from payroll (not including AVCs) of 
its employees and employer contributions, no later than the 19th day of the month 
following the period of deductions.

To re-imburse the Fund for all pension payments made which are not to be borne 
by the Fund e.g. early retirement strain cost, compensatory added years, injury 
allowances under an agreed schedule.

To ensure that all payments made to the Fund are supported by  
a completed Monthly Financial Return form which is available at  
www.yourpension.org.uk/Dorset/employers

Further information can be found in the Employer Guide:  
www.yourpension.org.uk/Dorset/employers

To allocate the received contributions to each employers record.

Interest will be charged for late payment as detailed in Regulation 71(4) of the LGPS 
Regulations 2013.

To apply the correct employer and employee contribution rate.

To alter employee contribution rates at all other times in line with the 
employers’ discretionary policy on adjusting employee contribution rates.

Inform each employer of any new contribution banding.

To pay all rechargeable items to the Fund within four weeks of the invoice. The Fund will inform employers of any recharge items as they become due.

To pay the appropriate AVC provider AVC contributions deducted from payroll 
of its employees no later than the 19th day of the month following the period of 
deductions.

To record and update member records on pension administration system to 
show membership of AVC scheme.

P
age 363



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
21

Additional Benefits (ARCS and ASBCS)

Employers' Responsibility Fund's Responsibility

To collect from the employee payroll, contributions and to arrange the prompt 
payment to the Fund no later than the 19th of the month following deduction.

More information can be found in the Employers Guide,  
www.yourpension.org.uk/Dorset/employers

To provide information on Additional Regular Contributions (ARCs) and 
Additional Survivor Benefit Contributions (ASBC’s) on request to the LGPS 
member and employers and issue quotations within 10 working days.

Discretions Policy

Employers' Responsibility Fund's Responsibility

Formulate, publish and update (as necessary) an Employer Discretions 
Policy as required under the LGPS Regulations and provide a copy using 
the Discretions template to the Fund. More information can be found in the 
Employers Guide, www.yourpension.org.uk/Dorset/employers

This must be done within 30 days of policy being agreed by the appropriate 
officers or committee of the Employer OR any changes being made and

No later than 6 months after being informed by the Fund of any relevant 
change in the Regulations.

Formulate, publish and update (as necessary) an Administering Authority 
Discretions Policy as required under the LGPS Regulations. The Fund will 
keep the policies under review and will update within 6 months of any relevant 
change in the Regulations.

Where the Fund does not have an up to date discretions policy from an 
Employer, the Fund will not process anything which involves Employers 
discretions. This currently includes early retirement (pre age 60), additional 
pension awards, flexible retirement and waiving of actuarial reductions on any 
of these.

Standards of Data
Overriding Legislation
In performing the role of administering the 
LGPS, The Fund and Employers will comply 
with the overriding legislation, including:

•  the Occupational Pensions Schemes 
(Disclosure of Information) 
Regulations 1986;

•  the Pensions Act 1995 & 2004;
•  any Transitional Regulations 

currently in place;

•  the Discretionary and Compensation 
Regulations 2006;

•  the Data Protection Act 1998;
•  the Freedom of Information Act 2000;
•  the Equality Act 2010;
•  the Age Discrimination Act 2006;
•  the Finance Act 2004;
• Health and Safety Legislation;
• Employment Rights Act 2010;
• HMRC Legislation and

•  Current Government Actuaries 
Department Guidance and any future 
amendments to the above legislation.

Secure Data Transfer
The Fund will follow Dorset County 
Council data security guidelines when 
sending any personal data in bulk.

P
age 364



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
22

Task Standard (Working days)
Letters/emails acknowledged 10 Days
New Starters processed - electronic/paper 30 Days
Payment of transfer values 10 Days
Provision of inward transfer quotes 15 Days
Notification of deferred benefits 40 Days
Respond to members general postal/telephone enquiries 10 Days
Changes in details processed 30 Days
Estimates for divorce purposes processed 30 Days or 21 Days for 

Court Ordered requests
Refund Payments 15 Days
Deferred benefits calculated 40 Days
ARC Illustrations calculated 10 Days
Annuity quotations calculated 5 Days
New retirement letters sent detailing options 10 Days
New retirement benefits processed for payment following receipt of election 5 Days
Deferred benefits processed for payment following receipt of election 5 Days
Notification of death processed 5 Days
Processing of survivor pensions 5 Days
Processing of death grants 5 Days
Estimate requests processed 15 Days

Fund Administration Performance - 
Task Standards
In all cases the standard quoted applies 
only once all necessary information and 
documents have been received. 

The annual figures for the Fund 
performance measures across all 
employers will be monitored by the 
Pension Fund Committee and reported in 
the Annual Report.

Audit
The Fund is subject to an annual audit 
of its processes and internal controls. 
Employers are expected to fully comply 
with any requests for information 
from both internal and approved 
external auditors. Any subsequent 
recommendations will be considered 
and where appropriate implemented with 
Employing authority cooperation.

Benchmarking
The Fund will regularly monitor its 
costs and service performance by 
benchmarking with other administering 
authorities. Details of the costs of 
administration, quality measures 
and standards of performance will 
be monitored by the Pension Fund 
Committee and a summary will be 
published in the Annual Report.

P
age 365



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
23

Any third party costs or regulatory fines 
incurred by the Fund as a consequence 
of administrative failures or poor 
performance by the employing authority 
will be recovered from the employer. 
These may include fines imposed by the 

Employer Performance Reporting
As part of this Pensions Administration 
Strategy the Fund will develop, with 
employer consultation, arrangements for 
quarterly reporting on key performance 
measures as shown below.

This approach to reporting will facilitate 
early engagement with employers and 
also provide a mechanism for service level 
review and recognition of best practice.

Poor Performance
The Pension Fund Committee will 
monitor regularly the key performance 
measures. The Fund will seek, at the 
earliest opportunity, to work closely with 
employers in identifying areas of poor 
performance, provide the necessary 
training and development to put in place 
appropriate processes to improve the 
level of service into the future.

In the event of continued poor 
performance and a lack of any evidence 
of measures being taken to achieve 
improvement by an employing authority 
the Fund will seek to recover any 
additional costs arising.

The Fund may also charge for other 
services, details of all the charges that 
apply are provided in Appendix A.

Courts or the Pensions Ombudsman and 
additional charges in respect of actuarial 
fees, legal fees, third party computer 
charges and additional printing and 
distribution costs.

Top 12 detail - cases completed on time Completed 
in period

Performance 
%

KPI (days) Cases completed 
on time or early

Admissions 7,107 93.30 30 6,632

Transfers In Quote 802 99.00 15 794

Transfers In Actual 270 99.26 20 268

Transfers Out 340 96.47 10 328

Transfers Out Actual 207 96.62 10 200

Estimates Employee 1,130 100.00 15 1,130

Estimates Employer 483 100.00 15 483

Retirements 2,460 98.70 5 2,428

Deferred Benefits 3,025 98.15 40 2,969

Refunds 2,419 99.42 15 2,405

Deaths 302 100.00 5 302

Correspondence 5,359 99.79 30 5,348

Total 23,904 97.42 23,287

Performance 2018-19 - report for period: April 2018-March 2019
Number of complaints received: 1

P
age 366



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
24

Top 13 detail - Average elapsed time for cases completed within 6 months of receipt

Total cases Average elapsed time Target
Admissions 7,107 35 10
Transfers In Quote 802 30 64
Transfers In Actual  270 79 64
Transfers Out 340 52 23
Transfers Out Actual 207 69 23
Estimates Employee 1,130 30 10
Estimates Employer 483 11 9
Retirements 2,454 56 53
Retirements 1,487 55 53
Deferred Benefits 3,025 64 23

Refunds 2,419 63 28
Deaths 302 2 44
Correspondence 5,359 4 2

Top 12 detail - Cases currently over 6 months old Total cases
Admissions 1,688
Transfers In Quote 280
Transfers In Actual 78
Transfers Out 87
Transfers Out Actual 57
Estimates Employee 409
Estimates Employer 207
Retirements 836
Deferred Benefits 603
Refunds 593
Deaths 112
Correspondence 1,651
Total 6,601

Performance 2018-19 - report for period: 
April 2018-March 2019, continued

P
age 367



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
25

In dealing with poor performance the 
Fund will:

•  write to the employer setting out the 
area(s) of poor performance;

•  meet with the employing authority, to 
discuss area(s) of poor performance 
and how these can be addressed;

•  issue formal written notice, where no 
improvement is demonstrated by the 
employing authority or where there 
has been a failure to take agreed 
action by the employing authority;

•  make a claim for cost recovery, 
taking account of time and resources 
in resolving the specific area(s) of 
poor performance;

•  will report any claim for the cost 
of recovery to the Pension Fund 
Committee at the next available 
meeting and may form part of the 
administration report in the Fund’s 
published Annual Report.

Associated Policy Statements
Communications Policy
The statement outlines the Fund’s policy on:

•  Information to members, 
representatives and employers;

•  The format, frequency and method 
of distributing such information;

•  The promotion of the Scheme to 
prospective members and their 
employing authorities.

The policy can be accessed on the 
Dorset County Pension Fund website: 
www.yourpension.org.uk/Dorset/In-the-
Scheme/Publications

Governance Policy
Dorset County Council has delegated to 
the Pension Fund Committee various 
powers and duties in respect of its 
administration of the Fund.

This statement sets out the scheme of 
delegation and the terms of reference, 
structure and operational procedures of 
the delegation.

The policy can be accessed on the 
Dorset County Pension Fund website: 
https://www.yourpension.org.uk/Dorset/
Investments/Responsible-Investment

Employer Discretions
The LGPS Regulations require every 
employing authority to:

•  issue a written policy statement 
on how it will exercise the various 
discretions provided by the LGPS;

•  keep it under review;

•  revise it as necessary.

A list of the Employer discretions can be 
found in the Employers Guide:
https://www.yourpension.org.uk/Dorset/
Employers

Administering Authority Discretions
The LGPS Regulations require every 
administering authority to:

•  issue a written policy statement 
on how it will exercise the various 
discretions provided by the LGPS;

•  keep it under review;

•  revise it as necessary.

A copy of the Dorset County Pension 
Fund Administering Authority Discretions 
can be found on the Dorset County 
Pension Fund website: 
https://www.yourpension.org.uk/Dorset/
Scheme

Local Government Pension Scheme 
Regulations 2013 Excerpts Related 
To Pensions Administration Strategy 
Documents
Exchange of information - Regulation 80
(1). A Scheme employer must -
  a) inform the appropriate 

administering authority of all 
decisions made by the employer 
under regulation 72 (first instance 
decisions) or by an adjudicator 

P
age 368



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
26

appointed by the Scheme employer 
under regulation 74 (applications 
for adjudication of disagreements) 
concerning members; and

  b) give that authority such other 
information as it requires for 
discharging its Scheme functions.

(2). If -
  a) an administering authority makes 

any decision under regulations 
72 (first instance decisions), 75 
(decisions of the adjudicator) or 
76 (reference of adjudications to 
administering authority) about 
a person for whom it is not the 
Scheme employer; and

  b) information about that decision 
is required by the person’s Scheme 
employer for discharging that 
employer’s Scheme functions, that 
authority must give that employer 
that information if asked to supply it.

(3).  Within three months of the end of 
each Scheme year, each Scheme 
employer must give a statement 
to the appropriate administering 
authority giving the following details 
in respect of each employee who 
has been an active member during 
the Scheme year -

  a) the employee’s name and gender;
  b) the employee’s date of birth and 

national insurance number;
  c) a unique reference number 

relating to each employment in 
which the employee has been an 
active member; and

  d) the information relating to the 
employee for the Scheme year in 
question for each employment which 
is specified in paragraph (4).

(4).  The information required by 
paragraph (3)(d) is -

  a) the dates of active membership;
  b) the pensionable pay received and 

employee contributions deducted 
while regulation 9 (contributions) 
applied;

  c) the pensionable pay received and 
employee contributions deducted 
while regulation 10 (temporary 
reduction in contributions) applied;

  d) any contributions by the employer 
in relation to the employee’s 
pensionable pay;

  e) any contributions by employee 
or employer under regulation 16 
(additional pension contributions);

  f) any contributions by employee 
or employer under regulation 17 
(additional voluntary contributions).

Pension administration strategy - 
Regulation 59
 (1).   An administering authority may 

prepare a written statement 
of the authority’s policies in 
relation to such of the matters 
mentioned in paragraph (2) as it 
considers appropriate (“its pension 
administration strategy”) and, where 
it does so, paragraphs (3) to (7) apply.

(2). The matters are -
  a) procedures for liaison and 

communication with employers 
in relation to which it is the 
administering authority (“its scheme 
employers”);

  b) the establishment of levels of 
performance which the administering 
authority and its Scheme employers 
are expected to achieve in carrying 
out their Scheme functions by -

   i. the setting of performance 
targets;

   ii. the making of agreements 
about levels of performance and 
associated matters; or

   iii. such other means as the 
administering authority considers 
appropriate.

  c) procedures which aim to secure 
that the administering authority 
and its Scheme employers comply 

P
age 369



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
27

with statutory requirements in 
respect of those functions and 
with any agreement about levels of 
performance;

  d) procedures for improving the 
communication by the administering 
authority and its Scheme employers 
to each other of information relating 
to those functions;

  e) the circumstances in which 
the administering authority may 
consider giving written notice to 
any of its Scheme employers under 
regulation 70 (additional costs 
arising from Scheme employer’s 
level of performance) on account 
of that employer’s unsatisfactory 
performance in carrying out its 
Scheme functions when measured 
against levels of performance 
established under sub- paragraph (b);

  f) the publication by the 
administering authority of annual 
reports dealing with -

   i. the extent to which that authority 
and its Scheme employers 
have achieved the levels of 
performance established under 
sub-paragraph (b), and

   ii. such other matters arising from 
its pension administration strategy 
as it considers appropriate; and

  g) such other matters as appear to 
the administering authority after 
consulting its Scheme employers 
and such other persons as it 
considers appropriate, to be suitable 
for inclusion in that strategy.

(3). An administering authority must -
  a) keep its pension administration 

strategy under review; and
  b) make such revisions as are 

appropriate following a material change 
in its policies in relation to any of the 
matters contained in the strategy.

(4).  In preparing or reviewing and 
making revisions to its pensions 
administration strategy, an 
administering authority must consult 
its scheme employers and such other 
persons as it considers appropriate.

(5).  An administering authority must 
publish -

  a) its pension administration 
strategy; and

  b) where revisions are made to it, the 
strategy as revised.

(6).  When an administering authority 
publishes its pension administration 
strategy, or that strategy as revised, 
it must send a copy of it to each of 
its employers and to the Secretary 
of State as soon as is reasonably 
practicable.

(7).  An administering authority and 
its Scheme employers must have 
regard to the pension administration 
strategy when carrying out their 
functions under these Regulations.

(8).  In this regulation references to 
the functions of an administering 
authority include, where applicable, 
its functions as a Scheme employer.

Additional costs arising from Scheme 
employer’s level of performance
- Regulation 70
(1).  This regulation applies where, in 

the opinion of an administering 
authority, it has incurred additional 
costs which should be recovered 
from a Scheme employer because 
of that employer’s level of 
performance in carrying out its 
functions under these Regulations.

(2).  The administering authority may 
give written notice to the Scheme 
employer stating -

P
age 370



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
28

  (a)  the administering authority’s 
reasons for forming the opinion 
mentioned in paragraph (1);

  (b)   the amount the authority 
has determined the Scheme 
employer should pay under 
regulation 69(1)(d) (payments 
by Scheme employers to 
administering authorities) in 
respect of those costs and the 
basis on which the specified 
amount is calculated; and

  (c)   where the administering 
authority has prepared a pension 
administration strategy under 
regulation 59, the provisions of the 
strategy which are relevant to the 
decision to give the notice and to 
the matters in sub-paragraphs (a) 
or (b).

Interest on late payments by Scheme 
employers - Regulation 71
(1).  An administering authority may 

require a Scheme employer or former 
Scheme employer from which any 
payment is due under regulations 67 
to 70 (employer’s contributions or 
payments) is overdue to pay interest 
on that amount.

(2).  The date on which any amount due 
under regulations 67 (employer’s 

contributions), 68 (employer’s further 
payments), 70 (additional costs 
arising from Scheme employer’s level 
of performance) is overdue is one 
month from the date specified by the 
administering authority for payment.

(3).  The date on which any amount due 
under regulation 69 (payment by 
Scheme employers to administering 
authorities) (other than an extra 
charge payable under regulation 68 
and referred to in regulation 69(1)
(b)) is overdue is the day after the 
date when that payment is due.

(4).  Interest payable under this regulation 
must be calculated at one per cent 
above base rate on a day to day basis 
from the due date to the date of 
payment and compounded with three- 
monthly rests.

Overriding legislation dictates minimum 
standards that Pension Schemes  
should meet in providing certain  
pieces of information to the various 
associated parties - not least of which 
the Scheme member.

P
age 371



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
29

Appendix A - Charging Schedule

Charge
Failure to notify the Fund of new starters with full information within 1 month of their start date £50 per case
Failure to notify the Fund of changes in status, conditions of service and absence of employees 
within 1 month of the change

£50 per case

Failure to notify the Fund of any member leaving the Scheme (termination of employment or opting-
out) within 1 month of the event

£50 per case

Failure to notify the Fund of any retirement within 15 days of retirement date £50 per case
Where as a result of the Employer's/Payroll Providers failure to notify the Fund of a retirement 
interest becomes payable on any lump sum or death grant paid, the Fund will recharge the total 
amount of interest to the Employer/Payroll Provider

Interest calculated in accordance 
with Regulation 71 of the LGPS 
Regulations 2013

Failure to notify the Fund of the death in service of a member within 10 working days of the 
Employer receiving notification

£250 per case

Failure to pay over the monthly contributions to the Fund by the 19th of the month following 
deduction of the contributions

Interest calculated on a daily 
basis equal to the Bank of 
England Base Rate plus 1%

Failure to provide the Fund with the End of Year contribution return by 15th May or 8th May in a 
Valuation year

£50 per working day from day 
after required date to date return 
is received

Failure to respond to requests for End of Year information to resolve queries within 15 working 
days of Fund request

£50 per query

Estimate requests in excess of 1 required in a rolling year £100 per estimate request plus 
VAT per additional request

Failure to pay invoices from the Fund within the prescribed payment period Interest calculated on a daily 
basis equal to the Bank of 
England Base Rate plus 1%

P
age 372



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
30

Notes to Charging Schedule

•  Notifications of new starters, 
changes, absences, leavers, 
retirements and death in service must 
give full information as detailed in the 
Employer’s Guide: www.yourpension.
org.uk/Dorset/Employers

•  Regulation 71 of the LGPS Regulations 
2013 states that interest must be 
calculated at one per cent above base 
rate on a day to day basis from the 
due date to the date of payment and 
compounded with three-monthly rests. 
If late payment of a lump sum or death 
grant occurs as a result of a failure 
by the scheme member or scheme 
member’s representative to provide the 
information to the Fund, the Fund will 
be liable for the payment of any interest 
due.

Contact details
Write to us at:
Dorset County Pension Fund
County Hall, Dorchester 
Dorset DT1 1XJ

Tel:  01305 224845
Fax:  01305 224049
Email:  
pensionshelpline@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
Web: www.yourpension.org.uk/dorset

P
age 373



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
31

Appendix 4
Funding Strategy Statement - 
June 2017
Introduction
This is the Funding Strategy Statement 
(FSS) for the Dorset County Pension Fund. 
It has been prepared in accordance with 
Regulation 58 of the Local Government 
Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 (the 
Regulations) and describes Dorset County 
Council’s strategy, in its capacity as 
administering authority, for the funding of 
the Dorset County Pension Fund (the Fund).

This statement should be read in 
conjunction with the Fund’s Investment 
Strategy Statement (ISS)/Statement 
of Investment Principles (SIP) and has 
been prepared with regard to the 2016 
guidance issued by CIPFA.

Purpose of the Funding Strategy 
Statement
The purpose of the FSS is to explain the 
Fund’s approach to meeting employers’ 
pension liabilities and in particular to:

•  Establish a clear and transparent 
fund-specific strategy which will 
identify how employers’ pension 
liabilities are best met going forward;

•  Support the desirability of 
maintaining as nearly constant a 
primary contribution rate as possible, 
as defined in Regulation 62(5) of the 
Regulations;

•  Ensure that the regulatory 
requirements to set contributions to 
meet the future liability to provide 
scheme member benefits in a way 
that ensures the solvency and long-
term cost efficiency of the fund are 
met; and

•  Take a prudent longer-term view of 
funding those liabilities.

These objectives are desirable individually 
but may be mutually conflicting. This FSS 
seeks to set out how the administering 
authority has balanced the conflicting 
aims of affordability of contributions, 
transparency of processes, stability of 
employers’ contributions and prudence  
in the funding basis.

Aims and purposes of the Fund
The aims of the Fund are to:

•  Manage employers’ liabilities 
effectively and ensure that sufficient 
resources are available to meet all 
liabilities as they fall due;

•  Enable primary contribution rates 
to be kept as nearly constant 
as possible and (subject to the 
administering authority not taking 
undue risks) at reasonable cost 
to all relevant parties (such as the 
taxpayers, scheduled, resolution and 
admitted bodies), while achieving 
and maintaining fund solvency 
and long-term cost efficiency. 
This should be assessed in light 
of the risk profile of the Fund and 
employers, and the risk appetite 
of the administering authority and 
employers alike; and

•  Seek returns on investment within 
reasonable risk parameters.

The purpose of the Fund is to:

•  Pay pensions, lump sums and other 
benefits to scheme members as 
provided under the Regulations;

•  Meet the costs associated in 
administering the Fund;

•  Receive contributions, transfer 
values and investment income; and

•  Accumulate and invest money 
received, and facilitate the 
management of this.

P
age 374



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
32

Funding objectives
Contributions are paid to the Fund by 
Scheme members and the employing 
bodies to provide for the benefits 
which will become payable to Scheme 
members when they fall due.

The funding objectives are to:

•  Set levels of employer contribution 
that will build up a fund of assets that 
will be sufficient to meet all future 
benefit payments from the Fund;

•  Build up the required assets in such 
a way that employer contribution 
rates are kept as stable as possible, 
with consideration of the long-term 
cost efficiency objective;

•  Ensure that pension benefits can be 
met as and when they fall due over 
the lifetime of the Fund; and

•  Ensure the solvency of the Fund; and

•  Ensure effective and efficient 
management of each employer’s 
liabilities.

Key parties
The key parties involved in the funding 
process and their responsibilities are  
as follows:

The administering authority
The administering authority for the 
Pension Fund is Dorset County Council. 
The main responsibilities of the 
administering authority are to:

•  Operate the Fund;

•  Collect and account for employee 
and employer contributions, 
investment income and other 
amounts due to the Fund as 
stipulated in the Regulations;

•  Invest the Fund’s assets ensuring 
sufficient cash is available to meet 
liabilities as and when they become 
due;

•  Pay the benefits due to Scheme 
members as stipulated in the 
Regulations;

•  Take measures as set out in the 
Regulations to safeguard the Fund 
against the consequences of 
employer default;

•  Manage the actuarial valuation 
process in conjunction with the Fund 
Actuary;

•  Prepare and maintain this FSS and 
also the ISS after consultation with 
other interested parties;

•  Monitor all aspects of the Fund’s 
performance;

•  Prepare the Fund accounts;

•  Effectively manage any potential 
conflict of interest arising from its 
dual role as both Fund administrator 
and Scheme Employer; and

•  Enable the Local Pension Board to 
review the valuation process as they 
see fit.

Individual employers
In addition to the administering authority, 
a number of other employers, including 
admission bodies, participate in the Fund.
 The responsibilities of each employer 
that participates in the Fund, including 
the administering authority, are to:

•  Collect employee contributions 
and pay these together with their 
own employer contributions as 
certified by the Fund Actuary to the 
administering authority within the 
statutory timescales;

•  Notify the administering authority of 
any new Scheme members and any 
other membership changes promptly;

P
age 375



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
33

•  Develop a policy on certain discretions 
and exercise those discretions as 
permitted under the Regulations;

•  Meet the costs of any augmentations 
or other additional costs, particularly 
in respect of early retirement strains, 
in accordance with agreed policies 
and procedures; and

•  Pay any exit payments due on 
ceasing participation in the Fund.

Scheme members
 Active scheme members are required to 
make contributions into the Fund as set 
by the Department of Communities and 
Local Government.

Fund Actuary
The Fund Actuary for the Fund is 
Barnett Waddingham LLP. The main 
responsibilities of the Fund Actuary are to:

•  Prepare valuations, including the 
setting of employers’ contribution 
rates at a level to ensure 
Fund solvency and long-term 
cost efficiency, after agreeing 
assumptions with the administering 
authority and having regard to the 
FSS and the Regulations;

•  Advise interested parties on funding 
strategy and completion of actuarial 
valuations in accordance with the 

FSS and the Regulations;

•  Prepare advice and calculations in 
connection with bulk transfers and 
individual benefit- related matters;

•  Prepare advice and valuations on the 
exiting of employers from the Fund;

•  Provide advice to the administering 
authority on bonds or other forms of 
security against the financial effect 
on the Fund of employer default;

•  Assist the administering authority 
in assessing whether employer 
contributions need to be revised 
between valuations as permitted or 
required by the Regulations;

•  Ensure that the administering 
authority is aware of any 
professional guidance or other 
professional requirements which 
may be of relevance to his or her role 
in advising the Fund; and

•  Advise on other actuarial matters 
affecting the financial position of  
the Fund.

Funding strategy
The factors affecting the Fund’s 
finances are constantly changing, so it 
is necessary for its financial position 
and the contributions payable to be 
reviewed from time to time by means of 

an actuarial valuation to check that the 
funding objectives are being met.

The funding strategy seeks to 
achieve (via employee and employer 
contributions and investment income) 
two key objectives:

•  A funding level of 100%, as assessed 
by the Fund’s appointed actuary, 
triennially, in accordance with the 
Regulations; and

•  As stable an employer contribution 
rate as is practical, with 
consideration of the long-term cost 
efficiency objective.

The funding strategy recognises that the 
funding level will fluctuate with changing 
levels of employment, retirements and 
investment income, and the employer 
contribution has to be adjusted to a 
level sufficient to maintain the pension 
scheme’s solvency and to achieve a 
funding level of 100% over the longer term.
 
The actuarial valuation involves a projection 
of future cashflows to and from the 
Fund. The main purpose of the valuation 
is to determine the level of employers’ 
contributions that should be paid to 
ensure that the existing assets and future 
contributions will be sufficient to meet all 

P
age 376



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
34

future benefit payments from the Fund.

The most recent actuarial valuation 
was carried out as at 31 March 2016 
with the assets of the Fund found to 
represent 83% of the accrued liabilities 
for the Fund, corresponding to a deficit 
of £452m.

The primary rate required to cover the 
employer cost of future benefit accrual 
was 15.6% of payroll p.a. 

A summary of the methods and 
assumptions adopted is set out in the 
sections below.

Funding method
The key objective in determining 
employers’ contribution rates is to 
establish a funding target and then set 
levels of employer contribution to meet 
that target over an agreed period.

The funding target is to have sufficient 
assets in the Fund to meet the accrued 
liabilities for each employer in the Fund. 
The funding target may, however, depend 
on certain employer circumstances and 
in particular, whether an employer is an 
“open” employer – one which allows new 
staff access to the Fund, or a “closed” 
employer which no longer permits new 

staff access to the Fund. The expected 
period of participation by an employer 
in the Fund may also affect the chosen 
funding target.

For open employers, the actuarial funding 
method that is adopted is known as the 
Projected Unit Funding Method which 
considers separately the benefits in 
respect of service completed before the 
valuation date (“past service”) and benefits 
in respect of service assumed to be 
completed after the valuation date (“future 
service”). This approach focuses on:

•  The past service funding level of the 
Fund. This is the ratio of accumulated 
assets to liabilities in respect of 
past service. It makes allowance for 
future increases to members’ pay 
and pensions in payment. A funding 
level in excess of 100% indicates a 
surplus of assets over liabilities; while 
a funding level of less than 100% 
indicates a deficit; and

•  The future service funding rate 
(also referred to as the primary 
rate as defined in Regulation 62(5) 
of the Regulations) which is the 
level of contributions required from 
the individual employers which, 
in combination with employee 
contributions is assumed to support 

the cost of benefits accruing in future.

The key feature of this method is that, 
in assessing the future service cost, the 
primary contribution rate represents the 
cost of one year’s benefit accrual.

For closed employers, the funding 
method adopted is known as the 
Attained Age Method. The key difference 
between this method and the Projected 
Unit Method is that the Attained Age 
Method assesses the average cost of the 
benefits that will accrue over a specific 
period, such as the length of a contract 
or the remaining expected working 
lifetime of active members.

The amounts that the employer then 
pays are a combination of the future 
service cost described above and 
any adjustments for the past service 
surplus or deficit. If there is a deficit, 
this adjustment will be specified as an 
additional contribution expressed as 
either a percentage of pay or as a cash 
amount to be paid in future.
 
Valuation assumptions and funding model
In completing the actuarial valuation it is 

P
age 377



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
35

necessary to formulate assumptions about 
the factors affecting the Fund’s future 
finances such as inflation, pay increases, 
investment returns, rates of mortality, early 
retirement and staff turnover etc.

The assumptions adopted at the 
valuation can therefore be considered as:

•  The statistical assumptions 
which are essentially estimates 
of the likelihood of benefits and 
contributions being paid, and

•  The financial assumptions which will 
determine the estimates of the amount 
of benefits and contributions payable 
and their current or present value.

Future price inflation
The base assumption in any valuation is 
the future level of price inflation over a 
period commensurate with the duration of 
the liabilities. This is derived by considering 
the average difference in yields over the 
appropriate period from conventional and 
index linked gilts during the six months 
straddling the valuation date to provide 
an estimate of future price inflation as 
measured by the Retail Price Index (RPI). 
The RPI assumption adopted as at 31 
March 2016 was 3.3% p.a.

Future pension increases
Pension increases are linked to changes 
in the level of the Consumer Price Index 
(CPI). Inflation as measured by the CPI 
has historically been less than RPI due 
mainly to different calculation methods. A 
deduction of 0.9% p.a. is therefore made 
to the RPI assumption to derive the CPI 
assumption. The CPI assumption adopted 
as at 31 March 2016 was 2.4% p.a.

Future pay inflation
As some of the benefits are linked to pay 
levels at retirement, it is necessary to 
make an assumption as to future levels 
of pay inflation. Historically, there has 
been a close link between price and pay 
inflation with pay increases exceeding 
price inflation in the longer term. The 
long-term pay increase assumption 
adopted as at 31 March 2016 was CPI 
plus 1.5%, with a short-term assumption 
in line with CPI for the period to 31 
March 2020. An allowance has also been 
made for promotional increases.

Future investment returns/discount rate
To determine the value of accrued 
liabilities and derive future contribution 
requirements it is necessary to discount 
future payments to and from the Fund to 
present day values.

The discount rate that is adopted will 
depend on the funding target adopted for 
each Scheme employer.
 
The discount rate that is applied to the 
projected liabilities reflects a prudent 
estimate of the rate of investment return 
that is assumed to be earned from 
the underlying investment strategy by 
considering average market yields in the 
six months straddling the valuation date. 
The discount rate so determined may 
be referred to as the “ongoing” discount 
rate. The discount rate adopted for the 31 
March 2016 valuation was 5.4% p.a.
For some employers, an adjustment may 
be made to the discount rate in relation 
to the remaining liabilities, once all active 
members are assumed to have retired if 
at that time (the projected “termination 
date”), the employer becomes an exiting 
employer under Regulation 64.

The Fund Actuary will incorporate such 
an adjustment after consultation with the 
administering authority.

The adjustment to the discount rate for 
employers may be set to a higher funding 
target at the projected termination date, 
so that there are sufficient assets to fund 
the remaining liabilities on a “minimum 
risk” rather than on an ongoing basis 

P
age 378



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
36

if the Fund do not believe that there is 
another Scheme employer to take on the 
responsibility of the liabilities after the 
employer has exited the Fund. The aim 
is to minimise the risk of deficits arising 
after the termination date.

Asset valuation
For the purposes of the valuation, the 
asset value used is the market value of 
the accumulated Fund at the valuation 
date adjusted to reflect average market 
conditions during the six months 
straddling the valuation date.

Statistical assumptions
The statistical assumptions incorporated 
into the valuation, such as future 
mortality rates, are based on national 
statistics. These are adjusted as 
appropriate to reflect the individual 
circumstances of the Fund and/or 
individual employers.

Further details of all of the assumptions 
adopted are included in the latest 
actuarial valuation report.

Deficit recovery periods
Whilst one of the funding objectives is 
to build up sufficient assets to meet 
the cost of benefits as they accrue, it is 

recognised that at any particular point 
in time, the value of the accumulated 
assets will be different to the value of 
accrued liabilities, depending on how the 
actual experience of the Fund differs to 
the actuarial assumptions. Accordingly 
the Fund will normally either be in surplus 
or in deficit.

Where the actuarial valuation discloses 
a significant deficit then the levels of 
required employers’ contributions will 
include an adjustment to fund the deficit 
over a period of years.

The deficit recovery period for each 
employer will depend upon the 
significance of the deficit relative to that 
employer’s liabilities, the covenant of 
the individual employer and any limited 
period of participation in the Fund, and 
the implications in terms of stability of 
future levels of employers’ contribution.
 
At the 2016 valuation, a maximum deficit 
recovery period of 22 years is used for 
all employers. Shorter recovery periods 
have been used where affordable. This 
will provide a buffer for future adverse 
experience and reduce the interest 
cost paid by employers. For Transferee 
Admission Bodies the deficit recovery 
period is set equal to the remaining 

contract period if this is known.Where an 
employer’s contribution has to increase 
significantly then, if appropriate, the 
increase may be phased in over a period 
not exceeding 3 years.

Deficit contributions required from an 
employer are expressed as a minimum 
requirement, with employers able to 
pay regular contributions at a higher 
rate, or one-off contributions, to reduce 
their deficit. Employers should discuss 
with the administering authority before 
making one-off capital payments.

Pooling of individual employers
The policy of the Fund is that each 
individual employer should be 
responsible for the costs of providing 
pensions for its own employees who 
participate in the Fund. Accordingly, 
contribution rates are set for individual 
employers to reflect their own particular 
circumstances.

However, certain groups of individual 
employers are pooled for the purposes of 
determining contribution rates to recognise 
common characteristics or where the 
number of Scheme members is small.

P
age 379



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
37

Currently there are the following pools 
within the Fund:

•  Dorset County Council;

•  Bournemouth Borough Council;

•  Borough of Poole;

•  Small scheduled bodies;

•  Small admitted bodies;

•  Academies;

•  SLM Poole.

There are also a number of connected 
employers within the Fund. Connected 
employers are those where we 
understand that the organisation controls 
all of the employers or has responsibility 
for all the pension obligations. Examples 
include parent/subsidiaries or former 
Transferee Admission Bodies who have 
ceased to participate where the legacy 
liabilities have been passed back to the 
Letting Authority. In these instances, the 
contribution rate has been determined as 
a pooled rate.

The main purpose of pooling is 
to produce more stable employer 
contribution levels in the longer term 
whilst, recognising that ultimately there 
will be some level of cross-subsidy of 
pension cost amongst pooled employers.

Cessation valuations
When an employer leaves the Scheme 
and becomes an exiting employer, the 
Fund Actuary will be asked to make a 
termination assessment. Any deficit in 
the Fund in respect of the employer will 
be due to the Fund as an immediate 
exit payment, unless it is agreed by the 
administering authority and the other 
parties involved that the assets and 
liabilities relating to the employer will 
transfer within the Fund to another 
participating employer.
 
In certain circumstances, if it is not 
possible for all or part of the exit 
payment to be obtained from the  
ceasing employer, it may be possible 
for the exit payment to be paid over a 
period which the administering authority 
considers reasonable.

In assessing the deficit on cessation, the 
Fund Actuary may adopt a “minimum 
risk” discount rate based on gilt yields 
and adopt different assumptions to 
those used at the previous valuation. 
For example, this is likely to apply in 
instances where there is no employer 
in the Fund taking responsibility for 
any residual liabilities of the ceasing 
employer. This is in order to protect the 
other employers in the Fund from having 

to fund any future deficits which may 
arise from the liabilities that will remain 
in the Fund.

Early retirement costs
The funding basis makes no allowance 
for premature retirement except on 
grounds of ill health. Employers are 
required to pay additional contributions 
wherever an employee retires before 
attaining the age at which the valuation 
assumes that benefits are payable. The 
calculation of these costs is carried out 
with reference to a calculation method 
approved by the Fund Actuary.

Links with the Investment Strategy 
Statement (ISS)
The main link between the FSS and the 
ISS relates to the discount rate that 
underlies the funding strategy as set 
out in the FSS, and the assumed rate of 
investment return which is assumed to 
be achieved by the underlying investment 
strategy as set out in the ISS.

As explained above, the ongoing discount 
rate that is adopted in the actuarial 
valuation is derived by considering the 
assumed return from the underlying 
investment strategy. This ensures 
consistency between the funding strategy 
and investment strategy.

P
age 380



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
38

Risks and counter measures
Whilst the funding strategy attempts to 
satisfy the funding objectives of ensuring 
sufficient assets to meet pension 
liabilities and stable levels of employer 
contributions, it is recognised that there 
are risks that may impact on the funding 
strategy and hence the ability of the 
strategy to meet the funding objectives.

The major risks to the funding strategy are 
financial, although there are other external 
factors including demographic risks, 
regulatory risks, and employer risks.

Financial risks
The main financial risk is that the actual 
investment strategy fails to produce the 
assumed rate of investment return (in 
real terms) that underlies the funding 
strategy. This could be due to a number 
of factors, including market returns 
being less than assumed and/or the 
fund managers who are employed 
to implement the chosen investment 
strategy failing to achieve their 
performance targets.

The valuation results are most sensitive 
to the real discount rate. Broadly 
speaking an increase/decrease of 
0.5% p.a. in the real discount rate will 
decrease/increase the liabilities by 10%, 

and decrease/increase the required 
employer contribution by around 2.5% of 
payroll.

However, the Pension Fund Committee 
regularly monitors the investment returns 
achieved by the fund managers and 
receives advice from the independent 
advisers and officers on investment 
strategy.

The Committee may also seek advice 
from the Fund Actuary on valuation 
related matters.

In addition, the Fund Actuary provides 
funding updates between valuations 
to check whether the funding strategy 
continues to meet the funding objectives.

Demographic risks
Allowance is made in the funding 
strategy via the actuarial assumptions 
for a continuing improvement in 
life expectancy. However, the main 
demographic risk to the funding strategy 
is that it might underestimate the 
continuing improvement in longevity. 
For example, an increase of one year to 
life expectancy of all members in the 
Fund will reduce the funding level by 
approximately 1%.

The actual mortality of pensioners 
in the Fund is monitored by the Fund 
Actuary at each actuarial valuation and 
assumptions are kept under review.

The liabilities of the Fund can also 
increase by more than has been planned 
as a result of early retirements.

However, the administering authority 
monitors the incidence of early 
retirements; and procedures are in place 
that require individual employers to pay 
additional amounts into the Fund to meet 
any additional costs arising from early 
retirements.

Regulatory risks
The benefits provided by the Scheme 
and employee contribution levels are set 
out in Regulations determined by central 
Government. The tax status of the 
invested assets is also determined by the 
Government.

The funding strategy is therefore 
exposed to the risks of changes in the 
Regulations governing the Scheme and 
changes to the tax regime which may 
affect the cost to individual employers 
participating in the Scheme.

P
age 381



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
39

However, the administering authority 
participates in any consultation process 
of any proposed changes in Regulations 
and seeks advice from the Fund Actuary 
on the financial implications of any 
proposed changes.

Employer risks
Many different employers participate in 
the Fund. Accordingly, it is recognised 
that a number of employer- specific 
events could impact on the funding 
strategy including:

•  Structural changes in an individual 
employer’s membership;

•  An individual employer deciding to 
close the Scheme to new employees;

•  An employer ceasing to exist without 
having fully funded their pension 
liabilities; and

•  New employers being created out of 
existing employers.

However, the administering authority 
maintains dialogue with participating 
employers and monitors the position 
of employers participating in the 
Fund, particularly those which may be 
susceptible events that could affect 
the long-term financial health of an 
employer, with particular emphasis on 

their continued ability to support their 
obligations to the Fund, and takes advice 
from the Fund actuary when required.

In addition, the administering authority 
keeps individual employers briefed on 
funding and related issues.

Monitoring and review
This FSS is reviewed formally, in 
consultation with the key parties, at 
least every three years to tie in with the 
triennial actuarial valuation process.

The administering authority also 
monitors the financial position of the 
Fund between actuarial valuations and 
may review the FSS more frequently if 
necessary.

P
age 382



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
40

Appendix 5
Communication Policy Statement

Introduction
The Dorset County Pension Fund 
currently has 297 scheme employers and 
25,068 active members as at 31 March 
2019.  We are continuously looking 
at ways to improve communications 
with the various stakeholders in the 
Local Government Pension Scheme 
administered by Dorset County Council.    

The Fund aims to use the most 
appropriate communication medium for 
the audiences receiving the information.  
This may involve using more than one 
method of communication.   

This document explains our existing 
methods of communication and 
describes some of our future plans.

Minimum Standards
Under the Occupational and Personal 
Pension Schemes (Disclosure of 
Information Regulations) 2013, 
administrators of the Local Government 
Pension Scheme are required to:

 Provide a copy of the scheme regulations 
and any overriding legislation, on request, 

within two months of the request - either 
through providing a personal copy, a 
copy for inspection or details of how to 
obtain a copy; members, prospective 
members, their spouses, beneficiaries 
and recognised trade unions are entitled 
to this information.    

 Automatically provide basic information 
about the scheme to every prospective 
member before starting, or, if this is not 
practical, within two months of joining.  
This information must also be provided 
on request (unless issued within the 
previous 12 months) to current members, 
prospective members, spouses, 
beneficiaries and recognised trade 
unions within two months of receipt of a 
written request.    

 Notify any material changes to the 
LGPS to all members and beneficiaries 
(except excluded persons i.e. deferred 
pensioners whose present address is 
unknown) where possible before or as 
soon as possible after (and in any event 
within three months after) the change.     
Compulsorily provide an annual benefit 
statement to all active, deferred and 
pension credit members.

This Communication Policy Statement 
will be reviewed annually and a revised 

version will be republished following any 
material change.

Key Objectives
To communicate Pensions Legislation 
and policies in a clear informative style 
to ensure that key stakeholders are 
well informed about current and future 
changes to the Local Government 
Pension Scheme.

Communication Objectives

•  To use the most appropriate ways of 
communicating with stakeholders, 
and to seek continuous improvement 
in the way we communicate;

•  To keep all stakeholders informed 
about the management and 
administration of the pension fund;

•   To inform stakeholders to enable 
them to make the decisions they 
need to make regarding pensions 
and the pension fund;

•  To promote the pension scheme as 
an important tool in recruitment and 
as a benefit to scheme members;

•  To consult, where possible, with key 
stakeholders about proposed changes 
in policies and procedures, in relation 
to the administration of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme;

P
age 383



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
41

•  To aim to communicate technical 
pensions legislation in plain English;

•  To engage where possible in face-to-
face communication;

•  To evaluate the effectiveness of our 
communication objectives:      
 -  Feedback questionnaires;
 -  Monitoring complaints and 

compliments;
 - Customer surveys.  

Methods of Communication
We communicate with our current and 
former scheme members, and their 
representatives, through various means 
and aim to provide a high quality service.

Active Scheme Members
Annual Benefit Statements 
These are issued to our members by  
31 August. Feedback from our members 
about our statements has helped us 
improve our procedures for this process.    
All active members are entitled to one 
further estimate of benefits per rolling 
year, in addition to the Annual Benefit 
Statement.  If the member requests a 
further estimate with a 12 month period 
there will be a charge of £50 + VAT levied.   

Employee Newsletters 
A newsletter is issued annually to keep 
members up to date with proposed 

changes to the scheme and any other 
relevant details.  Further newsletters are 
sent to members highlighting issues of 
importance, such as changes in scheme 
regulation or operation as any issues arise.   

Pension Fund Publications Information 
Guides, leaflets and forms are available 
on request covering different aspects  
of the LGPS; these can also be found on 
our website.   

Our Key Audience Groups

Annual Report 
An Annual report containing information 
on the management, administration and 
performance of the pension fund and 
pension benefits is published annually.  
This report can be found online at our 
pensions website.   

P
age 384



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
42

Pension Fund Website 
Our pension fund website can be found 
at www.yourfund.org.uk/Dorset and 
is available to view at all times.  It is 
regularly updated and revised.   

My Pension Online
Active members are able to check their 
pension account online, estimate future 
benefits and update their address and 
pension death grant nomination 
https://www.mypension.dorsetcc.gov.uk   

Pensions Helpline 
The pensions helpline is a dedicated 
telephone number and email address 
for queries.  Telephone lines are open 
8:40am to 5:20pm Monday to Thursday 
and 8:40am to 4:00pm Friday (except 
bank holidays).  We also receive and send 
communications by post and by fax.   
Tel: 01305 224845   
Email: 
pensionshelpline@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk   

Presentations and roadshows 
We are available for presentations 
throughout the county by arrangement 
with employers. Our aim is to explain 
existing, proposed and new legislation; 
the information may be presented in one 
of the following formats: 

•  LGPS presentations, including new 
scheme information

• face to face education sessions

• pre-retirement seminars 

Pensioner Members
Pensioner Newsletters 
An annual newsletter is sent to our 
pensioners.  This newsletter is used 
to inform pensioners of the annual 
pensions increase and also any other 
relevant information.  
 
Pensioner’s Payslips 
A payslip is sent annually to all pensioners.  
If the monthly amount alters by more than 
£5.00 a payslip will also be sent.   

Pension Fund Website 
Our pension fund website can be found at 
www.yourpension.org.uk/Dorset and 
is available to view at all times. It is 
regularly updated and revised.   

My Pension Online 
Active members are able to check 
their pension account online, update 
their address and pension death grant 
nomination 
https://www.mypension.dorsetcc.gov.uk

Deferred Scheme Members
Deferred Annual Benefit Illustration 
These are issued to our deferred 
members annually.   

Pension Fund Website 
Our pension fund website can be found 
at www.yourpension.org.uk/Dorset 
and is available to view at all times.  It is 
regularly updated and revised.   

My Pension Online
Active members are able to check their 
pension account online, estimate future 
benefits and update their address and 
pension death grant nomination 
https://www.mypension.dorsetcc.gov.uk

Prospective Scheme Members
New Starter Pack
On commencement of employment a 
pensions pack is issued. This pack is sent 
to all new starters and includes a Scheme 
short guide, membership form, death grant 
expression of wish forms, transfer forms, 
nomination of cohabiting partner form and 
contact details for further information.   

Pension Fund Website
Our pension fund website can be found 
at www.yourpension.org.uk/Dorset
and is available to view at all times. It is 
regularly updated and revised.

P
age 385



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
43

Elected Members
All the provisions we have made for 
Scheme Members are also available for 
Elected Members, including information 
and forms specifically aimed at 
Councillor Members. The LGPS is now 
closed to Elected Members.

Scheme Employers
Employers Website
The Dorset Pension Fund maintains 
a section of their website dedicated 
to the scheme employers.  This 
forms our online Employer Guide and 
holds all relevant up to date forms 
and publications along with useful 
information on a variety of subjects.     

Employers Section:  
www.yourpension.org.uk/Dorset/Employers
    
Email Contact List 
The Dorset County Pension Fund has set 
up an email contact list for the scheme 
employers. This enables us to circulate 
technical advice and guidance to our 
pensions liaison officers around the county.   

There is a dedicated email address 
(lgpsemployers@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk) 
for employers to use when contacting 
the Employer Relationship and 
Communications Team.   

Your Fund 
This is Dorset County Pension Fund’s 
secure internet portal which allows 
employers to upload files and submit 
pension forms on-line.   

Your Fund Home Page:  
https://dorset.yourfund.org.uk   

Employer’s Newsletters
A newsletter is sent to all employers, at 
least once a year, containing a variety of 
information of interest to LGPS employers.    

Pension Liaison Officer Group Meetings
These meetings are held a minimum of 
three times a year. All scheme employers 
are invited to attend.  During the meeting 
any changes to scheme regulations 
or our administrative procedures are 
discussed. There is also a presentation 
on a relevant topic.    

Individual Employer Meetings 
Meetings can be arranged on an individual 
basis for an employer to discuss individual 
requirements. These meetings are available 
at the employer’s request by contacting the 
Dorset County Pension Fund.    

Presentations 
Throughout the year the Dorset County 
Pension Fund offer a variety of presentations 
to employers in different locations. 
   
Employer Meeting
An employers meeting is held annually 
and there are a variety of presentations 
provided in the meeting.    

Annual Report  
The Dorset County Pension Fund Annual 
Report is published and distributed to all 
employers.  It is also made available to 
members of the public and all stakeholders 
and can be found on our website.

Fund Staff
Pensions Staff 
Individual training is provided, as required, 
to all members of staff. Staff are able to 
attend training events and conferences both 
internally and externally. Members of staff 
are encouraged to take, and helped with, 
qualifications in pension administration.   

Employer Relationship and 
Communications Team 
There is a team dedicated to employers and 
communications, this team consists of a 
manager and a officer. It is their responsibility 
to ensure relevant communications are sent 
to the correct audience.   

P
age 386



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
44

Team Meetings
Meetings are held once a month to 
update all staff on any changes to 
regulations or practice.   

Senior Management Meetings 
The Pensions Manager is a member 
of the Financial Services Management 
Team and attends regular meetings 
convened by the Executive Director of 
Corporate Management. The Pensions 
Manager is able to bring any matters of 
concern / importance to the attention 
of the Executive Director of Corporate 
Management through this mechanism.

Other Parties
South West Area Pensions Officer  
Group (SWAPOG) 
The SWAPOG which meets regularly 
to discuss and share information on 
pensions administration.  Sub groups of 
the SWAPOG meet to discuss specific 
topics such as communications or 
pensions software.   

Brunel Pension Partnership 
Brunel Pension Partnership (Brunel) 
is one of eight national LGPS pools, 
bringing together circa £30 billion 
investments of 10 likeminded funds. 
Brunel helps manage the investments for 
the Dorset County Pension Fund.   

Pension and Lifetime Saving 
Association (PLSA) 
The Fund is a member of the PLSA, and 
officers regularly attend national and 
regional events to keep up to date with 
all pension related matters.    

Trade Unions 
We will work with the relevant Trade 
Unions to ensure the Scheme is 
understood by all interested parties.    

Others
We regularly exchange information with 
Government bodies such as HMRC, the 
Pensions Regulator, Secretary of State 
and MCHLG and will respond to Freedom 
of Information requests from external 
parties and members of the public.  

Pension Fund Committee
The Pension Fund Committee meets 
formally at least quarterly, and has the 
following terms of reference:   

To exercise all functions of the Council 
as Scheme Manager under Local 
Government Superannuation Act and 
Regulations and deal with all matters 
relating thereto.  

 
Members of the Committee receive 
regular training on a bespoke basis, as 

well as attending a number of national 
conferences and seminars to ensure that 
they are fully informed to fully undertake 
their responsibilities.   

The Pensions Manager is in regular 
contact with the Committee outside of 
the formal meetings, and ensures that 
the Committee are kept informed of 
issues that affect the Fund.   

The Committee set and regularly review 
a number of Pension Fund Policies and 
Strategies. These are published on the 
Fund’s website, and can be found at:    
www.yourpension.org.uk/Dorset/
Investments/Strategy-Valuation   

The current membership of the Pension 
Fund Committee is as set out below: 

•  Five County Council members  - 
appointed by the County Council (not 
more than one being a member of 
the Council’s Cabinet);

•  Two Unitary Authority members  - 
one appointed by Bournemouth 
Borough Council and one nominated 
by the Borough of Poole;

•  One District Council representative;

• One Scheme Member representative.

P
age 387



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
45

Pension Board
With effect from 1 April 2015 Dorset 
County Pension Fund (DCPF) has created 
a Local Pension Board.   

The function of the Local Pension Board 
as defined by sections 5 (1) and (2) of 
the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 is 
to:  

• assist the Scheme Manager;

•  to secure compliance with the LGPS 
regulations and any other legislation 
relating to the governance and 
administration of the LGPS; 

•  to secure compliance with 
requirements imposed in relation to 
the LGPS by the Pensions Regulator; 

•  in such other matters as the LGPS 
regulations may specify;

•  secure the effective and efficient 
governance and administration of 
the LGPS for the DCPF; and

•  provide the Scheme Manager with 
such information as it requires to 
ensure that any member of  the 
Local Pension Board or person to be 
appointed to the Local Pension Board 
does not have a conflict of interest.    

The Local Pension Board also help 
ensure that the DCPF is managed and 

administered effectively and efficiently 
and complies with the Public Service 
Pension Act 2013  on the governance 
and administration of public pension 
schemes and with due regard to 
guidance issued by government, The 
Pensions Regulator and the LGPS 
Scheme Advisory Board.   

The Local Pension Board of the Dorset 
County Pension Fund consists of 3 
member representatives and 3 employer 
representatives and meets at least 2 
times a year.P

age 388



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
46

Publications Matrix

Communication Material Paper- based Electronic Form Website When Published When Reviewed

Scheme Guide ü ü ü Constantly available Annually

New Starter Pack ü û ü Constantly available Annually

Councillors’ Guide ü ü ü Constantly available Annually

Scheme Information Leaflets ü ü ü Constantly available Annually

Scheme Member Newsletter ü ü ü Annually n/a

Pensioner Newsletter ü ü ü Annually n/a

Scheme Member’s Annual Benefit Statement ü û ü Annually Annually

Deferred Member’s Annual Benefit Statement ü û ü Annually Annually

Member Forms & Factsheets ü ü ü Constantly available Annually

Pensioner Forms & Factsheets ü ü ü Constantly available Annually

Opt Out Form ü ü ü Constantly available Annually

Deferred Benefits Guide ü ü ü Constantly available Annually

Funding Strategy Statement ü ü ü Constantly available Annually

Communication Strategy Statement ü ü ü Constantly available Annually

Administration Strategy ü ü ü Constantly available Annually

Investment Strategy ü ü ü Constantly available Annually

Annual Report and Accounts ü ü ü Annually Annually

Employer’s Guide ü ü ü Constantly available Annually

Employer Forms & Factsheets ü ü ü Constantly available Annually

Employer Newsletters ü ü ü 3 per year n/a

Employer LGPS Updates ü ü ü As required  n/a

P
age 389



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
47

Improving Our Standards
We aim to achieve continuous 
improvement in our communications 
with all stakeholders and aim to deliver 
the following in the future to further 
improve our communications;   

•  improved general information on the 
pension scheme on our website;

•  feedback buttons added to all 
emails.  

We are continuously seeking ways for 
stakeholders to provide feedback on 
the service they have received from the 
Dorset County Pension Fund. We are 
now providing the following methods of 
feedback; 

• online feedback form;

•  paper based feedback form provided 
at presentations;

•  tear out form in all Annual Benefit 
Illustrations.

General Data Protection Regulations 
(GDPR)
Dorset Council as the administering 
authority of the Local Government 
Pension Scheme and the Dorset County 
Pension Fund values the privacy of 
those who provide personal data to it. 
We collect and process personal data 

in accordance with our Privacy Notice.  
A copy of the Privacy Notice can be 
accessed here.   

www.yourpension.org.uk/Dorset/
Accessibility/Privacy-and-Cookie-Policy.
aspx  

The Privacy Notice describes what 
information we collect and how we use 
it. For more information about how we 
process personal data, please contact 
the Dorset County Pension Fund using 
the contact details set out in the Privacy 
Notice.

Contact Details

Write to us at:    
Dorset County Pension Fund  
County Hall, Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1XJ

Tel:  01305 224845

Fax:  01305 224049   

Email:  
pensionshelpline@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Web: 
www.yourpension.org.uk/Dorset

P
age 390



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
48

Appendix 6
UK Stewardship Code Principles - 
Statement of Compliance 

On 2 July 2010 the Financial Reporting 
Council (the FRC) published the UK 
Stewardship Code (the Code). The Code 
sets out good practice for institutional 
investors when engaging with the UK 
listed companies in which they invest.

The purpose of the Code is to improve 
the quality of corporate governance by 
promoting a better dialogue between 
shareholders and company boards, and 
more transparency in the way in which 
investors oversee the companies they own.

The FRC and the National Association 
of Pension Funds (NAPF) encourage all 
institutional investors to report on the 
extent to which they follow the Code, as 
a stronger corporate governance culture 
is conducive to protecting and enhancing 
the value of investments.

The Dorset County Pension Fund takes 
its responsibilities as a shareholder 
seriously. It seeks to adhere to the 
Stewardship Code, and also encourages 
its appointed asset managers to do so.

Principle 1: The fund should publicly 
disclose policy on how it will discharge 
stewardship responsibilities.
The Fund’s approach to Governance 
is stated in the published Investment 
Strategy Statement (ISS). The Fund’s 
policy is to apply the Code both through 
its arrangements with its asset managers 
and through membership of the Local 
Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF).
 
The Fund’s UK Equities are managed 
by a combination of asset managers 
and the internal manager. The Dorset 
Fund uses membership of the LAPFF 
to keep informed of potential issues of 
concern at individual companies and 
across the market, but delegates day 
to day responsibility for monitoring 
and intervening in companies to asset 
managers where applicable.

Principle 2: The fund should have a 
robust policy on managing conflicts of 
interest in relation to stewardship and 
this policy should be publicy disclosed.
The stewardship code assumes that 
conflicts of interest will arise from 
time to time. Dorset County Council’s 
Constitution sets out policies for personal 
and prejudicial Interests. Any conflict of 
interest would be dealt with in accordance 
with the Council’s Constitution.

Principle 3: The fund should monitor its 
investee companies.
Day to day responsibility for managing 
the Fund’s equity holdings is delegated 
to the appointed asset managers, and 
the Fund expects them to monitor 
companies, intervene where necessary, 
and report back on activity undertaken. 
Asset Managers report to the Pension 
Fund Committee and meet with officers 
regularly to discuss activity. The Dorset 
Fund uses membership of the LAPFF 
to keep informed of potential issues of 
concern at individual companies and 
across the market, and regular reports 
are received from the LAPFF. Officers 
attend meetings of the LAPFF at least 
annually to keep up to date with the 
forum’s activities. 

Principle 4: The fund should establish clear 
guidelines on when and how it will escalate 
activities as a method of protecting and 
enhancing shareholder value.
If a matter is considered to affect 
shareholder value, the concern will 
be referred to the LAPFF. In addition, 
where a governance matter dictates 
that a resolution merits a dissent vote in 
accordance with the Fund’s Voting Policy, 
the resolution will be voted against. 

P
age 391



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
49

Principle 5: The fund should be willing 
to act collectively with other investors 
where appropriate.
The Fund seeks to work collaboratively 
with other institutional shareholders in 
order to maximise the influence that 
it can have on individual companies. 
The Fund seeks to achieve this through 
membership of the LAPFF, which 
engages with other companies over 
environmental, social and governance 
issues on behalf of its members. 
The Dorset Fund’s principal means of 
collaborate engagement is through 
membership of the LAPFF. LAPFF 
coordinates collaborative engagement 
with companies, regulators and policies. 
LAPFF periodically issue voting alerts, 
which are analysed with regard to the 
Fund’s own engagement policy. The 
decision to participate in such collective 
decisions is made on a case by case 
basis. 

Principle 6: The fund should have a clear 
policy on voting and disclosure of voting 
activity.
The Dorset Fund exercises all votes 
attaching to its UK equity holdings, and 
seeks to vote where practical in overseas 
markets. Responsibility for the exercise 
of voting rights has been delegated to 
RREV (Research, Recommendations, 

Electronic Voting) in the UK, and to Fund 
Manager Pictet Asset Management 
in respect of overseas markets. This 
includes consideration of company 
explanations of compliance with the 
Corporate Governance Code. Votes are 
exercised in accordance with the Fund’s 
Voting Policy, however it is possible for 
Officers to override the vote of RREV to 
support the actions of the LAPFF. Real 
Time reports are available detailing how 
votes have been cast. 

Principle 7: The fund should report 
periodically on their stewardship and 
voting activities.
The Fund discloses voting data 
periodically, but intends to formally make 
statistics available to the Pension Fund 
Committee annually in future. In addition, 
the Fund intends to report annually on 
stewardship activity through a specific 
section on voting and engagement 
activity undertaken during the year in the 
report and accounts. This will include 
both fund specific information including 
engagement with companies, and details 
of activity undertaken through the Local 
Authority Pension Fund Forum. 

P
age 392



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
50

Appendix 7 
Voting Issues Policy 
Dorset County Council has outsourced 
proxy voting to Institutional Shareholder 
Services (ISS).  ISS’s core business 
is the provision of proxy research, 
vote recommendations and related 
governance research services, including 
and end-to-end proxy voting platform 
and leading compliance and risk 
management solutions, to institutional 
investors worldwide.  ISS has close to 30 
years of experience and is a recognised 
industry leader in the field of corporate 
governance and proxy voting.

Summary of Voting for the year 
ended 31 March 2019
1.1  The Dorset County Pension Fund’s 

voting policy is based on the National 
Association of Pension Fund’s (NAPF) 
policy and the Combined Code 
on Corporate Governance, which 
was reviewed and adopted on 24 
November 2011, and is included on 
page 151 of this report.  To manage 
the voting process Proxy Voting 
services are provided by ISS for the UK 
equity portfolio and by Allianz (to July 
2018), Investec and Wellington, the 
Fund’s global equities managers.

1.2  The Fund is also a member of the 
Local Authority Pension Fund Forum 
(LAPFF) which researches into 
areas of corporate governance, and 
social responsibility. It is possible to 
override any decision made by ISS 
in light of information which may be 
received from the LAPFF. 

1.3  The Voting Policy of the Dorset Fund 
applies to those assets managed 
in segregated accounts by the 
Internal Manager (to July 2018), 
Allianz (to July 2018), Investec and 
Wellington. However, the equities 
managed by AXA Framlington (to 
November 2018) and Schroders in 
the UK, and JPMorgan in emerging 
markets, are held in Pooled Funds 
and are subject to the voting 
policies of each individual manager. 
Corporate Governance and Voting 
Policies for each pooled manager 
have been obtained. These seek 
to protect shareholder interest, 
setting out voting policy in a number 
of areas which include strategy, 
integrity, management, use of 
capital, remuneration, mergers and 
acquisitions and reporting. Each 
policy complies with the Combined 
Code on Corporate Governance.

1.4  During the year to 31 March 2019, 
there were 4,377 individual votes 
on the UK portfolio, and ISS voted 
against 91 and abstained on 13 of 
the resolutions during this period. 
A summary of the Fund’s UK voting 
activity for the year ended 31 March 
2019 is shown on page 152 in 
this report. In addition, there were 
4,727 individual votes on the global 
equities portfolio, and the Fund’s 
managers voted against 304 and 
abstained on 23 of the resolutions 
during this period.  

1.5  Typical reasons for voting against a 
resolution include non-independence 
of directors who are required to 
be independent for their duties, 
inappropriate remuneration 
packages, undemanding targets, 
and share issues to majority 
shareholders or groups of 
shareholders without making a 
general offer to other shareholders.

1.6  During the twelve months ended 
31 March 2019 for the UK portfolio 
there were 39 votes against, or 
abstention from, the appointment 
or re-election of directors where the 
resolution proposed was contrary 
to UK best practice on corporate 

P
age 393



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
51

governance, for example, a non-
executive director at one company 
as well as a director at six other 
companies (e.g. British American 
Tobacco) and a non-executive director 
being a Chief Financial Officer at two 
other companies (IWG Plc). 

1.7  In addition, there were 54 votes 
against, or abstention from, 
resolutions relating to salary and 
compensation schemes.  The main 
reasons for voting against the 
remuneration reports were due to the 
performance and retention awards to 
two executives at Aveva Group.

1.8  Each pooled manager was asked 
for details of voting activity in the 
year 2018-19, examples of instances 
in which they had concerns about 
companies in which the fund held 
shares, and how these concerns 
were addressed. They were 
also asked whether they were 
collaborating with other investors in 
respect of these issues, and details 
of responses are included on page 
152 to this report.

Voting Issues Policy

Issue Action for non 
compliance

Leadership

1. The roles of Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive should be 
separate to avoid undue concentration of power.

Vote against the 
re-appointments as 
appropriate. 

Effectiveness

2. All directors should be subject to re-election every three years. Vote against the 
acceptance of accounts.

3. Audit Committee should consist of at least three non-executive 
directors.

Vote against the 
acceptance of accounts.

Accountability 

4. If a proposed dividend is not covered by earnings and there is no clear 
justification for the long term benefit of the company.

Vote against the 
acceptance of accounts.

5. The company should comply with the UK Corporate Governance 
Code and stock exchange listing requirements.

Vote against the 
acceptance of accounts.

Remuneration

6. Remuneration committees should comprise only of non-executive 
directors.

Vote against director’s 
appointment.

7. Bonus and incentive schemes must have realistic performance 
targets.

Vote against director’s 
appointment.

8. Service contracts should be one year rolling unless the 
Remuneration Committee is able to justify longer periods.

Vote against director’s 
appointment.

Relations with Shareholders

9. Changes to the articles of association should not adversely affect 
existing shareholders rights.

Vote against the 
resolutions.

Other

10. Uncontroversial issues. Vote for the resolutions.

P
age 394



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
52

This summary concerns 257 Individual
Company meetings at which there were 
4,377 Proposed Resolutions.

Market Breakdown
Market Votable 

Meetings
Voted 

Meetings
Percentage

Bermuda 2 2 100%
Cayman 
Islands

3 3 100%

Gibraltar 1 1 100%
Guernsey 12 12 100%
Ireland 5 5 100%
Isle of Man 3 3 100%
Jersey 12 12 100%
Netherlands 1 1 100%
Spain 1 1 100%
Switzerland 1 1 100%
United 
Kingdom

216 216 100%

Total 257 257

Proposal Voted For Voted Against Abstained Total Votes
Takeover/Reorganisation/Merger/Disposal 206 1 0 207
Capitalisation/Share Capital 860 4 0 864
Directors 1,909 30 9 1,948
Salary and Compensation 304 50 4 358
Environmental, Social and Goverance 0 0 0 0
Routine/Business 994 6 0 1,000
Total 4,273 91 13 4,377

Summary of Engagement by Pooled 
Fund Managers

Schroders
Summary of Engagement
Schroders issue a quarterly Corporate 
Governance, Voting, and Stewardship 
Report summarising contact with 
companies. Schroders engage with 
companies concerning matters such as 
changes in management, performance, 
health and safety, and renumeration. 

Schroders say that their policy is to 
engage with companies ahead of our 
votes; in many cases, such dialogue 
results in changes before their vote, 
often paving a smoother path towards 
a company’s AGM. Where companies 
are not open to changes, Schroders may 
decide to vote against certain resolutions 
on the agenda. Debate in these 
areas looks set to continue, and they 

continuously consider new approaches 
to create long-term incentives for 
management that are fully aligned with 
long-term shareholder value. Please find 
below three examples of engagements 
from the past 12 months (1 April 2018 to 
31 March 2019). 

Air Partner – We engaged with 
Air Partner to discuss their new 
remuneration policy, which they 
had introduced on the back of the 
introduction of the new UK Corporate 
Governance Code. We explained that we 
were unable to support the policy in its 
current form as the performance period 
of the Long Term Incentive Plan was only 
3 years. Our policy states that this should 
be at least 5 years for UK companies to 
ensure the long term performance of the 
company is aligned with shareholders. 
We also expressed our concern that 
the new policy did not include post-
employment holding periods. We advised 

P
age 395



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
53

the company that we will not be able to 
support this resolution at their upcoming 
AGM if they do not make positive 
changes to the policy before then. 
 
Superdry – Following a period of 
poor share price performance, Julian 
Dunkerton, the former Founder/CEO of 
Superdry put forward a resolution to 
reappoint himself on to the Superdry 
board at the company’s AGM. We held 
a number of calls with both the current 
management team at Superdry and 
Julian before making our voting decision. 
After considering the discussions we 
had with both parties and given our 
concerns with a series of decisions by 
the current management, we supported 
the election of Julian to the board. This 
resolution consequently passed at the 
AGM and Julian has been re-elected to 
the Board. We look forward to continuing 
our discussions with the Superdry Board 
going forwards.  
 
Zotefoams – Zotefoams contacted us to 
discuss the proposed increase in salary 
of their CEO and CFO by around 30%. We 
expressed our concern that the salaries 
of these executives have been increasing 
excessively over the past few years and 
these increases were not in line with the 
wider workforce. The company went away 
and considered our feedback, along with 

that of other investors. They came back to 
us with a new proposal which would see 
a phasing of the proposed increases to 
base salary. The remuneration committee 
decided to weight the increase towards 
the first year to reflect the calibre of the 
Executive Directors, the growth they have 
delivered, the scope of their roles, and the 
risks that uncompetitive remuneration 
arrangements pose to the timely and 
successful execution of their strategy. The 
salary increase for the second year will be 
subject to continued strong performance 
by the executives and the Group. 
Zotefoams have also confirmed that future 
pay reviews will be in line with those of 
the wider work force during the next policy 
period. Given the positive changes and our 
support of the work of management, we 
felt able to support the salary increase for 
this year and will continue our engagement 
with the company ahead of the second 
incremental increase next year. 

AXA Investment Managers
Summary of Voting year ended  
31 March 2019
Voting at company meetings is an 
important part of the dialogue between 
a company and its shareholders, and, as 
asset managers, it is a fundamental aspect 
of our fiduciary duty towards our clients.  
During 2018-19 AXA Investment Managers 
voted at 5,932 General Meetings globally 

and voted against or abstained on at least 
one resolution at 2,467 General Meetings, 
a dissent rate of 42% relative to the 
recommendations of company boards.

At the fund level, we voted on 961 
individual resolutions proposed at 65 
General Meetings.  The voting summary 
is as follows:     

Summary of Engagement
AXA Investment Managers hold 
regular discussions with the board and 
management of investee companies as part 
of the regular investor relations programme.  
We also hold additional engagement 
and monitoring meetings with investee 
companies in line with our responsibility 
to be good stewards of companies held 
on our clients’ behalf. These meetings 
are an opportunity to discuss and clarify 
any emerging concerns including on 
environmental, social and governance 
matters in line with our Responsible 
Investment approach. 

Our engagement priorities during the 
relevant period include:

 -  Engagement on Carbon and Climate 
Risks:  We continue our engagement 
with relevant companies in the Oil and 
Gas, Mining and Utilities sector on their 
climate change strategy directly and 
also as part of a collaborative initiative, 

P
age 396



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
54

Climate Action 100+, engaging with 
systematically important emitters.  

 -  Climate Lobbying: We have been 
engaging with companies with respect 
to their corporate lobbying actions 
around climate change. We engaged 
with companies which appeared to have 
two incompatible positions – supporting 
the goals of the Paris Climate 
Agreement whilst simultaneously 
funding lobbying associations 
undermining regulation designed to 
help reach Paris goals. As such, we 
have pushed companies to be more 
transparent and committing to lobbying 
positively in line with the Paris Climate 
Agreement

 -  UN Global Compact Engagement:  
We have a structured and long-term 
engagement with companies whose 
practices demonstrably are in breach 
of one or more of the principles of 
the UN Global Compact and where 
the Company has not taken action to 
correct the breach.  

 -  Diversity: We strongly believe that the 
ability of a board to adequately conduct 
its oversight responsibilities depends 
on it having the right mix of directors 
with relevant skills, backgrounds and 
experience. This naturally points to 
the important benefits that diversity 
can have on the long-term success of 

companies. We have been engaging 
with boards to promote diversity, both 
at the leadership level and throughout 
the company.  
 
Discussing diversity is now a standard 
agenda item and the tone regarding 
diversity issues, particularly in terms of 
gender representation at board level, 
is very positive. While we will continue 
to push for diversity at board level, we 
understand that gender diversity should 
also include internal progression within 
companies to combat the hourglass 
effect. This is where there is a broad 
gender balance at the bottom of an 
organisation but decreases up the 
hierarchy of senior management, 
before improving again at board level 

– but only in response to shareholder 
engagement or regulatory changes. 
A further evolution of our policy on 
diversity is to use our voting rights to 
push for increased gender diversity at 
board level. 

AXA Framlington Voting Tables
Meeting Type Total Meetings
Annual General Meetings 58
Special Meetings 7
Court 0
Total 65

Proponent Total Resolutions
Management 960
Shareholder 1
Total 961

Proposal Voted For Voted Against Abstained Total Votes
Accounts and Auditors 156 0 0 156
Meeting Formalities 2 0 0 2
Articles of Association 12 0 0 12
Dividends 41 0 0 41
Capitalisation/ Share Capital 205 0 0 205
Directors 401 3 4 408
Environmental Issues (Shareholder Resolutions) 1 0 0 1
Remuneration 69 3 0 72
Reorganisation/Merger/Disposal 5 0 1 6
Routine/Business 58 0 0 58
Total 950 6 5 961

P
age 397



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
55

In addition to these priorities, we held the following discussions with companies in the relevant fund

Company Issue Action
BP Plc Climate Change Ongoing engagement asking the company to improve disclosure around strategy and 

mitigation in relation to the 2 degree global warming targets of COP 21 and general 
climate change risks.

ECO Animal Health Group Plc Board Engagement with the Company on the evolution of the composition of the Board, as 
the company continues to grow.

Royal Dutch Shell Plc Climate Change Ongoing engagement asking the company to improve disclosure around strategy and 
mitigation in relation to the 2 degree global warming targets of COP 21 and general 
climate change risks.

Weir Group Plc Remuneration Engagement on the company’s remuneration policy and practices and alignment with 
long-term shareholder interests.

ITV Remuneration Engagement on the company’s remuneration policy and practices and alignment with 
long-term shareholder interests.

Elementis Board Discussion with the Company on the evolution of the composition of the Board.
London Stock Exchange Group Gender Diversity Discussion on the company’s commitments to gender diversity.

P
age 398



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
56

Appendix 8
Risk Management
Risk management is the process of 
identifying risks, evaluating their likelihood 
and potential impact and determining the 
most effective methods of controlling or 
responding to them. Risk management 
is an integral element of managing the 
Pension Fund.  The Pension Fund has a 
risk register which identifies the major risks 
associated with managing the Fund.  This 
is reviewed by the Pensions Committee 
annually, and new or changed risks are 
reported at each quarterly meeting. 

A Risk Register is compiled and reviewed 
annually in regard to the scheme 
administration and governance. Key risks 
identified and actions taken to mitigate 
those risks are;

•  Data Protection & Cyber Security 
(Administration staff and systems) 
- Compulsory annual training, the 
department is covered by the policies in 
place to cover this by Dorset Council;

•  Data Quality (administration) - Data 
Quality and Improvement plan in place;

•  Local Pension Board - Knowledge and 
skills - Training log and programme;

•  Administration staff - knowledge 
and skills - training programme and 
qualifications.

Pension Fund Risk Register

Financial Strategic 
Priorities and 
Opportunities

Health and  
Safety

Reputational Criticality of 
Service

High
i.e. a greater 
than 20% 
chance of:

Potential to 
cause significant 
damage or 
seriously 
weaken the 
survival of the 
Fund

Major impact 
(positive or 
negative on 
a strategic 
priority)

Fatality or 
major injury/
illness (long 
term incapacity 
/ disability)

Sustained/long 
term media 
attention

Unable to 
deliver critical 
services (levels 
one and two)

Medium
i.e. a greater 
than 20% 
chance of:

Reasonable 
impact in a 
single financial 
period or in 
the short-term 
but can be 
contained

Moderate 
impact (positive 
or negative 
on a strategic 
priority)

Moderate 
injury or illness 
(including 
other RIDDOR 
reportable 
incidents)

Short to 
medium term 
impact on 
public memory 
(affecting more 
than one ward)

Unable to 
deliver critical 
services (level 
three)

Low
i.e.

Negligible / 
minor impact

Minor/
negligible 
impact (positive 
or negative) 
on a strategic 
priority

Potential 
for minor 
injury/illness 
(requiring 
minimal 
intervention or 
treatment)

Short to medium 
term impact on 
public memory 
(affecting one 
ward) / minor 
complaints or 
rumours

Minor 
disruption to 
service delivery

In using this matrix, you should consider the extent of impact across each of the 5 impact headings.  
If there is a 20% chance or more of any of the impacts in the top row occurring based on the current 
controls identified, it should be recorded as “High”.  If less than 20% it would drop to medium (with the 
same principle applying to the middle row).

The following table highlights the key risks and how they are managed. The measures that 
it has in place to control key risks are summarised below under the following headings:

a) Financial Risks;
b) Workforce Risks; and
c) Other Risks.

P
age 399



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
57

No Risk Description Risk 
Status
Open or 
Closed

Risk Lead Date 
Identified

Current Controls
How do we currently 
manage this risk?

Current Risk
High / 
Medium / 
Low

Movement 
Since Last 
Review
Improving / 
Deteriorating / 
No Change

Is the 
current 
level of risk 
acceptable?
i.e. Yes or 
No, based 
on the 
current 
controls

Any Issues to 
Highlight Since 
Last Review?

Further actions identified 
to achieve an acceptable 
level of risk

Target 
Date for 
further 
actions

A) Financial Risks
A01 Treasury Management 

and the Risk of 
Financial Default 
of Partners and 
Counterparties

Open Fund 
Administrator

Oct-11 See detailed Corporate 
Risk Register entry.

Medium No Change Yes Continual monitoring of 
treasury management 
policy and routine 
monitoring of business 
critical counter parties.

On-going

A02 Increasing Longevity 
of Members, with the 
potential to mean 
that the liabilities will 
continue to be greater 
than the assets of the 
Fund.

Open Fund 
Administrator

Oct-11 Controlled at a National 
Level by changes to 
the scheme benefits 
and contribution levels. 
Locally by ensuring the 
actuarial valuations are 
realistic and factor in 
the changes so the Fund 
remains sustainable.

Medium No Change Yes Encourage sign up to the 
Fund of new members by 
adopting policies such 
as auto enrolment and 
communications strategy 
to maintain membership of 
active members. 

On-going

A03 Excessive Inflation 
increases Member 
Benefits

Open Fund 
Administrator

Oct-11 Invested in Liability 
Driven investments 
to hedge inflation risk 
to offset some of the 
impact of high inflation.

Medium No Change Yes Further expansion of LDI 
mandate and investment 
in inflation proofed 
asset classes such as 
infrastructure and certain 
property investments.

On-going

A04 Failure to track the 
FTSE 350 index

Open Fund 
Administrator

Oct-11 Incorrect transactions 
would be picked up 
during the day; regular 
monitoring; quarterly 
reporting to Pension 
Fund Committee; 
balancing procedures; 
staffing cover.

Medium No Change Yes Investment 
in passively 
managed UK 
equities will be 
considered for 
transfer to the 
Brunel Pensions 
Partnership 
(BPP).

Consider the use of 
Bloomberg to allow live 
analysis of the tracking 
error of portfolio.

On-going

A05 Failure to comply with 
accounting standards

Open Fund 
Administrator

Oct-11 Keeping up with 
changes to the Code, 
attendance of CIPFA 
training events, 
developing cover within 
the team. 

Low No Change Yes None On-going

P
age 400



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
58

A06 Inadequate 
governance of the 
fund

Open Fund 
Administrator

Oct-11 CIPFA governance 
statement, undertaken 
by independent 
observer; LGPS 
statement; Local 
Pension Board

Low No Change Yes The 
establishment 
of BPP with 
effect from April 
2018 will impact 
on governance 
arrangements.

On-going review of 
strategies and governance 
arrangements including 
Pension Board and the 
Pensions Regulator.

On-going

A07 Failure to produce 
the expected rate of 
investment return

Open Fund 
Administrator

Oct-11 Pension Fund 
Committee monitor 
investment returns 
achieved by fund 
managers; diverse 
investment strategy

High No Change Yes Transition costs 
associated 
with the 
establishment of 
BPP may impact 
on investment 
returns.

Continuous monitoring of 
performance and risk, and 
regular reviews of strategy 
to ensure best fit.

On-going

A08 Loss of funds 
through fraud or 
misappropriation 

Open Fund 
Administrator

Oct-11 Internal and External 
Audit; Assurance 
that current systems 
provide appropriate 
level of internal 
control; reporting and 
monitoring; reporting 
to Audit & Scrutiny 
Committee; policies and 
procedures 

Low No Change Yes The 
establishment 
of BPP will 
require revised 
protections 
against fraud or 
misappropriation 
of funds.

Continual review of 
potential exposures

On-going

B) Workforce Risks
B01 Health and safety of 

staff
Open Fund 

Administrator
Oct-11 Work station 

assessments; PDR 
trigger interviews; 
absence management; 
DCC health & safety 
policies

Low No Change Yes None

B02 Failure to recruit, 
develop and retain 
suitably skilled 
staff. There is also a 
requirement to ensure 
that Committee 
members and 
Board members are 
appropriately trained 
to undertake their 
duties effectively. 

Open Fund 
Administrator

Oct-11 Access to Management 
Development / Training; 
PDR; structure review

Low No Change Yes The 
establishment 
of BPP should 
ensure greater 
resilience 
against the loss 
of key staff re. 
investments.

Training / development to 
support this risk, where 
appropriate, via PDRs; Work 
shadowing and ensure 
staff have ability to cover 
in the absence of key 
people; Ensure appropriate 
succession & resilience 
planning for key people 
risks 

On-going

P
age 401



Ap
pe

nd
ic

es
  |

  1
59

B03 Failure to maintain 
the balance between 
workload and staff 
capacity

Open Fund 
Administrator

Oct-11 Service planning and 
PDR process; continual 
review of workloads 
within teams; additional 
posts can be funded 
from pension fund 
where particular 
capacity demands 
are identified, at the 
approval of the Pension 
Fund Administrator

Low No Change Yes Review potential for 
secondments etc. to meet 
particular areas where 
capacity is stretched.

On-going

C) Other Risks
C01 Inability to provide 

service, due to a loss 
of Council facilities 
(IT; building) or staff

Open Fund 
Administrator

Oct-11 Business continuity 
plans maintained for 
critical services; Nat 
West Banking facilities 
can be accessed from 
home/ remotely; contact 
numbers held for the 
team. Disaster recovery 
in place for Altair

Low No Change Yes Regular review of business 
continuity plans. Corporate 
business continuity plans.

C02 Poor services, or 
perception of poor 
service

Open Fund 
Administrator

Oct-11 Service planning and 
PDR process; external 
audit; internal audit 
reviews; processes and 
procedures

Low No Change Yes None

C03 Secure management 
and handling of 
confidential and/or 
personal information

Open Fund 
Administrator

Oct-11 Data awareness 
guidance promoted 
corporately; secure 
email; secure payments 
portal to actuary

Medium No Change Yes Ensure all appropriate team 
members undertake the 
Data Protection training

On-going

C04 Enforced restructuring 
of Pension Funds 
nationally, or 
enforced pooling 
of investments, 
revised governance 
regulations.

Open Fund 
Administrator

Sep-15 Proactive membership 
of national groups and 
attendance at national 
meetings to influence 
policy.

Medium Improving Yes The Fund is 
meeting the 
requirement to 
pool investments 
through its 
membership of 
BPP.  The project 
to establish 
BPP has its own 
extensive risk 
controls in place. 

Officers and members 
engaging at local, regional 
and national level to 
attempt to inform and 
influence government 
policy.

On-going

P
age 402



P
age 403



P
age 404



September 2019

All leaflets can be made available in audio tape, large print and Braille, 
or alternative languages on request.

P
age 405



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 Minutes
	9 Independent Adviser's Report
	10 Fund Administrator's Report
	PFC 120919 - Agenda Item 10 Appendix 1
	PFC 120919 - Agenda Item 10 Appendix 2
	PFC 120919 - Agenda Item 10 Appendix 3
	PFC 120919 - Agenda Item 10 Appendix 4
	PFC 120919 - Agenda Item 10 Appendix 5

	11 Investment Pooling Progress Report
	PFC 120919 - Agenda item 11 Appendix 1
	PFC 120919 - Agenda Item 11 Appendix 2

	12 Pensions Administration
	PFC 120919 - Agenda Item 12  Appendix 1
	PFC 120919 - Agenda Item 12 Appendix 2
	PFC 120919 - Agenda Item 12 Appendix 3
	PFC 120919 - Agenda Item 12 Appendix 4
	PFC 120919 - Agenda Item 12 Appendix 5
	PFC 120919 - Agenda Item 12 Appendix 6

	13 Pension Fund Accounts 2018-19
	PFC 120919 - Agenda Item 13 Appendix 1
	PFC 120919 - Agenda Item 13 Appendix 2
	PFC 120919 - Agenda Item 13 Appendix 3
	PFC 120919 - Agenda Item 13 Appendix 4

	14 Pension Fund Annual Report 2018-19

